
Summons 
and

Agenda
Monday 17 July 2017

Managing Director
7 July 2017



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR

To: All Members of the Dartford Borough Council

A meeting of the Council will be held on:

Date: Monday 17 July 2017
Time: 7.00 pm
Venue: Civic Centre, Dartford

The Agenda is set out below:

A G E N D A 
1. Prayers: Reverend Kenneth Clark 

2. Apologies for Absence 

To receive apologies for absence

3. Declarations of Interest 

To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board 
or Managing Director.

4. Minutes (Pages 1 - 10)

To approve the minutes of the meeting of the General Assembly 
of the Council held on 10 May 2017.

5. Mayor's Announcements 

6. Leader's Announcements 

To receive announcements from the Leader of the Council

7. Questions from Political Group Leaders 

To consider any questions from the Political Group Leaders to 
the Leader/Cabinet submitted in accordance with Standing Order 
14.



8. Motions 

To consider the following motion submitted by the Shadow 
Leader of the Council in accordance with Standing Order 10:

That….

This Council notes:

 That at the Policy Overview Committee meeting of 21 
March 2017 it was revealed that Dartford Gravesham and 
Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) was 
predicting a £17 million deficit for the financial year 
2016/2017 and this was forecast to rise to £42 million by 
2020/2021. The main driver for this was population growth 
of around 2% per annum which outstripped funding based 
on 1% per annum growth. This was despite the CCG 
finding £13 million in efficiency savings.

 That in the same meeting, the Chief Executive of Darent 
Valley Hospital Trust expressed her concern that the 
current uncertainty around Brexit was having an adverse 
effect on recruitment of EU and Non-EU staff as well as 
causing concern for c.300 EU nationals currently 
employed at Darent Valley Hospital. 

This Council believes:

 That because of the pace and speed of development 
within the Borough, a fair funding settlement is needed to 
meet existing and forecast increased demand.

 That dedicated healthcare professionals working at Darent 
Valley Hospital are being let down by the current 
inadequate funding settlement and this could have an 
impact on the care they are able to deliver.

 That the public sector pay freeze introduced in 2010 is 
contributing to the difficulty in recruitment of doctors, 
nurses and other healthcare professionals locally.

The Council Resolves:

 To endorse and fully support the letter sent by the Policy 
Overview Committee to the Chief executive of NHS 
England highlighting the growing gap in funding to the 
CCG.



 To support demands for a fair funding settlement for the 
CCG and calls on the Secretary of State for Health to 
ensure that local health services in Dartford are 
adequately funded and resourced to provide care to 
Dartford’s growing population.

9. Urgent Items 

The Mayor will announce her decision as to whether there are 
any urgent items.

To consider any reports to the General Assembly of Council by other Committees, Boards, 
Panels and Officers.

10. References from other Committees (if any) 

11. General Assembly of the Council Work Plan 2017-18 (Pages 11 - 14)

To consider and agree the General Assembly of the Council’s 
Work Plan for 2017-18.

12. Electoral Review - Council Size Submission 

This report is “to follow”.

13. Adoption of the Development Policies Local Plan (Pages 15 - 
204)

To adopt the Development Policies Local Plan and new Policies 
Map for the Borough.

14. Capital Programme including Prudential Indicators - Outturn 
2016/17 

(Pages 205 - 
218)

To agree the capital budgets carried forward into 2017/18.

15. Corporate Plan 2017-2020 

To agree and adopt the Corporate Plan for 2017-2020.

This report is “to follow”.

16. Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2016-17 (Pages 219 - 
270)

To receive the Scrutiny Committee Annual Report for 2016-17.



17. Appointment of the Council's Representative on the  Police 
and Crime Panel for Kent and Medway 

(Pages 271 - 
272)

To appoint a new Council representative to serve on the Police 
and Crime Panel for Kent and Medway.

18. Reserved Minutes (Pages 273 - 
292)

To consider any of the minutes of the following Cabinet meetings 
reserved in accordance with Standing Order 16;

(a) for full debate by Political Groups on the Council;
(b) by Ward Members. 

Cabinet

9 March 2017
13 April 2017
25 May 2017

Graham Harris
Managing Director



1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

ANNUAL COUNCIL

MINUTES of the proceedings of the meeting of the Annual Council held on 
Wednesday 10 May 2017.

PRESENT:

The Mayor Councillor J Burrell
The Deputy Mayor Councillor Mrs RM Currans

Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE
Councillor A Bardoe
Councillor S H Brown
Councillor L A Canham
Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor P Cutler
Councillor M J Davis
Councillor B Garden
Councillor J S Hawkes
Councillor J A Hayes
Councillor D E Hunnisett
Councillor S R Jarnell
Councillor J Jones
Councillor Dr B K Kaini
Councillor M B Kelly
Councillor K M Kelly
Councillor P Kelly
Councillor J A Kite, MBE
Councillor E J Lampkin

Councillor R Lees
Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor T A Maddison
Councillor C S McLean
Councillor D J Mote
Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor D Page
Councillor R S L Perfitt
Councillor M I Peters
Councillor B E Read
Councillor D J Reynolds
Councillor L J Reynolds
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE
Councillor Mrs R L Shanks
Councillor C J Shippam
Councillor Mrs R F Storey
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow
Councillor R J Wells

ABSENT: Councillors Armitt, Hammock and Swinerd 

1. ELECTION OF THE WORSHIPFUL THE MAYOR OF DARTFORD FOR THE 
ENSUING YEAR AND ANNOUNCEMENT OF THE MAYORESS AND 
MAYOR'S CHAPLAIN 

The Mayor, Councillor J Burrell, welcomed Members, Guests, Officers and 
members of the public to the Annual Council meeting.

The Leader of the Council, Councillor J A Kite, nominated Councillor Mrs R M 
Currans to be elected as Mayor of Dartford for the next Municipal Year.  This 
was seconded by Councillor C J Shippam.



ANNUAL COUNCIL

WEDNESDAY 10 MAY 2017

2

There being no further nominations Councillor Mrs Currans was duly elected 
the Worshipful the Mayor of the Borough for the 2017 - 18  Municipal Year.

Following her election, Councillor Mrs Currans made her declaration of 
acceptance of office.

The meeting then adjourned for a short period.

THE WORSHIPFUL THE MAYOR
COUNCILLOR MRS R M CURRANS IN THE CHAIR

The Mayor thanked her colleagues and all Members for electing her as Mayor 
of Dartford for the forthcoming municipal year and said she would endeavour 
to live up to the faith that Members had placed in her by her election.  

The Mayor announced that Corina Bailey would be her Escort for the ensuing 
Municipal Year and invited Mrs Bailey to come to the front of the dais where 
she was invested with the Escort’s insignia.

The Mayor also informed the meeting that she had appointed Reverend 
Kenneth Clark as her personal Chaplain during her term of office and hoped 
that he would continue the excellent work that he had carried out for 
Councillor Burrell during the last twelve months.   

2. PRAYERS - MAYOR'S CHAPLAIN 

The Reverend Clark led the Council in prayer

3. APPOINTMENT OF DEPUTY MAYOR FOR THE ENSUING YEAR AND 
ANNOUNCEMENT OF THE DEPUTY MAYORESS 

The Mayor announced that Councillor David Mote would be Deputy Mayor of 
Dartford for 2017 -18. 

Councillor Mote made his declaration of acceptance of office and was 
invested with the Chain of Office.  Councillor Mote informed the meeting that 
his wife Ellen Mote would be his Deputy Mayoress and duly invested her with 
the Chain of Office.

4. VOTE OF THANKS TO THE RETIRING MAYOR IN RESPECT OF 
SERVICES RENDERED DURING THE PAST YEAR 

The Mayor invited the Leader of the Council, Councillor J A Kite to propose a 
vote of thanks to the retiring Mayor. 

Before moving a vote of thanks to the retiring Mayor Councillor Kite offered 
his congratulations to the newly elected Mayor and her Mayoral party, 
explaining that he knew by experience that she would be a tenacious and 
committed worker for the people of Dartford



ANNUAL COUNCIL

WEDNESDAY 10 MAY 2017

3

Councillor Kite extended a welcome to the Deputy Lieutenant of Kent and the 
Vice - Chairman of Kent County Council together with the Mayor and 
Mayoress of Gravesham.

Councillor Kite went on to speak about the many virtues and services that 
Councillor Burrell had brought to his role as Mayor highlighting his initial 
uncertainty about undertaking the role of Mayor and his development into a 
quietly authoritative speaker.  

Councillor Shippam seconded the motion of thanks.

The Shadow Leader of the Council, Councillor Jonathon Hawkes, expressed 
his best wishes to the new Mayor and his Mayoral party.  He also expressed 
his thanks and admiration to the outgoing Mayor and highlighted his 
contributions to the people of Dartford.  

The outgoing Leader of the Swanscombe and Greenhithe Residents’ 
Association, Councillor Read, congratulated the incoming Mayor, Councillor 
Currans and her escort Corina Bailey and the new Deputy Mayor and 
Mayoress on their election to Office.  

Councillor Ann Allen passed her congratulations to Councillor Currans and 
her Escort and wished them a very successful Mayoral year, and thanked 
Councillor Burrell for his work with her during the past year.

Councillor Mrs Thurlow congratulated the newly elected Mayoral Party and 
also praised the retiring Mayor and his wife for the work they had undertaken 
and gave special thanks to the retiring Mayoress for her assistance in the past 
year. 

At the conclusion of the speeches the Motion was put to the vote and it was

RESOLVED:

That sincere thanks and appreciation be accorded to Councillor J Burrell for 
his outstanding service as Mayor during the past year. 

The Leader of the Council, Councillor JA Kite, presented Councillor Burrell 
with a gift certificate on behalf of the Council.   

The Shadow Leader, Councillor J A Hawkes then presented a bouquet of 
flowers to the outgoing Mayoress, 

The Mayor then invited Councillor Burrell to respond to the vote of thanks 
from Members.

Councillor Burrell began by congratulating the incoming Mayor, her Escort 
and the Deputy Mayor and Deputy Mayoress on their election to office. He 



ANNUAL COUNCIL

WEDNESDAY 10 MAY 2017

4

thanked Councillor Mrs Currans and Councillor D Reynolds for all their help 
and support in the preceding year as his Deputy Mayor and Escort.

In response to the speeches made Councillor Burrell initially thanked 
Members for electing him as Mayor in the first instance, he viewed it as a 
great honour and looked back on his year in office with great pleasure.

He explained that it had been a Royal year with both the celebrations of the 
Queen’s 90th Birthday and a visit by the Princess Royal, and that he had 
developed a deep knowledge of both the people of Dartford and the 
commerce and industry of the area as a result of the many visits and duties 
that he had undertaken.

He stressed that although he had worked hard during his mayoral year 
without the support of a great many people he would not have been able to 
attend the number of engagements which he undertook nor have raised the 
sum of money that he achieved.

He finally paid great thanks to his wife for the work and support she had given 
during their Mayoralty and stressed that it would have been an impossible job 
without her. 

5. PRESENTATION OF A PAST MAYOR'S BADGE 

The Mayor invited Councillor Burrell to the front of the dais where he was 
presented with his past Mayor’s badge.

6. TO RECEIVE ANY DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST MEMBERS MAY WISH 
TO MAKE 

No declarations of interest were made.

7. TO RECEIVE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies were received from Councillors Armitt, Hammock and Swinerd

8. CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES 

It was moved by Councillor J A Kite and seconded by Councillor C J Shippam 
and

RESOLVED:

That the Minutes of the GAC held on 20 March 2017 be confirmed as an 
accurate record of that meeting.

9. TO NOTE THE ON-GOING APPOINTMENT OF THE LEADER OF THE 
COUNCIL 



ANNUAL COUNCIL

WEDNESDAY 10 MAY 2017

5

The Mayor asked Members to note the ongoing  appointment of  Councillor J 
A Kite MBE as Leader of the Council until the May 2019 Annual Meeting - 
unless Councillor Kite resigns from office, is no longer a councillor, is removed 
from office by a Council resolution or is otherwise disqualified by law.

10. ANNOUNCEMENT OF THE DEPUTY LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 

The Mayor advised the Council that Councillor C J Shippam would be Deputy 
Leader of the Council until the May 2019 Annual Meeting -  unless Councillor 
Shippam resigns from office, is no longer a councillor, is removed from office 
by the Leader or is otherwise disqualified by law.

11. TO NOTE THE ANNOUNCEMENT OF THE SHADOW LEADER OF THE 
COUNCIL, GROUP LEADERS AND THEIR DEPUTIES 

The Mayor announced that Councillors J S Hawkes and J Jones of the Labour 
Group would hold the offices of Shadow Leader and Deputy Shadow Leader 
of the Council respectively.

Councillor Hawkes reported to the Council that he wished to pass his thanks 
to Councillor Page for her work during the past two years as his deputy. 
Councillor Kite also took the opportunity to extend his thanks to Councillor 
Page for her work as a local ward Councillor, stressing that their political 
differences did not detract from their shared aim of improving Dartford for its 
residents.

The Mayor further announced that Councillors R Lees and B E Read would be 
the Leader and Deputy Leader respectively, of the Swanscombe and 
Greenhithe Residents’ Association.

12. TO RECEIVE AND NOTE THE SIZE OF THE CABINET AND TO 
ALLOCATE ALL EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS TO THE CABINET AND 
DETERMINE THE TERMS OF REFERENCE OF THE CABINET AND TO 
ALLOCATE ALL EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS TO THE CABINET AND 
DETERMINE THE TERMS OF REFERENCE OF THE CABINET 

It was moved by Councillor J A Kite, seconded by Councillor Shippam, and

RESOLVED:

(1) That the size of the Cabinet be set at seven members;

(2) That functions be allocated to the Cabinet as a body with the Terms of    
Reference set out in Appendix A to the agenda.



ANNUAL COUNCIL

WEDNESDAY 10 MAY 2017

6

13. TO RECEIVE AND NOTE THE APPOINTMENT OF MEMBERS TO THE 
CABINET 

The Mayor, in accordance with Section 11(3) (b) of the Local Government Act 
2000, called upon the Leader to announce the membership of the Cabinet, 
their portfolios and other Lead Members.

The Leader advised that for the ensuing year, the Cabinet Members would be 
Councillors J A Kite, C J Shippam, Mrs A D Allen, P F Coleman, K M Kelly, A 
R Lloyd and, Mrs P A Thurlow, with himself as Chairman and Councillor 
Shippam as Vice-Chairman with the portfolios set out in Appendix B to the 
agenda. 

The Leader also advised that Cabinet would be supported by Cabinet Delivery 
Teams with Lead Members as set out in Appendix B to the Agenda. 

RESOLVED

That the membership of the Cabinet and the appointments of Cabinet Delivery 
Team Lead Members be noted 

14. TO RECEIVE AND NOTE THE ESTABLISHMENT OF THE DEED, TRUST 
AND OBLIGATIONS COMMITTEE UNDER THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
ACT 2000, ITS MEMBERSHIP, FUNCTIONS AND TERMS OF REFERENCE 

It was moved by Councillor J A Kite, seconded by Councillor CJ Shippam , 
and

RESOLVED: 

That the Deed, Trust and Obligations Committee be established under the 
provisions of the Local Government Act 2000 and that the appointments as to 
membership, and the appointment of the Chairman and Vice-Chairman and 
the Terms of Reference, be as set out in Appendix C to the agenda.  

15. TO NOTE THE APPOINTMENT OF THE HEAD OF PAID SERVICE, CHIEF 
FINANCE OFFICER AND THE MONITORING OFFICER 

The Mayor announced that Mr Graham John Harris would be the Head of 
Paid Service that Mrs Sarah Jane Martin would be the Chief Finance Officer 
and that Mrs Sheralyn Ann Green would be the Monitoring Officer.

16. MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

The Mayor announced that during her tenure of office she intended to 
continue her commitment to developing Dartford for it visitors and residents.



ANNUAL COUNCIL

WEDNESDAY 10 MAY 2017

7

With regard to her charity, she and her Escort had agreed to continue to 
support of the Arrow Riding Centre, and to support MIND and Homestart.

17. TO CONFIRM THE SIZE AND MEMBERSHIP OF THE POLITICAL 
GROUPS ON THE COUNCIL 

The details of the size and membership of political groups formed by 
Members of the Council was presented. The Political Groups on the Council 
comprise the Dartford Borough Council Conservative Group (34), Labour 
Group (7) and the Swanscombe and Greenhithe Residents’ Association (3). 

RESOLVED:

That the size and membership of political groups formed by members of the 
Council, attached at Appendix D to the agenda, be noted.

18. TO ADOPT THE RULES FOR SUBSTITUTION FOR COMMITTEES, SUB-
COMMITTEES, BOARDS AND PANELS 

It was moved by Councillor J A Kite, seconded by Councillor C J Shippam 
and;

RESOLVED:

That the Rules for Substitution on Standing Committees, Boards and Panels, 
set out in Appendix E to the Agenda be adopted.

19. TO ANNOUNCE THE STRUCTURE OF THE LABOUR GROUP AND THE 
ALLOCATIONS/DISTRIBUTION OF RESPONSIBILITIES 

The Mayor announced that the structure of the Labour Group and the 
allocation/distribution of responsibilities would be as set out in the amended 
Appendix F to the agenda

20. TO CONSIDER AND AGREE THE TERMS OF REFERENCE FOR THE 
GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 

It was moved by Councillor J A Kite seconded by Councillor C J Shippam, and

RESOLVED:

That the terms of reference for the General Assembly of the Council, set out 
in Appendix G to the agenda, be agreed.



ANNUAL COUNCIL

WEDNESDAY 10 MAY 2017

8

21. TO CONSIDER AND ESTABLISH COMMITTEES, SUB-COMMITTEES, 
BOARDS, PANELS AND OTHER BODIES, APPOINT REPRESENTATIVES 
TO OTHER BODIES AND DETERMINE THE TERMS OF REFERENCE OF 
AND DELEGATIONS TO SUCH COMMITTEES, BOARDS, PANELS AND 
OTHER BODIES 

It was moved by Councillor J A Kite, seconded by Councillor C J Shippam, 
and

RESOLVED:

(a) That the review of the representation of the political groups on Standing 
Committees, Boards and Panels (as it affects the Council) and other 
"bodies" within the meaning of the Local Government and Housing Act 
1989 and the Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) 
Regulations 1990. as set out in Appendix H(i) to the agenda in accordance 
with the principles detailed at Appendix H(ii) to the agenda, be noted 

(b)  That the adoption of the Licensing Committee and its sub Committee 
respectively under Section 102(1)(a) of the Local Government Act 1972 
and the Licensing Act 2003 and the adoption of other Committees, Sub-
committees, Boards and Panels under Section 102(1)(a) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and as applicable the Local Government Act 2000 
and the appointments to membership made in accordance with the wishes 
of the political groups on the Council and the appointments of Chairmen 
and Vice-Chairmen, set out in Appendices I to S to the agenda, be 
agreed. 

(c) That the adoption of the Cabinet Advisory Panels and the appointments to 
membership made in accordance with the wishes of the political groups on 
the Council set out in Appendix T to the agenda be noted.

(d) That the adoption of the Joint Transportation Board as a non-statutory 
forum and the appointments to membership made in accordance with the 
wishes of the political groups on the Council set out in Appendix U to the 
agenda be agreed. 

(e) That the Terms of Reference and Delegations for Committees Sub –
Committees, Boards and Panels as set out in Appendices I to U to the 
agenda, be agreed.

22. TO AGREE THE CALENDAR OF COUNCIL AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS 
FOR 2017/18 AND TO NOTE THE PROVISIONAL CALENDAR FOR 
2018/19 

It was moved by Councillor J A Kite, seconded by Councillor C J Shippam, 
and



ANNUAL COUNCIL

WEDNESDAY 10 MAY 2017

9

RESOLVED:

That the dates and times of meetings set out in Appendix V to the agenda be 
agreed. 
 

23. TO NOTE THE APPOINTMENTS OF COUNCILLOR REPRESENTATIVES 
BY EXTERNAL BODIES, AND TO OUTSIDE BODIES WHERE THE TERM 
OF OFFICE EXCEEDS ONE YEAR 

It was moved by Councillor J A Kite, seconded by Councillor C J Shippam, 
and

RESOLVED:

That the appointments of Councillor representatives to outside bodies, for a 
term exceeding one year, as set out in Appendix W to the Agenda, be noted.

24. TO APPOINT COUNCILLORS TO OUTSIDE BODIES AND TO LIAISON 
GROUPS 

It was moved by Councillor J A Kite, seconded by Councillor C J Shippam, 
and

RESOLVED:

(1) That the appointments of Councillor representatives to outside bodies for 
2017/18 set out in Appendix X to the agenda be adopted.

(2) That the appointments of Councillor representatives to liaison groups for 
2017/18 set out in Appendix Y to the agenda be adopted.

At the conclusion of proceedings the Mayor invited Members and their guests 
to join her for refreshments.

The meeting closed at 8.00 pm

Councillor R M Currans MAYOR





GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
17 July 2017

WORK PLAN FOR THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL

1. Summary

1.1 To consider the proposed Work Plan for the General Assembly of the Council 
for 2017/18.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1.That Members consider whether any additions be made to the Work Plan, for 
the Municipal Year 2017/18 (attached at Appendix A), and that the Plan be 
approved.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The proposed Work Plan for the General Assembly of the Council 
for the Municipal Year 2017/18 is based on the plans and strategies 
which comprise the policy framework as detailed in Article 4 of the 
Constitution and other significant items which are due to come 
before the Council for decision.

3.2. Current plans and strategies which the Council may decide require 
further attention or new plans and strategies which the Council 
decides should be adopted as matter of local choice are placed on 
the Work Plan.  

3.3. Members may ask for other items to be placed on the Work Plan.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Each plan/strategy contained in the appendix relates to the relevant area of the 
Corporate Plan.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
17 July 2017

6. Appendices

Appendix A - GAC Work Plan 2017/18.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File Ref Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Previous GAC 
Work Plans and 
agendas
Regulation 9 
Notices

July
2017

Alan Twyman
Member Services 
Manager 

Member 
Services
 

N/A



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
17 July 2017

APPENDIX A

General Assembly of the Council Work Plan 2017/18

TITLE DATE OF GAC 
MEETING

DIRECTOR

GAC Work Plan July 2017 Managing Director
Scrutiny Annual Report July 2017 Strategic Director 

(Internal Services)
Adoption of Development Policies Plan July 2017 Strategic Director 

(External Services)
Corporate Plan 2017-20 July 2017 Strategic Director 

(Internal Services)
Capital Programme including Prudential Indicators – Outturn 
2016/17

July 2017 Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

Local Government Boundary Review – Arrangements for the Size of 
the Council

July 2017 Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee Annual 
Report 

October 2017 Strategic Director 
(External Services)

Local Government Boundary Review – Council Proposals for 
Electoral Arrangements

October/December 2017 Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

Setting of Council Tax Base for the Borough for 2017/18 December 2017 Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

Section 136 Contributions to Parish and Town Council’s 2017/18 December 2017 Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

Local Scheme of Support for Council Tax December 2017 Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

Revenue and Capital Budget 2018/19 February 2017 Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)





                             
GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF COUNCIL 

17 JULY 2017

ADOPTION OF THE DEVELOPMENT POLICIES LOCAL PLAN

1. Summary

1.1 This report seeks the agreement of Members to adopt the Development Policies 
Local Plan and new Policies Map for the Borough. This follows Public 
Examination’ of the Plan by the Planning Inspectorate, taking into account three 
public consultation stages, evidence and national policy.

 
1.2 The adopted Development Policies Plan will enable all planning applications to be 

considered against locally relevant criteria in addition to national policy and 
provide a stronger legal and practical basis for implementing the Council’s 
planning objectives.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That the Development Policies Local Plan, and associated new Borough Policies 
Map, at Appendices A and B (respectively), be formally adopted as part of the 
statutory Development Plan for the Borough. 

2.2 That the Head of Regeneration be granted delegated authority for final formatting 
and layout of the Core Strategy and Policies Map, and any grammatical or 
typographical corrections.

2.3 That the Head of Regeneration be granted delegated authority to produce formal 
documentation necessary arising from adoption, including the Strategic 
Environmental Assessment Adoption statement.

3. Background 

3.1 The Development Plan forms the legal starting point for the determination of 
planning applications by local planning authorities (LPAs). The Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) states [emphasis added]: “If regard is to be had to 
the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the 
planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise.”

3.2 The Borough’s Development Plan will consist of the 2017 Development Policies 
Local Plan (after adoption), the 2011 adopted Dartford Core Strategy Local Plan, and 
Minerals and Waste Local Plans produced by Kent County Council. (No 
Neighbourhood Development Plans have yet been introduced). 

3.3 By adopting the Development Policies Plan (Appendix A) and making it a part of 
the statutory Development Plan, the Council will delete all remaining policies from 
1995 (those policies ‘saved’ for continued use from the Borough of Dartford Local 
Plan). Planning applications will be determined on the above Local Plans, Borough 
Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) and material considerations. 



                             
GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF COUNCIL 

17 JULY 2017

3.4 This accords with government requirements to have up to date Local Plans; 
particularly after the introduction of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
in 2012. Similarly the illustration of planning policies will be renewed through a 
replacement Policies Map for the Borough (Appendix B).

3.5 The Core Strategy was adopted by the Council in September 2011. The Core 
Strategy is considered to remain up-to-date and relevant, setting out the strategy for 
development in the Borough as well as major development opportunities to meet 
housing, infrastructure and other supporting needs. 

3.6 The Development Policies Local Plan sets out further policies to help deliver 
existing strategy. It provides the detailed policies to ensure the quality and 
sustainability of development which the Council aspires to. These policies will assist 
with the detailed criteria/ provisions for determining small planning applications. 
Moreover, it will also be applicable within the part of the Borough covered by the 
Ebbsfleet Development Corporation (EDC) and should be used by the EDC to help 
require high standards of design for proposals in the Ebbsfleet  Garden City.

3.7 The Development Policies Local Plan has been informed by range of sources. 
This includes rounds of public consultation between 2013 and 2016, and associated 
reports/ briefings for Members (as detailed in the report to GAC December 2015 on 
Plan publication stage). There has subsequently been Member input and further 
chances for interested parties to comment.

3.8 Following the 2015 Publication Report to GAC, a full draft Plan was published in 
January 2016. Representations received by the public on the Plan were found to 
raise no issues of major significance. As required by that Report, the Plan was 
submitted for independent Examination. 

3.9 The Examination of the Plan by the Planning Inspectorate is required to consider 
legal issues and national planning tests of “soundness”, on which the ability of the 
Plan to be adopted hinges. As addressed in Appendix C, the soundness tests are 
that the Plan must be:  
 Positively prepared, 
 Justified, 
 Effective, and
 Consistent with national policy.

3.10 The rest of this report focuses on the objections and consequent 
modifications to the Plan, other outcomes of the Examination for adoption; and key 
next steps that arise.

4. Independent Examination of the Plan

4.1 The Planning Inspector appointed to conduct the Examination in Public reviewed 
the 57 sets of comments received on the published Plan; a reduced amount 
compared to the previous round of public consultation. It was largely made up of 
developer/ landowners (46%) and public sector/ utility companies (44%). 
Approximately a third of comments were clear objections. They raise the following 
concerns:



                             
GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF COUNCIL 

17 JULY 2017

 The proposal to apply current/ emerging national policy in relation to housing 
standards or types e.g. applying nationally described minimum house size 
requirements in the Plan.

 Locations where policy for employment areas aims to retain (or renew) certain 
economic uses, where set out on the Policies Map.

 A range of issues around the approach to retail strategy, in particular the 
treatment of Bluewater in this Plan.
Overall, these themes only related to limited parts of the Plan, and showed 
general consistency with the thrust of main issues raised previously through 
public participation.

4.2 As a result of considering the Soundness tests, legal issues, written evidence and 
arguments at four days of public hearing sessions in October 2016, the Inspector has 
concluded that the majority of polices in the Plan are sound (see Appendix C, with his 
required “Main Modifications” attached). Main modifications are changes that are 
binding on the Council in order for it to adopt a Local Plan. Other modifications are 
discussed below at paragraphs 4.12 and 4.13.

4.3 Importantly, the Inspector only directed very limited modifications to policies 
(most notably DP8 on residential size etc.) that seek better housing developments. 
The Inspector also fully accepted policy DP20; employment sites on the Policies Map 
will benefit from protective criteria to ensure economic activity can be retained in the 
face of higher land value pressures (e.g. residential use) unless overriding economic 
reasons apply within Core Strategy Priority Areas. However to get the plan towards 
adoption, the following alterations were considered necessary.

Main modifications:

4.4 Retail issues were a feature of contention with some participants throughout the 
process. Re-affirmation of the focus in the Core Strategy on regenerating Dartford 
Town Centre is a significant part of the Development Policies Plan. Similarly, policy 
DP14 also sought not to change the fundamental principles guiding the approach to 
development at Bluewater, namely that it is recognised as an existing part of the 
network of centres for shopping; and that appropriate retail and leisure development 
can occur at Bluewater. Different approaches were explored through the 
Examination, also including whether it was necessary to feature extra explanatory 
text in relation to current strategy, but the main upshot of the Inspector’s intervention 
has been to reiterate in policy DP14 the commitment made in the Core Strategy to 
review retail strategy. 

4.5 The process of preparing and reviewing the Plan is considered by officers to have 
added some certainty over current planning policies at Bluewater. Examination 
hearings included consideration of the rationale, and national policy, behind the 
existing strategy (policy CS12). The Inspector concluded that it was not necessary in 
his role to decide on CS12 as it was already adopted and not a proposal of this Plan, 
however this resolution has been reached after hearing the full and reiterated 
representations by objectors. 

4.6 Adopted Core Strategy policy CS12 continues to apply alongside DP14. 
Moreover, the Plan provides additional context to that set out in CS12; in particular a 
firm outer boundary for Bluewater as a designated retail centre is confirmed on the 
new Policies Map for the Borough. 



                             
GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF COUNCIL 

17 JULY 2017

4.7 The examination process has also resulted in a slightly more flexible definition in 
the Plan’s Glossary of when changes of use of certain retail premises can occur, 
following objections made on behalf of a retail operator.

4.8 In relation to heritage and Green Belt protection, a significant number of policy 
clauses were further amended through modifications at the behest of the Inspector - 
despite minimal objection - to better accord with his view on the application of 
national policy.  The impact of this will be to tighten the operation of policies DP12/ 
DP13, and DP22, with an even greater focus on conservation objectives in these 
areas; protecting the character and existing value of these important parts of the 
Borough.

4.9 Members should also be advised that policy DP6, focusing on windfall sites 
(being housing land not previously planned for or identified through the Local Plan) 
led to some objections pursued at Examination. This led to pressure for a 
generalised and largely permissive policy not taking account of the requirements of 
the Borough (but one in close accord with the Soundness test of consistency with 
national policy). 

4.10 The Inspector did not support this proposed modification by objectors, although 
one part of the policy has been subject to an amended criterion. Rather than being 
seen as “exceptional”, greenfield windfall sites will only be permitted if highly 
sustainably located in all respects of the policy clause on good location (access/ 
public transport to services and employment) and also only if the site is needed to 
rectify an absence of five year housing land supply. 

4.11 This means, as is often already the case for sites under national policy, with the 
modified policy DP6 it will be particularly important to maintain a Five Year Supply of 
deliverable housing land in order for this policy to be remain fully effective in 
controlling larger greenfield windfall proposals. Fortunately, a continuation of the 
substantial uplift in residential construction in recent years will see the Borough well-
placed in terms of five year housing land supply. The existing adopted Housing 
Windfalls SPD remains in place unchanged, continuing to provide detailed local 
guidance for these proposals.

Minor modifications: 

4.12 It should also be noted that the Adopted Plan (Appendix A) also includes a 
series of minor textual clarifications and presentational changes. The Council is 
exercising its discretion, under the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) as 
amended by the Localism Act 2011 to: “adopt the document...with the main 
modifications and additional modifications if the additional modifications (taken 
together) do not materially affect the policies that would be set out in the document 
with the main modifications but not other modifications.” [Section 23(3), emphasis 
added]. 

4.13 A number of these “additional modifications” were consulted on previously 
(although not strictly necessary). However these minor changes are all considered to 
be required in the adopted Plan for presentational and consistency reasons. For 
example they include further sub-titles (for supporting text), photographs placed in 
surplus spaces, providing factual updates and cross referencing and so on. They are 
listed online (accessible via:   ww.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/environment-and-
planning2/new-planning-homepage/planning-policy/development-policies-plan), and 
a copy made available in the Members Room.

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/environment-and-planning2/new-planning-homepage/planning-policy/development-policies-plan
http://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/environment-and-planning2/new-planning-homepage/planning-policy/development-policies-plan


                             
GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF COUNCIL 

17 JULY 2017

5. Adoption, other documentation and next steps

5.1 In summary, the Development Policies Plan has been in preparation for four 
years involving successive rounds of public consultation. It has been subject to 
robust independent scrutiny against issues such as national policy and legal 
compliance for the past year, and found “sound” subject to limited modifications. 

5.2 The Plan should be adopted and brought in to full legal force as part of the 
statutory Development Plan for the Borough and used in deciding planning 
applications and for regeneration and sustainable development purposes with 
immediate effect. This will benefit residents, developers and decision takers, 
providing greater certainty and clarity in the context of achieving the objectives for 
sustainable development and regeneration of the Borough set out in the current Core 
Strategy.

5.3 In parallel with adoption of the Development Policies Local Plan, the Council also 
needs to adopt a new Policies Map for the Borough (Appendix B). This will illustrate 
the Development Policies Local Plan and Core Strategy proposals on a combined 
map. Hard copies of adopted documents will also be given to public libraries. (If 
requests are received to purchase documents, in line with the principle of covering 
costs it is proposed to charge a total of £20 for hard copies of the adopted 
Development Policies Plan, and £30 for hard copies of the new Borough Policies 
Map). 

5.4 The Policies Map is a detailed map of the Borough with many layers of 
information. It is available electronically and hard copy versions have been deposited 
in the Members Room for inspection. An interactive online version of this map will 
also be prepared to enable ready identification of planning policies and 
environmental designations that apply to particular parts of the Borough. 

5.5 Legislation requires Local Plans to have shown effective cooperation between 
neighbouring authorities on strategic issues (for example, major infrastructure) that 
would have a significant impact on at least two planning areas. This is referred to as 
‘the duty to co-operate’.  Collaborating positively with partners over ‘on the ground’ 
strategic planning matters, for example supporting public bodies in relation to 
projects such as the Lower Thames Crossing, the potential Crossrail extension, and 
other social and physical infrastructure, is an integral part of delivering the Core 
Strategy, along with the new Plan. 

5.6 The Inspector has confirmed that the ‘duty to co-operate’ test has been satisfied. 
The only persistent challenge in this respect was in relation to strategy for Bluewater 
from other councils, and the Inspector has not upheld their objection. However  
cooperation will need to be maintained, including on planning policy matters such as 
regional retail development strategy.

5.7 Adoption will also require the production of a Strategic Environmental 
Assessment Adoption statement. This sets out how the statutory Sustainability 
Appraisal Report (evaluating the impact of proposals on environmental, social and 
economic outcomes) has been taken into account when finalising the plan; and future 
monitoring issues. This should occur as soon as reasonably possible after adoption, 
and therefore it is recommended that the Head of Regeneration Services be given 
delegated authority to issue the statement.



                             
GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF COUNCIL 

17 JULY 2017

5.8 Under policy DP25, it is necessary to bring in new technical guidance to deal 
with legislation on protecting North Kent habitats. Housing development has a 
relationship with sensitive habitats through visits to them by residents for recreational 
purposes, for example to parts of the Thames Estuary with the highest level of 
protection for birds. The guidance is focused only on large residential developments 
in the east of the Borough given the travel distances involved, and the approach is to 
outline options (including a simple low-level financial contribution) that can be made 
by developers in order to streamline regulatory compliance. It is therefore considered 
necessary and proportionate, and as set out in DP25, it has been made available 
online (accessible at: www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/environment-and-
planning2/new-planning-homepage/planning-policy/adopted-plans). This approach 
has not been modified by the Inspector, and is considered to formally commence on 
adoption of the Plan; progress on its implementation will be reviewed within the 
Authority Monitoring Report covering the period 2017/ 18.

5.9 Finally, adoption of the DP Plan will allow effort to focus on reviewing and rolling 
forward the Borough planning and development strategy for the next Local Plan. 

5.10 This will ultimately entail substantial public engagement, and therefore a new 
draft Statement of Community Involvement in planning is in preparation. Officers are 
also currently considering the implications of the Housing White Paper (including a 
proposed new methodology for calculating housing need) and subsequent national 
events, in determining how to progress a new Local Plan. There is also a need to 
review retail strategy in the light of an updated retail assessment as part of the new 
Plan’s production, a commitment reaffirmed in modified policy DP14.

6 Relationship to the Corporate Plan

6.1 To ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of benefit to all of our 
communities. 

6.2 To facilitate quality, choice and diversity in the housing market, to create strong 
and self- reliant communities and deliver high quality services to service users. 

6.3 To promote an environment which is attractive, adapted to climate change and 
which provides a realistic choice of travel options.

7 Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications Primary issues arising from planning and localism 
legislation have been addressed throughout the 
report. The decision to adopt is one potentially subject 
to Judicial Review; and also in this instance the 
Secretary of State is granted specific powers of 
intervention should this be necessary. However 
through close regard to legislative requirements 
(throughout the process and on adoption) the Council 
has acted to minimise this possibility. 

The Inspector has considered his responsibilities to 
check Plan compliance, including Duty to Cooperate 

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/environment-and-planning2/new-planning-homepage/planning-policy/adopted-plans
http://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/environment-and-planning2/new-planning-homepage/planning-policy/adopted-plans


                             
GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF COUNCIL 

17 JULY 2017

legal stipulations.

In relation to the Public Sector Equality Duty, the 
Customer Access Review was produced at 
Publication stage and associated assessment notes 
the lack of adverse impact on any particular group. 
This has not been altered post examination.

Crime and disorder implications are part of the social 
impacts of the Development Policies Local Plan 
considered as part of statutory Sustainability 
Appraisal. Crime and antisocial behaviour is directly 
referenced in the Plan, particularly in relation to 
securing well designed developments and site layouts

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment The Borough faces the low likelihood and medium 
risk factor of effectively not having control over 
development if the Local Plan is not successfully 
adopted.  This could arise from legal challenge to the 
adoption process or Inspector’s Report. Legal 
requirements have been closely considered in the 
production of this report and associated 
documentation. 

8. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

9. Appendices

Appendix A - Dartford Development Policies Local Plan: Adopted document
Appendix B – Policies Map: Adopted [Note hard copies of this have been reduced to 
A3 paper size and therefore are not printed at the stated 1:10,000 scale].
Appendix C – Inspector’s Report and Main Modifications

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Mark Aplin 
(01322) 343202

Planning 
Policy, 
Regeneration 
Services

N/A





 
 

 

Dartford Development 
Policies Plan 

Adopted July 2017 

Dartford Local Plan Document 

       Appendix A



 
Dartford Development Policies Plan  

 

  



 
Dartford Development Policies Plan  

 

 

 

 

Development Policies Plan 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Adoption Document 

 

July 2017 

 

 

 



 
Dartford Development Policies Plan  

 

 

 

 



 
Dartford Development Policies Plan  

1         LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

CONTENTS PAGE 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

1. Dartford Development Plan          3  

       

2. Ebbsfleet            6 

 

3. The Borough’s Other Planning Policy Documents      8 

 

4. Document Structure                               9  

       

POLICIES, SUPPORTING TEXT & MONITORING 

 

5.   Dartford’s Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development    10 

 Policy DP1: Dartford’s Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 11 

  

6.  Good Design in Dartford         12 

 Policy DP2: Good Design in Dartford        16  

    

7.  Transport Management         18 

 Policy DP3: Transport Impacts of Development      19  

 Policy DP4: Transport Access and Design       22  

      

8.  Environmental and Amenity Protection       24 

 Policy DP5: Environmental and Amenity Protection      27 

 

9.  Housing in Dartford         28  

 Policy DP6: Sustainable Residential Locations      34  

 Policy DP7: Borough Housing Stock and Residential Amenity               40  

 Policy DP8: Residential Space and Design in New Development               46 

 Policy DP9: Local Housing Needs        50  

 Policy DP10: Gypsy, Traveller, and Travelling Showpeople Accommodation     54 

    



 
Dartford Development Policies Plan  

2         LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

10.  Sustainable Technology and Construction       55 

  Policy DP11: Sustainable Technology and Construction      58 

 

11.  Heritage and the Historic Environment        59 

 Policy DP12: Historic Environment Strategy        64 

 Policy DP13: Designated Heritage Assets        67  

     

12.  Dartford Town Centre and Shopping        69  

 Policy DP14: Retail and Town Centre Development       74  

 Policy DP15: Dartford Town Centre and its Primary Frontage     80 

 Policy DP16: Dartford Town Centre’s Secondary Areas      83 

 Policy DP17: District Centres          85 

 Policy DP18: Neighbourhood Centres        86 

 Policy DP19: Food and Drink Establishments       87 

 

13.  Identified Employment Areas                   88 

 Policy DP20: Identified Employment Areas                   94  

      

14.  Securing Community Facilities         95  

 Policy DP21: Securing Community Facilities        98 

  

15.  The Green and Open Space Network       99 

 Policy DP22: Green Belt in the Borough      102  

 Policy DP23: Protected Local Green Space                            106 

 Policy DP24: Open Space                   109 

 Policy DP25: Nature Conservation and Enhancement                116  

 

16.  Plan Monitoring and the Core Strategy       117 

    

APPENDICES 

A.  1995 Borough Local Plan Policies Replaced by this Plan    124   

B.  District and Neighbourhood Centres Addresses               127 

C.  Glossary                                           129 

 



 
Dartford Development Policies Plan  

3         LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 

1. The Dartford Development Plan  
 

Plan Legal Compliance and Soundness 

 

1.1 The ‘Development Plan’, by law, forms the starting point for most decisions on planning 

applications. Documents produced for the Development Plan are known as ‘Local Plans’, 

and in Dartford these consist of the Core Strategy (2011) and this Development Policies 

Plan. The Development Policies Plan was adopted by Dartford Borough Council on 17 

July 2017. 

 

1.2 The Development Policies Plan sets out the main planning policies that the Local 

Planning Authority will use to assess planning applications. The Plan replaces the 

remaining parts of the 1995 Borough Local Plan (see Appendix A for an indication of how 

new policies broadly relate to old ones). 

 

1.3 The Plan was produced based on evidence, including public participation with residents, 

businesses, organisations and others, and formal assessments such as ‘Sustainability 

Appraisal’. Local Plans are required to be positively prepared, justified, and consistent 

with national policy. 

 

1.4 Local Plan requirements include the statutory ‘Duty to Cooperate’ between certain public 

bodies. Cooperation and joint working is ongoing on a range of strategic development and 

cross-boundary infrastructure matters identified in the Core Strategy or nationally. 

 

1.5 The Core Strategy, the over-arching Local Plan document for the Borough, was adopted 

by Dartford Borough Council in September 2011, and sets the fundamental sustainable 

development priorities in Dartford. Along with national policy, it provides the essential 

context for this Plan; and both plan documents have a time horizon to 2026. 

 

1.6 The Development Plan has been prepared with regard to national policy. Dartford Local 

Plans promote sustainable growth, infrastructure development and regeneration within the 

Borough, while seeking to enhance a sense of place, and maintain and enhance 

Dartford’s heritage, open space and existing or emerging residential neighbourhoods. The 



 
Dartford Development Policies Plan  

4         LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

policies in the Development Policies Plan are considered1 to be in conformity with national 

planning policy contained in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and 

associated online guidance; and finalisation of the Plan has involved confirming the 

consistency between national policy and Core Strategy policies, on which the 

Development Policies Plan is based. 

 

Supporting the Core Strategy and National Policy 

 

1.7 Dartford Borough Council supports NPPF (2012) principles of sustainable development 

and purposeful and objective planning to meet needs. This is demonstrated in the positive 

proposals for growth in the Core Strategy. The Development Policies Plan provides 

further detail of how sustainability will be achieved in Dartford, reflecting the opportunities 

and environmental, economic and social characteristics of the Borough. Within each 

policy in this Plan the most applicable Core Strategy policies are identified, and how the 

policies set out here support their implementation. 

 

1.8 This Development Policies Plan is a key tool in achieving the Core Strategy’s objectives. 

This Plan elaborates and provides more detail in the current context for strategic policies 

and development management. The policies are in line with the vision for Dartford, the 

place of quality and choice2 and the 10 strategic objectives set out in the Core Strategy. 

Relationships between policies in this Plan and those in the Core Strategy (and its 

objectives) are outlined within Chapter 16 (Tables 4, 6 and 8). 

 

1.9 This Plan builds on the spatial pattern of sustainable development identified in the Core 

Strategy in the Priority Areas of Dartford Town Centre and Northern Gateway, Ebbsfleet 

to Stone and the Thames Waterfront (Policy CS1). In particular the policies help to 

achieve the three key principles underpinning this spatial strategy for the Borough: 

 Developing in areas with the most regeneration potential; 

 Protecting and enhancing the quality of life, and 

 Ensuring a balanced and sustainable pattern of land use and transport. 

 

1.10 Accordingly, the Core Strategy sets out a capacity-based housing figure which meets 

housing need and provides impetus for regeneration of the Borough. This is Core 

Strategy Policy CS10, which equates to up to 17,300 dwellings in the 20 years to 2026. 

 

                                                           
 

 

1
 DBC (2016) Evidence of Reasoning: National Policy & Core Strategy Compliance Update. 

2
 DBC (2011) Dartford Core Strategy: The Council’s Vision for Dartford 2026 



 
Dartford Development Policies Plan  

5         LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

1.11 The Core Strategy also includes a trigger for action if delivery is forecast to be fewer than 

11,700 dwellings for the period; however, this is highly unlikely. There has been a recent 

uplift in delivering the major Core Strategy growth locations, with record rates of 

housebuilding in the Borough, including around Dartford Town Centre and at Stone. The 

introduction of substantial government resources and powers at Ebbsfleet (outlined in the 

following chapter) and commencement of development there, support a further 

acceleration in housing delivery. 

 

Topics covered in the Plan 

 

1.12 A policy for good design is included in this document (Chapter 6), and housing policies 

features in Chapter 9. This Plan also aims to ensure the success of the Core Strategy in 

stimulating major jobs growth is maintained. Chapters 12 and 13 deal with retail and 

employment uses, covering a number of policy provisions to achieve regeneration in and 

around Dartford Town Centre, and elsewhere. Major environmental and heritage issues 

for development management are addressed in Chapters 8, 10 and 11. 

 

1.13 The strategy for the Borough is supported by an emphasis on infrastructure in the 

Dartford Development Plan, and the Council’s focus on supporting infrastructure delivery 

through working with other councils and public bodies. Chapter 7 of this document deals 

with Transport, and chapters 14 and 15 cover community and green infrastructure 

respectively. The infrastructure emphasis is essential to successful implementation of 

planned growth, given the number of households in the Borough is set to increase by 

up to 45% under the Core Strategy.  
 

 

 Queen Elizabeth II Bridge, forming part of the Dartford Crossing  



 
Dartford Development Policies Plan  

6         LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

2. Ebbsfleet  

2.1  The Ebbsfleet Development Corporation (EDC) was formed to take lead responsibility for 

development in the northeast of the Borough (and part of Gravesham Borough) in April 

2015. The EDC has a critical role to play in achieving large-scale regeneration, expected 

to take the form of the first new ‘Garden City’ in the country for decades. The EDC area is 

shown in red in Figure 1 below. 

Figure 1: EDC Area, Borough boundary and Core Strategy site allocation 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.2  Outline planning permission currently exists in the EDC area for approximately 11,000 

dwellings, large-scale job generation, ancillary facilities and infrastructure (including a 

limited proportion within Gravesham). The government envisages up to 15,000 new 

homes in the area, mainly using brownfield land. 

2.3  The EDC will coordinate investment and accelerate development at Ebbsfleet. It will work 

with local authorities and local communities to develop a shared vision for the area, 

providing high quality, attractive and sustainably-constructed housing and infrastructure, 

°

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey Dartford Borough Council 100025870  2015

0 0.5 1 1.5 20.25

Km

X:\Data_Store\Departmental_Data\Regeneration_Directorate\Planning_Policy\1995LP_Updates_20150916\01_Project_Files\01_EDC_A4_Land_20160119.mxd

Borough Boundary

Ebbsfleet Develoment Corporation (EDC) Boundary 

Ebbsfleet Valley Strategic Site



 
Dartford Development Policies Plan  

7         LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

and new opportunities to live and work. It will: prepare regeneration strategy; act as a 

catalyst to drive forward sustainable development; use compulsory purchase powers as 

appropriate, and undertake direct investment to unlock development opportunities.  

2.4  The EDC is responsible for determining planning applications in the relevant part of 

Dartford Borough, but not for producing Local Plans and other statutory planning policy. 

This Plan, along with the Dartford Core Strategy, will apply in the EDC part of the Borough 

and be used in determining planning applications. 

2.5  Major development at Ebbsfleet is outlined in the Dartford Core Strategy, and the 

emphasis on sustainable and better quality development accords with the role of this 

Plan. Dartford Core Strategy policies at Ebbsfleet include the Ebbsfleet Valley Strategic 

Site (Policy CS5, the blue boundary in Figure 1 above) and the Swanscombe Peninsula, 

which forms part of the Thames Waterfront Priority Area (Policy CS6). 

2.6  The ‘London Resort’ leisure proposal is located in the EDC area at Swanscombe 

Peninsula. This is expected to be considered as a National Significant Infrastructure 

Project (NSIP) and be determined directly by the Planning Inspectorate. 

2.7  The phrase “Local Planning Authority” is used in this Plan in recognition that both Dartford 

Borough Council and the EDC will be applying the policies. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Ebbsfleet International Railway Station 



 
Dartford Development Policies Plan  

8         LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

3. The Borough’s Other Planning Policy Documents 
 

3.1 To assist in interpreting the Development Policies Plan and Core Strategy, a new Policies 

Map for Dartford is formally adopted alongside this plan.  

3.2  A set of existing supplementary policies provide further guidance. This Plan notes the 

main new Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) currently expected to be introduced 

by the Council is for Dartford Town Centre. 

3.3  Figure 2 illustrates some of the other planning policy documents and shows the central 

role of Local Plans. 

Figure 2: Components of Dartford Planning Policy

 

 

3.4  A Neighbourhood Development Plan is being formulated by Stone Parish Council.  

3.5  Following adoption of this Plan, when greater clarity is available in relation to Ebbsfleet 

and other strategic matters, the Council anticipates commencing a review of Core 

Strategy provisions. This would result in a new Local Plan for the Borough looking at 

updated long-term development strategy (up to and) beyond 2026, including a retail 

review (see Policy DP14:3). 

3.6  National policy changes are likely to necessitate further publications or expanded 

documentation and monitoring, such as registers for brownfield land or self-build housing 

demand. 

Dartford Core Strategy Local Plan 

Dartford Development Policies 
Local Plan/ Policies Map 

Regular 
monitoring  
inc. AMRs  
& 5year 
housing 
supply 

Dartford's 
Community 

Infrastructure 
Levy  

Supplementary 
Planning 

Documents 

The Core Strategy remains the overarching document, with the Development 

Policies Local Plan in support. Policies on these two Local Plans are shown on the 

new Policies Map of the Borough; with various Supplementary Planning 

Documents (SPDs) produced providing further detail. This is accompanied by 

monitoring (see Chapter 16) and the Borough’s Community Infrastructure Levy 

(CIL) introduced in April 2014. 



 
Dartford Development Policies Plan  

9         LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

4. Document Structure  
 

4.1 The Plan firstly documents five cross-cutting policies that are potentially applicable to the 

full range of planning applications across the Borough. These form Chapters 5 to 8 of this 

document. They complement the Core Strategy, in particular policies in its chapters on 

‘Where Development Will Take Place’, and ‘Delivery and Implementation’. 

4.2 Remaining policies DP6 to DP25 (in Chapters 9 to 15) cover other environmental, 

economic or social themes for sustainable development; and many relate to, or make 

specific provisions for, locations shown on the Policies Map. These policies provide 

detailed elaboration for development management purposes, often explaining how 

specific national standards, guidance or legislation will be applied. They explain the 

application of Core Strategy proposals within its ‘Managing Development’ and ‘Creating 

Strong and Prospering Communities’ chapters. 

4.3 To help set the policies in their context, and recognising the large amount of relevant of 

other information (notably the Core Strategy) boxes like this example are included in the 

Plan: 

 

4.4  Chapter 16 covers development plan monitoring and the Core Strategy policy 

relationship, including the information to be provided in annual Authority Monitoring 

Reports (AMRs). 

4.5 Appendices constitute: guidance on the replacement of 1995 Borough Local Plan policies; 

District and Neighbourhood Centre addresses (policies DP17 & DP18), and a glossary of 

planning policy terms. 

 

SEE ALSO (Most relevant supporting information): 

 Other policies in the Dartford Core Strategy and in national policy (NPPF) are 

identified (and also connected policies elsewhere within this document).  

 These lists are not exhaustive. For further context see the Evidence of 

Reasoning document, and other evidence base documents. 



 
Dartford Development Policies Plan  

10         LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

POLICIES, SUPPORTING TEXT & MONITORING 
 

5. Dartford’s Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

 

5.1 The Core Strategy was adopted in 2011 before the final NPPF was published in 2012. 

The NPPF itself (paragraph 211) is clear that this does not automatically render the Core 

Strategy out of date. It is dependent on the consistency of policies with the NPPF. 

5.2  In Dartford, due to the longstanding growth status of the Thames Gateway, the availability 

of large development sites, and the established commitment of Dartford Borough Council 

to achieving major economic and physical regeneration, the Core Strategy takes a 

positive and flexible approach to the level and form of development in line with 

government objectives. This includes Policy CS10 ‘Housing Provision’. Plan-making has 

occurred as set out in paragraph 14 of the NPPF, and by positively integrating within the 

local regeneration setting the elements of sustainable development (economic, 

environmental and social) in national policy. 

5.3  To make this explicit, a policy commitment is set out below for the Dartford Development 

Plan reflecting the NPPF presumption in favour of sustainable development (and taking 

into account subsequent legal clarifications). Particularly with the further provisions of this 

document, the Dartford Development Plan as a whole promotes a balanced and 

sustainable pattern of land use, infrastructure and transport; setting policies that will 

achieve sustainable development in the Borough, including in the EDC area. 

5.4 This policy will work in parallel with the Core Strategy and other policies. Policies in this 

Plan are based around positive criteria to give a clear indication of the development 

needed in the Borough that will be permitted. It needs to be recognised that other policies 

may come into play and decisions are rarely made in the context of one policy alone. In 

any event, the Borough’s up-to-date development plan supports a proactive approach to 

local development management. 

SEE ALSO (Most relevant supporting information): 

 Core Strategy policies: All 

 Other policies in this document: All 

 NPPF paragraphs: 14, 49, 119 & 211. 

file:///C:/Users/kgill/Desktop/NPPF.docx%23Annex_3_Para_14


 
Dartford Development Policies Plan  

11         LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

Policy DP1: Dartford’s Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

1. The Development Plan, which has been prepared in Dartford in accordance with 

national objectives to deliver sustainable development, is the statutory starting point 

for decision making. Planning applications that accord with the policies in the 

Dartford Core Strategy and this Plan, and policies in neighbourhood plans (where 

relevant), will be approved wherever possible, unless material considerations 

indicate otherwise. 

2. A positive approach to considering development proposals will be taken in Dartford 

Borough, reflecting the presumption in favour of sustainable development contained 

in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the development needs of 

the Borough identified in the Core Strategy. The Local Planning Authority will work 

proactively with applicants to find design and mitigation solutions to enable 

appropriately located development that improves the economic, social and 

environmental conditions in the Borough. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

New development at the ‘The Bridge’   



 
Dartford Development Policies Plan  

12         LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

6. Good Design in Dartford 

 

Dartford’s Key Design Principles 

6.1 The Core Strategy sets out policies that will influence the design of development sites and 

other types of development, and in particular CS17 informs the design of residential 

developments. The overall principles in CS17:1, including the application of Kent Design3, 

will remain in force; and CS17:3&4’s provisions on density are still applicable. 

6.2 High quality urban design is key to place-making and enhancing existing natural and built 

environments in Dartford Borough. Opportunities should be taken from the outset of 

planning developments to improve the character and quality of an area and the way it 

functions. Design should be used actively and creatively to plan desirable, integrated, 

sustainable places and increase the appeal of the Borough as a place to live, work and 

spend time in. Central principles include: 

 Design that is attractive. 

 Design that contributes to the distinctive character of places. 

 Design that is functional and fit for purpose. 

 Design that is adaptable and resilient. 

 Ease of movement. 

 Successful public spaces. 

 Support for a mix of uses / tenures. 

6.3 Design, architecture and construction materials should complement and enhance the 

valued character of an area and reflect or reinforce locally distinctive features. Innovative 

design that respects and complements local character may be beneficial, particularly in 

                                                           
 

 

3
 Kent Design Initiative (2005) The Kent Design Guide 

SEE ALSO (Most relevant supporting information): 

 Core Strategy policies: CS17. 

 Other policies in this document: DP4, DP5, DP7, DP8, DP11, DP12, 

DP19, DP20, DP22 & DP23. 

 NPPF paragraphs: 55-58, 61, 63-66 & 69. 

 



 
Dartford Development Policies Plan  

13         LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

the EDC area. It will always be important to demonstrate an understanding of the 

attributes and significance of the natural, built and historic environment in the locality of 

the proposed development. 

6.4 A range of designations are shown on the Policies Map where particular regard to the 

local character will be required. The Green Belt is extensive and an important contextual 

design consideration, but it is also subject to its own policy (DP22). Further places 

identified include locations where the built environment is of interest for heritage or other 

reasons.  

6.5 Areas of Special Character on the Policies Map continue to be ‘special’ areas in Dartford 

in terms of their potential residential, townscape, historical or architectural interest in the 

locality. They do not have design guidance associated with them individually or on an 

area specific basis, but proposals should be designed to give close consideration to their 

specific character, and the site’s built environment context. 

6.6 Developments affecting heritage assets must be carefully designed with regard to DP12/ 

DP13. Proposed micro renewables will require specific consideration in the design and 

built environment assessment of any development; and despite their potential 

environmental benefits, they must also fulfil requirements in policy DP11:2, and in 

particular DP12/ DP13 (where applicable). 

Design and Dartford’s High Quality Regeneration 

6.7 The full variety of the Borough’s townscape and landscapes is often not readily apparent 

on mapping or through cursory examination. For example, there needs to be appreciation 

of Dartford in three dimensions. The Borough’s own determinants of its character include: 

variety in the sense of openness or enclosure, with level changes (not least due to 

extensive quarrying) and individual contexts, landmarks and visual signifiers. Respect for 

topography should lead to enhanced designs that utilise changes in levels positively. 

6.8 Key defining features incorporate natural features such as the borough’s riparian 

environments, and also man-made structures (for instance bridges and tunnels). These 

should be well referenced in all applicable design proposals. 

6.9 In addition to exploring these opportunities to enhance Dartford’s sense of place, 

development should also seek to ameliorate intrusive physical characteristics in the 

Green Belt and elsewhere. Given their particular visual prominence, opportunities to re-

provide overhead wiring and structures underground at applicable development sites will 

be strongly encouraged. 



 
Dartford Development Policies Plan  

14         LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

6.10 Prominent developments like Bluewater, Ingress Park (Greenhithe) and The Bridge 

(Dartford) have had a positive regenerative effect in the Borough and raised the 

benchmark for quality in the area. Development should continue to raise the standard of 

design and emulate the best quality developments in the Borough. 

Environmental Design and Wellbeing 

6.11 Development within the EDC area should be led by comprehensive masterplanning, 

addressing its particular characteristics and constraints. It is expected to be guided by 

‘Garden City’ principles and through bespoke masterplanning and design policies, 

including DP2 below. 

6.12 The scale of development potential in the Borough provides particular opportunities for 

placemaking in larger developments (see key principles set out in DP2:1 below). There 

are also further opportunities to promote the provision of distinctive designs and landmark 

developments through high quality architecture in appropriate locations that enhance 

views and raise the profile of the area. The quality of public realm is a Borough priority, 

particularly in areas such as public transport interchanges, central open spaces, town and 

district centres and at large mixed use developments. 

6.13 The careful design of developments, and the public and private realms created, can 

improve wellbeing and physical and mental health outcomes, and reduce inequalities. 

This can occur through active transport options, public and open spaces that encourage a 

range of people to socialise together or to keep fit, and enabling residential privacy and 

(where of overall benefit) featuring security measures. As set out in DP2:4 below, design 

should provide security and minimise opportunities for criminality. 

6.14 In order to promote healthy behaviour, Design and Access Statements should describe 

how health and wellbeing outcomes have been considered in the design of a 

development. Design Codes will be used on larger, phased or multiple ownership sites, as 

they can help deliver high quality outcomes and a cohesive approach to delivery of the 

vision across the site as a whole. 

6.15 There is potential for high quality environments and places of vitality and recreation or 

natural/ historic interest to be created in new development, for instance adjoining the 

rivers Darent and Thames. Design can also promote resilient riparian environments. 



 
Dartford Development Policies Plan  

15         LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

Where applicable, close regard should be paid to the Environment Agency’s TE (Thames 

Estuary) 2100 Plan4 requirements, given its strategic importance. Designs could (for 

example) focus on land use and layout to improve access to, or even realign, flood 

defences, and improve river frontage to provide environmental and public space 

enhancements. Furthermore, opportunities to provide safe and accessible facilities for 

leisure boat launching and landing should be explored as part of regeneration projects, 

and riverside developments should seek environmental benefits through providing softer 

edges or re-naturalised banks. Regard should also be had to the EU Water Framework 

Directive and opportunities to protect and enhance UK Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) 

priority habitats under the Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act in 

development design. 

6.16 It is essential that all developments are conceived and planned to make a contribution to 

tackling climate change, and at the outset, ‘design in’ the principles of sustainable 

construction (see Policy DP11) and natural resource management (DP2:5). This can 

range from the role of the overall location and layout of sites in determining the scope of 

users to walk, cycle and use public transport, through to efficient use of energy and water 

resources by building-in shared renewable energy systems and other aspects of the 

external design of individual properties such as green roofs (DP11). 

6.17 Developments should also be designed to manage drainage and flooding on site, 

recognising the increased government emphasis on designing in effective sustainable 

drainage system (SuDS) schemes as part of development proposals. The design of all 

new developments will be required to take into account layout, landform, orientation and 

landscaping to maximise passive capture and efficient use of energy and water, and 

adaptability to climate change. 

6.18 Close attention should also be paid at the design stage to the details of external 

appearance, and the individual and cumulative impacts that arise from the operation of 

new buildings and uses. This is a key requirement for any planning application to be 

acceptable, as set out in DP2:2. It includes practical arrangements for parking, external 

storage for waste disposal, and (as outlined in national legislation and DP2:6 below) 

appropriate control of signage. Dartford’s Parking Standards SPD5 was adopted in 2012 

                                                           
 

 

4
 EA (2012 & 2016) Thames Estuary 2100 (TE2100) Plan 

5
 DBC (2012) Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document  



 
Dartford Development Policies Plan  

16         LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

and the revised Area of Special Advertisement Control was approved by the Secretary of 

State in 2016. 

6.19 Further principles for good quality development are outlined later in this Plan. In particular, 

policies are set out for new residential development, notably policies DP7 and DP8, but 

also include designing for sustainable travel (DP4), designing for amenity (DP5 and 

DP19), design for conservation (DP12 and DP13), places of work (DP20) and designing 

for greenspace (DP22 to DP25). 

Policy DP2: Good Design in Dartford  

1. Development will only be permitted where it satisfies the locally specific criteria for 

good design in the Borough: 
 

 a) Responding to, reinforcing and enhancing positive aspects of the locality.    

Opportunities to create high quality places should be taken, particularly using 

prominent physical attributes (including the Borough’s distinctive riverside 

environments, cliff faces, extensive network of open spaces and tree 

coverage).  

  b) Ensuring appropriate regard is had to heritage assets (see policies DP12 and 

DP13); and that the character of historic settlements, including the market 

town of Dartford, is respected.  

         c) Facilitating a sense of place, with social interaction, walking/ cycling, health 

and wellbeing, and inclusive neighbourhoods, through a mix of uses and 

careful design and layout. Good design should be reinforced and enhanced 

through integrating new development with the public realm, open space and 

natural features including rivers and lakes/ ponds. Within large developments, 

public art reflecting local character and heritage should be included.   

        d) Providing permeability through clear pedestrian and cycle linkages, and where 

appropriate, active frontages, and a fine grain mix of buildings and spaces. 

Commercial and public facilities should be well integrated into their 

surroundings, both within the site and the wider locality.  

2. In determining planning applications, the Local Planning Authority will consider how 

the height, mass, form, scale, orientation, siting, setbacks, access, overshadowing, 

articulation, detailing, roof form, and landscaping of the proposals relate to 

neighbouring buildings, as well as the wider locality. Appropriate weight will also be 

given to outstanding or innovative design that will help raise design standards in the 

wider area. Materials should support a sense of place, and be locally sourced or 

recycled from within the site where possible. Development shown to be suitable in 

these respects, and the principles in clause 1 above, will be permitted. 

 

 



 
Dartford Development Policies Plan  

17         LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

Design and Heritage 

3. In areas of additional design sensitivity, and where heritage assets (e.g. 

Conservation Areas) or their setting is affected, and within Areas of Special 

Character, developments will need to demonstrate accordance with Policies DP12 

& DP13 as applicable. Particular consideration should be given to design 

objectives, including in paragraph 6.2. In these areas, proposals incorporating 

energy efficiency measures and micro-renewables that yield clear net benefits (in 

line with Policy DP11:2) will normally be viewed positively, provided that good 

design mitigates the impact on the townscape and they are in accordance with 

Policies DP12 & DP13. 

Safe and Accessible Design 

4. Spaces should be designed to be inclusive, safe and accessible for all Dartford’s 

communities, including young, elderly, disabled and less mobile people. The design 

of buildings, open space and the private and public realm should, where 

appropriate, reduce the fear of, and opportunities for, crime, paying attention to the 

principles of Safer Places6 (or any future equivalent) otherwise development will not 

be permitted. 

Designing for Natural Resources, Flood and Waste Management 

5. Layout and design should allow the efficient management/ reuse of natural 

resources and waste, in order for development to be permitted. Early consideration 

should be given to the achievement of on-site flood alleviation. Development will 

also be required to provide adequate and convenient arrangements for the storage 

of refuse and recyclable materials as an integral part of its design. 

Advertisement and Signage Design 

6. Signage and advertisements should be of a scale and design that is sympathetic to 

the building and locality, particularly in the designated Area of Special 

Advertisement Control, and should not have a negative impact on visual amenity, 

public safety or the safe and convenient movement of pedestrians, cyclists and 

vehicles, otherwise permission will not be granted. 

                                                           
 

 

6
 ODPM (2004) Guidance on Providing Safer Places  



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

18     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

7. Transport Management  
 

This chapter includes two policies: 

 DP3: Transport Impacts of Development 

 DP4: Transport Access and Design 

Transport Impacts of Development 

  

7.1 The Core Strategy recognises that improvements to the strategic transport network 

are necessary to deal with the impacts of traffic arising from new development and 

overall traffic growth. This includes unplanned development such as ‘windfall’ 

housing sites (see Policy DP6). The impacts from planned growth are addressed 

through Policy CS16 which sets out how the Council will work to help deliver an 

identified programme of strategic transport improvements. This remains highly 

relevant with partnership work ongoing, including for major junction upgrades and 

through the Strategic Transport Infrastructure Programme (CS16:1a, d and e). 

Extensive collaboration is occurring between Highways England, the EDC, the 

Council and Kent County Council (KCC) on further strategic highway improvements 

in the long-term. Dartford is also working with KCC, Transport for London (TfL), other 

planning authorities and partners, to explore improvements to strategic public 

transport links. This could occur through extension of, or better integration with, the 

Crossrail 1 (Elizabeth Line) route. 

7.2 The Council has introduced the CIL funding mechanism (CS16:1c); but the need  

remains to address with KCC and EDC the delivery of  pedestrian, cycling and public 

transport improvements such as further enhancement of the Fastrack network. This 

is consistent with the long-term focus on delivery and implementation set out in 

CS26:1a-d. 

SEE ALSO (Most relevant supporting information): 

 Core Strategy policies: CS15, CS16 & CS26. 

 Other policies in this document: DP4, DP6, & DP20. 

 NPPF paragraphs: 17, 32, 34-38. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

19     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

7.3  The scale of development proposed in the Core Strategy can only be accommodated 

without severe adverse impacts on the highway network if a significantly increased 

proportion of journeys are made through sustainable forms of transport (CS15). The 

NPPF (paragraph 32) states that planning decisions should take into account 

whether improvements to the transport network can be undertaken so as to reduce 

the impacts of development, and that development should only be refused on 

transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe.   

7.4 In Dartford, after taking account of an assumed increased use of sustainable travel 

modes, together with planned highway network mitigations provided through the 

Strategic Transport Infrastructure Programme, significant localised residual impacts 

on the highway network may still occur as a result of cumulative development. 

Therefore development proposals should address any severe residual impacts on the 

local highway network that may arise. 

7.5  National guidance should be referred to in considering the threshold at which 

transport assessments or statements are required. Applicants should agree their 

preparation in advance with the Local Planning Authority, KCC and/or Highways 

England as appropriate. 

Policy DP3: Transport Impacts of Development 

1. Development will only be permitted where it is appropriately located and makes 

suitable provision to minimise and manage the arising transport impacts, in line 

with Core Strategy Policies CS15 and CS16. Localised residual impacts on the 

highway network should be addressed by well-designed off-site transport 

measures. Adverse effects on residential amenity or the environment must be 

minimised.   
 

2. Development  will not be permitted where the localised residual impacts from 

the development on its own, or in combination with other planned 

developments in the area, result in severe impacts on one or more of the 

following: 

  a)   road traffic congestion and air quality; 
 

  b)   safety of pedestrians, cyclists and other road-users; 
 

  c)   excessive pressure for on-street parking. 

 
 
 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

20     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

Transport Access and Design 

 

 Dartford’s Growth and Sustainable Travel 

7.6 The way in which development is designed, and the mix of uses included, can have a 

major effect on reducing travel and on the pattern and means of travel that the 

development generates. Developments should, as a priority, promote walking, cycling 

and the use of public transport to minimise car use, especially for shorter trips. 

Opportunities in this respect must not be missed in the masterplanning and layout of 

proposals, particularly for destinations that are regularly used by residents and local 

workers/ students and shoppers and at larger residential sites e.g. through dedicated 

and carefully routed land for buses, and attractive walking and cycling routes.  

7.7 The Council will continue undertaking the actions set out in CS15:1a-1i, promoting 

the use of the River Thames itself, and also using opportunities to enhance 

movement along the wider riparian environment. Travel plans will be sought (as 

appropriate) in co-operation with KCC, Network Rail and others. Particular attention 

should be paid in major development sites at Ebbsfleet, and potentially elsewhere, to 

ensure layouts are planned around communities directly served by Fastrack i.e. 

facilitating new routes. With respect to CS15:1j, the 2012 Parking Standards SPD is 

now in force. 

7.8  Streets make up the greater part of the public realm. The appearance of the street 

scene, massing of buildings and layout of estate roads can all be used to reduce 

vehicle speeds so that roads are made safe for all types of user. Better designed 

streets contribute to the quality of the built environment and play an important role in 

the creation of high quality attractive developments. Manual for Streets7 provides 

                                                           
 

 

7
 DfT/DCLG Manual for Streets (periodically updated)  

SEE ALSO (Most relevant supporting information): 

 Core Strategy policies: CS15. 

 Other policies in this document: DP5. 

 NPPF paragraphs: 32, 35 & 38. 

 

  

  

  

  

  

 Manual for Streets 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

21     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

guidance on the design, construction, adoption and maintenance of new residential 

streets, and development proposals should take account of the guidance set out in 

the Manual (large sites should justify and formulate a comprehensive strategy). The 

Design Manual for Roads and Bridges8 provides guidelines regarding national 

highways. 

 Vehicular Impacts on the Local Environment and Safety 

7.9 Development proposals should not impede the free flow of traffic on the existing road 

network or create hazards to traffic or other road users.  In locations where on-street 

parking is already under pressure, development that does not incorporate adequate 

off-street parking has the potential to result in inconsiderate and unsafe on-street 

parking. This can lead to narrowing of the useable road space resulting in 

obstructions, in particular for emergency vehicles, and impacting on the safety of 

pedestrians and cyclists. 

7.10 The need for off-street and on-street parking spaces must be considered alongside 

the impact of provision, including the possible local and wider detriment where front 

gardens are lost. Planning applications for potentially inappropriate loss of front 

gardens for parking will be closely examined in line with DP4:2h below, given the 

highway and environmental impact of such proposals individually and cumulatively. 

To avoid potential increases in the risk of surface water flooding, parking spaces in 

front gardens should make use of permeable paving materials. Parking surface 

treatments should always be consistent with the maintenance of groundwater quality 

in the Borough. 

7.11 New accesses onto the highway network should be located and designed so that 

they operate safely, without unduly affecting the free flow of traffic. They should make 

a positive and sensitive contribution to the local street scene and be sympathetic to 

local amenity and the environment. New accesses must be designed to 

accommodate the volume of traffic and types of vehicle likely to use them and 

provide for the needs of pedestrians, cyclists, and people with disabilities as well as 

efficient public transport operation. For large development, this should be considered 

with the detail of the street hierarchy and character areas. 

                                                           
 

 

8
 DfT The Design Manual for Roads and Bridges (periodically updated) 

 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

22     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

7.12 In creating new accesses, it is important that existing pedestrian facilities are not 

degraded. Dropped kerbs at pedestrian crossings, entry treatments and tactile paving 

can all be used to provide convenient and safe crossing points for more vulnerable 

road users. 

7.13 Lengths of continuous dropped kerb can encourage footway parking, which creates 

problems for pedestrians, and also reduce the positive definition of the footway for 

people with impaired sight. Highway design and the public realm must account for the 

needs of those less mobile, including wheelchair and mobility aid users. 

Policy DP4: Transport Access and Design 

1.     Development should be of a design and layout to promote walking, cycling and 

public transport use through provision of attractive and safe routes which 

address the needs of users, otherwise development will not be permitted. 

Proposals should include appropriate vehicular access arrangements to the 

new development. Guidance set out in Manual for Streets, or any future 

equivalent, should also be applied (bespoke access and transport approaches 

may be agreed at large regeneration sites, where forming a suitable 

alternative). 
 

2. Development will only be permitted where in line with principles in clause 1, and 

where appropriate proposals ensure: 

a) Provision is made for safe and convenient access to footpaths and cycle 

routes, with public rights of way protected including, where opportunities 

exist, delivering new or enhancing existing routes between key facilities/ 

that link to the wider highways and green grid network; and linkages to 

existing neighbourhoods. 
 

b) Provision is made for public transport and taxis, especially at trip 

generating destinations and other significant scale developments, where 

layouts must allow penetration of routes to make community services 

easily accessible to all users, and feasible and efficient to operate. 

Services such as Fastrack should be enhanced through  development 

that secures new network links through the site. 
 

c) Opportunities to promote enhanced movement and environments on and 

alongside rivers are maximised in developments. 
 

d) Facilities are provided as appropriate for people with disabilities, 

especially at road crossing points, public transport stops and changes  in 

level on walking routes. 
 

e) The layout and siting of access is acceptable in terms of residential 

amenity, highway capacity and safety, free flow of traffic, cyclists and 

pedestrians, and visual impact. 
 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

23     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

f) Provision is made for loading, unloading and the turning of service 

vehicles ensuring highway and pedestrian safety. 
 

g) The extent and nature of proposed car parking provision, taking into 

account any existing provision as relevant to the development, must be in 

full accordance with the adopted Parking Standards SPD. 
 

h) The conversion of front gardens for car parking (where a planning 

application required) must include provision of a vehicle crossover and 

only be where the garden is capable of accommodating a parking space 

in accordance with the parking bay minimum standards set out in the 

Parking Standards SPD, and with unobstructed pedestrian access to the 

dwelling. New car parking should, where appropriate, make use of 

permeable paving materials, in line with the SPD. 

 

 

Fastrack vehicle and stop at ‘The Bridge’; a wayfinding sign in Central Park, Dartford 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

24     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

8. Environmental and Amenity Protection 

 

 
Development Impacts 

8.1 The location of development and impacts on the environment and amenity are key 

considerations. Development should be located where it will not have a negative 

impact on the existing natural, historic and built environment and amenity/ safety of 

an area. These principles are within Dartford’s spatial strategy, such as in Policy 

CS13 (Green Belt) and CS17 (Design of Homes). The impact on sensitive 

environments will be considered through other policies in this plan, including policies 

on the natural environment (for example DP25) and heritage (DP12 and 13). 

8.2 Development should not be located where site conditions make it unsuitable for its 

intended use, unless these can be remediated or mitigated.  Sites where there is 

uncertainty about the safety or practicability of development might include 

development on or adjacent to landfill sites, within Air Quality Management Areas on 

the Policies Map or other areas of poor air quality, or Health and Safety Executive 

(HSE) land-use consultation zones.  

8.3 Proposed development which is incompatible with adjacent existing uses due to 

negative impacts for example from industrial uses, or odour from wastewater 

treatment works, may not be acceptable. Development will not be permitted where 

the amenity of future occupants of the proposed development would be infringed or 

where it is likely to prejudice the continuation of lawful operations of existing uses or 

prevent business growth or expansion, unless the impacts can be adequately 

mitigated as part of the development. It is particularly important that where people 

live helps support their health and wellbeing, and criteria are set out and explained in 

the policy and supporting text elsewhere, including policies DP7, DP8 and DP10 for 

new accommodation proposals. 

SEE ALSO (Most relevant supporting information): 

 Core Strategy policies: CS13, CS17 & CS25. 

 Other policies in this document: DP2, DP7, DP12, DP13, DP19, DP22 & 

DP25. 

 NPPF paragraphs: 88, 89, 109-110 & 120-125. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

25     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

 Pollution 

8.4 Within Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) the impact of the development on air 

quality and the suitability of the proposed development in an area of already poor air 

quality will be considered through an Air Quality Impact Assessment. This includes 

where the development may result in additional traffic flows that may impact AQMAs 

located elsewhere. Development in all locations will be expected to minimise pollution 

and meet national air quality standards. Addressing pollution and public health is a 

primary reason to adhere to the transport and spatial strategy set out in Dartford’s 

development plan policies to manage growth.  

8.5 Air quality mitigation should be required for all applicable developments in line with 

national guidance. This may include increasing separation distances from sources of 

air pollution through the layout and design of proposals, planning in green 

infrastructure, or reducing emissions from sources such as transport and 

construction.  

8.6 As set out in Policy DP11 (and Core Strategy Policy CS25), sufficient provision needs 

to be made to ensure water infrastructure and pollution/ sewage management is in 

place to deal with the potential impacts arising.  Water quality should not be impacted 

by pollution risks of development. Discharges must not overload the attenuation 

capacity of the underlying ground or drainage network and any receiving surface 

waters.  

 Landfill Sites 

8.7 Parts of the Borough, particularly in the north, are characterised by open land set 

between existing residential communities. These areas often have been previously 

used for landfill purposes and have remained ‘open’ land for many years due to 

ground stabilisation issues and gas emissions associated with degrading landfill 

waste. They are addressed in DP5:3 below. In most instances these sites are 

regarded as greenfield land, and are not part of the planned housing land supply 

during the plan period. Many of the sites are unsuitable for development in the short 

to medium term.  Bringing forward satisfactory development at these sites can 

present a range of practical environmental and economic challenges to be 

considered when redevelopment is proposed. 

8.8 The first priority in assessing proposals is to ensure that development is appropriate; 

especially that any new residential development in particular meets legislative 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

26     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

requirements for safety. It is however also very important that all the issues of 

feasibility and potential uncertainty are recognised at the point of determining 

planning applications and that there is reasonable confidence that  the planned 

benefits of the development will be realised if development commences.  

8.9 Where there is uncertainty regarding the extent of gas emissions and/ or land 

stabilisation, experience suggests that the programme to bring forward satisfactory 

development in full can become a longer-term endeavour than initially identified. 

Therefore sites which need to address potential gassing and land stabilisation issues 

will not normally be prioritised in Dartford’s housing land supply over sites where 

there are no such land conditions and associated viability implications. This is due to 

uncertainty regarding delivery timescales, cost/ viability and potential impacts on 

meeting policy requirements, and the need to provide mitigations necessary to 

achieve sustainable growth in the Borough.  

8.10 Notwithstanding the above, in the event planning applications come forward, 

assessment of proposed development on gassing landfill sites will take into 

consideration the potential migration of the gas to adjacent areas and the impact on 

their safety, and other crucial considerations such as achieving sufficient protection of 

groundwater. The Local Planning Authority will engage with parties to help promote 

early and full identification of requirements and to ensure the challenge of ensuring 

public safety is met as a prerequisite.  

 Telecommunications 

8.11  To improve electronic communications networks, including telecommunications and 

high speed broadband, development at existing masts, buildings and other structures 

will be supported in line with national policy and where acceptable against 

development plan policy.  The need for a new site should be justified, and equipment 

should be sympathetically designed and camouflaged.  

  



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

27     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

Policy DP5: Environmental and Amenity Protection  

1. Development will only be permitted where it does not result in unacceptable 

material impacts, individually or cumulatively, on neighbouring uses, the 

Borough’s environment or public health. Particular consideration must be given 

to areas and subjects of potential sensitivity in the built and natural environment 

(including as highlighted on the Policies Map) and other policies, and other 

potential amenity/ safety factors such as: 
 

a) air and water quality, including groundwater source protection zones; 

b) intensity of use, including hours of operation; 

c) anti-social behaviour and littering; 

d) traffic, access, and parking; 

e) noise disturbance or vibration; 

f) odour; 

g) light pollution; 

h) overshadowing, overlooking and privacy; 

i) electrical and telecommunication interference; 

j) HSE land use consultation zones; 

k) land instability; 

l) ground contamination. 
 

2. Development should not materially impede the continuation of lawfully existing 

uses.  Where any impacts cannot be adequately mitigated, planning 

applications are not likely to be permitted.  
 

3. Planning applications on or in the immediate vicinity of landfill sites must be 

accompanied by a full technical analysis of the site and its surroundings, in 

accordance with Environmental Health and Environment Agency requirements 

for permitted sites. Analysis must establish that landfill gas will not represent a 

hazard on development of the site or that development will not cause adverse 

impacts on groundwater. Development will only be permitted where it has been 

clearly demonstrated that the proposed development can be safely, 

satisfactorily and fully achieved, including: 
 

a) avoidance of risks to neighbouring uses/ the wider area; and  

b) design quality, infrastructure objectives and other policy requirements 

such   as affordable housing are not compromised as a result of high 

remediation costs. 

 

 

 

 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

28     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

9. Housing in Dartford 
 

This chapter includes multiple policies: 

 DP6: Sustainable Residential Locations 

 DP7: Borough Housing Stock and Residential Amenity 

 DP8: Residential Space and Design in New Development 

 DP9: Local Housing Needs 

 DP10: Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Accommodation  

Sustainable Residential Locations 

  

The Spatial Strategy Focus on Planned Sites 

9.1 The Core Strategy identifies three Priority Areas for development in the Borough 

north of the A2, featuring strategic previously-developed or damaged sites. 

Development is directed towards appropriate sites within these Priority Areas (Core 

Strategy Policy CS1). This will enable greater protection for other areas where 

development is generally not appropriate or is less appropriate because of the areas 

environmental, historic, landscape or amenity value.  Policy CS1, supported by 

CS10:1-3, is proving to be an effective policy for the spatial pattern of development, 

with major new development underway at all the Priority Areas. The Core Strategy 

provides sufficient homes and jobs  together with supporting infrastructure in the 

Borough; particularly concentrated at Dartford Town Centre/ Northern Gateway 

(CS1:1a), Ebbsfleet to Stone (CS1:1b) and Thames Waterfront (CS1:1c) maximising 

regeneration benefits. 

9.2 The Core Strategy Policy supports proposals for residential development in the 

identified locations for development to meet projected growth and demand. These 

strategic sites and other local sites identified as 'deliverable or developable' in 

SEE ALSO (Most relevant supporting information): 

 Core Strategy policies: CS1, CS10 & CS11. 

 Other policies in this document: DP3, DP4, DP14 & DP20. 

 NPPF paragraphs: 17 & 111. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

29     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

Dartford’s Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment9 (SHLAA) largely meet the 

long-term housing supply envisaged in the Core Strategy. This supply significantly 

exceeds the number of new homes required to meet current national demographic 

forecasts of household growth in Dartford during the plan period. SHLAA derived 

sites are the focus of Core Strategy policy CS10 and housing land supply. This is 

reiterated in DP6:1 below, with support offered for development where previously 

shown to be sustainable10 as a fundamental part of the Dartford spatial strategy. 

9.3 Delivery of Core Strategy housing supply, infrastructure and sites, including the re-

use of brownfield land and the imperative to maintain a deliverable five year supply of 

housing land, will be a focus of monitoring and potential future work. This will 

continue to ensure a robust land supply is maintained by the Local Planning 

Authorities; with potential action that may be triggered to include an update of the 

Dartford SHLAA as required (see Core Strategy Table 5). 

9.4 Concentrating housing in the Core Strategy identified locations will result in 

sustainable, coordinated development, providing a high quality environment for new 

and existing communities. It will also alleviate pressure for residential infill and over-

intensification in those areas where there are limited opportunities to redress 

pressures on infrastructure, services and facilities, and open space. The Council will 

prioritise the delivery of planned sites, since these have been demonstrated to 

provide significant regeneration benefits, and because they are key components of a 

spatial approach which has been supported by the local community. 

9.5 In addition to planned sites, Core Strategy Policy CS10:4 sets out broad 

considerations for other sites, known as 'windfalls'. The need remains in Dartford to 

manage housing proposals in order that the strategy for sustainable development set 

out in the Core Strategy is achieved. In particular, this requires careful management 

of impacts from unplanned development since they have not been accounted for in 

the Borough-wide integrated and cumulative Sustainability Appraisal. The Core 

Strategy’s Sustainability Appraisal highlighted the potential for adverse 

environmental, social and economic impacts if its capacity based housing land figure 

                                                           
 

 

9
 DBC (2010) Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment  

10
 DBC/Enfusion (2010) Dartford’s Sustainability Assessment of Housing Sites 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

30     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

were to be exceeded. There will also be a need to ensure that infrastructure capacity 

keeps pace with demand from development.  

9.6 Given the importance of this issue, this Plan includes specific workable criteria 

consistent with policy CS10:4. Accordingly, Policy DP6:2 should be applied to all 

residential windfall proposals. 

9.7    In October 2014, the Council adopted a Housing Windfall SPD11 to provide detailed 

explanation and guidance on the operation of Policy CS10. This will be kept under 

review, in addition to considering findings from ongoing monitoring of housing, land 

use, and infrastructure delivery. 

 Windfalls and Unsustainable Locations 

9.8 Windfalls in Dartford include all unplanned residential developments. These include 

all sites of one to four dwellings, as sites of this size do not qualify for identification 

via the SHLAA. Infrastructure is a key consideration for all sites in the Borough, but 

these small scale developments may provide less opportunity for on-site provision of 

accompanying uses/ facilities and community infrastructure and are less likely to 

have a significant cumulative impact on existing and planned infrastructure. However, 

the aggregate impact of sites of five and over has particular potential to hinder the 

achievement of key sustainability objectives of the Core Strategy. Therefore very 

close attention will be paid to the suitability of sites for five or more dwellings not 

supported in the SHLAA, and the impacts on non-provision of supporting uses or 

infrastructure and major transport improvements on fundamental sustainability 

requirements; for instance, implications for traffic generation of accessing a choice of 

local jobs, schools, shops and services. This factor will be given substantial weight as 

a central tenet of the Borough spatial strategy given the potential for cumulative 

impacts. 

9.9 The accessibility of the site to public transport and local facilities/ employment is a 

key consideration in assessing proposed windfalls of five units and over. This 

underpins criteria b) and c) of DP6:2.  As part of the transport modelling carried out in 

support of the Core Strategy, emphasis was placed on a significant modal shift away 

from cars, in order that planned development be acceptably accommodated. An 

                                                           
 

 

11
 DBC (2014) Housing Windfall Supplementary Planning Document. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

31     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

approximate 50% increase in the public transport share of journeys to work over the 

plan period was assumed, as compared to the base level, and this must be 

addressed. This significant modal shift is necessary to ensure that the highway 

system operates at an acceptable level and that cumulative development does not 

result in unacceptable impacts.
  

9.10 The Core Strategy provides for housing to be delivered in a balanced relationship 

with jobs and infrastructure (CS11:1a-d) with significant employment growth in the 

Borough alongside residential growth (Policy CS7). These objectives are realistic and 

remain pertinent; with a growing need to encourage residents to work closer to home, 

due to capacity constraints on the public transport and road networks, particularly into 

London. Whilst residents will always choose their location of work, the strategy 

encourages and provides the opportunity for a shift towards more local working, 

without the need for communities to grow as ‘dormitory settlements’. Therefore the 

range of employment opportunities in the locality should be considered equally 

alongside access to local facilities. 

9.11 In order that the ambitious requirements for modal shift are met, the Council's 

strategy encourages walking, cycling or use of public transport (or a combination of 

these) in preference to use of a car.  A high but achievable threshold is set for 

accessibility to public transport services to ensure that this offers a genuine 

alternative choice for residents in preference to the car.  Dartford's Sustainability 

Assessment of (SHLAA) Housing Sites set a threshold of 400m to a station or a bus 

stop with at least two buses an hour and therefore this same criterion will be applied 

to windfall sites. Regard must also be had to the usefulness of the service provided, 

account will be taken on the number of services available and number of different 

points of interest/ destinations available  via these services e.g. Dartford town centre, 

hospital, secondary school, Bluewater, major employment locations in the area and 

train services to London. 

9.12  The 400m walking distance is based on guidance12 which advises an average 

walking speed for five minutes equates to approximately 400m. Whilst this guidance 

also refers to acceptable walking distances, it suggests that a desirable walking 

distance for journeys generally is 400m. In Dartford’s context of seeking a significant 

                                                           
 

 

12
 Institute of Highways and Transportation (2000) Guidelines for Providing for Journeys on Foot  



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

32     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

modal shift, the ‘desirable’ distance is considered most appropriate. The 400m 

walking distance has also been supported by the Department for Transport, 

indicating that ‘in residential areas bus stops should be located ideally so that nobody 

in the neighbourhood is required to walk more than 400 metres from their home’13. 

Given the levels of planned growth in Dartford and the need for development to be 

sustainably located within the Borough, this nationally “ideal” distance  of 400m is 

regarded as necessary in the local context to ensure the required modal shift is 

achieved.  

9.13 These travel distances will be applied in implementing policy DP6:2b below. In the 

case of community facilities which are an end destination (as opposed to bus stops/ 

stations, which are not) an acceptable walking distance is taken to be 10 minutes 

(approximately 800m)14. A maximum walking distance of up to 800m to a range of 

public services and shops is therefore the normal threshold level that will be applied 

in the Borough. This will take account of both existing provision in the area, and 

relevant facilities that have been secured and are forthcoming. 

9.14 Regard will be had as to whether the proposal includes any strategic transport 

improvements to major destinations, including new links to public transport and 

Fastrack, expansion of key cycleway connections, and town centre/ riverside 

footpaths significantly contributing to the sustainability of the development. In any 

location, the design of proposals must pay close attention to features that can be 

included within developments to support walking, cycling and use of public transport 

and links to networks outside of the site. 

9.15 In terms of on-site provision and other infrastructure, as set out in policies DP21, 

CS10:4a-b and elsewhere, sustainable development objectives and national policy 

entail that proposals must give consideration to providing for needs arising for social, 

community and green infrastructure. This will normally relate to the scale of 

residential development proposed and should address the latest available information 

on infrastructure delivery in the Borough (including latest projections on capacity, for 

example in schools, taking into account both planned development and planned 

provision of infrastructure over the Plan period). Proposals must be supported by 

                                                           
 

 

13
 DfT (2005) Inclusive Mobility guidelines   

14
 DfT (2007) Manual for Streets; Institute of Highways and Transportation (2000) Guidelines for 

Providing for Journeys on Foot. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

33     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

evidence that infrastructure proposed with the development is sufficient, or explaining 

how impacts can be acceptably mitigated. Further guidance to the approach and 

considerations to be applied are found within the Housing Windfall SPD. 

 Windfalls and Unplanned Greenfield Sites 

9.16 Windfall sites can come from various sources, and including buildings that are 

proposed to change to residential use. A significant majority of unplanned residential 

development is therefore expected to be on previously developed “brownfield” land. 

As an overall approach this is a key theme within the Core Strategy, with a target of 

80% of development located on previously developed land. This is considered 

consistent with the NPPF including the national Core Planning Principles, as set out 

at paragraph 17. NPPF paragraph 111 states it is appropriate for a locally-specific 

brownfield requirement to be set out. 

9.17  Unplanned greenfield development may risk the Borough’s ability to maintain existing 

green spaces. It could also undermine the regeneration efforts in the Borough in 

concentrating development on brownfield land (defined in the glossary).  It also risks 

the integrity of the strategic green infrastructure framework in and around the urban 

area, which is identified as an integral part of the ambitious strategy for development.  

9.18    Any proposal on the best and most versatile agricultural land should take account of 

its economic and other benefits, in addition to all other applicable considerations such 

as the impact on the Green Belt. 

9.19 A significant level of planned development is identified on brownfield land. The 

availability of this land within Dartford has been a fundamental rationale behind the 

amount of growth and sustainable development locations identified through the Core 

Strategy. However, there are also greenfield sites with planning consent which will be 

delivered in the future.  

9.20 There is therefore a strong impetus to maintain the priority for brownfield site 

development in future windfall site proposals. This is reflected in DP6:2a below. 

Achievement of the Core Strategy 80% brownfield target is based on the Plan 

lifetime. Exceedance of the target in early years does not necessarily justify 

greenfield development. Reuse of land will be facilitated through the provision of a 

local Brownfield Land Register. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

34     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

9.21    Residential development of unplanned greenfield sites must only be exceptional. This 

land is not wholly precluded in recognition that it could be possible for unanticipated 

genuinely sustainable development proposals to emerge. 

 Climate Change 

9.22   Residential proposals promoted as truly exceptional sustainable development must 

demonstrate they are outstanding in their sustainable design and location, and will 

also provide for sufficient infrastructure on-site to meet demand. Climate change 

implications should be considered in full, and in this instance, only proposals clearly 

in excess of all DP11/ standard policy requirements, and that fully account for the 

climate change implications of vehicle use, will be capable of demonstrating 

exceptional performance. Proposals must in any event also fulfil the other criteria of 

DP6:2 as applicable. 

Policy DP6: Sustainable Residential Locations 

1. Residential development (Class C3) locations that have been shown to be 

deliverable or developable in the Dartford Strategic Housing Land Availability 

Assessment (SHLAA) and have been assessed as sustainable15 will, as non-

windfalls, be permitted where the proposals are in accordance with Core 

Strategy policy CS10:1&2, and in accordance with other development plan 

policies and material considerations.  

2. Unplanned windfall residential development may be permitted following 

assessment in accordance with Core Strategy policy CS10:4&5, other 

development plan policies and material considerations (including the Dartford 

Housing Windfall SPD). Consistent with CS10, all windfall developments for five 

or more dwellings will be permitted only where they demonstrate that the 

following criteria are fully satisfied: 

a) Windfall residential development should be located on ‘brownfield’ 
land to ensure unplanned development does not prejudice 
achievement of the Core Strategy target of 80%. Greenfield windfall 
sites will only be permitted if highly sustainably located in all respects 
of clause b) below, and if the site is needed to rectify an absence of 
five year housing land supply. 

b) To reduce transport demand and minimise car use, proposals must 
be within easy walking distance of a range of community facilities 
including schools, shops, leisure and  recreation facilities on safe 
and attractive walking routes; and well located  with respect to 

                                                           
 

 

15
 DBC/ Entec (2010) Sustainability Assessment of Housing Sites 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

35     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

walking/ cycling and public transport to employment  opportunities in 
the Borough. The assessment of pedestrian access shall be based 
on applying appropriate walking distance thresholds suitable in the 
Dartford context that will assist in substantial modal shifts from car 
use. 

c) The proposal is designed and planned to contain specific measures 
and improvements to reduce car use and promote alternative 
transport options. These should, as appropriate:  

i. encourage the use of existing walking, cycling and 
public transport provision; 

ii. contribute to the operation of feasible, efficient and 
effective sustainable transportation systems and 
capacity. This may on large developments require 
support to deliver new or improved public transport 
facilities, routes or services. 

3. Residential development should provide evidence proportionate to the scale of 
the proposal that it will not result in unacceptable or unforeseen cumulative 
impacts on social, community or green infrastructure that cannot be mitigated. 

 

 

 

Dartford Railway Station  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                       Fastrack, Greenhithe  



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

36     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

Borough Housing Stock and Residential Amenity 

 

 Residential Character, Quality and Gardens 

9.23 The Local Planning Authority is committed to providing a good housing mix and 

choice of housing types in the Borough, and to maintaining popular residential 

communities, to meet current and future needs. This includes, importantly, family and 

larger houses as set out in Core Strategy policy CS 18:1a Housing Mix. 

9.24 New housing land will play a key role in meeting these needs, but guidance is also 

needed to determine planning applications received to adapt existing houses. This 

often takes the form of development to expand the size of accommodation or number 

of dwellings within a building, but there also particular problems associated with infill, 

development of back land sites or existing residential gardens. Many proposals 

creating new dwellings in these circumstances will be unplanned windfall proposals 

(see Policy DP6:2). 

9.25 Residential development should provide good quality living accommodation and 

outdoor space, healthy communities and attractive environments. In particular, the 

Local Planning Authority will seek to retain a range of housing stock/ gardens and 

protect residential amenity (DP7:1 below). Principles in policies DP2 and DP5 should 

be considered but more specific criteria are set out here and in DP8 (additional 

requirements for new build dwellings). 

9.26 Dartford has larger than county and national average proportions of households 

made up of three, four or five family members. The Local Planning Authority is 

committed to maintaining existing family homes as part of providing a broad choice of 

residential accommodation. Family homes are typically larger dwellings (three or 

more bedrooms) with gardens. 

SEE ALSO (Most relevant supporting information): 

 Core Strategy policies: CS17 & CS18. 

 Other policies in this document: DP2, DP4, DP5, DP6, DP8, DP11, DP12, 

DP13 & DP24. 

 NPPF paragraphs: 53, 58 & 63-64. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

37     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

9.27 Major issues may arise with any proposal for house building on residential garden 

land. There has been public concern over the loss of part/ all of gardens for reasons 

of local character, environmental or biodiversity impacts, and family health and 

wellbeing. The NPPF recognises an approach to “resist” loss of garden land may be 

set out locally (paragraph 53). This is the approach in Dartford (see DP7:2 below) 

and it is consistent with the need to avoid greenfield/ unsustainable development in 

the Borough set out in Core Strategy policies, Policy DP6 and elsewhere.  

9.28    The Local Planning Authority wishes to retain choice and diversity in the existing 

stock of accommodation, including a choice of garden sizes. There are only a limited 

number of houses with large gardens in the Borough.  These homes will likely 

become a diminishing proportion of the housing stock given the scale of planned 

development coming forward.    

9.29 The Local Planning Authority is making significant provision of new housing at the 

locations identified in the Core Strategy. It is evident from new development that 

garden sizes are inevitably small and this trend is likely to continue due to 

affordability and potential viability issues.  Given the lack of new provision of this 

type, the loss of existing houses with large gardens will result in a lack of choice in 

the local area and impact on the ability to attract the workforce needed to support the 

planned growth and diversification of the economy.   

9.30 All houses should be set in commensurately sized gardens, allowing provision of soft 

landscaping, trees, urban green habitats and breaks between houses, benefiting 

local character and communities. This is particularly important in those locations 

identified as an Area of Special Character (DP2:3) that are distinguishable as 

established residential neighbourhoods. 

9.31   In order to prevent further loss of character and amenity or cumulative impacts, the 

plot size and spacing between buildings should reflect the historically dominant form 

in the area even where this has been eroded by subsequent development. 

Development management decisions will take account of the prospect of a proposal’s 

design impacting adversely on achieving good design/ optimal use of planned or 

permitted development in the vicinity. 

 Smaller/ Terraced Houses and Conversions 

9.32 Residential character can be eroded through a variety of environmental, physical and 

social impacts. The conversion (sub-division) of houses, and infill/ garden 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

38     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

development, intensifies both the use of the site and the street due to the increased 

number of households. This can have adverse consequences such as additional 

noise, increased people and vehicle activity, increased parking impacts, and more 

refuse and recycling bins kept on-street to serve the individual households. The 

cumulative pressure on the neighbourhood, often unplanned, can be significant. 

9.33 Existing housing stock will be carefully managed, and a minimum size of original 

property (120sqm) will be required for conversions, and terrace conversions 

restricted (policy DP7:4 below).  Proposals will be examined on their own merits but 

properties at this size are generally not suitable for conversion in the Borough. 

9.34 Impacts are exacerbated in terraced housing neighbourhoods. The conversion of 

terraced houses will therefore be resisted as in Dartford they are not normally 

capable of providing an adequate standard of accommodation, and impacts on 

neighbours and the amenity of the street have proved substantial. 

 Guidance for Householder Extensions and Smaller Developments 

9.35   Highways access may have further impacts in neighbourhoods. In addition to policy 

DP7:3b below, regard should be had to criteria in policy DP4:2 on access, parking 

and gardens. 

9.36    Smaller developments can raise a number of local concerns, even if new dwellings do 

not result. The criteria in DP7:3 below will be applied in the consideration of 

extensions, loft conversions, outbuildings and ancillary structures where applicable. 

Many of these may now occur without the need for planning permission. However if 

the Local Planning Authority is required to consider the proposal a range of factors 

may be applicable as set out in DP7:3 below and elsewhere.  

9.37  The policy includes, in summary form, some possible broad and generic 

considerations. The guideline context provided here in support of the policy has 

proved locally suitable and will be potentially relevant, depending on the 

circumstances of the proposal.  

9.38  Extensions to residential properties should not normally materially overlook a 

neighbouring property (resulting in a material loss of privacy) nor be overlooked 

themselves. They should not result in a serious loss of daylight or sunlight to the 

habitable rooms of neighbouring properties, or have an overbearing visual impact on 

neighbouring properties or the street scene. Hip to gable extensions are generally 

discouraged in the pursuit of good design in all developments. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

39     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

9.39   In line with these principles, the following points represent guidance that may be 

generally appropriate for certain extensions.  However, the measurements specified 

are not minimum distances; each case must be determined on its own merits and 

with regard to the particular circumstances: 

 Rear extensions:  Single storey extensions to the rear of semi-detached and 

terraced properties should generally not be greater than 3.5m in depth on a 

common boundary, unless it can be demonstrated that the larger extension 

proposed will have no adverse impact. Two-storey extensions to the rear of semi-

detached properties should be set in 2m from the common boundary at first floor 

level. Two-storey extensions to the rear of terraced properties cause particular 

problems and will not normally be permitted unless it can be established that 

there will be no undue impact on adjoining properties.  

 Side extensions:  Roofs must match and tie into the existing roof, stepped down 

from the main ridgeline, unless this is not possible structurally, or would have a 

better visual appearance. Two-storey side extensions within 1m of a common 

boundary should generally have their front walls set back at least 0.45m at the 

point where it joins the existing building in order to retain the identity of the 

existing dwelling, and to ensure the extension remains subservient.  

 Front extensions: in front of the existing building line, and on corner and 

conspicuous sites, are particularly sensitive and discouraged, being highly likely 

to result in a significant impact on the street scene.  

 Loft conversions: to be designed such that dormers do not dominate the 

appearance of the existing dwelling and create a ‘top-heavy’ effect. Dormer 

extensions are unlikely to be appropriate on front roof slopes.  If proposed at the 

property’s rear they should be set in to the roof plane, down from the ridgeline 

and in from the side cheeks.  

9.40 An SPD to provide further elaboration on the policy will be considered and introduced 

if necessary. 

 

 

 

 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

40     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

Policy DP7: Borough Housing Stock and Residential Amenity 

1. Development should maintain and provide for an appropriate range of housing 
stock and garden sizes, retention or enhancement of the character, local 
environment and amenity of established residential areas, and achieve 
satisfactory quality of residential/ householder development, and accord with 
policies including DP2, DP4, DP5 and DP8. 

 
Maintaining Garden Land 
 
2. Inappropriate development on residential garden land will be resisted. 

Proposals will be permitted only where it is shown development not would 
result in harm (individually or cumulatively), including from: 

 a)  Loss of choice and diversity in the stock of housing and gardens in      
communities in the Borough, and/ or 

 b)   Erosion of the local character; with full consideration of criteria 1 and 3a-d 
of this policy, and other material impacts on residential amenity.  

 
Residential Extensions, Infill or Conversions 
 
3. The extension or creation (for instance by conversion or infill) of residential 

dwellings will be permitted where supported by development plan policies, 
including criterion 1 above, material considerations, and where ensuring that:  

 
 a)   the historical pattern and form of development is preserved, and the design    

proposed is not visually obtrusive, with existing significant landscape 
features retained and/ or any loss is mitigated. 

 

 b)  access into the development is safe and facilitates ease of pedestrian 
movement,  

 

 c)  access into the development does not create an undue disruption to the 
character and appearance of an existing road frontage or unacceptable 
disturbance to adjacent properties. 

 

 d)   the proposal does not materially harm existing residential amenity, including 
through overlooking, loss of privacy, overshadowing, noise, increased level 
of activity and disturbance, or increased on-street parking.   

 
Inappropriate Residential Conversions 
 
4.   Development will not normally be permitted for the conversion of a single 

dwelling house of 120 square metres or less original net internal floor space 
into two or more units. Similarly, the conversion of terraced houses will not 
normally be permitted. 

 

  



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

41     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

Residential Space and Design in New Development 

  

 New-build Standards 

9.41 The scale of land available for house building in Dartford offers major opportunities 

for high quality, well designed new development; enhancing choice, improving 

housing standards and achieving living environments that enrich quality of life. 

Particularly there is a growing need to provide places to live that support families, or 

better meet specialist needs of individuals that have particular physical requirements, 

whether in their own home (Class C3) or within institutional developments (Class 

C2).  

9.42 In order to achieve this, it is essential to provide accommodation built around the key 

principles of quality design (paragraph 6.2 and Policy DP2) and meet the needs of 

individual residents and communities by constructing new homes that form useable 

and desirable places to live. The Core Strategy outlines key principles for the design 

quality of housing including flatted development (CS18:1b), for example “generous 

internal space standards”, and residential design adaptable to or providing for 

specialist needs (CS18:1c-1d). Criteria consistent with these requirements and new 

national policy are set out below.  

9.43 The government has set out national standards for aspects of residential design, 

some of which are on an ‘opt in’ basis. The standards should be utilised in Dartford 

as set out below (and DP11:1 on water efficiency).   

9.44 The size of new-build dwellings is widely recognised as a concern, and the 

government has introduced national space standards to enable the compliance with 

the standard to be a Local Plan policy requirement. Given the extent to which the 

Borough’s housing stock will be made up of new dwellings, it is proposed in DP8:1 to 

apply minimum internal space standards, subject (if applicable) to viability and site-

SEE ALSO (Most relevant supporting information): 

 Core Strategy policies: CS1, CS14, and CS17 & CS18. 

 Other policies in this document: DP2, DP4, DP5, DP11 & DP24. 

 NPPF paragraphs: 57. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

42     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

specific circumstances. The standards help ensure new development is of sufficient 

size, quality and flexibility for the needs of the occupants of new homes in Dartford.  

9.45 Core Strategy policies establish the local importance of, and need for, well-designed 

dwellings with appropriate internal space. In order to deliver the Core Strategy, it is 

considered necessary to apply space standards in the Borough; and it is expected in 

line with policy DP8:1 that they will normally be achieved on all applicable 

developments (noting that on any planning application, housing needs and viability 

are material to the consideration of proposals)16. In relation to housing need, the EDC 

will play a vital role in delivering new residential development, creating whole new 

settlements. Chapter 2 of this Plan highlights the purpose of the EDC, established by 

national government, to “provide high quality, attractive and sustainably-constructed 

housing…” It is regarded as appropriate for exemplar development to be sought at 

Ebbsfleet. In any event, the EDC consider sufficient internal space in dwellings is an 

essential prerequisite necessary to provide quality sustainable housing in all the new 

communities being created in the Ebbsfleet area. 

9.46 Accounting for national guidance, DP8:1 recognises that if individual “site specific 

circumstances” are clearly shown to entail that space standards are unnecessary or 

unviable (which may include viability assessments for sites purchased prior to 

government consultation on the initiative, or for outline planning permissions that may 

still be extant) then such factors will be taken into account as necessary in the 

determination of the application. Relevant site circumstances also include the 

necessity, recognised in the Core Strategy and this Plan, for substantial scale 

developments to emerge, but for these new communities to feature a choice of 

dwellings (appropriately sized and according with national and local objectives). 

9.47 Under DP8:2, housing developments and individual homes should be designed to 

meet the needs of all elements of the community, including disabled people, the 

elderly, and the less mobile. Designing housing in line with new national standards 

sets different levels of accessibility within homes: Building Regulations Part M4[2] 

Accessible dwellings, M4[3] Wheelchair adaptable/ accessible dwellings, and M4[1] 

visitable dwellings (the national mandatory minimum standard).  

                                                           
 

 

16
 DBC (2016) Evidence of Reasoning: National Policy & Core Strategy Compliance. See Appendix C. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

43     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

9.48 The Core Strategy (policy CS18:1c) requires “the maximum practical” proportion of 

dwellings on a development to be to Lifetime Homes standard which is comparable 

to the ‘Category 2’ (M4[2]) national standard. It also supports dwellings suitable for 

wheelchair users, now expressed as ‘Category 3’ (M4[3]). It is important that 

developments are designed with regard to these requirements at the outset. Early 

consideration should be given as to how to design and construct vital features such 

as potential step-free access, with attention given to sufficiently sized WCs, 

doorways, porches, corridors, parking spaces and other aspects. Further space 

requirements result if it is proposed to deliver Category 3 dwellings for wheelchair 

users. 

9.49 Notwithstanding Core Strategy requirements, Policy DP8:2 below is not prescriptive 

on the precise proportion of accessible homes on all sites: the usual starting 

assumption for each application will be that some provision is feasible but that this 

should be considered against the circumstances of individual sites, including practical 

land constraints, viability (where applicable), and needs. Accordingly, DP8:2 requires 

justification from proposals that do not make any contribution in respect of M4(2) and 

M4(3) dwellings to be acceptable. It will not normally be considered consistent with 

inclusive planning or the creation of sustainable communities for the lack of provision 

in one tenure e.g. open market housing to be justified because some provision will be 

made within other housing tenures.  

9.50 The justification for any non-provision of DP8:2 accessible homes should clearly 

show why making some form of provision is not feasible. This could be for example, 

where meeting step free access and other requirements is not economically viable 

and the development would not otherwise proceed; or with reference to site specific 

features such as topography and flood risk that cannot be mitigated. If relevant, 

applicants should clearly explain how adverse site characteristics wholly restrict small 

land parcels. 

 

  

  



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

44     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

Outdoor Space 

9.51  There will be diversity in new dwellings, including family houses with the provision of 

gardens expected. This is a requirement in large new developments (Core Strategy, 

policy CS18:1a for developments of 100 dwellings or more). 

9.52  Policies, including DP8:3-4 below and Core Strategy policy CS14:1b, require 

residential developments to provide a sufficient scale and choice of good quality 

external spaces. The need for dwelling variety is mirrored in the requirement in DP8:3 

below for a mix of garden sizes in all new developments to provide a choice to 

prospective occupants and for the benefit of the Borough’s overall housing stock 

(including in the EDC area).  

9.53  Garden sizes should, as a minimum within the choice provided, be shown to be 

sufficient to operate effectively as outdoor recreational space, accounting for the 

need for storage for bikes, garden furniture and equipment. Rear garden space, 

particularly for new family houses, should be useable in this respect, private and 

regularly shaped, and readily and directly accessible to the dwelling.  They should be 

designed to receive sunlight for part of the day throughout the year, and at least part 

of the garden should be shielded from view from any public right of way or from 

neighbouring properties.  

9.54   To prevent the subsequent over-intensification of development, the Local Planning 

Authority may seek to remove householder permitted development rights where 

development of garden land would result in gardens being of insufficient size, 

particularly in environmentally sensitive areas and those of valued character. 

9.55 Similarly, policy DP8:4 seeks provision of well-designed communal open space in the 

layout of larger developments of 100 dwellings or more. Furthermore, communal 

open space may be an important part of some larger proposals for new residential 

institutions in Class C2. It should be designed to receive sunlight for part of the day 

throughout the year. Communal open space should be shown to continue to deliver 

long-term benefit to the resident community, allowing social interaction and improving 

wellbeing, and creating attractive and diverse places.  

9.56 Communal open space will not normally be counted towards the Core Strategy 

(policy CS14:1b) greenspace requirement of, depending on site size, at least 20 or 

30% of site area to contribute to the Borough’s Green Grid. This is unless it is 

demonstrated the needs generated for open/ green space provision for recreational, 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

45     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

sporting, biodiversity uses (and other Green Grid objectives) are met in addition to 

the purposes of communal space in supporting a successful, vibrant and inclusive 

community. This may be achievable through considered masterplanning and layout, 

careful design and management of multifunctional spaces, and innovative 

approaches such as accessible and well maintained roof gardens and other spaces. 

9.57 The Core Strategy sets standards for residential development by requiring the 

application of the principles of the Kent Design Guide in housing proposals. Policy 

CS17 highlights some of the key criteria to be addressed in the design of homes, and 

addresses housing density. In addition to the Core Strategy and policy set out below, 

reference will be made to the good practice set out in CABE’s By Design17 and Policy 

DP2 in assessing applications for residential development. 

 

 Residential Design Details 

9.58 In all new residential development, layouts and buildings should be designed to take 

full advantage of daylight, sunlight and natural ventilation to all rooms and should 

also be designed to prevent the loss of daylight and sunlight into, and outlook from, 

habitable rooms; and adequate daylight and sunlight should remain available to 

adjoining buildings and land.  

9.59 In order to support sustainable practices in the Borough it will be important to provide 

adequate space for the internal sorting and storage, outdoor storage and disposal of 

recycling and refuse in all residential developments (see DP2:6). Where space is 

especially limited, alternative methods of storage and disposal should be considered, 

such as communal recycling. Any storage and disposal facilities should be well 

located and integrated to enable their convenient use and unobtrusiveness. 

 

 

 

                                                           
 

 

17
 Commission for Architect and the Built Environment/ DETR (2000) By Design: Urban design in the 

planning system: towards better practice  



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

46     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

Policy DP8: Residential Space and Design in New Development 

1. The design of new residential development will only be permitted where the 
quality, scale, and form of internal and external spaces created within the 
development provide for a choice of garden/ amenity space sizes and 
accessible/ adaptable dwellings, accord with criteria 2-4 below, and: 

  
 a)   for Class C3, dwellings meet Nationally Described Space Standards  

 unless clearly shown to be unnecessary or unviable due to site   
 specific circumstances; 

 

 b)   for all residential development (Classes C2 and C3), developments  
 satisfy essential principles of good quality design, including sufficient  
 greenspace, policy DP2 and amenity factors in DP5:1, including   
 overshadowing and provision of daylight and direct sunlight, and other  
 material considerations. 

 
Accessible/ Adaptable accommodation 
 
2. Development should contribute to the accommodation requirements of 

residents with restricted mobility, or as they age. Accessible/ adaptable 
accommodation should be maximised on each site under Core Strategy policy 
CS18:1c. Proposals to construct new dwellings (Class C3) that do not include 
any Category M4(2) units for accessible and adaptable dwellings - or Category 
M4(3) units for wheelchair adaptable dwellings - within each housing tenure 
should provide a robust justification, otherwise permission will not normally be 
granted. 

 
Private Amenity Spaces 
 
3. All sites for new dwellings (Class C3) shall provide a range of useable size and 

good quality of private amenity spaces (including residential gardens and 
balconies). Development will not be permitted where provision is insufficient in 
these respects; or where garden space for storage, access to daylight and 
direct sunlight, or privacy, overlooking and overshadowing is unacceptable.  

 
Communal Open Space 
 
4. All residential developments of 100 new dwellings in Class C3 or larger (or 

equivalent scale for Class C2) will only be permitted where provision is made 
for inviting and accessible communal open space serving the community it 
serves. Proposals will be assessed against considerations within clause 1 
above, as applicable. Communal open space will include a scheme for both 
hard and soft landscaping, and a mechanism that arranges for its on-going 
management and maintenance for the long-term.  

 

 

  



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

47     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

Local Housing Needs 

 

 Affordable Housing 

9.60 The Core Strategy (Policy CS19:1a-f) sets the requirement for the proportion of 

affordable housing that will be sought, and remains generally applicable. The 

requirements are dependent on the size and location of the proposed development; 

allied with the critical delivery issue of viability set out in national policy. 

9.61 There has been a recent uplift in residential land values, but there  remains a 

necessity to recognise the variations that exist in the ability of different sites to viably 

meet overall policy requirements for affordable housing, given site specific factors 

and changing funding and viability circumstances. In applying requirements, and to 

provide an appropriate mix of affordable housing across the Borough, the Core 

Strategy offers some flexibility regarding the balance of tenures, although a genuine 

mix of types of affordable housing should be achieved. References to “social-rented 

housing” in the Core Strategy should now be taken to include all forms of affordable 

rented accommodation.  

9.62 Developments should contribute to the creation of mixed communities, with a range 

of types and sizes of housing provided to meet varying local need. In some instances 

the benefits of wholly affordable housing schemes could assist in meeting significant 

need (DP9:1). 

9.63 Affordable housing is currently defined in the NPPF, and includes affordable rented 

housing types. In the previous few years, affordable housing in the Borough was 

predominantly shared ownership and sub-market rental, reflecting the government 

funding regime. More recently (and for the foreseeable future), an affordable rented 

housing proportion of 50% affordable rented housing has been achievable on a 

number of planning permissions, and is consistent with the Core Strategy. This 

SEE ALSO (Most relevant supporting information): 

 Core Strategy policies: CS1, CS8, CS18 & CS19. 

 Other policies in this document: DP5, DP6 & DP20. 

 NPPF paragraphs: 49. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

48     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

balance ensures significant new affordable rented provision is made alongside 

intermediate forms of provision, which may be increasingly out of the financial reach 

for more and more local residents in housing need. Further assessment and 

guidance will be considered as appropriate. 

9.64 The provision of affordable housing should be on-site to promote social inclusion and 

provide a good distribution of affordable housing across the Borough (DP9:2). This is 

especially important in rural areas where there is limited scope for new housing and 

opportunities for affordable housing delivery need to be maximised. 

 Other Housing Products 

9.65 As part of providing a greater volume and mix of new housing, the government is now 

also promoting alternative sources of supply alongside ‘traditional’ market housing. In 

particular there is growing support for the planning system to encourage extra private 

housing to be constructed by individuals or other (typically smaller) organisations or 

groups. 

9.66 The government is therefore trialling methods to expand ‘custom-build’ housing 

developments. Custom-build housing typically involves individuals or groups of 

individuals commissioning the construction of new homes from a builder, contractor 

or package company or, in a modest number of cases, physically building a house for 

themselves or working with sub-contractors. This latter form of development is also 

known as ‘self-build’ (i.e. custom-build encompasses self-build). 

9.67 The Council wishes to encourage the contribution custom-build housing may make in 

meeting the range of demands for local homes, subject to the practicalities of 

managing custom-build being confirmed. This is addressed through policy DP9:4 

below. In general, any size of residential development may include a proportion of 

custom-build dwellings, subject to local need, but there is an expectation that this 

issue must be closely considered on planning applications for the large sites; it may 

potentially also be feasible where developments are too small (or otherwise shown to 

be unviable) to address housing need through contributing to the provision of 

affordable housing. 

9.68 Custom-build developments may apply for exemption from Dartford’s Community 

Infrastructure Levy. A register will be kept to help judge the demand for custom-build 

plots in Dartford. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

49     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

9.69 Similarly, the government has introduced a new category of housing: Starter Homes. 

These are dwellings offered to sale to people under 40 who have not owned a home 

previously and are to be sold at a discount of at least 20% below open market value. 

These legal restrictions shall apply for at least five years after the new home is 

initially sold to a first time buyer. The government expects developments to be well 

designed and of high quality; moreover it anticipates these developments to come 

forward on underused land such as former employment (B-class) sites. To support 

the overarching borough spatial strategy, Policy DP6 will apply in addition to DP9:3 

below for starter homes proposals emerging on unplanned windfall sites. 

9.70 As set out in national guidance, employment land which is viably allocated under 

policy DP20 (shown on the Policies Map) or in productive use is unlikely to be 

acceptable for redevelopment for residential use.  Viability testing and marketing 

assessment for a range of B-class use must constitute sufficient effective marketing 

(see Appendix C: Glossary).  Evidence should be provided to clearly establish that 

the land is surplus to business or economic development strategy requirements as 

outlined in policy DP20 and Core Strategy policies CS7 and CS8. 

9.71 Alternatively, provision for Starter Homes could be made in large sites. Under DP9:3 

the Local Planning Authority would like this to complement other forms of targeted 

provision such as affordable rented accommodation. As with other dwellings, the 

Local Planning Authority will seek on-site provision, consistent with the principle in 

DP9:2 below. 

9.72 The Local Planning Authority will seek if possible to ensure that occupants of Starter 

Homes demonstrate a valid local connection.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

50     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

Policy DP9: Local Housing Needs 

1. Residential development will not normally be permitted where it does not 
deliver an appropriate mix of affordable housing types and tenure to reflect 
local needs and site-specific/ financial circumstances in line with Core Strategy 
policy CS19:1 (and criterion 2 below). In order to address significant need, 
weight will be given to proposals for affordable rented housing meeting priority 
local requirements, if the development is sustainable in location and 
appropriate in scale. 

 
2. The Local Planning Authority will expect the provision of affordable housing to 

be on-site. In the exceptional circumstances when it can be justified that this 
would not be viable or practical, or where off-site provision would result in 
public benefits, provision on an alternative site in Dartford Borough may be 
considered. Where it is demonstrated that this cannot be provided, a commuted 
sum may be accepted in lieu of on-site or off-site affordable housing provision 
towards either delivery on an alternative site or other affordable housing 
initiatives. The commuted sum should be equivalent to the financial contribution 
were the affordable housing to be provided on site. 

 
Starter Homes 
 
3. Developers should aim to provide a proportion of Starter Homes in reasonably 

sized development, where sites are large enough and able to make Starter 
Home provision in addition to on-site affordable rented accommodation and 
other affordable tenures. Development sites where all housing wholly meets the 
government definition of Starter Homes will normally be permitted on vacant 
and surplus brownfield land consistent with policy DP6:2 and 3, where of high 
quality design, and where appropriate provision is made to necessary 
infrastructure. 

 
Custom Build Dwellings    
 
4. All developments that include housing are encouraged to allocate and deliver a 

proportion of the site as plots for custom build dwellings, where there is 
evidence of local need for custom build sites.  

  



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

51     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Accommodation 

 

9.73 National Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (PPTS) requires Local Planning 

Authorities to assess the level of future need for gypsies, travellers and travelling 

showpeople pitches/ plots and to identify a supply of sites in Local Plans. The PPTS 

sets out the definition of what gypsy, traveller and travelling showpeople means for 

the purpose of the planning policy18. In summary, the policy clearly sets out that the 

requirements of the PPTS apply to persons of a nomadic habit of life other than those 

who have ceased to travel temporarily for specified reasons. 

9.74 An assessment of existing and future accommodation needs of gypsies, travellers 

and travelling showpeople19 was published in October 2013 to provide an 

understanding of the level of need for future pitches in the Borough.  The study 

involved analysing historical and current information on travellers in Dartford and 

interviewing a large proportion of the traveller population. However, as the study was 

undertaken prior to the revised PPTS 2015, it does not differentiate between those 

who lived permanently in caravans, those who could be defined as ‘persons of a 

nomadic habit of life’ and those who had ceased to travel temporarily. Additionally the 

study findings suggest that a proportion of the existing gypsy and traveller population 

in Dartford do not have a ‘nomadic habit of life’.  

9.75 Therefore it is considered that the pitch requirements as set out below represent a 

generous understanding of the future accommodation needs of travellers meeting the 

planning definition. The study identified the planning need as set out in Table 1:  

                                                           
 

 

18
 DCLG (2015) Planning Policy for Traveller Sites – see Annex 1: Glossary  

19
 University of Salford for DBC (2013) Dartford Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople 

Accommodation Assessment 

SEE ALSO (Most relevant supporting information): 

 Core Strategy policies: CS20 

 Other policies in this document: DP5 & DP22 

 NPPF paragraphs: See Planning Policy for Traveller Sites 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

52     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

 
 
Table 1: Dartford’s Planning Requirement for Traveller Accommodation 

 

9.76  Although the study looked several years ahead, the Council is intending to undertake 

a revised assessment in accordance with national policy, and to use this to update 

future accommodation requirements in a new Local Plan, which can make land 

allocations for gypsies, traveller and travelling showpeople as well as other uses. In 

the intervening period, the Council considers that needs can be best addressed 

through other actions, using the existing projection of needs (Table 1) as a starting 

point. 

9.77 The Council granted planning consent for the stationing of 16 caravans at a gypsy 

caravan park in July 2013. This site provides the capacity to meet identified needs 

from 2013 to 2018. In addition a number of pitches currently have temporary consent.  

9.78  To ensure that sites are identified and delivered to meet existing and future growth 

need, the Council has identified a five year supply of pitches and plots to meet the 

requirements set out above, including any backlog of unmet need. The five year 

supply of gypsy, traveller and travelling showpeople accommodation will be identified 

and updated at least annually. 

 

 

 

  

Period Gypsy & Traveller 
Pitch Requirement 

Travelling Showpeople 
Plot requirement 

2013 -2018      13   1 

2018 – 2023      10   1 

2023 -2028      11   1 

Total       34   3 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

53     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

9.79 The Dartford Gypsy and Traveller Implementation Strategy20 contains the actions that 

will be taken by the Council to identify and maintain a five year deliverable supply of 

gypsies, travellers and travelling showpeople accommodation on a continuing basis. 

The Implementation Strategy identifies future broad sources of sites where potential 

to meet accommodation needs will be explored.  As set out in the Core Strategy, 

possible sources of land that will be investigated include: additional pitches at 

existing sites; site extensions and new locations. Consideration will be given to the 

potential for both private and public future provision. Land will be identified in 

accordance with the approach and principles set out in Core Strategy CS20:1&3 and 

national Planning Policy for Traveller Sites. 

9.80 In addition, further unidentified sites may come forward through the planning 

application process. Policy DP10:3 sets out the specific considerations that will be 

applied in determining applications for such development alongside other relevant 

local plan policy and other material considerations. These considerations will be 

applied to applications for caravan development from travellers who do not meet the 

planning policy definition but who have a cultural preference to live in caravan 

accommodation. As set in Core Strategy policy CS20:1(b) with regard to identification 

of pitches; proposed sites should be located close to education, health, and 

community facilities and public transport. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
 

 

20
 DBC (2016) Dartford Gypsy and Traveller Implementation Strategy 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

54     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

Policy DP10: Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Accommodation 

1. The Local Planning Authority will, through its planning and other roles, work 
actively to identify a supply of gypsy and traveller pitches and travelling 
showpeople plots sufficient to meet future identified needs in the Borough. Land 
for Traveller pitches and showpeople plots will be identified in accordance with 
the approach and principles set out in Core Strategy policy CS20:1&3.  
 

2. Dartford will maintain a Five Year Supply, with deliverable land to meet 
identified requirements for traveller pitches and travelling showpeople plots. 
Continuing provision to meet future need will occur through a range of actions 
including: 

       
a) Determining planning applications expeditiously in line with national policy 

and the development management criteria set out in clause 3 below; and 
 

b) Maintaining and monitoring a continuous  Five Year Supply, by ensuring 
the actions set out in the Dartford Gypsy and Traveller Implementation 
Strategy document are carried forward,  to confirm additional site 
availability are achieved. 

 
3. Planning applications for gypsy and traveller pitches and plots for travelling 

showpeople will be assessed against relevant local and national policy 
requirements. Proposals located in the Green Belt will be determined in 
accordance with the balancing exercise set out in national policy and with 
regard to relevant material considerations. In addition proposals must 
demonstrate that the site: 
 

a) Is of a scale to accommodate and has the potential to provide the facilities 
required for future occupants in terms of amenity and in meeting site 
licensing requirements; 

 

b) Is of a scale appropriate to the ability of the surrounding community to 
accommodate the development without significant detriment to 
neighbouring residential amenity, taking account existing population size 
and density; 

 

c) Is not in an area liable to flooding; 
 

d) Is located close to a range of services and facilities; 
 

e) Has the ability to provide appropriate vehicular access to the site. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

55     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

10. Sustainable Technology and Construction  

 

Climate Change 

10.1 All new development should be designed to reduce water and energy consumption.  

Policies in the Core Strategy require the use of passive design and site layout to 

reduce energy use (CS23:1a) and promote decentralised energy generation through 

partnership working, and where appropriate, through suitable developments 

(CS23:1d-g). 

10.2 As recognised in the Core Strategy, climate change can be tackled in a number of 

ways including through the planning system. The government has consolidated 

requirements within the country and between different regulatory regimes; particularly 

in terms of how to require higher standards of domestic energy efficiency. 

 Energy 

10.3 In line with new government policy, Building Regulations will be the predominant 

means by which increased energy efficiency on new residential developments is 

regulated and target levels set. Core Strategy sustainable design and construction 

provisions for non-residential development at CS25:1d and CS23:1c may still apply. 

10.4  As set out in national planning guidance, energy generation needs are important but 

do not automatically override environmental protections. National guidance and 

policy DP11:2 below recognise considerations such as heritage, character and 

amenity can be important considerations. Applications for low/ zero carbon 

infrastructure will also be considered against policies DP5 Amenity and 

Environmental Protection, and DP2 Design in this Plan as well as the relevant 

policies in the Core Strategy. 

SEE ALSO (Most relevant supporting information): 

 Core Strategy policies: CS23-CS25. 

 Other policies in this document: DP1, DP2, DP5, DP13, DP22 & DP25. 

 NPPF paragraphs: 91 & 95-96. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

56     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

10.5 Evidence has shown that solar thermal and photovoltaic technologies, ground source 

pumps, combined heat and power, and medium scale wind are the most favourable 

options for the area, although this does not take account of site specific issues. The 

use of passive solar design can further support the delivery of low-carbon 

development. 

10.6 The contribution of careful design and the latest technological improvements to 

achieving reduced carbon emissions is relevant to planning applications in a number 

of respects. Where proposals for active solar technology (photovoltaic and solar 

water heating) require planning permission, factors to consider with policy DP11 can 

also include: the need for an effective area of, and site for, modules; their colour and 

appearance, and local designations and heritage. Energy installations affecting the 

historic environment are addressed in design policy (DP2:3). 

10.7 Infrastructure associated with major development, for example associated 

transmission lines, buildings, material storage, access roads and security structures 

such as fencing, lighting, pole mounted CCTV and gatehouses, will be taken into 

account when assessing proposals. 

10.8 ‘Solar farm’ proposals will be closely considered through policy DP11, with particular 

attention to how landscape issues are addressed. 

10.9 Large scale wind turbine proposals raise a number of considerations. Turbines in the 

Borough can have an impact on aircraft and river traffic.  Depending on their height, 

turbines and wind farms may require the consent of the National Air Transport 

Service and the relevant airport authority in order to proceed through planning. The 

National Air Transport Service offers a range of pre-planning services for wind 

turbines and wind farms. There is also the potential for wind turbines near to the 

River Thames to have a detrimental impact on the Port of London Authority’s (PLA) 

navigation systems particularly at Broadness/ Swanscombe Peninsula.  Developers 

of wind turbine schemes or other schemes that may have a similar impact are 

encouraged to have early discussions with the Port of London.  

10.10 Water efficiency is an issue of growing importance in South East England. It is 

expected that good sustainable design and construction will fully explore the potential 

to build in features such as grey water recycling systems in new development.  

10.11 The Core Strategy set out a range of provisions that will continue to apply, such as 

CS25:1a and 1e on working with utility providers and others on management of water 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

57     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

resources and development. Core Strategy policy CS25:1b looked for residential 

development to achieve 105 litres per person per day. This approach is being 

maintained, however national changes in measurement/ definition mean this now 

equates to 110 litres per person per day under the Part G2 of the Building 

Regulations 2015, applied in DP11:1. 

10.12 All developments should seek to make a contribution to challenging water scarcity, 

and it is possible to achieve this in a number of ways, including installing water 

efficiency fittings within converted buildings or changes of use. Therefore this policy 

is not restricted to new build dwellings, instead applying to all homes created. It is 

expected under this policy planning applications will provide information to confirm 

how requirements will be satisfied. 

10.13 A number of policies, including DP11 below and those in the Core Strategy, provide 

guidance on managing and mitigating flood risk and managing the supply and quality 

of water and waste water/ sewerage treatment capacity to protect and enhance the 

quality of surface and ground water. These issues are highly important in managing 

potential effects, in particular of large scale development, for both residential and 

other uses in Dartford. Therefore it is essential that development proposals consider 

how these issues can be addressed and managed in the long term. 

10.14 Under DP11:3 and other policy the Local Planning Authority will seek to ensure that 

in considering a planning application appropriate use of Sustainable Drainage 

Systems (SuDS) is included within the design of developments. This will be guided 

by policy DP2, Core Strategy policy CS24:1c and KCC as Lead Local Flood 

Authority. KCC is a statutory consultee and will advise on the sufficiency of SuDS 

provisions for all new major developments, including all sites of 10 dwellings/ 

1,000sqm floorspace/ 10ha site area in size or greater. 

 

 

 

 

 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

58     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

Policy DP11: Sustainable Technology and Construction 

1. Development should be well located, innovatively and sensitively designed 
and constructed, to tackle climate change, minimise flood risk and natural 
resource use and must aim to increase water efficiency. Reflecting water 
scarcity and development levels in the region, and to deliver the aims of Core 
Strategy policy CS25, all dwellings (Class C3) created in Dartford will be 
permitted only where they demonstrate delivery of the water efficiency 
requirement level of 110 litres per person per day. 

2. In determining applications for small and large-scale low/ zero carbon 
technology and installations, the economic and environmental benefits of the 
proposal will be weighed against the individual and cumulative impact of the 
development. Development will only be permitted in line with national policy 
and where the following factors have been satisfactorily taken into 
consideration:  
a) Character, and visual and residential amenity  

 

b) Landscape, topography, and heritage  
 

c) Shadow flicker and glare (if relevant) 
 

d) Electronic and telecommunication interference/ navigation and aviation 
issues (if relevant)  

 

e) Quality of agricultural land taken (where applicable) 
 

f) Ensuring installations are removed when no longer in use and land is 
then  restored 

 

g) Potential effects on Policies Map designations/ protected sites or areas in 
the Borough including Green Belt, heritage assets, and SSSIs/ areas of 
high biodiversity value, and 

 

h) Other relevant local environmental and amenity factors (policy DP5) 
accounting for mitigations proposed, for example in relation to 
biodiversity. 

3. Planning applications for low/ zero carbon technology and installations, or  for 
major developments with potentially significant water supply, flooding or 
wastewater implications, will only be permitted where they set out how 
appropriate and effective mitigation/ management is to be delivered. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

59     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

11. Heritage and the Historic Environment 

 

This chapter includes two policies: 

 DP12: Dartford’s Historic Environment Strategy  

 DP13: Designated Heritage Assets  

 Historic Environment Strategy  

 

 Historic Dartford 

11.1 A proper understanding of the Borough’s places, its history, and irreplaceable 

resources is necessary to ensure development is sustainable, and integral in 

designing good proposals that are acceptable in line with national and local policy. 

This information should be collected, studied and applied by those involved in the 

development of the Borough to put forward positive proposals that enhance 

understanding, appreciation and enjoyment of Dartford’s historic environment. 

11.2 Dartford Borough has a long and varied heritage due to its location in the fertile 

Darent valley, availability of natural resources and proximity to London. Some of the 

resultant heritage assets that are still evident across the Borough are shown in 

indicatively in Figure 3 below, and should be addressed in development design and 

strategy. 

 

 

 

 

SEE ALSO (Most relevant supporting information): 

 Core Strategy policies: CS1. 

 Other policies in this document: DP2, DP5, DP13, DP24 & DP25. 

 NPPF paragraphs: 126, 128, 130-131, 135-136, 138 & 139. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

60     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

Figure 3: Selected Heritage Designations 

  

^

^̂
^
^

^̂̂̂

^̂

^̂̂̂̂

^̂

^̂̂ ^̂̂̂
^

^̂̂̂̂̂
^̂

^̂

^

^
^

^

^

^

^
^ ^^

^̂

^

^^̂^ ^
^

^ ^^̂

^

^^
^

^
^

^ ^

^̂̂

^
^̂
^
^
^

^

^

^
^̂

^
^

^

^

^

^̂̂̂

^̂̂

^

^̂

^

^

^

^

^̂
^

^^^̂̂̂^̂ ^
^

^

^

^

^

^̂^

^
^

^

^

^̂

^
^̂

^̂̂

^

^

^

^

^

^

^̂

^

^
^̂

^̂̂

^
^

^
^

^

^

^

^

^

^

^

^

^̂^̂

^

^̂̂^ ^

^̂ ^^
^

^̂
^̂
^

^̂̂

^̂

^̂

^

^

^

^

^

^ ^

^ ^

^

^
^

^

^

^

^
^

°

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey Dartford Borough Council 100025870  2015

0 1 2 3 40.5

Km

X:\Data_Store\Departmental_Data\Regeneration_Directorate\Planning_Policy\1995LP_Updates_20150916\01_Project_Files\01_OV_HeritageFeatures_V2_A4_Land_20151130.mxd

^ Scheduled Monuments

^ Listed Building

Conservation Areas

New Barn

Longfield

Darenth

Bluewater

Swanscombe

Hawley

Joydens Wood

Dartford

A2

M
2
5

Figure 3: Selected Heritage Designations 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

61     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

11.3 There is evidence of prehistoric activity in the Borough dating back to the Palaeolithic 

period. The modern town of Dartford originated as a small Romano-British settlement 

on what is now Watling Street, the main road through Kent from London to Dover. 

There was then a Saxon settlement and a medieval market town before more rapid 

growth in the post-medieval period and industrial expansion in the 19th and 20th 

centuries.  

11.4 The lower Thames valley is the most well-known area in the country for Palaeolithic 

archaeology with finds including the Swanscombe skull, which is amongst the earliest 

human remains in Europe. Romano-British burials, ritual sites and settlement 

evidence are recorded across the Borough. There are three Roman Scheduled 

Monuments in the Borough: a temple enclosure; the settlement site of Vagniacae at 

Springhead, and a major villa south of Darenth Court Farm.  

11.5 Saxon finds, occupation sites and cemeteries show a continuation of occupation in 

the Borough, during which time Dartford was part of a royal estate.  

11.6 During the medieval period Dartford grew into a market town. The period is well 

represented by occupation evidence, the historic layout of the medieval market town, 

medieval buildings and coaching inns, hospitals, and the sites of medieval manors 

and ecclesiastical buildings.   

11.7 Dartford town’s market role, and commercial function as a centre for local food and 

drink processing, help explain the connections within the Borough, and the historic 

importance of the rural hinterland. 

11.8 The post-medieval period saw early industrial activity in the Borough. This was 

initially connected with agriculture, such as brewing and milling. These were soon 

followed by brick kilns, iron works and various types of manufacturers. Markets also 

continued to grow in Dartford and the town was granted a market Charter in the mid-

17th century by Charles I. The Dartford and Crayford Navigation historically provided 

a key means of access in the north of the Borough, and it heavily influenced the 

evolution of commerce and activity in and around the town.  

11.9 Three railway lines reached Dartford in the mid-late 19th century and by then industry 

had boomed in the Borough with chalk quarries, cement works, brick works, mills and 

engineering. This legacy is still very prominent in several of the Borough’s 

landscapes, particularly in the north of the Borough along the rivers and near the 

settlements of Stone, Swanscombe and eastwards towards Ebbsfleet. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

62     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

11.10 The housing needed to accommodate the industrial workforce is still evident 

throughout the Borough in the many 19th and early 20th century terraced rows of 

workers houses. Many public houses were also built in this period, and can be an 

important part of the Borough’s built and social heritage. 

11.11 The 20th century saw a complete transformation of Dartford from being a bustling 

Victorian market town to a modern urban centre. The demand for housing continued 

to grow and was partially met in Edwardian times by the development of a number of 

privately-financed housing estates. Social housing was also built after the First World 

War and many private residential developments took place in Dartford during the 

1920s, ‘30s and ‘40s. More recently, major growth has occurred or is proposed to re-

use large areas of land originally developed for quarrying or other uses (notably 

historic hospitals that were established to deal with infectious or otherwise ill London 

residents). 

11.12  This history should be revealed through, or referenced in, the design of new 

developments (policy DP12:1 and DP2). 

 Identifying the Borough’s Heritage Assets 

11.13 Many historic buildings and sites in the Borough have been lost as a result of fire, 

bombing, demolition, road building, development and modernisation. However, the 

number of entries in the Historic Environment Record (HER) and long and continuous 

occupation in the area demonstrate a rich and varied heritage. It will be important to 

conserve and manage this and maximise opportunities to investigate sites further as 

they come forward as part of developments. This will be done through the 

consideration of existing designated heritage assets (Table 3) and non-designated 

heritage assets that are of local significance. 

11.14  The following table (Table 2) outlines the key aspects that will be taken into account 

 to determine the historic significance of potential non-designated assets. 

Table 2: Significance of Potential Heritage Assets 

Criteria Description 

Rarity Exemplifying a style, design, settlement pattern, or other 
quality that is uncommon to the locality, Borough or wider 
region.  

Representativeness Exemplifying a particular type, historical or architectural trend 
or individual represented in the Borough. 

Integrity  Retaining a sense of completeness with little later alteration 
or addition.  

 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

63     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

11.15 Non-designated heritage assets may include a site or building, a group of buildings, 

or a distinct area. They are anticipated to take the form of historic, archaeological, 

architectural/ artistic, and/ or townscape/ landscape elements. This is explained in the 

following points, which should be consulted when considering the identification of 

possible non-designated heritage assets as set out in DP12:5-7 below. 

 

 Historic: Buildings, monuments, sites, places, areas and landscapes that are 

of historic interest associated with local historic events or locally famous or 

notable people, civic, community or industrial activities of local significance; or 

which reflect traditional functional character of, or former patterns of, land use 

within the Borough. 

 

 Archaeological: Monuments or places of archaeological interest that are 

identifiable and definable in extent; have the potential to retain well preserved 

deposits (both upstanding features or earthworks and sub-surface); relate to a 

significant phase of local development or local occupation or to a person of 

local significance. Archaeological interests are particularly important to the 

Borough, and it should be noted that under the NPPF lack of prior designation 

does not prevent such archaeological interests being assessed against 

designated heritage asset policy (DP13). Assessments of archaeological 

interest in support of planning applications will require a desk-based 

assessment in the first instance, with a full site evaluation required if the need 

is indicated by the initial assessment. 

 

 Architectural or Artistic: Sites or buildings that are valued locally for special 

architectural or vernacular interest; have associations with a locally or 

nationally notable architect, designer or engineer; or demonstrate design 

features of exceptional quality that may be characteristic of the local area; or 

of artistic interest for its conscious design; or technical significance that 

displays exceptional innovation and craftsmanship. 

 

 Townscape/ Landscape: A building, monument, site, place, area, landscape 

or open space which makes a positive visual contribution to character, helps 

define a sense of place or adds to the local distinctiveness of the area, in the 

context of Dartford Borough as a whole. These include: 
 

o Key landmark buildings and/ or structures including significant 

buildings on important routes into the area;  



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

64     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

o Buildings that create a vista, view or make a positive contribution to 

the skyline; 

o A group of buildings or the relationship between buildings; 

o Valued open spaces, including public streets and squares, parks, 

gardens, amenity spaces, river corridors; 

o Trees including avenues, special groups and single landmark trees; 

o Hedges and appropriate walls, fences, or railings; street surfaces 

and margins, for example, cobbles, setts and suitable grass verges; 

o Distinctive items of street furniture, for example, signposts, lamp 

columns and light fittings. 

 

11.16 Dartford’s Areas of Special Character, as designated on the Policies Map, may also 

have historic, archaeological, architectural or townscape interest21. Planning 

applications affecting any heritage aspects of these areas should establish their 

significance using evidence, including the adopted Supplementary Planning 

Guidance where applicable, to ensure they fulfil policy objectives for non-designated 

assets. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
 

 

21
 DBC (2016) Areas of Special Character Overview Note 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

65     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

Policy DP12: Historic Environment Strategy 

1.  Development should contribute to the conservation and enjoyment of the 

Borough’s historic environment. The Local Planning Authority will work with 

developers on strategies to realise this in the context of site heritage 

opportunities and constraints. 

2. Where heritage may be at risk, landowners will be expected to work proactively 

with the Local Planning Authority in bringing forward proposals to preserve or 

enhance these assets, to facilitate their successful rehabilitation and seek their 

viable reuse consistent with their heritage value and special interest.  

3. Development proposals which may affect the significance of heritage assets 

(both designated and non-designated) or their setting should demonstrate how 

these assets will be protected, conserved or enhanced as appropriate. 

Proposals should aim to reflect and interpret the historic character of a site and 

conserve its most significant historical and/or architectural aspects. 

4. A heritage statement should accompany all planning applications affecting 

heritage assets. On archaeological sites, a desk-based assessment will be 

required as a minimum. Applications affecting designated heritage assets will 

be assessed under Policy DP13. Applications affecting non-designated assets 

will be assessed against the criteria below. 

Non-Designated Heritage Assets 

5.  The Borough’s non-designated heritage assets include: 

a) Archaeological sites, including sites holding an interest as defined in 

the NPPF; 

b) Applicable sites within Areas of Special Character, as defined on the 

Policies Map; 

c) Sites with significant industrial heritage; 

d) Land with historic landscape character; 

e) Historic open space, parks and gardens.   

6.  Development proposals affecting non-designated heritage assets should 

establish the asset’s significance. Development should conserve or enhance 

those aspects that have been identified as significant and, where possible, 

should seek to better reveal an asset’s significance.  

7.  In determining planning applications affecting non-designated assets, the effect 

of the proposal on the asset’s significance will be taken into account. A 

balanced judgement will be taken having regard to the significance of the 

heritage asset and the scale of any harm or loss of significance. Development 

resulting in a total loss of significance will not normally be permitted. 

 

 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

66     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

Designated Heritage Assets 

 

11.17 Heritage assets in the Borough are summarised below (see also Figure 3). 

 

Table 3: Dartford’s Designated Heritage Assets  

  

Listed Buildings 7 Grade I                      
 10 Grade II* 
 166 Grade II 
Conservation Areas Dartford Town Centre 
 Greenhithe 
 Church Hill, Wilmington 
 Southfleet 
 Hook Green, Southfleet 
 Red Street, Southfleet 
Scheduled Monuments Anglo-Saxon cemetery, Darenth Park, Darenth 
 Palaeolithic sites near Baker's Hole, Swanscombe 
 Neolithic sites near Ebbsfleet, Swanscombe 
 Roman enclosure SE of Vagniacae, Southfleet 
 Springhead Roman site, Southfleet 
 Monastic grange at Friary Court, Southfleet 
 St John's Jerusalem and associated fishpond, Sutton-

at-Hone 
 Roman villa, Anglo-Saxon settlement and prehistoric 

remains SSE of Darenth Court Farm, Darenth 
 Faesten Dic, Joydens Wood, Wilmington 
 Medieval woodland boundary in Darenth Wood, 

Darenth 
 Dovecote at Hawley Manor, Sutton-at-Hone 
 Icehouse at Clock House, Green Street Green, 

Darenth 
  

 
11.18 Designated heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource and should not be 

unnecessarily lost through redevelopment. The Local Planning Authority will seek to 

retain the Borough’s designated heritage assets and enhance their significance 

SEE ALSO (Most relevant supporting information): 

 Core Strategy policies: CS1. 

 Other policies in this document: DP12. 

 NPPF paragraphs: 126, 130-134, 136 & 138. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

67     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

wherever possible, ensuring that they are put to viable uses consistent with their 

conservation. Proposals leading to substantial harm or total loss of a designated 

heritage asset will be resisted, and will only be permitted on an exceptional basis in 

accordance with Policy DP13 below. 

11.19 Where an asset has been deliberately neglected or damaged its deteriorated state 

will not be taken into account in decision-making. 

Policy DP13: Designated Heritage Assets  

1. Designated heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource and should be 

conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance. A heritage statement 

should establish the significance of the heritage asset in order to enable the 

assessment the impact of a development proposal. Any harm or loss will 

require clear and convincing justification. 

2. In determining planning applications, the Local Planning Authority will pay close 

regard to: 

a) the significance of the heritage asset; 
b) the desirability of maintaining and, where possible, enhancing 

significance; and 
c) the desirability of ensuring viable uses are found for heritage assets, 

consistent with their conservation. 
 

3. Where a proposal will lead to substantial harm or total loss of significance, 

permission will be refused unless it can be clearly demonstrated that the 

development is necessary for substantial public benefits to be achieved that will 

outweigh the harm or loss. 

4. Where a proposal will lead to less than substantial harm, this will be weighed 

against the public benefits of the proposal. 

Listed Buildings 

5. Development proposals affecting statutorily listed buildings should have 

special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting. Loss 

of or harm to a statutorily listed building or its setting will only be permitted in 

exceptional circumstances in line with clauses 3 and 4 above. 

Conservation Areas 

5. Development proposals affecting a conservation area should pay special 
attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of that area. Proposals that would result in harm or loss of 
significance will be determined in line with clauses 3 and 4 above. 
 

6. The demolition of any building in a conservation area will only be permitted where 
it is clear that it will not adversely affect the character and appearance of the 
area. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

68     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

Scheduled Monuments 

8. Development proposals affecting Scheduled Monuments will only be 

permitted where they clearly conserve the asset or enhance its significance. 

Proposals resulting in loss or harm will only be permitted on a wholly 

exceptional basis and in line with clauses 3 and 4 above. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Clockwise from top left:  

Church of the Holy Trinity and Dartford Museum, both Dartford Town Centre, and Southfleet village 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

69     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

12. Dartford Town Centre and Shopping 
 

This chapter contains multiple policies: 

 Policy DP14: Retail and Town Centre Development  

 Policy DP15: Dartford Town Centre and its Primary Frontage   

 Policy DP16: Dartford Town Centre’s Secondary Areas    

 Policy DP17: District Centres        

 Policy DP18: Neighbourhood Centres      

 Policy DP19: Food and Drink Establishments 

Retail and Town Centre Development   

  

Retail Strategy 

12.1 National planning policy requires Local Planning Authorities to set out a resilient 

network of centres. The Core Strategy sets out the role of the main shopping centres 

and implications at Policy CS12:1&2 and at Tables 3 and 4.  

12.2 The Borough’s network of centres is identified through the Development Plan and 

shown on the Policies Map. Centres identified in the Core Strategy are Dartford Town 

Centre, Bluewater, Ebbsfleet/ Eastern Quarry (once they have been delivered 

proposed centres identified in the Core Strategy will also be subject to development 

management policies below, as appropriate). The network now also incorporates 

District (including Longfield) and Neighbourhood Centres governed by policies 

DP17&18. They are shown collectively in Figure 4 below. 

 

 

 

SEE ALSO (Most relevant supporting information): 

 Core Strategy policies: CS2 & CS12. 

 Other policies in this document: DP15 & DP16. 

 NPPF paragraphs: 23-24 & 26-27. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

70     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

 

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

#

#

#

#
#

#

^
^

^
Bluewater

(Core Stratergy)

Ebbsfleet
(Core Stratergy)

Dartford Town Centre
(Core Stratergy) Dartford East

Dartford West

Temple Hill Square

Hawley Rd / Lowfield St

High Street Swanscombe

Longfield
(Core Stratergy)

!2

!7

!5

!1

!9
!4

!3

!8

!6

!10

!14

!16

!11

!13

!12

!15

°

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey Dartford Borough Council 100025870  2015

0 1 2 3 40.5

Km

X:\Data_Store\Departmental_Data\Regeneration_Directorate\Planning_Policy\1995LP_Updates_20150916\01_Project_Files\01_Centres Diagram_A4_Land_20151223.mxd

^Retail Centres

# District Centres

! Neighbourhood Centres

M
2
5

Figure 4: Centres in the Borough 

*See the Policies Map and Appendix B for the precise 
extent of District & Neighbourhood Centres. 
Addresses are listed in Appendix B. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

71     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

12.3 The adopted Core Strategy includes robust strategic policy and identification of major 

redevelopment potential for Dartford Town Centre (CS2), and a framework for a 

network of centres across the Borough including at Bluewater (CS12). These policies 

will continue to apply and are supplemented by policy for shopping frontages at 

Dartford Town Centre and smaller shop clusters in this Plan. 

12.4 National economic and retail conditions have inhibited the delivery of anticipated 

town centre regeneration. There has been extensive restructuring in the retail sector, 

and recent local investment in the Borough has largely taken the form of new brands 

occupying existing floorspace, and incremental diversification, for example towards 

premises people visit to eat or drink. Retail (class A1) floorspace has been 

contracting in the Borough, not outweighed by some growth in uses such as cafés 

and restaurants (class A3).   

12.5 Also due to the recession, residential development and household growth (and total 

consumer expenditure) in the Borough was initially slower than expected, but is now 

picking up. It does not appear Dartford Town Centre’s overall relative retailing 

performance has substantially shifted. 

12.6 Now investor confidence is returning, and there is interest in bringing forward the 

major town centre development sites. Crucially a choice of sites and sustainable 

development options remain in Dartford Town Centre. 

12.7 National guidance seeks to promote economic development opportunities and notes 

the need to keep retail allocations under review. The Core Strategy recognises that 

an early review of retail policies would need to be undertaken as a result of major 

new communities planned to emerge in the Borough that may change established 

shopping patterns. The delayed delivery of housing and limited retail development as 

a result of the recession following adoption of the Core Strategy meant that this was 

not previously appropriate. Consequently, the Development Policies Plan sets out 

that the whole Local Plan review is the appropriate juncture for reviewing retail 

policies. Preparation of the new Plan will commence in 2017 on adoption of the 

Development Policies Plan. A sufficient quantum of new residents and development 

locations would enable a good appreciation of any shifts in shopping patterns, and 

the medium to longer term implications of trends, in context. The retail sector is 

dynamic and this approach acknowledges the sensitivity to changing consumer 

preferences, and a well-timed review remains a prudent strategy given shifting 

retailer investment and development strategies, and continuing volatility in the sector. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

72     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

12.8  In advance of a retail review through the Local Plan, Policy CS12 will continue to act 

as the basis for determining planning applications for retail and leisure development 

in the Borough. 

12.9 It is considered the strategic retail policies included within the Core Strategy continue 

to provide an appropriate overall planning context. Nevertheless, indicators of 

patterns of retail behaviour are monitored and will continue to be kept under review. 

12.10 National planning policy protects centres and manages retail applications through two 

mechanisms: the sequential test and the impact test. Core Strategy Policy CS12:5d 

(and Core Strategy Table 4) utilises the impact test for developments at Bluewater. 

Both tests are enforced in Policy DP14 below. This plan also provides new local 

guidance on the impact test for proposals outside of centres (DP14:4 below). 

12.11 The Core Strategy requirements of C12:5&6 that continue to apply for any future 

Bluewater planning application include the need to ensure any retail impact 

assessment occurs in consultation with neighbouring authorities, that its commercial 

offer is distinct from nearby town centres, that travel patterns are sustainable, and 

that design integrity and parkland is maintained or enhanced. The boundary of the 

centre as defined on the Policies Map applies, and has been drawn to focus on the 

retail and directly related (parking, servicing and immediate access) lands at 

Bluewater. 

12.12 In 2017, the Council granted planning permission for major development at Bluewater 

under reference 16/01207/OUT, predominantly for comparison retail use. In excess 

of 5,000sqm (A1 net), the proposal was justified with a retail impact assessment 

produced consistent with Core Strategy requirements. 

12.13 In line with Policy CS12:5b Table 3, small retail developments have occurred in the 

plan period without full retail assessment at Bluewater totalling less than 5,000sqm. 

Development permitted following retail impact assessment in consultation with 

adjoining authorities is not counted within the 5,000sqm Core Strategy requirement. 

Accordingly this cumulative threshold for retail assessment remains in place. 

12.14 Table 3 of the Core Strategy sets out that Bluewater will provide services for 

“specialist comparison shopping”, plus uses including top-up convenience shopping 

and leisure. It is also noted that “its competitive position as a regional level centre” 

may have implications for change. It is considered that the principle of retail impact 

assessment and cooperating with other authorities as set out in the Core Strategy is 

still appropriate to ensuring a regional shopping function is maintained that is distinct 

from town centres in the wider area, and maintaining adopted planning strategy. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

73     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

12.15 National guidance on undertaking retail impact assessments will inform engagement 

with authorities for applicable Bluewater developments. In Policy CS12:5d the 

“neighbouring authorities” includes Local Planning Authorities and upper tiers 

(Greater London Authority and County Councils). 

 Managing Local Retail Development Impacts 

12.16 In line with Policy DP14:4, national guidance on impact assessment will also apply for 

all locations outside of identified centres, where a 500sqm (net) floorspace local 

threshold is justified, in addition to the sequential test set out in national policy and 

DP14:1. National policy establishes that a local threshold may be set, and it is 

required in Dartford in order to manage the impact of proposals at out of centre 

locations in the Borough where relatively significant retail provision is put forward22. 

Development includes changes of use and variations to permissions / agreements. 

12.17 The Primary Shopping Area is shown on the Policies Map for Dartford Town Centre 

through the designated Primary and Secondary Frontages, to help apply policy. 

12.18  In terms of changes of use and development management, all the centres in the 

development plan network (Figure 4) are supported by evidence regarding them as 

“key shopping centres”. This aligns with the provisions of Class C or M of the GPDO 

201523. Where proposals are put forward under this legislation, the impact of the 

proposal on the retail sustainability of the centre should be considered, along with the 

prospect of the building being reused for Class A1/ A2 (as applicable). 

12.19 The model of regenerating or better using sites in centres through redevelopment 

providing modern, suitable ground floor shop units (with residential or other uses 

above) can help bring vitality to the Borough’s shopping areas. Similarly, the Local 

Planning Authority is keen to optimise use of existing floorspace above shops which 

may be converted for purposes such as office space or residential use. There may 

also be development opportunities at the back of ground floor retail uses, although a 

feasible shop unit should be provided at the front (Policy DP14:5). All uses should 

look to retain the shopfront, and a window display should be maintained wherever 

possible in centres. 

                                                           
 

 

22
 DBC (2016) Local Shopping Report 2015/16. See Chapter 5. 

23
 HMSO (2015) General Permitted Development Order. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

74     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

Policy DP14: Retail and Town Centre Development  

1. Ensuring investment is directed as planned towards centres, main town centre 

uses should be located sequentially and in accordance with policy CS12, 

considering sites within the Borough’s network of centres first. Proposals 

should demonstrate flexibility in the design and form of the proposal in order 

to respond to the needs of centres and available sites. Planning applications 

for shops (A-Class use) outside development plan centres will not be 

permitted where the sequential test is not met. 

Confirmation of CS12 

2. Core Strategy policy CS12 identifies a network of shopping centres, including 

Dartford Town Centre and Bluewater, where shopping and leisure activity will 

be supported. Policy CS12:5d will be applied in the determination of proposals 

at Bluewater. 

Review  

3. An early review of retail policy will occur, as part of Dartford’s whole Local 

Plan review that will be produced in line with the Local Development Scheme. 

Impact Assessment Outside of Centres 

4. Outside of centres, retail development over 500sqm floorspace will be 

permitted only where it both satisfies the sequential test (clause 1 above) and 

the proposal is demonstrated to be acceptable through a retail impact 

assessment in line with national policy. 

Optimal Design and Activities 

5. At the ground floor in the Borough’s network of centres, a shop unit of suitable 

operational size for a range of occupiers should normally be maintained at the 

front of the premises, with a window display retained where possible. Full use 

should be made of upper floors in developments. This clause is not intended 

to apply for purpose built indoor/ enclosed large shopping centres. 

  



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

75     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

Dartford Town Centre and its Primary Frontage 

 

 Dartford Town Centre Strategy 

12.20 The Core Strategy provides a range of important provisions for Dartford Town 

Centre, notably in Policy CS2 that will continue to apply. It identifies specific major 

development opportunities, and defines a Town Centre Boundary shown on the 

Policies Map. It also notes the potential need for supplementary guidance, and an 

SPD for Dartford Town Centre is in preparation. 

12.21 The existing strategy for Dartford Town Centre is a positive one for new development 

to ensure the opportunities that exist are seized and regeneration is delivered. It is 

about building on the growing prominence of Dartford as a place to live and do 

business, and its reputation as an accessible and popular place to relocate or to 

undertake major redevelopment. It is providing more homes and jobs in the town 

centre. 

12.22 The strategy continues to enhance the prominence, usability and appeal of existing 

and additional linkages within the town, so that visitors and shoppers are aware of 

these, and are able to find key parts of the town, its facilities and features. It includes 

making getting to the town centre easy and convenient, with infrastructure 

improvements building on enhanced rail and Fastrack services. 

12.23 The strategy will improve the retail offer of the town centre through greater diversity 

of shops, allied with optimising the appeal of the existing provision, including at Priory 

and Orchards Centres. It will expand the range of leisure and non-shopping 

attractions and seeks to diversify the evening economy, with more food and drink 

attractions that act as a draw to the town such as restaurants. 

12.24 The town centre strategy supports local distinctiveness through promoting a higher 

profile for Dartford’s defining physical features and activities, for the benefit of 

SEE ALSO (Most relevant supporting information): 

 Core Strategy policies: CS2 & CS12. 

 Other policies in this document: DP14, DP16 & DP19. 

 NPPF paragraphs: 23-24. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

76     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

delivering investment in (and improved perceptions of), this historic market town and 

the wider area. Further refurbishment or upgrading of Central Park and its setting, the 

River Darent and the Orchard Theatre are sought. A range of cultural and seasonal 

events will help promote the town centre, attract additional footfall and optimise the 

use of Dartford’s assets. 

12.25 The strategy accords with current national guidance that asks planning for town 

centres to take a positive approach, with a strategic vision set out. This should outline 

the appropriate realistic role for the town (featured in the Dartford Core Strategy at 

Table 3 and elsewhere) and the preferable mix of uses; plus the complementary 

strategies required to improve the town in addition to the management of its land 

uses.  

12.26 To deliver overall strategy, the Development Plan provides flexibility for appropriate 

development solutions to be drawn up for Dartford Town Centre’s regeneration. For 

example the mix of uses permissible under CS2:1d/ DP15:1, and national policy, 

allows feasible scheme options to be put forward for the Lowfield Street site, 

following Tesco’s decision (January 2015) that they would not be proceeding with the 

long-envisaged redevelopment of the site. 

12.27 There has been some significant recent progress, particularly in the northern part of 

the town centre including refurbishment of premises and parking at the Orchards 

Shopping Centre, and a new distinctive Dartford Station building: Core Strategy 

policy CS2:1e-f. Renewed developer interest in the key development opportunities is 

apparent and investment will be supported by the Dartford Town Centre SPD. 

12.28 The ability of the town to attract and accommodate investment is growing. The 

central area is increasingly well served by public transport, with expanded and 

improving Fastrack services. Adding to the expanded appeal of travelling to/ from 

Dartford Station, from September 2015 it was fully integrated with London’s network 

in terms of fare structures and Oyster/ pay-as-you-go payment services. 

 

 

 

 

 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

77     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

Regeneration and Redevelopment 

12.29 As a key part of the agreed strategy, the Town Centre Boundary ensures growth can 

be accommodated with a variety of available sites for regeneration with potential to 

integrate strongly into the existing primary shopping area. It allows connections to 

and from the shopping area to be planned within the town centre context. The 

boundary helps augment the focal primary shopping area with further uses, and 

would maximise prospects of appropriate new investment in the centre of Dartford 

town. Significantly, the town centre boundary is complemented here by planning 

policies that actively manage the mix of ground floor uses. 

12.30 The pivotal factor is that there remains no shortage of identified land in the town 

centre to meet needs in future years, providing investors with choice and flexibility, 

and scope for major transformation responding to significant household growth in and 

around the town centre. This is evident on the Town Centre Diagram below (Figure 

5). 

12.31 This Development Policies Plan confirms the continuing relevance of the Core 

Strategy framework, notes the importance of achieving town centre redevelopment 

and enhancement, and recognises the continued suitability of identified sites and the 

Town Centre Boundary on the Policies Map.  

12.32 Regeneration and redevelopment through the Core Strategy is supported by 

appropriate development management criteria in this Plan, including Policy DP15:1. 

They enable the development of the town centre and Core Strategy Key Sites below 

to be achieved, with suitable retail diversification of existing units, and inappropriate 

planning applications outside of the town centre resisted. Figure 5 that follows shows 

the extent of Dartford’s Primary and Secondary Frontages managed through policies 

DP15 and DP16. It also shows selected Core Strategy provisions including sites and 

the Town Centre Boundary. 

 

  



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

78     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

  

°

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey Dartford Borough Council 100025870  2017

0 100 200 300 40050

Meters

Legend

Primary Frontages

Secondary Frontages

Core Strategy (Diagram 3) Key Sites

Town Centre Boundary

X:\Data_Store\Departmental_Data\Regeneration_Directorate\Planning_Policy\Shopping_Frountages_20151125\01_Project_Files\Shopping_Frountages_A4_Port_20151127.mxd

Figure 5: Dartford Town Centre 

Frontage and Uses Mix 

ELSEWHERE within the Town 

Centre Boundary (outside the 

designated frontage) in the 

areas such as Lowfield Street, 

the western end of Spital 

Street: mixed use areas to 

meet changing needs, and 

possible additional re-

development opportunities. 

Includes housing, transport 

facilities, and businesses, 

contributing to the overall 

success of the town centre.  

 

SECONDARY FRONTAGE 

Outer parts of the designated 

frontage including Prospect 

Place and Hythe Street - a 

variety of active ground floor 

uses, shops and business 

premises with frontages 

conveniently located around 

the town. A retail focus, but 

with a wide range of uses, 

including financial and other 

services. There is particular 

scope for new restaurants 

and leisure facilities, 

especially in the vicinity of 

Hythe Street. Regeneration 

and potentially new 

residential will be encouraged 

through appropriate 

redevelopment and above 

and behind frontages. 

 

PRIMARY FRONTAGE High Street and 

Orchard and Priory Centres - main focus 

for shopping and vitality in the town 

centre, with retail and service uses 

provided through a range of size units and 

varied operators including household 

goods and national retailers such as 

supermarkets, with complementary 

established town centre uses, for example 

banks/ building societies.  

 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

79     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

 Town Centre Vibrancy and Design and Heritage 

12.33 Policy DP15:2 below provides specific provisions to ensure the retail function of 

Dartford is maintained as the town centre evolves, through a focused primary retail 

frontage. The aim is for targeted retail diversification, with a greater choice of 

convenience and comparison shops, supported by suitable retail services. This area 

must develop and maintain a concentrated shopping core at the heart of the town 

centre, with shops, markets and uses to draw people into the High Street, and to 

showcase its historic role and environment. Development should support the town 

centre’s vibrancy as a local destination and community meeting point, with retail 

provision to underpin the range of leisure, cultural and essential services that serve 

the Borough. 

12.34 All of Dartford’s High Street (and its continuation along Spital Street) from East Hill to 

West Hill along the Roman Road of Watling Street, is within the Borough’s largest 

Conservation Area; which also extends south to include the substantially upgraded 

Central Park (Policy DP13:6-7). It will be important to retain and enhance the historic 

fabric and character of the town as set out in Core Strategy Policy CS2:1h, whilst 

maximising development opportunities to revitalise the town centre, especially on the 

opportunity sites identified in the Core Strategy. 

12.35 Improved design of developments should be complemented by enhancements 

across the town centre. This will help provide the sense of vitality and security 

needed to maximise the appeal of moving freely on foot around the town centre, and 

the overall appeal of Dartford as a place to live, shop and visit. Optimisation of the 

setting and access to the River Darent will be strongly encouraged. The contribution 

of development to the public realm, further environmental improvements and 

articulation of the town’s heritage, will be set out further in the Town Centre SPD. 

 Primary Frontage Changes of Use 

12.36 In terms of development management and the retail mix, the Primary Frontage is 

regarded as a key shopping area where it is unlikely that non-retail ground floor uses, 

apart from where set out in Policy DP15 below, will be desirable to the sustainability 

of the centre, its vitality and beneficial regeneration. The High Street and two covered 

shopping centres are designated as Primary Frontages on the Policies Map. In this 

location it is particularly important A1/ A2 retail uses are maintained, with some 

supporting town centre uses present that attract pedestrian footfall, including 

markets, cafes (A3) and pubs (A4). 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

80     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

12.37 There is scope for changes of use within the Primary Frontage in response to market 

demand, whilst retaining a focus on key shopping facilities and services expected 

within a town centre (classes A1/ A2). 

12.38 Policy DP15:2a provides significant flexibility for this by allowing changes to suitable 

use where Class A1/ A2 shops will remain either side. This criterion both ensures the 

majority of existing A1/ A2 units remain, and that retail remains significant across 

component parts of the Primary Frontage. The marketing criterion (DP15:2b) can be 

triggered if significant issues of vacancy arise. The “sufficient effective marketing” 

required in this Plan means continuous proactive marketing as defined in the 

Glossary. 

12.39 With defined centres and up-to-date frontages confirmed on the Policies Map, this 

supports proper consideration of all change of use proposals. According with national 

legislation, this may include ‘prior approvals’ put forward concerning loss of retail 

uses in the key shopping area in central Dartford (see paragraph 12.18). 

Policy DP15: Dartford Town Centre and its Primary Frontages 

1. The revitalisation of Dartford Town Centre as required in Core Strategy policy 

CS2, with major investment through new main town centre uses (including 

retail, leisure, cultural/ entertainment uses, offices, and hotels) will be 

supported. Weight will be given to transformational redevelopment proposals 

that achieve significant enhancements to the quality of the town centre 

through meeting the objectives set out in CS2/ paragraph 2.18 of the Core 

Strategy. Relevant upgrades where of sufficient magnitude to clearly uplift the 

town centre’s performance, would include: 
 

 through providing additional town centre attractions; and 

 enhancing the public realm and heritage assets, and  

 improving vitality by increasing the choice and overall stock of 
modern retail and leisure premises.  

 

2. The Primary Frontage identifies the part of Dartford Town Centre where 

development for A1/ A2 purposes is prioritised. Changes of use to class A3 

and A4, will be permitted in line with policy DP14:5 and where one of the 

following criteria are met: 
 

a) adjacent shops in the frontage (on either side) are both in A1/ A2 
use, or  

 

b) the shop has been shown to not be feasible for A1/ A2 use after 
sufficient effective marketing, and is vacant.   

 

3. Development for other uses in Primary Frontage will normally only be     

permitted in accordance with clause 1 above and also Policy DP14:5. 

 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

81     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

SEE ALSO (Most relevant supporting information): 

 Core Strategy policies: CS2 & CS12. 

 Other policies in this document: DP14, DP15 & DP19. 

 NPPF paragraphs: 23-24. 

Dartford Town Centre’s Secondary Areas 

 

12.40 Outside of the designated Primary Frontage there are several development 

opportunities, plus designated Secondary Frontage also shown on the Policies Map. 

Development proposals that bring forward identified sites in Core Strategy Diagram 3 

and Policy CS2 effectively and promptly, and efficiently reuse land, will be 

encouraged subject to meeting town centre objectives, suitable provision of main 

town centre uses (defined in the NPPF), and careful consideration of conservation 

impacts.  

12.41  This significant part of the town centre should contribute towards the aim of greater 

retail and leisure diversity in the town; and can also provide the benefits of 

residential, office, entertainment and leisure, drinking and dining, and community 

uses and services. Development should recognise that whilst not primary in terms of 

the traditional form of High Street retail provision, some Secondary Frontage makes a 

large contribution to the overall shopping offer of Dartford, for example at Prospect 

Place. 

12.42 Proposals must recognise that Secondary Frontage includes some areas of distinct 

character and potential, including key movement linkages such as Hythe Street. 

Defining features, well used corridors, and points and facilities of orientation must be 

enhanced or created to optimise the operation and legibility of the town centre as a 

whole (see Dartford Town Centre SPD). 

12.43 Main streets, shops and pedestrian routes shown as Secondary Frontage should 

maintain or enhance their viability and vitality. Policy DP16 below supports this 

through new uses to improve street frontages, with A1 retailing, A2 banks, financial 

and professional services, restaurants and cafés (A3), and pubs and bars (A4) 

encouraged. These units will be particularly suitable for new start up enterprises, 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

82     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

creative industries and other innovation, for example specialist and independent or 

smaller local shops.  

12.44  Additionally, business offices (B1), community uses such as clinic, health centres, 

galleries, education and training centres (D1), sports, recreation and leisure facilities 

such as cinemas, bingo hall and gym (D2), hotels (C1) and some sui generis uses for 

visiting members of the public may be acceptable after careful consideration under 

policy DP16:1 and requirements in DP14:5 for best design and usage to maintain 

interest in the street scene. This is providing the nature and character of the use(s) 

proposed will not have an adverse impact on the functioning and amenity of the area 

as set out in other policy. 

12.45 Central Dartford provides an attractive environment for residential investment and for 

the many people who seek to live in a highly convenient and well served location. 

Residential uses can deliver highly beneficial mixed-use redevelopment and bring a 

sense of security and vitality along with increased local expenditure. Development 

can enhance the health of the town centre and deliver regeneration, potentially 

including at ground floor level in suitable locations. Town centre living can appeal to a 

broad age range of people, all wanting to be part of an active and accessible 

community. Residential development should accord with DP15/ DP16 and be of good 

quality design, and also ensure appropriate parking provision in line with the Dartford 

Parking Standards SPD, separate and adequate access to the upper floor, and 

acceptable arrangements for refuse storage and collection. 

12.46 Undesignated areas within the town centre play an important role through being well 

suited to a very broad range of uses, and with the potential to build on transport 

accessibility or some attractive environments in the area. This can accommodate 

commercial, community or cultural development, or in addition to the uses acceptable 

in Secondary Frontage, residential institutions such as care homes (C2) and 

residential development (C3) at ground and upper floors.  These should upgrade the 

street scene, bring additional expenditure into the town and support a more vibrant 

town centre at evenings and weekends. Development should pay close regard to any 

opportunities to enhance the environment of the town centre’s fringes and its 

entrance points. 

 

 

 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

83     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

Policy DP16: Dartford Town Centre’s Secondary Areas 

Secondary Frontage   

  

1. In Dartford Town Centre’s Secondary Frontage, in order to support the vitality 

and viability of the centre, a predominance of A1-A4 uses will be supported.  

Other main town centre uses in the NPPF, as well as other non-residential 

institutions (D1), will be considered with respect to their contribution to the vitality 

and viability of the town centre and taking full account of the following criteria: 

 

a) The objective to retain a predominance of A1-A4 uses 

b) The potential impact of the proposal on the strength of the retail and 
leisure    function with regard to the width of frontage and prominence 
of the location 

c) The ability of the proposal to attract a high footfall during normal 
shopping hours, as compared to alternative active uses, and the 
potential of the use to encourage linked trips 

d) The synergy of the proposed use with other town centre uses 
(including,    where appropriate compliance with DP19 and DP5) 

e) The ability of the proposal to maintain a shop-front 

 Residential uses will be permissible through appropriate redevelopment 
primarily above and behind frontages, where satisfying criteria a) – e). 

 
Non-designated Town Centre Frontage 
 
2. Outside of the designated frontages, a more diverse offer of main town centre 

uses as well as non-residential institutions will be supported, subject to: 

 

a) demonstrating a contribution to improving the vitality and viability of the 
town centre, including through marketing evidence. 

b) demonstrating that the proposal would not result in a concentration of 
any one non-retail or leisure use 

c) compliance with other Local Plan policies. 

 Residential uses will be encouraged as part of a wider mix of active uses,         

subject to promoting active street frontages and a variety of uses at street level. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

84     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

 District Centres 

 

12.47 A network of accessible smaller centres will act as the focus for local convenience 

shopping and community facilities in Dartford Borough outside the centres identified 

in the Core Strategy (with Longfield already identified as the first District Centre in the 

Core Strategy). These centres are important to the sense of place and social 

cohesion of local communities, and help to reduce car dependency by providing 

services close to homes24.  

12.48 It is important that these centres can evolve and diversify as appropriate but continue 

their essential local function. As prominent places within individual neighbourhoods, 

any opportunity to enhance their local environment should be explored in order to 

support their vitality, and to enhance their appearance and operation for pedestrians 

and visitors. Residential use above and potentially behind ground floor shops is 

appropriate, with considerations including provision of suitable access and refuse 

collection arrangements. Frontages designated on the Policies Map, even if not 

currently in retail or active use should, if they come forward for redevelopment, be 

governed by these local centres policies (DP17/ DP18). Particularly in District 

Centres, appropriate mixed use redevelopment may be suitable in line with policy 

where it contributes to the provision of sustainable local shops and overall objectives 

for District Centres. 

12.49 Individual pubs, convenience shops and uses such as post offices (etc.) may be 

protected from changes of use under the Community Facilities Policy (DP21). 

                                                           
 

 

24
 DBC (2016) Local Shopping Report 2015/16. See Chapter 4. 

SEE ALSO (Most relevant supporting information): 

 Core Strategy policies: CS12. 

 Other policies in this document: DP14, DP18, DP19 & DP21. 

 NPPF paragraphs: 37 & 70. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

85     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

12.50 The proposed distribution of District and Neighbourhood Centres is illustrated at 

Figure 5. The extent of each Centre is shown on the Policies Map, and addresses are 

provided at Appendix B.  

12.51 District Centres are broad places of vitality for commercial and community uses. They 

are prominent and accessible areas with public transport, and are located centrally 

within communities or on main roads (benefiting from passing trade). They usually 

form large shopping areas featuring a mix of services for a wider part of the Borough 

than the immediate locality. They provide public and community facilities that draw 

people in such as a library or primary school. They feature a local supermarket, often 

essential retail services (for example a pharmacy) and a relatively good choice of 

food or drink premises. District Centres should remain mostly in retail goods or 

service (Class A1 and A2) use. 

12.52 The six District Centres are regarded as key shopping areas for the Borough where it 

is unlikely that other uses, apart from where set out in this policy, will be desirable to 

the sustainability of the centre and its vitality. They generally form a suitable location 

for local community uses in Class D1, subject to retention of sufficient retail goods 

and service provision and amenity considerations (DP17:1). Any ground floor 

residential use of existing buildings or in redevelopments should be located at the 

rear of premises. 

Policy DP17: District Centres  

1. In order to achieve objectives, including promoting community vitality and 

shopping, shop (A-Class), and community (Class D1) uses in District Centres 

will be permitted, unless:  
 

a) the proposed development would result in less than 50% of the units in   

the  Centre being retained within Class A1/ A2 use, or  

b) a Class A5 use is proposed not in accordance with policy DP19 

2.    Applications for all other ground floor changes of use will only be permitted in 

line with DP14:5 or where the unit is vacant and has been demonstrated to be 

not viable for shop and community use through sufficient effective marketing.  

 
  



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

86     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

Neighbourhood Centres 

 

12.53 Neighbourhood Centres are smaller or medium sized shopping concentrations. They 

are sometimes of contrasting character but are all sufficient to provide day-to-day 

shops of benefit to nearby residents. Neighbourhood Centres are predominantly or 

exclusively in retail use, with some class A1/ A2 shops (including neighbourhood 

convenience shops) complemented in the more sizeable neighbourhood centres by 

other shops such as eating outlets. They are of a walkable scale and location. 

12.54 Retention of class A1/ A2 uses in the sixteen Neighbourhood Centres will ensure a 

network of essential local retailing is retained across the Borough, including for goods 

retailing, and services such as post offices, funeral directors, dry cleaners, sandwich 

bars; plus estate agents and banks (Class A2 no longer includes bookmakers or pay 

day loan companies). 

12.55 The level of convenience provision and other local key uses is normally very limited 

and therefore this should be supported; each Neighbourhood Centre should retain at 

least two Class A1/ A2 retail units within its choice of varied facilities. Proposals must 

support the vitality and particularly diversity (DP18:1a) of the Centre as an accessible 

place to purchase goods, or to utilise shop/ community services. Residential use at 

the ground floor will therefore usually be to the rear of shop units. 

Policy DP18: Neighbourhood Centres 

1. In order to achieve objectives, including maintaining shops and essential 

services for local residents, ground floor changes of use in Neighbourhood 

Centres will be permitted where two or more Class A1/A2 unit(s) are to be 

retained within the Centre, proposals satisfy DP19, and: 

         a)     The prospective use is non-residential and not already provided within the         

centre, and satisfies DP14:5; or 

         b)     The unit is vacant and has been demonstrated to be not viable for retail 

uses through sufficient effective marketing. 

SEE ALSO (Most relevant supporting information): 

 Core Strategy policies: CS12. 

 Other policies in this document: DP14, DP17 & DP19. 

 NPPF paragraphs: 28, 69 & 70. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

87     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

Food and Drink Establishments 

 

12.56 Policies in this Plan provide significant flexibility for diversification within centres. 

Given this, there is a need to ensure no single non-A1 use type creates harm through 

over representation. Criteria are necessary to address potential adverse impacts of 

food and drink uses on the locality and general wellbeing, including residential 

amenity.  

12.57 DP19:1 below provides criteria to be satisfied by all eating and drinking uses, plus 

provisions in DP19:2 for takeaways (Class A5) to also meet to avoid over-

concentrations of these impactful uses in sensitive locations. Planning applications 

may also necessitate consideration of DP5:1.  

Policy DP19: Food and Drink Establishments 

1. Development involving the establishment of any food and drink (A3/ A4/ A5) 

uses in the Borough will only  be permitted where it is demonstrated that criteria 

(a) to (c) below will be met,  including with regard to evidence of potential 

cumulative impacts: 

         a) There will be no material detrimental effects on the residential amenity of 
neighbours; 

         b) There will be no material detrimental effects on the local environmental 
quality as a result of noise, vibration and smells; 

         c) Access, servicing and parking arrangements for the proposal do not result 

in an adverse material impact on the safety and traffic flows or cause 

unacceptable increases to traffic and parking. 

2. The Local Planning Authority will seek to prevent the inappropriate location or 

clustering of takeaway premises. Takeaways (Class A5) will normally be 

permitted only within the development plan’s network of designated centres; 

and permission will not normally be permitted for an A5 unit adjacent to an 

existing or permitted A5 unit (other than at Bluewater). 

SEE ALSO (Most relevant supporting information): 

 Core Strategy policies: CS12. 

 Other policies in this document: DP5, DP15, DP16, DP17 & DP18. 

 NPPF paragraphs: 64 & 171. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

88     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

13. Identified Employment Areas 

 

Economic Strategy 

13.1 The Core Strategy provides for up to 26,500 jobs to 2026. A key element of this is 

optimising the potential of accessible new locations, such as at Ebbsfleet 

International, to attract major new employers. In order to meet this target however, it 

also seeks to manage existing employment areas for B1, B2, B8 and A2 uses (CS7: 

1a to 1d); an aim that continues. It is appropriate for this Plan to set out how and 

where this will occur in line with current national and local principles. 

13.2 The focus on job delivery is succeeding, with 25% growth seen in job levels between 

2009 and 201525. This needs to be maintained as housing development accelerates, 

to meet Core Strategy aims, and to promote Dartford’s very good jobs density 

whereby the population aged 16-64 is matched in number by local jobs (a ratio of 

1.03)26, in contrast to lower densities nationally and in Kent as a whole. 

13.3 In a modern economy, economic development is promoted and planned in a number 

of ways. This policy does not govern all job generating functions (for example one of 

the larger employers in the area, at Bluewater, is a retail use in planning terms, and 

Darenth Valley Hospital and schools are similarly other major employers). There has 

however been investment in offices (Class B1) in some locations, and the Borough’s 

distribution/ warehousing (Class B8) sector has attracted significant development to 

modernise and expand its stock. In relation to other industrial uses, including 

appropriate unclassified (‘sui generis’) functions, policy support remains appropriate 

                                                           
 

 

25
 KCC (2016) Business Register & Employment Survey (BRES) results for 2015. Business 

Intelligence Statistical Bulletin. 
26

 ONS (2016)  Jobs Density Figures for 2015 

SEE ALSO (Most relevant supporting information): 

 Core Strategy policies: CS1, CS7 & CS8. 

 Other policies in this document: DP1, DP3, DP4, DP5, DP6, DP14 & 

DP15. 

 NPPF paragraphs: 19, 21, 28, 35 & 123. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

89     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

given pressures to redevelop industrial land elsewhere, notably in London; and the 

Borough’s good strategic road network.  

13.4 The NPPF encourages Local Plans to proactively enable economic development, 

including the identification of areas for economic regeneration and sites to 

accommodate growth, and through policies with suitable flexibility.  The Dartford 

Development Plan, including at Policy CS8 and its six broad growth sectors, takes 

this positive approach and will maintain the Borough’s successful record of attracting 

jobs and business investment. The planning system now includes a number of 

mechanisms to switch employment land to other uses if it is not needed, and this 

builds in significant flexibility. It may mean that some changes such as the conversion 

of office uses to residential will occur without Local Plan policy applying. 

13.5 Policy DP20 below aims for suitable development/ retention of identified employment 

(predominantly office/ industrial/ warehousing) areas and management of associated 

businesses. This supports the ongoing strategy of coordinating other uses such as 

infrastructure and housing around supporting job creation, and providing employers 

with a sufficient, well located and well trained labour supply. The policy builds in 

further development opportunities from the Core Strategy to allow necessary 

strategic change to occur and for some suitable diversification (DP20:2-5). 

Developments should provide some small business units to support small or medium 

sized enterprises in the Borough wherever possible.   

13.6 The areas where this policy would apply are set out in Figure 6 and on the Policies 

Map. They have been identified selectively, but include both high quality business 

parks such as Crossways and The Bridge, attracting major investment and 

employment. A choice of established clusters of business premises in the rural area 

is also provided27. 

  

                                                           
 

 

27
 DBC (2016) Identified Employment Areas Final (June 2016) 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

90     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Crossways

The Bridge

Questor

Manor Way

Northfleet

Burnham Road

Riverside 

Rochester Way

Orbital One

Victoria Rd and the Base

WestwoodMalt House Farm

West Hill

St Margaret's
Pinden End

Dewlands 

Darenth Hill

Princes Road/Watling St

Galley Hill
Newtown

London Road

M
2
5

New Barn

Longfield

Hawley

Joydens wood

Swanscombe

Bluewater

Greenhithe

Bean

Darenth

Dartford

°

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey Dartford Borough Council 100025870  2015

0 1 2 3 40.5

Km

X:\Data_Store\Departmental_Data\Regeneration_Directorate\Planning_Policy\1995LP_Updates_20150916\01_Project_Files\01_OV_ Employment_Sites_PNT_A4_Land_20151230.mxd

Figure 6: Identified Employment Areas 

*See Policies Map for precise boundaries 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

91     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

13.7  The areas also include popular but potentially lower value estates hosting essential 

functions such as at Rochester Way. Many accommodate important but incompatible 

‘bad neighbour’ business uses, often located with good access to the M25 and A2(T). 

Their lower current monetary value is relevant to the need to recognise the role of the 

Borough in providing jobs and relatively affordable industrial land for the wider area, 

including London.  

13.8 Dartford Town Centre is a highly sustainable and suitable location for office (A2/ B1) 

uses and is a priority for regeneration (see policies DP15 and DP16 or the Core 

Strategy) with very good public transport and labour market accessibility, a choice of 

development sites and existing provision, and with a range of supporting services.  

13.9 Employment is best located where it has appropriate transport links. For office uses 

this means good public transport links, whereas for major industrial and B8 uses this 

necessitates good distributor road access and/ or strategic road access, or river 

access where appropriate (see CS6:1e for example). 

 Job Generating Uses and Impacts 

13.10 Employment locations shown on the Policies Map generally include warehousing or 

industrial businesses, and at some, office uses. Given the value placed on Dartford 

as a nationally accessible and attractive location for business uses, they are all 

regarded as important for providing storage or distribution services or industrial 

services (or a mix of these services) and therefore it is unlikely alternative uses would 

be acceptable (DP20:2). Residential use is likely to have an adverse impact on the 

sustainability of providing these business services, that evidence suggests are 

important. This evidence could also inform considerations for proposals made under 

Class P of the GPDO 201528.  

13.11 Smaller non-identified employment sites, and businesses located across the rural 

area can still play an important role in providing affordable and popular business land 

and premises, and any proposed loss should be carefully considered against national 

policy and the Core Strategy. 

                                                           
 

 

28
 HMSO (2015) General Permitted Development Order 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

92     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

13.12 Where in line with Policy DP20:4, small scale walk-to facilities and services that 

support the functioning of identified employment areas, such as workplace childcare 

facilities, sandwich shops and cafés, and small-scale retail uses, will generally be 

permitted providing that they do not adversely affect the status or operation of the 

employment area. In assessing the suitability of these supporting uses, the lack of 

existing provision, and scale of local employment, will be considered as part of 

determining if need exists, to prevent a proliferation of these supporting uses, 

especially where this may harm the vitality and viability of nearby centres or the town 

centre. 

13.13  The sale of goods from employment premises may generally be acceptable (see 

DP20:5) where the facility is ancillary to the main use29. Where direct sales from a 

trade counter are proposed as part of a development the amount of floorspace 

permitted for display associated with trade sales, including a trade counter, will be 

limited to ensure it remains ancillary to the primary function of the site and does not 

harm the vitality and viability of nearby centres or the town centre. Customer parking 

will also need to be provided as set out in the Parking Standards SPD. The provision 

of retail warehousing on employment areas will be resisted in line with Policy DP14:5 

to protect employment locations, and town centres. 

13.14 There are some industries and activities that can, by their very nature, be a source of 

localised environmental problems and nuisance, making them incompatible with 

more sensitive neighbouring uses, such as residential development. Nevertheless, 

such industries and activities satisfy a market demand and can sometimes be an 

important source of employment. Examples of such activities include paint spraying, 

scrap yards or waste transfer.  There has been a move towards providing certain 

types of incompatible uses, such as waste transfer and waste to power facilities, 

within enclosed buildings to reduce the visual and amenity issues associated with 

them. Such uses will be supported on employment areas where the use and any 

associated storage facilities are enclosed and contained to prevent conflict between 

uses or unacceptable impacts (DP20:1). 

                                                           
 

 

29
 Ancillary use is defined on the Planning Portal as ‘a subsidiary or secondary use or operation 

closely associated with the main use of a building or piece of land. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

93     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

13.15 In relation to the specific form of industrial developments, they should be sited and 

designed to minimise impacts on the health and amenity of adjoining uses and to 

ensure the compatible operation of different activities within employment areas. 

Conversely, employment areas and uses should be protected from encroachment by 

adjoining uses that would impede the continuation of existing industrial activity. All 

development should maintain or enhance the visual amenity of employment areas. 

Well located and good quality landscaping within and at the exterior of sites should 

be provided as appropriate. 

 

Commercial premises and landscaping at Crossways Business Park 

 

 

 

 

 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

94     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

Policy DP20: Identified Employment Areas  

1. Identified Employment Areas are important for providing storage, industrial and 

distribution services, and other business uses. Development for B-class and 

industrial sui generis uses will be permitted at these locations where industrial 

development provides for the compatible operation of different activities within 

the employment area (e.g. by enclosing industrial processes or other 

measures). Development should minimise adverse impacts on adjoining uses, 

local character and the environment. Proposals must be acceptable with regard 

to hours of operation, traffic, noise, fumes, smell, dust, paint or other chemical 

over-spray, vibration, glare or light spill, electronic interference, or other harmful 

or nuisance creating material impacts (also see DP5) on neighbours or 

environmental assets. 

2. At the Identified Employment Areas development for non B-class/ industrial sui 

generis uses will be permitted only where satisfying the following clauses (3-5) 

of this policy. 

Redevelopment on Core Strategy Priority Areas 

3. In the Borough’s three Priority Areas (Core Strategy policy CS1) redevelopment 

at Identified Employment Areas will be permitted only where it is clearly shown 

that significant overriding local economic and job benefits will be achieved, and 

also that any loss or re-location of existing employment uses is clearly justified. 

Ancillary Facilities 

4. Small scale and well located walk-to facilities and services that are 

demonstrated to be critical to the functioning of Identified Employment Areas, 

such as workplace childcare facilities, sandwich shops and cafés, and small-

scale convenience retail uses, will normally be supported providing they do not, 

individually or cumulatively, adversely affect the status or operation of the 

employment area or harm the vitality and viability of nearby centres or the town 

centre. 

5. Employment (B-class) proposals involving an element of direct sales will 

normally be supported only where all of the following criteria are met: 

        a) it is ancillary and subservient to the main employment use, and shown to 

take only the minimum space required; 

        b) it does not harm the vitality and viability of nearby centres or Dartford town   

centre;  

        c) it is sited at the front of the building with direct and convenient pedestrian 

access from the main visitor parking area.       

 

 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

95     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

14. Securing Community Facilities 

 

Community Facilities Need 

14.1 Well-located social and community facilities and services help people, including 

vulnerable groups, to meet their day-to-day needs locally. This contributes to the 

sense of community through encouraging active neighbourhoods and face to face 

interaction; moreover it promotes the use of sustainable and inclusive forms of 

movement and transport. Provision of these facilities provides the basis for 

communities to flourish and for residents to enjoy a good local environment and 

quality of life. 

14.2 Well located and timely community service provision is therefore a particularly 

important Core Strategy principle, and Policy CS21 (1a-f) will be fully implemented 

with regard to new facilities, especially given the need to ensure major developments 

now commencing have appropriate supporting services in place before completion. 

14.3 Existing major community buildings in the Borough include a number of libraries, 

Dartford Museum, the Orchard Theatre, the Mick Jagger Centre, a community 

football stadium at Princes Park, the Judo Centre at Stone Lodge, Acacia Hall Sports 

and Social Club, Fairfield Pool and Leisure Centre, and the cricket Pavilion at 

Hesketh Park. Community facilities will be maintained under this policy, although 

other provisions, for instance for sports pitches (see Policy DP24), will also apply. 

14.4 Community facilities encompass buildings and spaces used for a variety of 

community purposes, including the health, welfare, social, educational, spiritual, and 

cultural needs of the community. These include: post offices; health centres; dentists, 

children’s centres; schools and further education facilities; space for the arts; 

museums; libraries; community halls and other public meeting venues; theatres; 

cinemas; indoor-based sports and recreation facilities; cemeteries; crematoria and 

places of worship. The term ‘community facilities’ in this policy covers all social, 

SEE ALSO (Most relevant supporting information): 

 Core Strategy policies: CS2, CS3, CS4, CS5, CS6, CS9, CS21 & CS26. 

 Other policies in this document: DP5, DP17, DP18 & DP24. 

 NPPF paragraphs: 28, 69, 70 & 162. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

96     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

community, built sports/ recreation and cultural facility types as set out in the 

glossary. 

14.5 This definition includes facilities often valued by the community, such as public 

houses and post offices that are well-established within the locality (including those 

listed or under consideration for listing as Assets of Community Value) where there is 

a reasonable possibility of the building being reused to provide community services. 

14.6 The retention and improvement of local community facilities is particularly important 

in rural villages, where local services are often limited and travel to services outside 

local villages may be of greater distance and less well served by public transport than 

in urban locations. The retention of these facilities is also fundamental in supporting 

village communities by providing residents with opportunity for formal and informal 

meeting and socialising, such as local shops, village halls, sports venues, public 

houses and places of worship. Such facilities are, however, also important in the 

urban area, where they can meet the needs of growing neighbourhoods and help 

maintain and establish strong local communities – not always easily achieved in the 

urban context. 

14.7 Where possible, existing facilities should be retained to provide their community 

function. This is of central importance given the prospect that population growth may 

increase need in future, and the challenges in re-providing facilities or re-forming 

organisations in other locations. 

 Applying Community Facility Policies 

14.8 DP21:2 below sets out that the loss of community facilities will only be permitted 

where they are no longer needed by the local community and that the facility or land 

has no reasonable prospect of the site being viably reused to provide the same or 

other type of community use. Justification of loss of facilities must take account of 

evidence from infrastructure planning documents, local needs studies or calculations, 

and sufficient evidence provided that alternative solutions have been explored. 

14.9 Planning decisions will reflect on the need/ demand for the facility, and the following 

outline some considerations in implementing Policy DP21: 

 The size, range and quality of existing facilities, specialist provision, 

accessibility and catchment. 

 The importance of the facility in meeting the needs of all or specific 

sections of the community taking into account current comparable 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

97     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

provision, established benchmarks and robust assessments of 

need.  Facilities designed within larger developments should be of a form 

and location to meet varied needs and support a sense of community. For 

instance they should enable different groups to mix in their communities 

throughout different stages of life, such as those with young children and 

the elderly. 

 Whether the particular needs/ demand addressed by the facility can be 

adequately met by another existing or replacement comparable 

community facility within a reasonable distance of the existing, and where 

relevant new catchment. 

  

14.10 Alternative solutions should include a full search for another operator/ provider, and 

where applicable, exploration of appropriate community based solutions such as 

potential for listing as an Asset of Community Value and the potential for the 

community to actively manage and maintain the facility/ land.  All aspects of evidence 

should take account of planned growth in the Borough as appropriate. Any marketing 

should meet the requirements set out in the Glossary to be shown as sufficient 

effective marketing.  

14.11 The substantial growth in Dartford must be supported by a policy of retention of 

sufficient land to meet identified community needs in the right place. The scale of 

growth over the plan period entails the provision of major new facilities; including 

some vital facilities to serve development delivered over a relatively wide timeframe, 

broad geographic area and serving a collection of sites and communities (further 

details and requirements are set out in CS21 and the Dartford Infrastructure Delivery 

Plan). 

14.12 Given these facts, the long term nature of the Core Strategy could result in 

community provision not always being made, in agreement with service providers, 

within each individual developer’s site or in the early phases of development, despite 

need/ demand being generated. As a result, there can be uncertainty and 

development pressure in the interim. The Core Strategy recognises that infrastructure 

will be managed (see Policy CS26) and phased. Interim arrangements may also be 

necessitated (see Policy CS21, particularly CS21:1c). 

14.13 Proposals for higher value uses to be constructed on land identified for community 

facilities should therefore be resisted, as highlighted within Policy DP21:3 below. It 

sets out that safeguarding must apply where specific community facilities have been 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

98     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

planned (through Section 106 and other legal agreements, set within approved 

planning consents, requirements in Core Strategy policy and diagrams, and the 

Borough’s Infrastructure Delivery Plan). Development should not occur that 

jeopardises the delivery of facilities that will prove essential to the Borough 

accommodating substantial long-term growth, unless by agreement between the 

Local Planning Authority, the responsible body for provision of the infrastructure in 

question, and the landowner. 

14.14 New provision and extensions to existing facilities should be designed to avoid 

unnecessary adverse impacts on residential amenity and the local environment, with 

considerations including the range of potential impacts within Policy DP5. 

Policy DP21: Securing Community Facilities  

1. New community facilities will be permitted where they are in an appropriate 

location and of a type and scale to reflect the needs of the communities they 

will serve. Strategic scale developments should normally provide social and 

community facilities; with land secured until a facility is in operation as set out in 

clause 3 below. 

2. Development of existing community facilities/ land (as defined in the glossary) 

for non-community purposes will not be permitted unless there is clear 

evidence that:  

 

a) the facility is shown to be not needed by the community (both current 

and  future planned users), and  

b) all reasonable efforts have been made to preserve a community use, 

including exploration of appropriate solutions to retain the facility with 

operators/ service providers and where appropriate the local 

community. Consideration should include any potential future demand 

arising from new development located within the catchment area of the 

facility/ use.    

3. Specific land that has been earmarked for community facilities through planning 

obligations, other formal agreements, approved planning consents or identified 

in Local Plan/ SPDs or other statutory documents will be safeguarded until a 

community facility is delivered or agreement is reached that land for a 

community use will not be required. 

 

  



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

99     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

15. The Green and Open Space Network 

 

This chapter contains multiple policies:  

 DP22: Green Belt in Dartford Borough 

 DP23: Protected Local Green Space  

 DP24: Open Space and Green Grid 

 DP25: Nature Conservation and Enhancement  

 

 Green Belt in Dartford Borough 

 

 The Green Belt’s Role in Borough Strategy 

15.1 Dartford’s Green Belt has benefited from long term national and local policy 

protection which has restricted inappropriate development. Core Strategy Policy 

CS13 ensures the permanence of the Green Belt and recognises Dartford’s Green 

Belt as important for recreation and an ecological resource providing green networks 

that link with the urban area. Policy DP22 sets out development management criteria 

for the Green Belt, including for recreation uses, and also includes criteria in relation 

to agricultural uses. 

15.2 The Green Belt is essentially characterised by the openness of the land. An outcome 

of this has been to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment and, to 

some extent, contributing to preserving the setting and historic character of some 

villages and rural settlements in the Borough. Moreover, the Green Belt has 

protected Dartford’s valuable agricultural land. Local policy for retention of best 

quality land includes in DP22:9 below. 

SEE ALSO (Most relevant supporting information): 

 Core Strategy policies: CS13. 

 Other policies in this document: DP23. 

 NPPF paragraphs: 80, 87-91 & 112. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

100     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

15.3 The extent of Green Belt that was associated with Borough-wide spatial strategy 

(Policy CS1), and that will continue to apply, is defined on the Policies Map. Nearly all 

of Dartford’s countryside lies within the Green Belt, and the key principles set out in 

Core Strategy Policy CS13:1a and 2 remain of outmost importance, along with the 

national policy.  The Green Belt is vital to development management and contributing 

to the strategy of urban regeneration and delivery of the Priority Areas set out in the 

Core Strategy. 

15.4  There is a close relationship between protection of the openness of the Green Belt 

and conservation of the visual quality and character of the countryside landscape. 

The Green Belt can also provide opportunities for potential open space and nature 

conservation enhancements, and open space projects in the Green Grid are listed in 

Policy CS13:1b. Woodland, hedgerows and rural lanes are further aspects of the 

countryside character that are valued and should be retained and enhanced. 

15.5 Policy criteria here can also apply to the Protected Local Green Spaces (Policy 

DP23) identified on the Policies Map.  

 Buildings in the Green Belt 

15.6 The NPPF recognises that the construction of new buildings is generally 

inappropriate in the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special 

circumstances. National policy (NPPF paragraphs 89 to 90) sets out developments 

that may not be inappropriate. Some exceptions which may not be inappropriate 

include: limited extensions and suitable replacement buildings; new buildings for 

agriculture, woodland, and facilities for outdoor sport and recreation; new buildings at 

cemeteries; limited infilling in villages in the Green Belt; limited affordable housing for 

local community needs, and limited infilling or redevelopment of previously developed 

sites. Whilst these types of development may not be inappropriate, overall they 

should not conflict with the preservation of the openness and purposes of the Green 

Belt. 

15.7 The extension of buildings, provided they are of limited size, may not be 

inappropriate in the Green Belt. In some cases, they may be necessary to maintain 

the viability of existing uses. Replacement buildings need not be inappropriate 

provided that the replacement is not materially larger than the building it replaces, 

remains in the same use, and the open character of the Green Belt is maintained. 

Local policy on extension or replacement of buildings in the Green Belt includes 

DP22:6 and DP22:7 below. In support of the Core Strategy objective to protect and 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

101     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

enhance the character of the Green Belt, such development must be sensitively 

located and designed. 

 Equine and Recreation Uses in the Green Belt 

15.8 As addressed in policy DP22:11 and 12 below and elsewhere, the Green Belt acts as 

an important recreational resource for a range of activities, including walking, cycling 

and riding. The network of routes identified in the Core Strategy as part of the Green 

Grid, links together open spaces and routes across the Borough, in particular, from 

the urban areas in the north to the countryside in the south. Designated public rights 

of way, footpaths, cycleways and bridleways limit the impact of these uses on the 

countryside and Green Belt, whilst allowing nearby urban and rural residents to make 

good use of the Green Belt.  

15.9 To manage proposed equine uses and structures in the Green Belt, provisions are 

set out at DP22:13 below. This requires suitable land and an acceptable location. 

Sufficient land should be available for grazing plus a separately fenced exercise area, 

proportionate to the quantity of horses. Lighting arrangements should be designed to 

avoid adverse environmental impacts, and the stable building, food/ bedding stores 

and manure bay should not be in the proximity of neighbours where it would have a 

significant adverse impact on their residential amenity. Keeping or stabling of riding 

horses should be in reasonable proximity to bridleways or suitable riding facilities, 

e.g. a large paddock. 

15.10 Equine development should be environmentally acceptable. Appropriate hedges with 

protective fencing or other fencing must be provided and maintained. Proposals for 

erection of stables should include details of an area appropriately designed and sited 

for the reception of soiled bedding material. Additionally, in areas particularly 

sensitive to pollution of groundwater, it is essential for stables to be connected to a 

main drainage system or cesspool. Safe and sufficient provision for access and 

parking should be made for equine vehicles.  

  



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

102     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

Policy DP22: Green Belt in the Borough 

1. Dartford’s Green Belt is shown on the Policies Map, and its essential 

characteristics are its openness and permanence. Inappropriate development 

in the Green Belt will be resisted in accordance with national planning policy. 

2. Inappropriate development is by definition harmful to the Green Belt and will 

only be approved in very special circumstances. Very special circumstances 

will not exist unless potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of 

inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other 

considerations. 

3. In assessing other harm, the Local Planning Authority will use the following 

criteria: 

a) the extent of intensification of the use of the site; 

b) the impact of an increase in activity and disturbance resulting from the     

development, both on and off the site, including traffic movement and 

parking, light pollution and noise;  

c) the impact on biodiversity and wildlife; 

d) the impact on visual amenity or character taking into account the extent 

of screening required; 

e) impacts arising from infrastructure required by the development. 

4. Where developments are considered not inappropriate in line with national 

planning policy, they will be supported where they contribute to the Core 

Strategy (CS13) policy objective of conserving the Green Belt as a recreational, 

ecological and agricultural resource. Such developments will also be assessed 

against the following clauses where applicable. 

Re-use of Buildings 

5. Applications for re-use should relate to lawful permanent buildings of 

substantial construction. They should take into account the character and scale 

of the existing building(s). In circumstances where character and scale are 

important to the local setting, excessive external alterations and additions will 

not be permitted. 

Replacement Buildings 

6. The replacement of a building will be permitted where: 

a) The replacement building remains in the same use; and 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

103     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

b) The replacement building will not be materially larger than the existing 

 building it replaces, taking into account bulk, height, massing and 

scale. As a replacement, the building should be limited to an expansion 

of no more than 30% volume of the original30 building. 

Extensions to Buildings 

7. Extensions to buildings will be permitted where: 

a) They are proportionate and subservient in appearance, bulk, massing 

and    scale of the original building; and 

b) The proposal would not result in a disproportionate addition to the 

original building. The extension must constitute no more than a 30% 

volumetric increase over and above the original building, and 

maximising the footprint of the building will not be appropriate in every 

circumstance. 

Infilling or Redevelopment of Previously Developed Sites 

8.  Proposals should not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt 

and the purpose of including land within it than the existing development. 

Developments that lead to over-intensification of the site will not be permitted. 

Agricultural Development 

9.  Development should not result in the loss of the best and most versatile 

agricultural land and should not impede the continuation of a lawfully existing 

agricultural development and/ or land use. 

10. The change of use of an agricultural building should, where planning 

permission is required, demonstrate it is no longer needed for its current or 

intended agricultural use and should not result in a need to create any further 

building(s) to replace it. 

11. New agricultural buildings will be permitted where it can be demonstrated that 

there is a need for the proposed development and where they are sited and 

designed to minimise their impacts as outlined in Clause 3. 

12. Proposals for farm diversification, including shops, processing, workshops or 

sports and recreation, should be ancillary to the existing main use. It should be 

demonstrated that the activity is related to the main farm use and that the 

proposal will not create the need for new buildings or supporting infrastructure 

and facilities that may harm rural character. 

                                                           
 

 

30
 Original building means a building as it existed on 1 July 1948 where it was built before that date, 

and as it was built when initially built after that date. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

104     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

Equine Development 

13. Proposals for the use of land for horses or for the erection of stables and 

associated facilities and/ or operational development will be carefully 

considered. Assessment will include the location/ layout of all structures; and 

quality of the provision and landscaping proposed. 

Development for Outdoor Sport and Recreation 

14. Proposals for outdoor sport and recreation should not materially impact on the 

character and amenity of the locality or result in the deterioration of the land, 

landscape or biodiversity. The scale, siting, design, use and level of activity of 

built recreation development will be taken into account when assessing the 

impact of a proposal. 

15. Supporting infrastructure and facilities should not unacceptably harm local 

character. They should be directly associated with the main use and be of a 

scale, quality and design to minimise their impact. 

 

Green Belt land looking from New Barn towards the Thames  



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

105     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

Protected Local Green Space  

 

15.11 Protected Local Green Space (PLGS) identifies those open spaces that have special 

characteristics that make them very important places for local communities. 

Paragraph 76 of the NPPF sets out that these valued areas can be given special 

protection through designation in a Local or Neighbourhood Plan. 

15.12 A limited proportion of open land has been identified on the Policies Map as PLGS 

across the Borough. In order to qualify for designation the spaces are close to the 

community served, local in character and not extensive; and special in the 

comparative neighbourhood context due to reasons such as their particular 

tranquillity or beauty, or highly distinct recreational value, relative to alternatives in 

the locality31. PLGS principles are consistent with the Core Strategy’s Green Grid, 

and they form a special part of it, benefitting from robust planning policy protection. 

 15.13 The protection afforded to these designated areas of open space equates to that of 

Green Belt, and they are all located outside Green Belt designated land.  

Development proposals on PLGS land will generally be considered inappropriate 

unless very special circumstances are shown to exist, as set out in national and local 

policy.  

 

 

                                                           
 

 

31
 DBC (2016) Dartford Open Space Report 2015/16 Final. See Chapters 3-5. 

SEE ALSO (Most relevant supporting information): 

 Core Strategy policies: CS13, CS14, CS22 & CS24. 

 Other policies in this document: DP22, DP24 & DP25. 

 NPPF paragraphs: 74, 76-78 & 123. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

106     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

Policy DP23: Protected Local Green Space  

1.   Selected open spaces are designated on the Policies Map as Protected Local 

Green Space (PLGS) to maintain their openness and special local role. PLGS 

should continue to provide non-extensive high quality informal recreation/ 

relatively calm green spaces, to support attractive, distinctive and sustainable 

neighbourhoods.  

2.   Development of PLGS in Dartford Borough will not be permitted unless very 

special circumstances apply, considering national and Dartford green belt 

policy (particularly DP22:1-3 and DP22:14-15). 

 

 

 

 

Ingress Abbey 

PLGS, Greenhithe  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

St Edmunds 

Pleasance PLGS, 

Newtown, Dartford   



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

107     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

Open Space 

 

 Open Space Strategy 

15.14 The Core Strategy (including policies CS13 and CS14) has established a strategic 

network of largely multi-functional green space, including playing pitches and 

biodiversity spaces. This is to be managed and enhanced including through new on-

site provision in developments. This strategic green space approach is now 

complemented through development management criteria. These provide for 

appropriate protection of the many existing green/ open spaces with significance to 

the Borough and its communities.  

15.15 Core Strategy Policy CS14:1a-c sets out objectives for expanded multi-functional 

green space guided by the principles of a Green Grid in the Borough. This sets policy 

requirements for all new developments to fulfil, in particular the minimum proportion 

of land to be provided as part of the greenspace of new developments over two 

hectares (CS14:1b), and must include provision for specific types of green space and 

water bodies to cater for diverse community needs (CS14:1c). Along with new and 

enhanced public open space including sports and playspace provision, Policy 

CS14:1d additionally identifies a range of further major greenspace improvements to 

be delivered. The Green Grid is based on the principle that open space that is 

multifunctional will usually result in optimal benefits for residents and participants of 

formal and informal sport and recreation.  

15.16 Core Strategy Policy CS14:1e sets out the principle of “protecting and enhancing 

existing open [and other] spaces…” in the context of a plentiful supply of planned 

development sites (predominantly brownfield and despoiled land). This protective 

requirement should be achieved through the specific provisions set out in this Plan 

and the Policies Map, as required by in Policy CS14:2. 

SEE ALSO (Most relevant supporting information): 

 Core Strategy policies: CS14, & CS18. 

 Other policies in this document: DP22 & DP23. 

 NPPF paragraphs: 74. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

108     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

 Managing the Retention of Open Spaces 

15.17 Policy DP24 below reflects that retention of sufficient quantity and quality of existing 

local green/ open space is an important requirement of development management 

policies, and is underpinned by supporting evidence to the Core Strategy and further 

updates such as the Playing Pitch Strategy32.  It complements the protection afforded 

to strategic open spaces with Green Belt equivalent local and national policy 

protection (see DP22 and DP23). Policy DP24:1 covers outdoor sports facilities, 

recreation and play spaces, parks, plus many other open spaces providing benefit 

and defined on the Policies Map as “Borough Open Space”33. The policy also covers 

other unidentified playing fields and sports pitches as applicable, where it is 

particularly important to have regard to national policy. 

15.18 In line with NPPF paragraph 74, the presumption is against building on open space, 

sports or outdoor recreation land. DP24:1 sets out that development will only be 

permissible in two circumstances on Borough Open Space. DP24:1a is aimed to 

allow flexibility where development is intended to enhance the existing function of the 

open space, for example where ancillary buildings or improved facilities are proposed 

to benefit the open space. This could include supporting facilities for outdoor sport/ 

recreation, for example changing rooms. DP24:1b addresses circumstances where 

loss of an existing open space or sports pitch may be acceptable. 

15.19 In relation to DP24:1b, any residential proposals would have to consider both the 

green/ open space provision to be made reflecting both the existing function and, in 

addition, the provision to be made to meet the needs of the new occupiers/ 

development. The scale of provision required to meet demand from new 

development under the Core Strategy is expected to be additional to any retained or 

replacement provision under DP24. Where the proposal involves loss of sports or 

green spaces this must be demonstrated through robust evidence that it is surplus to 

existing and future requirements. The importance of the sports or green space should 

be tested through exploration of alternative operators and appropriate community 

based solutions, for example the potential for community management or 

                                                           
 

 

32
 DBC (2016) Playing Pitch Study 2016 

33
 DBC (2016) Dartford Open Space Report 2015/16 Final. See Chapter 6. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

109     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

maintenance of the facility or land. Any marketing should meet the requirements set 

out in the Glossary to be shown as sufficient effective marketing. 

15.20 For current public amenity space that is not identified on the Policies Map, DP24:2 

sets out development management criteria. This recognises there could be a need in 

some instances to retain more localised open spaces such those of communal value 

on residential estates, greenspace of local but distinct landscape merit, or 

neighbourhood facilities for play or rest enjoyed by residents. This need will be more 

acute where there is limited usable alternative provision in the neighbourhood 

accessible on foot, or alternative provision is of demonstrably inferior quality or size. 

Regard will be given to the need for the development proposed as set out in national 

policy and Local Plan policies. 

Policy DP24: Open Space 

1. Development on playing fields, sports pitches, and any land shown on the 
Policies Map as Borough Open Space, will not  be permitted unless it is 
clearly demonstrated that one of the following criteria is satisfied:   
 

a) Where the sports/ open/ green space will be retained in its current 
primary function, with development limited to a small proportion of land, 
the proposal must support or enhance the existing space in this overall 
role. The proposal must not lead to any significant loss or deterioration 
in quantity and level of open space/ recreational provision.   

 

b) Where development will result in a significant loss in the quantity of 
open space or loss of sports pitches, replacement provision will be 
delivered within accessible walking distance of the site; unless it is 
clearly demonstrated that the existing provision is surplus to current and 
future requirements for sports and recreation in the locality and the 
Borough, the amenity and health/ wellbeing of residents and/ or 
biodiversity. The replacement must be shown to be of an equivalent 
type and of equal or greater quantity and quality to that being lost. 

 

2. Development of non-designated public amenity space will only be permitted 
where a convincing case is made in justification. This must take account of:  

 

a) the qualitative and quantitative value of the existing function in 
providing  usable open space, relative to the value of alternative 
provision easily available in the locality, and; 

 

b) national policy and the benefits/ dis-benefits demonstrated to arise 
from   the specific development proposal. 

 
 

  



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

110     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

Nature Conservation and Enhancement  

 

15.21 The Core Strategy ensures the Borough’s nature conservation role is maintained and 

enhanced through protection of Green Belt countryside as a whole (CS13), and 

through the principle in CS14:1e of protecting a  network of green spaces across the 

Borough (as indicatively shown on Figure 7 below). 

15.22 As shown on the Policies Map and addressed in Policy DP25:1 below, Dartford 

contains a number of nature conservation sites which are designated as being of 

national or local importance. In line with NPPF paragraph 118, the strongest weight 

of protection will be applied to those sites of national importance which primarily 

comprise SSSIs, and also Ancient Woodlands. However significant weight will also 

be given to the protection of sites with local designation (such as Local Wildlife Sites 

or Local Nature Reserves) where it is considered that there may be adverse impacts 

arising from development proposals. 

15.23 There are a number of important wetlands and water bodies in the Borough, including 

the River Darent and Dartford Marshes. It is considered that protecting and improving 

the ecological quality of these components will contribute to achieving the objectives 

of the Water Framework Directive and the Darent Management Catchment Plan. 

Developments closely located to river courses should consider impacts on water 

bodies and identify appropriate avoidance, mitigations and/ or enhancements. This 

could include measures such as recreating the ecology of rivers and wetlands where 

this has been lost and/ or establishing a significant natural habitat barrier to water 

bodies.  

SEE ALSO (Most relevant supporting information): 

 Core Strategy policies: CS14. 

 Other policies in this document: DP8 & DP24. 

 NPPF paragraphs: 109 116, 118 & 119. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

111     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

15.24 In general, it is expected that development should seek to avoid and mitigate any 

adverse impact on existing biodiversity features, including designated sites and BAP 

habitats34, habitat networks, protected species and the ecological condition of 

waterbodies. Where impacts cannot be avoided, they should be mitigated and, as a 

last resort, loss or damage should be compensated. As highlighted in CS14:1e, 

addressing biodiversity issues on brownfield sites will continue to be led by survey 

data. 

15.25  Policy DP25:5 recognises trees are part of the Green Grid Network and contribute to 

increasing resilience to climate change, improving air quality and creating and 

transforming the appearance of the urban environment. Trees will continue to be 

safeguarded; development proposals will be assessed for retention and provision of 

appropriate new trees in relation to the site and wider environmental context. 

Proposals must set out appropriate planting and management strategies to ensure 

survival and mitigation achieved including replacement where new trees fail to 

establish. The contribution of existing tree groupings such as the existing tree lined 

ridges which form an important visual component to the setting of Dartford Town 

Centre will be a material consideration in relevant development proposals. 

 The Green Grid and Opportunity Areas 

15.26 Some areas of Dartford have been identified as having good potential for biodiversity 

improvement and as having potential to assist in connecting separate nature 

conservation sites and diverse wildlife and habitats. Biodiversity Opportunity Areas 

(BOAs) have been identified throughout the Borough as being those that provide the 

best focus for biodiversity action. The BOAs include a variety of statutory and non-

statutory wildlife sites, woodland, lakes, marshes, heathland and brownfield sites 

which are known to provide important habitats for invertebrates. These sites are set 

in an area which is fragmented by urban development and transport corridors. 

15.27 Planning policy can play a vital role by retaining the important ecological role these 

sites and habitats perform, potentially alongside development, through requiring 

mitigation measures to address adverse impacts and ensuring that new development 

contributes to the creation of new habitats and corridors that connect these sites. 

Specific requirements regarding mitigation and enhancement are set in DP25:2-3. 

                                                           
 

 

34
 Kent Habitat Survey 2012 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

112     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

New Barn 
Longfield 

Hawley 
Joydens wood 

Swanscombe 

Bluewater 

Greenhithe 

Bean 

Darenth 

Dartford 

° 

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey Dartford Borough Council 100025870  2015 
0 1 2 3 4 0.5 

Km 

X:\Data_Store\Departmental_Data\Regeneration_Directorate\Planning_Policy\Strategic_Open_Space_Newtork_20151201\01_Project_Files\01_BOS_Diagram_A4_Land_20160120mxd.mxd 

Principal Green Grid link 
Important water bodies, rivers 
and habitats 
Designated nature conservation 
and open space areas 
Green Belt 

Figure 7: Indication of Green Space and Links 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

113     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

15.28 The existing Green Grid Network incorporating ecological sites provides the principal 

indicative ecological network across the Borough which will enable the movement of 

wildlife across the landscape both now and in the future. The indicative network 

incorporates existing areas together with proposals embedded into development 

masterplans. It is acknowledged that these may change but revisions should take into 

account the impact on changes to ecological corridors. Opportunities may also arise in 

new developments and within the existing urban fabric to provide ecological corridors or 

stepping stones through new provision and other means such as green roofs, ponds or 

road side verges. Figure 7 provides an indicative overview of Dartford’s Green Grid 

network including ecological stepping stones.  

15.29 The definition of the Green Grid is confirmed for the purposes of the Development Plan 

as set out in the Glossary (Appendix C). This forms the basis of the strategy for 

enhancements; and for the purposes of delivering improvements and new provision, the 

starting point is that enhancements will allow public access, and where possible provide 

for a variety of green, recreation and biodiversity functions as appropriate. 

 North Kent European Sites 

15.30 Beyond the Borough, but still pertinent to some proposals in parts of it, there are 

European protected sites located on the North Kent coast. These are: the Thames 

Estuary and Marshes Special Protection Area (SPA)/ Ramsar (wetland sites of 

international importance); Medway Estuary and Marshes SPA/ Ramsar, and The Swale 

SPA/ Ramsar sites.  Studies have shown marked declines of key bird species, 

particularly on the Medway Estuary. As recognised in the Core Strategy there is 

insufficient evidence to conclude for Habitats Regulations purposes that there will be no 

adverse effects on the European sites through increased development.  

15.31 Studies35 carried out since the adoption of the Core Strategy indicate that further 

development in North Kent will exacerbate the pressure from disturbance due to human 

recreation and potentially add to the reasons for decline. Natural England, taking these 

findings into account, have therefore concluded that development beyond 6km 

(excluding large sites) can be screened out of requiring an appropriate assessment and 

                                                           
 

 

35
 Footprint Ecology (2012) North Kent Interim Overarching Report    - and supporting studies referenced 

in report. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

114     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

assumed to have no likely significant effect on European sites. In Dartford the eastern 

Borough boundary will denote 6km from the European Sites. 

15.32 Further analysis of previous studies on the origin of visitors at the Sites indicates the 

substantial majority of visitors travel less than 10km; it is considered that this should be 

the maximum distance to which a precautionary approach should be applied. Taking into 

account the conclusions of Natural England together with these study findings, only the 

Borough’s large residential (Class C3) sites located up to 10km from the North Kent 

Sites (shown illustratively in Figure 8) need to consider mitigation measures and cannot 

be automatically screened out of appropriate assessment due to having a likely effect on 

the integrity of the European sites. This approach is reflected in Policy DP25:4. 

15.33 The mapping in Figure 8 is only indicative of a 10km distance from the European sites; 

the precise distance and applicability will be calculated and confirmed for individual 

proposals. Applicable reserved matter applications must not be assumed to be exempt. 

15.34 Natural England have advised that Habitats Regulation Assessment of effects of 

residential proposals can be screened out of requiring appropriate assessment, where 

suitable mitigation is provided, for instance through a strategic approach enabled by a 

tariff based financial contribution. The tariff will take account provision of alternative 

green space through development that will alleviate recreational pressure.  

15.35 To aid consideration of the Habitat Regulations, the Council will set out on the planning 

policy pages of its website a strategic package of mitigation options for applicable 

developers to consider. This may include the provision of alternative green spaces and/ 

or a fixed financial per home contribution to be used to support planned strategic 

management measures at the European protected sites. It will define “large” residential 

developments that qualify. This will allow full appropriate assessment not to be required 

where relevant development proposals can satisfactorily provide alternative green space 

and/ or financial contributions in line with the approved measures on the Council’s 

website.  

  



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

115     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

°

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey Dartford Borough Council 100025870  2015

0 1 2 3 40.5

Km

X
:\

D
a

ta
_

S
to

re
\D

e
p

a
rt

m
e
n

ta
l_

D
a
ta

\R
e
g

e
n
e

ra
ti
o
n

_
D

ir
e

ct
o

ra
te

\P
la

n
n

in
g

_
P

o
lic

y\
1

9
9

5
L
P

_
U

p
d

a
te

s
_
2

0
1

5
0
9

1
6
\0

1
_

P
ro

je
ct

_
F

ile
s
\0

1
_
R

a
m

s
a
r_

B
u

ff
e

r_
A

5
_

P
o
rt

 _
2

0
1
5

1
2

2
3
.m

xd

Longfield
Newbarn

Swanscombe

Bean

Darenth

Bluewater

Greenhithe

A2

Figure 8: Indication of areas within 10km as crow flies from North Kent European 

Habitats 

 

 

 

 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

116     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

Policy DP25: Nature Conservation and Enhancement 

1. Development on the hierarchy of designated sites, featuring nationally 
recognised and locally protected sites, shown on the Policies Map will not be 
permitted. Development located within close proximity to designated sites, or 
with likely effects on them, should demonstrate that the proposal will not 
adversely impact on the features of the site that define its value or ecological 
pathways to the site.  

2. Proposals should seek to avoid any significant adverse impact on existing 

biodiversity features. Any potential loss or adverse impact must be mitigated, 

including with reference to the following guidance points:  

a) Where mitigation measures require relocation of protected species this will 
only be acceptable when accompanied by clear evidence that the 
proposed method is appropriate and will provide for successful 
translocation. 

 

b) Proposals should include provision for protection during construction, and 
mechanisms for on-going management and monitoring.  

 

3. Developments will be expected to preserve and, wherever possible, enhance 

existing habitats and ecological quality, including those of water bodies, 

particularly where located in Biodiversity Opportunity Areas. Particular regard 

should be had to points a) and b) below. Development proposals where the 

primary purpose is to enhance biodiversity will normally be permitted where:  

a) New biodiversity areas make use of native and local species as set out in  
the Kent Biodiversity Strategy and consider ecological links and 
adaptability to the effects of climate change 

 

b) Biodiversity features strengthen existing green and ecological corridors; 
and contribute to the creation and enhancement of the Green Grid.   
 

Large residential development and North Kent European Protected Sites  
 

4. Large residential developments located within 10km from the North Kent 

European Protected sites that are located outside the Borough will be required 

to undertake a Habitats Regulation Assessment to demonstrate that the 

mitigation measures proposed are satisfactory to avoid potential adverse 

recreational effects to protected features. Information on mitigation options is 

available on the Council’s website. 
 

Trees 

5.   In all development proposals existing trees should be retained wherever 

possible. If retention is demonstrated not to be feasible, replacement provision 

should be of an appropriate tree species and maturity and/ or canopy cover 

taking into account the tree that is being replaced and the location. 
 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

117     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

16. Plan Monitoring and the Core Strategy   
 

16.1 Dartford Borough Council undertakes a range of data gathering to monitor the 

performance of the current Development Plan for the Borough. This includes an annual 

Authority Monitoring Report (AMR). 

16.2 In Appendix 3 of the Core Strategy, a detailed overall framework for monitoring was set 

out. Now further Development Plan policies are being produced, and as the approach to 

effective monitoring has been amended nationally, it is appropriate to update and further 

explain the monitoring framework that can occur. 

16.3  Furthermore, three tables of policies below (tables 4, 6 and 8) also provide a potential 

reconciliation of Core Strategy policy with Development Plan policies.  

16.4 The primary purpose of data monitoring of development will be to report on available 

information on the delivery of the Development Plan’s objectives. This will be based 

around annual reporting of collective indicators, which may also include reporting 

information on: 

 Planning policy preparation and progress, including: Duty to Cooperate 

actions and public consultation outcomes, and delivery against the set 

timetable. 

 The Dartford Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

 

16.5 Some information, for example ‘on the ground’ major development outcomes, will be 

reported more regularly directly on the Council’s website. 

16.6 In proposing an up-to-date and workable set of development plan indicators that can be 

maintained annually, the following considerations have been taken into account: 

 The current applicability of Core Strategy proposals (some have already 

been achieved for instance) and the primary requirements arising from 

the Development Policies Plan’s new policy areas. 

 The long-term nature of transition and its effects in the area, which is 

incremental over any one year. Strategic/ larger sites are generally 

subject to separate oversight/ information on their progress and should be 

looked at over time. Some of these sites have their own ongoing 

monitoring requirements to ensure actions are triggered where further 

mitigation of effects is required.  

 The need to focus on key topics subject to the greatest change, that 

significantly contribute to achieving Core Strategy objectives and where 

appropriate evidence is readily available. Performance monitoring will 

give a flavour and guidance as to whether further investigation may be 

warranted: not an exhaustive list of all potential information on topics.  

 The fact it is rarely possible to guarantee that a continued data series can 

be maintained for a large number of indicators for each topic. Similarly, 

information on some topics is more contextual in nature or lends itself less 

to meaningful quantification. It may be inappropriate to annually report 

Core Strategy indicators not highlighted below. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

118     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

16.7 Indicators have been arranged around a grouping of the ten Core Strategy (CS) 

objectives into three broad areas  which mirror the NPPF’s three tenets of sustainability; 

social, economic and environmental (although policies often overlap categories): 

 Communities and Infrastructure; 

 Jobs, Shops and Leisure; and 

 Environmental. 

 

16.8 Consequently it is proposed to structure reporting around 15 ‘key monitoring’ themes, 

listed below under the three groupings in tables 5, 7 and 9. The commitment to primary 

indicators is supported by other contextual information that may also be provided as 

available.  

Community and Infrastructure 

16.9 The relevant Core Strategy objectives (numbered as per Core Strategy paragraph 1.59) 

where overall commentary is expected to be provided in monitoring, are as follows: 

(1) A stable integrated community living in attractive and safe neighbourhoods that 

reflect the area’s heritage and promote a sense of place, whose residents enjoy 

a choice of homes and easy access to local everyday facilities.   

(2) New residential and mixed use development focused in Dartford Town Centre, 

the area between Ebbsfleet and Stone, and the Thames Waterfront. 

 

(9) A realistic choice of travel options, with public transport able to cater conveniently 

for most local journeys as well as to Central London and providing good access 

to the rest of Kent and Europe, with a well-developed walking and cycling 

network for local journeys.  

16.10 Related policies are: 

 Table 4: Communities and Infrastructure Policies 

Core Strategy Plan Development Policies Local Plan  

CS1: Spatial Pattern of Development 
CS26: Delivery and Implementation 

Policy DP1: Dartford’s Presumption in 

Favour of Sustainable Development 

CS3: Northern Gateway Strategic 
Site 
CS4: Ebbsfleet to Stone 
CS5: Ebbsfleet Valley Strategic Site 
CS6 Thames Waterfront 
CS11: Housing Delivery   
CS18: Housing Mix  
CS19: Affordable Housing 
CS20: Gypsies and Travellers 

Policy DP7: Borough Housing Stock and 
Residential Amenity 
Policy DP9: Local Housing Needs 
Policy DP10: Gypsies,Travellers, and 
Travelling Showpeople Accommodation  
 

CS15: Managing Transport Demand 
CS16: Transport Investment  

Policy DP3: Transport Impacts of 
Development 
Policy DP4: Transport Access and Design 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

119     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

CS21: Community Services Policy DP21: Securing Community Facilities 

 

16.11 Indicators proposed to be reported: 

 

Table 5: Communities and Infrastructure Monitoring 

Key monitoring theme Primary indicator (annual or more 
frequent) 

Contextual/ Detail 
as available 

1. Providing a sufficient 

quantity of new 

housing in the 

Borough. 

5 year deliverable housing supply, and 
indications for following years (this 
includes past/ cumulative delivery and 
sites updates CS Indicators 13, 14, 16 
& 17). 

Long term 
housing land 
supply / major 
regeneration site 
progress. 

2. Delivering suitable 

types of dwelling 

where family homes 

expected  

For each site under construction of up 
to 100 dwellings (outside of Dartford 
Town Centre, Ebbsfleet Valley 
Strategic Site area, and Thames 
Waterfront sites): % of dwellings 
completed in the year that are houses 
of 2 bedrooms or more. (CS Indicator 
4) 

CS Indicator 3. 

3. Planning decisions 

that meet housing 

needs, where some 

affordable housing is 

anticipated. 

For each site under construction 
totalling 15 or more dwellings/ 
changing tenure: % of dwellings in the 
year completed/ transferred for 
affordable housing occupation i.e. CS 
indicators 6&7. 

Category 2 or 3 

dwelling 

completions in 

year. 

4. Development for 

Gypsies,  Travellers 

and Travelling 

Showpeople 

accommodation 

needs 

New pitches for Gypsies, Travellers 
and Travelling Showpeople provided in 
the in the year. (CS Indicator 9). 
5 year traveller pitch/ plot supply and 
context (this includes past/ cumulative 
delivery and sites updates) 
Implementation Strategy requirements. 

Information on 

key appeal 

decisions. 

5. Improving traffic 

management  

STIPS annual report. CS Indicators 48-

53/ delivery of 

new 

infrastructure 

6. Providing sufficient 

community facilities, 

where involving 

planning permission 

Development in the year resulting in 
the gain or loss of whole community 
facilities i.e. CS Indicator 10. 

Community 
Infrastructure 
Levy delivery, 
Overview of 
additional 
infrastructure 
requirements to 
meet demand for 
Infrastructure 
from windfall 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

120     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

sites of 5+ units 
permitted. Other 
major changes in 
community 
service provision 

 

Jobs, Shops and Leisure 

16.12 The relevant Core Strategy objectives (numbered as per Core Strategy paragraph 1.59) 

where overall commentary is expected to be provided in monitoring, are as follows: 

(3) A successful commercial hub at Ebbsfleet acting as a driver for economic growth 

and diversification in the Borough resulting in a range of jobs, with appropriate 

education and skill training opportunities to enable residents to access a wide 

range of jobs and professions.  

(4) A vibrant town centre with a flourishing day and evening economy and a strong 

cultural and leisure offer alongside a strong retail core, set in an attractive public 

realm. 

(8) A full range of opportunities to enjoy first class cultural and leisure pursuits as 

well as sport and recreation, particularly at Dartford Town Centre, Eastern 

Quarry, Ebbsfleet, Stone Lodge and Swanscombe Peninsula. 

16.13 Related policies are: 

 Table 6: Jobs, Shops and Leisure Policies 

Core Strategy Plan Development Policies Local Plan  

CS7 Employment Land and Jobs  
CS8: Economic Change   
CS9: Skills and Training   

Policy DP20: Identified Employment Areas 

 

CS2: Dartford Town Centre 

CS12:Network of Shopping 

Centres  

CS22: Sports, Recreation and 

Culture Facilities 

Policy DP14: Retail and Town Centre 

Development 

Policy DP15: Dartford Town Centre and its 

Primary Frontages 

Policy DP16: Dartford Town Centre’s 

Secondary Areas 

Policy DP17: District Centres 

Policy DP18: Neighbourhood Centres 

Policy DP19: Food and Drink Establishments 

 

 

 

 

 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

121     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

16.14 Indicators proposed to be reported: 

Table 7: Jobs, Shops and Leisure Monitoring 

Key monitoring theme Primary indicator (annual or more 

frequent) 

Contextual/ 

Detail as 

available 

7. Supporting economic 
development in the 
Borough 

Development in the year resulting in the 
gain or loss of B-class facilities of 
100m2 or more (CS indicator 25). 

CS Indicators 
24, 28, 30; 
Local 
economic and 
labour supply 
indicators 

8. Enhancing the 
Borough’s retail and 
Dartford Town Centre 

Quantitative indicators of Dartford town 
centre vitality, viability and diversity, 
including the overall mix of uses / 
vacancy in Primary/ Secondary 
Frontage (CS Indicator 33). 
New A1 development in the centre. 
Retail appeal decisions/ any retail 
development permitted in out of centre 
locations or in Bluewater. 

National 
benchmarks of 
vacancy. 
 
Qualitative 
health check 
data. 
CS Indicators 
22 & 47 

9. Maintaining local 

shops 

% of District Centre units in Classes A1, 

A2 & D1/ vacant. (CS indicator 35). 

Major 
developments 
in/ around 
District Centres 
and 
Neighbourhood 
Centres. 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL 

16.15 The relevant Core Strategy objectives (numbered as per Core Strategy paragraph 1.59) 

where overall commentary is expected to be provided in monitoring, are as follows: 

(5) An accessible and enticing Thames Waterfront with a high quality built and 

natural environment, offering a range of leisure and recreational opportunities.  

(6)  A green borough that is resilient to the effects of climate change and offers a high 

quality of life, with an enhanced network of landscaped paths, cycle routes, open 

spaces and biodiversity habitats and corridors, and with links to the countryside 

and the Thames. 

(7) The character of villages and countryside in the Green Belt protected and 

enhanced and providing contrast with the urban area. 

(10) A sustainable borough leading the way with energy and water efficient buildings, 

widespread use of renewable energy and well-adapted to climate change. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

122     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

16.16 Related policies are: 

Table 8: Environmental Policies 

Core Strategy Plan Development Policies Local Plan  

CS13: Green Belt    
CS14: Green Space   

Policy DP22: Green Belt in the Borough  
Policy DP23: Protected Local Green Space  
Policy DP24: Open Space 
Policy DP25: Nature Conservation and  
Enhancement 

CS23: Minimising Carbon 

Emissions   

CS24: Flood Risk  

CS25: Water Management 

Policy DP11: Sustainable Technology and 

Construction 

 

CS10: Housing Provision 
CS17: Design of Homes 
 
 

Policy DP6: Sustainable Residential Locations 
Policy DP2: Good Design in Dartford  
Policy DP8: Residential Space and Design in 
New Developments 

 Policy DP12: Historic Environment Strategy 
Policy DP13: Designated Heritage Assets 

 Policy DP5: Environmental and Amenity 
Protection 

 

16.17 Indicators proposed to be reported: 

Table 9: Environmental Monitoring 

Key monitoring theme Primary indicator (annual or more frequent) Contextual/ 

Detail as 

available 

10. Avoiding 
unnecessary 
greenfield 
development 
though re-use of 
(previously 
developed/ 
despoilt) land for 
housing 

Proportion of new dwellings built on 
brownfield land over the period since 
2006/7. (CS Indicator 19). 

Local register/ 
National 
information on 
brownfield land 
utilisation  

11. Green Belt 
appropriate 
development only 

Type of development permitted in the year 
in the Green Belt (CS Indicator 44). 

Information on 
key appeal 
decisions issued 
in the greenbelt. 

12. Retention and 
provision of key 
local open spaces 

Developments completed in the year on 
PLGS; playing pitches and Borough Open 
Space completed in the year on new 
development (CS Indicator 37). 

New features/ 
improvements in 
line with the 
Green Grid. 
North Kent 
European 

13. Key habitats, Condition of designated areas of high 
environmental value (CS Indicators 40 & 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

123     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

waterways and 

Biodiversity 

62). habitats 
mitigation and 
contribution by 
Dartford 
developments. 

14. Sustainable 
residential 
construction  

For each site under construction: % of 
dwellings in the year built to the 
government’s higher water efficiency 
standard 

Per capita water 
consumption (CS 
indicator 61). 
Data produced 
nationally on 
local CO2 
emissions. 

15. Planning decisions 

supporting 

enjoyment of the 

historic 

environment.  

Developments completed in the year at 
designated heritage assets 

Changes in 

condition of key 

heritage assets 

from Buildings at 

Risk register  

 

 

 

 

 

 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

124     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

APPENDICES 

Appendix A: 1995 Borough Local Plan Policies Replaced by this Plan 
 

All remaining policies from 1995 are deleted on adoption of this Plan. This table provides some 

guidance to content in the Plan in relation to previous development management policies. 

1995 Borough 

Local Plan 

‘Saved’ Policy 

number 

Policy title Potentially 

applicable 

Development 

Polices Plan 

policy 

S4 Presumption against development in the Metropolitan 
Green Belt; protection of the countryside, and 
enhancement of its amenity and recreational value 

DP2 

DP5 

DP12 

DP22 

S6 Conservation and improvement of the built environment, 
and importance of the River Thames 

E10 Extension or redevelopment of existing employment 
premises 

DP5 

DP20 E13 Environmental improvement of employment areas and 
design standards for new development 

E14 Amenity criteria for employment development  

H9 Areas of Special Residential Character DP2 

DP5 

DP7 

DP8 

DP12 

H12 Protection of amenity of existing housing areas  

H14 Guidelines for house extensions and loft conversions 

H15 Accommodation for special needs groups 

R3 Changes of use to non-retail uses DP14-DP19 

R6 Safeguarding of local shopping centres 

R9 Criteria for hot food takeaways 

T16 Safeguarding of highway improvement schemes  DP3 

DP4 T18 Traffic management measures  

T19 Relationship of development to highway network and 
capacity 

T20 Formation of new accesses onto distributor roads 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

125     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

T21 Agreements for highway improvements related to 
development proposals 

T23 Provision of off-street parking and rear access 
arrangements 

T27 Provision for pedestrians in new development and 
highway schemes 

T28 Environmental improvements and traffic management 
schemes 

T33 Highway and pedestrianisation schemes to make 
provision for the disabled and less mobile 

T34 Public transport access to the town centre for the less 
mobile 

DL1 Encouragement of restoration schemes DP5 

DL4 Development proposals at or near landfill sites  

RT14 Safeguarding of Dartford Heath, Central Park. and 
Brooklands Lakes 

DP8 

DP23 

DP24 

RT15 Safeguarding of private and educational open space 

RT16 Provision of new local open spaces 

RT17 Safeguarding of land at Craylands Lane, Swanscombe 
for open space purposes and recreational development 

RT18 Open space and play space provision in new housing 
development 

RT19 Provision of local open space in association with 
development proposals 

C1 Consideration of proposals for development in the 
countryside  

DP22 

DP25 C2 Design, siting and landscaping of development in the 
countryside 

C3 Criteria for re-use of redundant buildings in the 
countryside 

C4 Consideration of proposals for stables and related 
facilities 

C5 Enhancement of the environmental quality and 
recreational value of the countryside 

C7 Criteria for development of agricultural buildings 

C11 Protection of woodlands  

C12 Planting of new woodland, hedgerows, shelter belts and 
copses 

DP25 

C13 Protection of Sites of Special Scientific Interest and 
National Nature Reserve 

C14 Protection of Sites of Nature Conservation Interest 

C15 Establishment of local nature reserves 

C16 Protection of sites of nature conservation value 

C17 Management agreements for safeguarding sites of nature 
conservation interest 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

126     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

V1 Development within villages DP2 

DP18 

DP21 

DP22 

V2 Design and density considerations for village housing 
sites   

V4 Criteria for business uses in villages       

V5 Consideration of proposals for shopping and community 
facilities within villages 

B1 Criteria for consideration of development proposals DP2 

DP12 

DP13 

B3 Landscaping within new development     

B5 Development proposals to incorporate public art and craft    

B6 Consideration of proposals for the alteration or extension 
of listed buildings 

B7 Presumption against demolition of listed buildings 

B8 Consideration of development proposals within 
conservation areas 

B9 Presumption against demolition of unlisted buildings 
within conservation areas 

B10 Consideration of development proposals in Areas of 
Special Character 

B11 Protection of ancient monuments 

B12 Protection and preservation of other sites of 
archaeological significance 

B13 Consideration of proposals for shop fronts and 
advertisements    

B14 Provision for the disabled in the design of buildings and 
the external environment 

B16 Overhead lines 

CF5 Development at Mabledon Hospital DP21 

CF6 Criteria for the development of health care facilities    

CF11 Identification of site for crematorium            

CF12 Safeguarding and replacement of allotment land        

TC2 Provision of rear servicing DP4 

Appendices  (Various guidelines for detailed topics).  See polices and 
supporting text 
throughout this 
Plan, and 
supplementary 
documents. 

 

  



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

127     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

Appendix B: District and Neighbourhood Centres Addresses  
 

Frontages are shown on the Policies Map but for the avoidance of doubt, addresses are 

provided here. Frontage policy includes the full site boundaries fronting the highway, even if the 

shop is set well back or the site not in current shop/ services use. 

District Centres  

Dartford West 

33 - 43 Dartford Road 84-98 Dartford Road 

105 – 143 Dartford Road West Hill County Primary School 

Dartford East 

18 – 20 The Brent 1 – 21 The Brent 

68A – 106 East Hill 75 East Hill 

Temple Hill Square 

1 -49 Temple Hill Square 2-50 Temple Hill Square 

Temple Hill Library & Home Start Temple Hill Youth Centre & Dartford 
Gym 

High Street Swanscombe 

1 -6 The Parade High Street 40 – 58 High Street 

Methodist Chapel, Milton Road 23 – 57 High Street 

The Old Fire Station & Church Road Hall, 
Church Road    

2 – 4 Stanhope Road 

Longfield 

5 – 65 Station Road 2 – 36 Station Road 

83 – 97 Station Road 48 Main Road 

Hawley Road/ Lowfield Street 

1 – 17 Hawley Road 291 – 301 Lowfield Street 

Primary School & Children’s Centre, 
Oakfield Lane 

Scout Hall, Oakfield Lane 

6 Hawley Road (Orange Tree PH) 
 

Neighbourhood Centres (numbering after the name relates to Figure 4)  

Burnham Road, Dartford [7] 

99 – 105 Burnham Road 

Sutton-at-Hone South [2] 

196 – 202 Main Road 43 Main Road 

208 – 220 Main Road 

Henderson Drive, Dartford [8] 

171 -177  Henderson Drive 137 Henderson Drive 

Colney Road/St Vincent’s Road, Dartford [1] 

79 St Vincent’s Road 146 – 154 Colney Road 

116 – 122 St Vincent’s Road 145 – 149 Colney Road 

144 – 150 St Vincent’s Road  

Mead Road, Dartford [9] 

1 – 11 Mead Road Veterinary Centre, Mead Road 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

128     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

Sutton-at-Hone North [10] 

71 – 77 Main Road  

Darenth Hill/Green Street Green Road, Lane End [11] 

70 - 72 Watchgate 76 Watchgate 

Craylands Lane/ Milton Street, Swanscombe [12] 

40 Craylands Lane 10 – 14 Craylands Lane 

123 – 139 Milton Street 

Horns Cross, Stone [16] 

285 – 293 London Road 116 – 122 London Road 

London Road West, Stone [3] 

44 – 64 London Road 

Fleetdale Parade, Dartford [4] 

2 – 46 Fleetdale Parade 

Birchwood Parade, Joydens Wood [5] 

1 – 10 Birchwood Parade 

Summerhouse Drive, Joydens Wood [13] 

62 – 70 Summerhouse Drive 

Chastilian Road, Dartford [6] 

29 – 39 Chastilian Road 30 – 38 Chastilian Road 

Shepherds Lane, Dartford [15] 

36 – 44 Shepherds Lane 

Pinewood Place/Oakfield Lane, Bexley Park [14] 

Maplehurst Close units 
 

 

 

  



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

129     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

Appendix C: Glossary 
Reference to other glossary definitions are shown italicised. 

A1, A2, A3, A4 & 
A5 Use Classes 

Many shops as defined by the Use Classes Order as amended. A1: 
Retail shops, predominantly for the sale of goods, but also including 
certain retail services. A2: Financial and professional services for visiting 
members of the public, including banks, estate agents, but not betting / 
payday loan shops. A3: Café and restaurants. A4: Pubs and bars. A5: 
Hot food takeaways.  

Adoption Formal and final approval of a planning policy document by a Local 
Planning Authority, at which point it comes fully in to legal force. 

Affordable 
Housing  

See NPPF for formal definition. For a brief description, the Core Strategy 
terms it as: housing provided where the rent or price is reduced, directly 
or indirectly, by means of public or private subsidy. 

Amenity A positive element or elements that contribute to the overall character, 
quality of life, comfort or enjoyment of an area. May be influenced by, for 
example, open land, trees, historic buildings, wider environmental factors 
and the inter-relationship between them, or less tangible factors such as 
tranquillity. 

AMR The Authorities Monitoring Report: factual document feeding back on 
changes to sustainable development topics in a Local Planning Authority 
area, and associated progress on plan/  infrastructure delivery. 

Archaeological 
Interest 

There will be archaeological interest in a heritage asset if it holds, or 
potentially may hold, evidence of past human activity worthy of expert 
investigation at some point. Heritage assets with archaeological interest 
are the primary source of evidence about the substance and evolution of 
places, and of the people and cultures that made them. 

Area of Special 
Character 

Areas in the Borough which have individual local character and historic 
interest, although not meriting formal Conservation Area status. Many 
convey a predominantly residential environment in their established 
character. 

Assets of 
Community Value 

A property that contributes to the social well-being including sport and 
recreation or social interests of the community and nominated by the 
local community to be entered onto a locally kept register. 

Backland 
development 

Development of 'landlocked' sites behind existing buildings, such as rear 
gardens and private open space, usually within predominantly residential 
areas. Such sites often have no street frontages. 

Borough Open 
Space (BOS) 

Green/ open spaces addressed in policy DP24 (part 1), not covered by 
Green Belt principles in policies DP22 and 23. Includes all BOS land 
shown on the Policies Map (incorporating many parks, playspaces, 
allotments, churchyards etc.) and potential other past/ present/ future 
sport pitches. 

B1, B2 and B8 Use 
Classes 

Many businesses as defined by the Use Classes Order as amended. B1: 
Private offices (other than those uses within Class A2), light industry and 
research and development uses that can be carried out in residential 
areas. B2: General industrial (other than those uses within Use Class B1, 
or determined to be sui generis). B8: Storage or Distribution. Classes B3 
to B7 no longer exist.  

Biodiversity Priority areas where the delivery actions of a Biodiversity Action Plan 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

130     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

Opportunity Areas 
(BOA) 

(BAP) are to be focused (Core Strategy definition). The BAP identifies 
actions for the conservation, restoration and enhancement of threatened 
habitats and species and identifies appropriate delivery mechanisms. 
The Dartford BOAs represent a spatial reflection of the Kent BAP and 
indicate where delivery should be focused to secure maximum 
biodiversity benefits. 

Brownfield land Land that has been previously developed as defined in the NPPF, plus 
land at identified development sites, which was previously used for 
quarrying and may not fully meet the formal NPPF PDL definition. 

Building 
regulations 

A separate statutory process to land use planning, concerning ensuring 
structures are built to and constructed with sufficient quality, including 
energy efficiency. Building regulations approval is required for most 
building work in the UK. 

C1, C2, C3 and C4 
Use Classes 

Many forms of residential accommodation as defined by the Use Classes 
Order as amended, including: C1 (Hotels), C2/C2a (Residential 
Institutions/secure institutions), C3 (Dwelling Houses), and C4 (Houses in 
multiple occupation). 

Communal Open 
Space 

Open space which is provided and managed for the communal benefit of 
residents within a housing development.  It will usually comprise small, 
localised spaces providing neighbourhood facilities for play and/or rest 
enjoyed by residents or areas that provide visual amenity. Communal 
open space will include both hard and soft landscaped areas such as a 
hardstanding area with seating and green spaces containing areas of 
vegetation interest.  

Community 
Infrastructure 
Levy 

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a charge on 
development that will help Dartford Council to raise and pool 
contributions from developers to fund a range of infrastructure. It will 
contribute towards paying for things such as schools, health facilities and 
transport improvements - all things that are necessary to support new 
development. The specific rate at which the Levy is set locally is 
specified in a Charging Schedule. 

Community 
Facilities (Land) 

Community facilities encompass public, private and voluntary sector 
buildings and spaces used for a variety of purposes including social, 
health, education, cultural, spiritual and sports uses that support vibrant 
communities. It includes identified for the provision of such buildings and 
spaces in future. Buildings used for local retail or leisure services such as 
convenience shops and pubs may qualify, especially in rural areas. See 
paragraphs 14.4 and 14.5 of the plan.  

Conservation 
Area 

An area of notable environmental or historical interest or importance 
which is protected by law against undesirable changes. 

Custom Build Construction of residential units to a home owner’s specific requirement. 
Includes ‘self-build’. 

Design & Access 
Statements 

A short report accompanying and supporting a planning application 
explaining how a proposed development is a suitable response to the site 
and its setting, and demonstrating that it can be adequately accessed by 
prospective users. 

Development 
Control 
/Management 

The process whereby a local planning authority determines whether to 
approve or refuse a planning application.   

District Centre Areas of shops and facilities, with less provision than town centres or 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

131     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

large purpose built freestanding centres, serving parts of the Borough/ a 
broad district. (See paragraph 12.52). 
 

(Sufficient) 
Effective 
Marketing 

To be sufficient for the purposes of this plan “effective marketing” means 
continuous proactive marketing for an appropriate period, but not 
exceeding 12 months, using a professional agent and an appropriate 
range of on line, on site and other advertising media. The asking price 
should, throughout the 12 month period, be shown to be reasonable for 
the property and location, and to reflect the market value of the uses 
currently required under policy. In District and Neighbourhood Centres if 
the latest AMR indicates the relevant centre has a vacancy level 
exceeding 10%, then a sufficient effective marketing period of 6 months 
or more would be acceptable. 

Fastrack A fast and high quality bus network, serving the major development sites 
and linking residential areas with public transport interchanges, 
employment areas and the main shopping centres.  It operates on a 
dedicated “track” consisting of bus-only roads, on-street bus lanes and 
priority at junctions. 

Green Belt An area of open country encircling Greater London, including parts of 
Dartford Borough, in which development is strictly controlled under 
national policy.  

Green Grid The Dartford Green Grid comprises a network of multi- functional green/ 
blue spaces and corridors across the Borough. An indicative Green Grid 
network, comprising both existing, planned and potential green spaces 
and corridors is shown in Figure 8 of the Plan. The Grid enables 
connections for existing and new planned communities and biodiversity 
between the urban area in the north of the Borough; to the River 
Thames; to the countryside to the south; and to open space networks 
beyond the Borough’s boundary. The Green Grid includes green/ open 
spaces, many of which are publically accessible, and rivers, lakes and 
landscapes (including trees), footpaths, Public Rights of Way, cyclepaths 
and roads. 

Green 
Infrastructure 

All green and blue spaces that are components of the Green Grid. These 
include parks, playing pitches, private gardens, woodland, rivers, ponds, 
amenity spaces, trees and hedges.  

Greenfield  Land that has not previously been used for development.  This includes 
sites which were previously developed but where the remains of any 
structure or activity have blended into the landscape over time, and can 
also include residential gardens. However this classification does not 
necessarily apply to land which was previously used for quarrying 
activities (see Brownfield Land definition).   

Ground water 
source protection 
zones 

Spatial classification of land areas which provide groundwater sources of 
drinking water. Zones are classified to indicate the level of risk of 
contamination from any activities that might cause pollution to 
groundwater in the area based on the behaviour of groundwater and 
underground factors. Further details are provided on the Environment 
Agencies website.   

Habitats 
Regulations 
Assessment 

Where policies or proposals are likely to have a significant effect on sites 
of European importance for habitats or species, an assessment is 
required under European regulations to evaluate the impacts on the 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

132     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

integrity of those sites and define mitigation measures to address them. 
(Core Strategy definition). Adverse impacts at the designated North Kent 
sites outside of the Borough is a potential relevant consideration under 
the precautionary approach.  

Heritage Assets A building, monument, site, place, area or landscape identified as having 
a degree of significance meriting consideration in planning decisions, 
because of its heritage interest. Heritage asset includes designated 
heritage assets and assets identified by the local planning authority 
(including local listing). 

Identified 
employment areas 

Areas shown on the Policies Map of with a high concentration of office, 
manufacturing, industrial, warehousing and other business ‘sui generis’ 
buildings and uses.  

Infilling Development of housing or other buildings on sites which are an integral 
part of the existing urban fabric. (Core Strategy definition). Infill sites are 
usually vacant or under-used parcels of land within a developed area.     

Infrastructure A collective term for physical, community  and green space provision, 
including built structures and services such as roads, public transport, 
electricity, sewerage, water, schools, health facilities and recycling and 
refuse facilities. 

Landmark Visible object, feature or development that is distinctive in the nearby 
environment. A landmark may act as a point of reference to assist 
orientation or create a visual focus in the urban or rural landscape. 

Listed Building Building or other structure of special architectural or historic interest 
included on a statutory list and assigned a grade (I, II* or II). 

Local Wildlife 
Sites 

Identified by Kent Wildlife Trust, these are areas which are important for 
the conservation of wildlife in the administrative areas of Kent and 
Medway. These were previously known as Sites of Nature Conservation 
Interest (SNCIs). Each LWS has a defined boundary and may support 
threatened or important habitats or wildlife.   

Masterplan A plan which provides comprehensive guidance on the overall 
development of a (usually large) site setting out the mix and arrangement 
of future land uses, and may also include design principles, landscaping, 
built form, infrastructure, circulation, and integration with the surrounding 
context.  Masterplanning is usually undertaken as an intermediate stage 
between policy allocation and the submission of a detailed planning 
application. 

Mitigation  Appropriate measures which, as a minimum, offset any adverse impacts 
of a proposed development.   

National Planning 
Policy Framework 
(NPPF) 

The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 sets out government 
planning policies to guide the preparation of plans and decision making 
about planning applications. 

Neighbourhood 
Centres 

Smaller clusters of shops/ services central to, or within walking distance 
of, a neighbourhood(s). See paragraph 12.54.  

Policies Map Formerly referred to as a Proposals Map, it shows the location of Local 
Plan proposals and other designations of land on an Ordnance Survey 
base map. 

Protected Local 
Green Space 
(PLGS) 

Protected Local Green Space are designated areas that have special 
protection against development. PLGS are green areas of particular 
importance to local communities because of characteristics such as 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

133     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

 recreational value or tranquillity, and are not large areas of land. 

Primary Frontage Primary Frontages are found in areas of a centre where retailing is most 
concentrated. They are likely to include a high proportion of retail uses 
which may include food, drinks, clothing and household goods. 

Public Amenity 
Space 

Open space with public access or in public sector ownership not shown 
on the Policies Map. It may include more localised spaces such as small 
greenspaces on residential estates of clear communal benefit, 
greenspace of local but distinct landscape merit, or public open spaces 
providing neighbourhood facilities for play and/ or rest enjoyed by 
residents. 

Public Realm Those parts of a village, town or city (whether publicly or privately 
owned), available for everyone to use. This includes streets, squares and 
parks. 

Regionally 
Important 
Geological/ 
Geomorphological 
Sites (RIGS) 

Locally designated sites that have local, national, and regional 
importance for geology and geomorphology (geodiversity). 

Retail Impact 
Assessment 

Impact assessments can help to establish if retail development would 
have a material adverse impact on centres for shops that are regarded 
as having strategic or local significance.  

Scheduled 
Monuments 

A structure identified for protection in a schedule compiled by English 
Heritage under the Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act. 

Secondary 
Frontage 

Secondary Frontages are related to primary frontages (see above) and 
are characterised by a variety of uses including non-retail service 
occupiers.  Overall Secondary Frontages will contain a lower proportion 
of ‘retail’ uses than Primary Frontages.  

Section 106. 
 

Section 106 (S106) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 allows a 
local planning authority (LPA) to enter into a legally-binding agreement or 
planning obligation with a landowner in association with the granting of 
planning permission. These agreements are a way of delivering or 
addressing matters that are necessary to make a development 
acceptable in planning terms. They are increasingly used to support the 
provision of services and infrastructure, such as highways, recreational 
facilities, education, health and affordable housing. S106 has generally 
been scaled back, particularly for off-set development contributions since 
the introduction of CIL. 

Sites of Special 
Scientific Interest 
(SSSI) 

SSSIs are areas designated by Natural England Countryside Act 1981 to 
conserve their wildlife and geology where it is of special interest. SSSIs 
are protected by law from damage through development or unsuitable 
management or other activities.  

Starter Homes Homes only available to first time buyers under 40 years old to be sold at 
a minimum 20% below open market value (with a resale restriction period 
to ensure the policy does not lead to short term speculation); 

Strategic Housing 
Land Availability 
Assessment 
(SHLAA) 

Identifies sites with potential for residential development and assesses 
their suitability for housing and delivery within the plan period.  

Sui generis A use on its own (outside of the defined Use Classes) to which any 
change of use will require planning permission: includes uses such as 



Dartford Development Policies Plan 
 

134     LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENT | July 2017  
 

fuel filling stations.  
“Industrial” sui generis uses are considered in Dartford to be associated 
with industrial type processes such as scrap yards, vehicle servicing, 
paint spraying and waste transfer areas. 
“Town centre” sui generis uses include services such as betting 
offices/shops, pay day loan shops, launderettes, taxi businesses, and 
amusement centres. 

Supplementary 
Planning 
Document 

Documents which add further detail to the policies in the Local Plan. 
They can be used to provide further guidance for development on 
specific sites, or on particular issues, such as design. Supplementary 
planning documents are a material consideration in planning decisions 
but are not part of the development plan. 

Sustainable 
development 

Sustainable development is development that meets the needs of the 
present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet 
their own needs. 

Sustainability 
Appraisal 

Sustainability appraisal is a process that is carried out as an integral part 
of developing Local Plans, with the aim of promoting sustainable 
development through the integration of social, environmental and 
economic considerations. It is a requirement of national and European 
legislation and is subject to the same level of public consultation and 
scrutiny as the Core Strategy. 

Windfall sites Windfall housing sites are those that are put forward for development 
unexpectedly (not identified for housing through the plan preparation 
process).  They are generally small (1-4 units) sites for 'infill'/ within the 
urban area as these will not have been considered in the SHLAA, 
although larger windfall sites can occasionally be put forward. 

 

 

 



553750m.E

553750m.E

54

54

54

54

54

54

554750m.E

554750m.E

1 73
50

0m
. N

1 73
50

0m
. N

73 73

74 74

74 74

74 74

1 74
75

0m
. N

1 74
75

0m
. N

Dartford Policies
Map

Town Centre

CS Dartford Core Strategy October 2011, 
DP Dartford Development Policies Plan July 2017

Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database rights.
Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2017
Map Produced By  The Property Information Team,

1:2,500Map Scale

Strategic Development Sites
Strategic Sites (CS3, CS5)

Plan Boundary

Conservation & Heritage

The following policies apply to the Local Plan generally:
Strategic & General Policies:
Economy:
Housing:
Transport:
Communities:
Sustainability:
Delivery & Implementation: 

CS1, CS4, CS6; DP1, DP2, DP5, DP11
CS8, CS9
CS10, CS11; DP6, DP7, DP8, DP9, DP10
CS15, CS16; DP3, DP4
 CS17, CS18, CS19, CS20, CS21, CS22; DP5, DP21
CS23, CS25
CS26

Listed Building (DP12, DP13)^

M Scheduled Monument (DP12, DP13)
Conservation Area (CS2 (Dartford Town Centre); DP12, DP13)
Area of Special Character (DP12)

Retail & Employment

Dartford Town Centre Primary Retail Frontage (DP15)
Dartford Town Centre Secondary Retail Frontage (DP16)

District Centre (DP14, DP17, DP19)
Neighbourhood Centre (DP14, DP18, DP19)
Employment Area (CS7; DP20)

Dartford Town Centre Boundary (CS2, CS12, CS22; DP14)

Bluewater (CS12; DP14) 

Open Space & Environment

RIGS

SSSI

Green Belt (CS13; DP22)

Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) (CS14; DP25)

Regionally Important Geological/Geomorphological Sites (CS14; DP25)

LWS LWS LWS
LWS LWS LWS
LWS LWS LWS Local Wildlife Sites (CS14; DP25)

****
****
****Biodiversity Opportunity Area (CS14; DP25)

****
****
****Nature Improvement Area (CS14; DP25)

Ancient Woodland (CS14; DP25)
$ $ $ $

$ $ $ $

$ $ $ $

Borough Open Space (CS14: DP24)
Protected Local Green Space (DP23)

Air Quality Management Areas (DP5)
~ ~ ~ ~
~ ~ ~ ~
~ ~ ~ ~ Flood Risk Area (CS24, DP11)

       APPENDIX B





Northern Gateway
Strategic Site

Dartford Town Centre Inset

SSSI

SSSI

SSSISSSISSSI

549000m.E

549000m.E

550

550

51

51

52

52

53

53

54

54

55

55

556000m.E

556000m.E

1 69
00

0m
. N

1 69
00

0m
. N

170 170

71 71

72 72

73 73

74 74

75 75

76 76

77 77

1 78
00

0m
. N

1 78
00

0m
. N

Dartford Policies
Map

Sheet 1 : West

Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database rights.
Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2017
Map Produced By  The Property Information Team,

CS Dartford Core Strategy October 2011, DP Dartford Development Policies Plan July 2017

Strategic Development Sites

Conservation & Heritage

1:10,000Map Scale

M Scheduled Monument (DP12, DP13)

Area of Special Character (DP12)

Retail & Employment

Dartford Town Centre Primary Retail Frontage (DP15)
Dartford Town Centre Secondary Retail Frontage (DP16)

District Centre (DP14, DP17, DP19)

Employment Area (CS7; DP20)
Neighbourhood Centre (DP14, DP18, DP19)

Dartford Town Centre Boundary (CS2, CS12, CS22; DP14)

Bluewater (CS12; DP14) 

The following policies apply to the Local Plan generally:
Strategic & General Policies:
Economy:
Housing:
Transport:
Communities:
Sustainability:
Delivery & Implementation: 

CS1, CS4, CS6; DP1, DP2, DP5, DP11
CS8, CS9
CS10, CS11; DP6, DP7, DP8, DP9, DP10
CS15, CS16; DP3, DP4
 CS17, CS18, CS19, CS20, CS21, CS22; DP5, DP21
CS23, CS25
CS26

Conservation Area (CS2 (Dartford Town Centre); DP12, DP13)

Strategic Sites (CS3, 5)

Listed Building (DP12, DP13)^

Plan Boundary Open Space & Environment

Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) (CS14; DP25)SSSI

Green Belt (CS13; DP22)

LWS LWS LWS
LWS LWS LWS
LWS LWS LWS
LWS LWS LWS

Local Wildlife Sites (CS14; DP25)

Nature Improvement Area (CS14; DP25)
*****
*****
**********
*****
*****

Biodiversity Opportunity Area (CS14; DP25)

Protected Local Green Space (DP23)

Ancient Woodland (CS14; DP25)
$ $ $ $ $

$ $ $ $ $

$ $ $ $ $

RIGS Regionally Important Geological/Geomorphological Sites (CS14; DP25)

Borough Open Space (CS14: DP24)

Air Quality Management Areas (DP5)
~ ~ ~ ~ ~
~ ~ ~ ~ ~
~ ~ ~ ~ ~

Flood Risk Area (CS24, DP11)

                                       APPENDIX B





RIGS

RIGS

Ebbsfleet Valley Strategic Site

SSSI

SSSI

SSSI

SSSI

SSSI

SSSI

556000m.E

556000m.E

57

57

58

58

59

59

560

560

61

61

62

62

563000m.E

563000m.E

1 68
00

0m
. N

1 68
00

0m
. N

69 69

170 170

71 71

72 72

73 73

74 74

75 75

76 76

1 77
00

0m
. N

1 77
00

0m
. N

Dartford Policies
Map

Sheet 2 : East

Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database rights.
Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2017
Map Produced By  The Property Information Team,

CS Dartford Core Strategy October 2011, DP Dartford Development Policies Plan July 2017

Strategic Development Sites

Conservation & Heritage

1:10,000Map Scale

Listed Building (DP12, DP13)^

M Scheduled Monument (DP12, DP13)

Area of Special Character (DP12)

Retail & Employment

Dartford Town Centre Primary Retail Frontage (DP15)
Dartford Town Centre Secondary Retail Frontage (DP16)

District Centre (DP14, DP17, DP19)

Employment Area (CS7; DP20)
Neighbourhood Centre (DP14, DP18, DP19)

Dartford Town Centre Boundary (CS2, CS12, CS22; DP14)

Bluewater (CS12; DP14) 

The following policies apply to the Local Plan generally:
Strategic & General Policies:
Economy:
Housing:
Transport:
Communities:
Sustainability:
Delivery & Implementation: 

CS1, CS4, CS6; DP1, DP2, DP5, DP11
CS8, CS9
CS10, CS11; DP6, DP7, DP8, DP9, DP10
CS15, CS16; DP3, DP4
 CS17, CS18, CS19, CS20, CS21, CS22; DP5, DP21
CS23, CS25
CS26

Conservation Area (CS2 (Dartford Town Centre); DP12, DP13)

Plan Boundary

Strategic Sites (CS3, 5)

Open Space & Environment

Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) (CS14; DP25)SSSI

Green Belt (CS13; DP22)

LWS LWS LWS
LWS LWS LWS
LWS LWS LWS
LWS LWS LWS

Local Wildlife Sites (CS14; DP25)

Nature Improvement Area (CS14; DP25)
*****
*****
**********
*****
*****

Biodiversity Opportunity Area (CS14; DP25)

Protected Local Green Space (DP23)

Ancient Woodland (CS14; DP25)
$ $ $ $ $

$ $ $ $ $

$ $ $ $ $

RIGS Regionally Important Geological/Geomorphological Sites (CS14; DP25)

Borough Open Space (CS14: DP24)

~ ~ ~ ~ ~
~ ~ ~ ~ ~
~ ~ ~ ~ ~

Flood Risk Area (CS24, DP11)
Air Quality Management Areas (DP5)

               APPENDIX B





Report to Dartford Borough Council 

by Matthew Nunn BA BPL LLB LLM BCL MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 

Date 30 June 2017 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 

(as amended) 

Section 20 

Report on the Examination of the Dartford 
Development Policies Plan 

The Plan was submitted for examination on 21 June 2016 

The examination hearings were held between 18 October and 21 October 2016 

File Ref: PINS/T2215/429/6 

           Appendix C



 
 

2 
 

 
Abbreviations used in this report 
 
AA Appropriate Assessment 
AM Additional Modification 
AMR Authority Monitoring Report 
BOS Borough Open Space 
DPP Dartford Development Policies Plan 
EA Environment Agency 
EDC Ebbsfleet Development Corporation 
LDS Local Development Scheme 
MM Main Modification 
PLGS Protected Local Green Space 
PPG Planning Practice Guidance 
SA Sustainability Appraisal 
SCI Statement of Community Involvement 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 
 
 

3 
 

 
 

Non-Technical Summary 
 
This report concludes that the Dartford Development Policies Plan provides an 
appropriate basis for the planning of the Dartford Borough, provided that a 
number of main modifications are made to it.  Dartford Borough Council has 
specifically requested me to recommend any modifications necessary to enable 
the Plan to be adopted.  All the modifications were proposed by the Council, and 
were subject to public consultation over a six-week period.  Following 
consideration of the representations, and for reasons of soundness, I suggested 
some minor deletions and amendments to wording.  Those affected were re-
consulted.  I have recommended the inclusion of the modifications in the Plan 
after considering all the representations made in response to the consultation on 
them. 
 
The Main Modifications can be summarised as follows: 

 
• Clarifying policies, their intentions and operation; and removing ineffective 

or uncertain terminology; and altering policies to be more specific where 
necessary; 

• Amending overarching policy relating to sustainable development to 
provide clarity and to avoid repetition of national policy; 

• Recasting policies dealing with design and heritage assets to provide clarity 
and to ensure that they are justified, effective and consistent with national 
policy; 

• Rewording policy to ensure delivery of sufficient housing and to boost 
significantly its supply as required by national policy; 

• Restating in policy terms the adopted Core Strategy as a basis for dealing 
with planning applications at Bluewater Shopping Centre for the time 
being, until an early review of retail policy takes place as part of the whole 
Local Plan Review for the Borough; 

• Recasting shopping policy in relation to secondary frontages and non 
designated frontages to provide clarity and to ensure effectiveness; 

• Providing greater flexibility for the marketing requirement in respect of 
retail premises; 

• Rewording Green Belt policy to ensure effectiveness and consistency with 
national policy. 
 

 
 

 
 
 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 
 
 

4 
 

 
Introduction 
1. This report contains my assessment of the Dartford Development Policies Plan 

(DPP) in terms of Section 20(5) of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 (as amended).  It considers first whether the Plan’s preparation has 
complied with the Duty to Co-operate.  It then considers whether the Plan is 
sound and whether it is compliant with the legal requirements.  The National 
Planning Policy Framework (‘the Framework’) (paragraph 182) makes it clear 
that in order to be sound, a Local Plan should be positively prepared, justified, 
effective and consistent with national policy. 

2. The starting point for the examination is the assumption that the local 
planning authority has submitted what it considers to be a sound plan.  The 
basis for my examination is the DPP, dated December 2015, as submitted by 
the Council in June 20161.  Prior to submission, the Plan was the subject of 
consultation for a period of six weeks between 22 January and 4 March 20162.  
In the light of comments, the Council subsequently produced a Schedule of 
Modifications entitled ‘Representations and Potential Minor Modifications’3.  
That document was also submitted alongside the Plan. 

3. Following the examination hearings, in order to address soundness concerns 
about aspects of the Plan, the Council produced a consolidated list of 
modifications in December 2016.  This document included both Main 
Modifications (MM) and Additional Modifications (AM).  It also incorporated 
those previously published following the earlier consultation.  A sustainability 
appraisal was carried out on the Modifications, dated December 2016.  The 
Modifications were subject to public consultation for six weeks, between 
23 December 2016 and 3 February 2017.   

4. Taking account of the consultation responses, and for soundness, I suggested 
some partial deletions of proposed modification text, specifically where it 
related to Bluewater Shopping Centre, as well as some minor amendments to 
wording.  Those who made representations on the modifications affected were 
informed in writing of these changes, and their views sought.  None of the 
changes undermines the participatory processes and sustainability appraisal 
that has been undertaken.  I have taken into account all of the responses in 
coming to my conclusions.       

5. In accordance with section 20(7C) of the 2004 Act, the Council requested that 
I should recommend any MMs necessary to rectify matters that make the Plan 
unsound and thus incapable of being adopted.  My report explains why the 
recommended MMs, all of which relate to matters that were discussed at the 
examination hearings, are necessary.  The MMs are referenced in bold in the 
report in the form MM1, MM2, MM3 etc, and are set out in full in the 
Appendix.  

                                       
 
1 DPP-01 
2 DPP-03 
3 DPP-08 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 
 
 

5 
 

Assessment of Duty to Co-operate  
6. Section 20(5)(c) of the 2004 Act requires that I consider whether the Council 

has complied with any duty imposed on it by section 33A in respect of the 
Plan’s preparation. 

7. The Council has prepared a Duty to Co-operate Statement, dated January 
20164, a Duty to Co-operate Addendum, dated June 20165, and a Duty to Co-
operate Statement (Interim), dated December 20146.  These documents 
provide evidence on how the Council has engaged with other bodies including 
neighbouring local authorities in the preparation of the Plan. 

8. Gravesham Borough Council has objected to the policy approach taken in 
respect of Bluewater Shopping Centre (‘Bluewater’) and contends there has 
been no meaningful engagement in terms of the Duty to Co-operate on this 
strategic cross-boundary issue.  Thurrock Borough Council has also raised 
similar concerns.  On this basis, it is contended that the Council’s approach, 
both in terms of co-operation with neighbouring boroughs, and in its 
consideration of Bluewater, is flawed.  

9. The DPP’s approach in relation to Bluewater, a strategic matter, essentially 
derives from, and reflects that set out in Policy CS12 of the Dartford Core 
Strategy7.  The proposed modifications to the DPP make clear and reinforce 
that the approach remains as set out in Core Strategy policy.  I deal with this 
issue later in my report.  It is not the role of this Plan, primarily a 
development management tool, to alter the strategic direction that has 
already been set.  These are matters for the whole Local Plan Review.   

10. It may be the case that certain elements of the Core Strategy, adopted in 
2011, need updating.  Indeed, the Council is committed in its Local 
Development Scheme 2016-2018 (LDS)8 to producing a whole new Local Plan 
for the district. This will provide a revised overall strategy for the Borough 
taking into account the latest national policy.  According to the LDS, the 
Council anticipates that the Regulation 18 public consultation will be 
undertaken in the winter of 2017 with adoption in 2019.  Clearly, it is 
incumbent on the Council to ensure that the Duty to Cooperate is undertaken 
appropriately with regards to strategic matters during that process, and that 
the new whole Local Plan includes policies that are up-to-date and compliant 
with national policy. 

11. The Duty to Co-operate primarily relates to co-operation with regard to 
strategic matters that cross administrative boundaries, and I consider it has 
only limited consequences for the DPP, because its primary purpose is not to 
encompass strategic matters or new site allocations, but to act as a tool for 
dealing with planning applications.  Given that the DPP does not alter the 
strategic direction that has already been set in the adopted Core Strategy, 

                                       
 
4 DPP-07 
5 DPP-07A 
6 DPP-07B 
7 BD-03 
8 BD-01 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 
 
 

6 
 

I have found no reason to conclude that there has been any failure in respect 
of the Duty to Co-operate in respect of the DPP. 

12. Nonetheless, because of the concerns, I sought further evidence from the 
Council on the Duty to Co-operate by letter9. The Council responded with a 
note10 providing further information.  Overall, I am satisfied there is clear 
evidence that the Council has engaged with neighbouring Councils on various 
occasions throughout the production of the DPP, including with Gravesham 
Borough Council, Sevenoaks District Council, Thurrock Council, as well as the 
Ebbsfleet Development Corporation (EDC) and the Greater London Authority.   

13. To sum up, the Council has engaged constructively, actively and on an on-
going basis in the preparation of the Plan and the Duty to Co-operate has 
therefore been met. 

Assessment of Soundness 
Main Issues 

14. Taking account of all the representations, the written evidence and the 
discussions that took place at the examination hearings, I have identified 8 
main issues upon which the soundness of the Plan depends.  Under these 
headings my report deals with the main matters of soundness rather than 
responding to every point raised by participants. 

Issue 1 –Whether the overall approach and basis of the DPP is sound   

15. It has been suggested that the Council’s overall approach and basis for the 
DPP is flawed because the Core Strategy is out-of-date, having been adopted 
in 2011, and that it should be based on a more up-to-date strategic plan.  The 
inference is that the Council, rather than pursuing adoption of the DPP, should 
have concentrated on a full strategic review of planning policy within the 
Borough.   

16. The Council is of the firm view that the Core Strategy, notwithstanding that it 
pre-dates the Framework, is nonetheless closely aligned with its aims and 
objectives.  The Council also highlights the large amount of development likely 
to come forward imminently in the Borough.  This being so, I agree that it is 
important to have detailed policies in place as soon as possible to manage and 
promote growth in the Borough, rather than delaying matters until a full Plan 
Review has taken place.  I see little benefit in that latter approach, particularly 
as some of the Council’s older extant development management policies date 
from 199511.    

17. Furthermore, the EDC, established in 2015, is responsible for determining 
planning applications within part of the Borough area12, although the Council’s 
development plan policies continue to have effect.  It is important, therefore, 

                                       
 
9 ED/I/04 
10 ED/DBC/19 
11 Borough of Dartford Local Plan (1995) ‘Saved Policies’ 
12 The EDC area also includes part of Gravesham Borough  



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 
 
 

7 
 

that the relevant development management policies are up-to-date so as not 
to hinder the achievement of sustainable development at Ebbsfleet.  

18. I consider that the benefits of progressing the DPP to adoption outweigh any 
perceived disadvantages because the document will provide a clear suite of 
policies that the Council (and EDC) can use in the determination of 
forthcoming planning applications.  Overall, I am satisfied that the approach 
and basis of the DPP is sound. 

Issue 2 – Whether the DPP policies are consistent with, and positively 
promote, the spatial vision and strategic objectives of the Core Strategy  

19. The DPP is intended to be read alongside the Dartford Core Strategy.  That 
document provides the broad spatial strategy for the scale and distribution of 
development within the Borough up to 2026.  The Borough is situated at the 
heart of the Thames Gateway Regeneration Area, and stands at a pivotal 
position between Greater London and Kent, with Essex to the north across the 
River Thames.  The Borough has two distinct areas.  To the north of the A2 
route lie the more built-up areas of Dartford, Greenhithe, Stone and 
Swanscombe.  To the south of the A2 lies Green Belt comprising countryside 
with villages and smaller hamlets.   

20. The Core Strategy sets out the Council’s strategy for delivering its share of 
economic and population growth, including the objective to focus growth in 
Dartford Town Centre and the Northern Gateway, the area between Ebbsfleet 
and Stone, and the Thames Waterfront.  The DPP supports the Core Strategy 
in setting out additional policies that the Council will use when making 
decisions on planning applications.  It provides greater detail on issues 
covered in the Core Strategy.  I am satisfied that the policies of the DDP 
adequately cover the relevant topic areas in a complementary fashion.  
Therefore, as a whole, the DPP positively promotes the spatial vision and 
strategic objectives of the Core Strategy.     

Issue 3 – Whether the DPP policies are sound, having regard to the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, achieving good and 
accessible design, conserving and enhancing heritage assets, and 
accommodating the needs of particular groups   

21. Policy DP1 sets out the DPP’s presumption in favour of sustainable 
development and states that a positive approach will be taken to development 
proposals.  I am not wholly convinced of the necessity for this policy, since it 
adds little to the existing development management regime.  However, that 
does not necessarily render the policy unsound and I understand the Council’s 
desire to emphasise and make explicit the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development.  However, those parts of the policy that merely 
replicate the Framework should be deleted in accordance with the Planning 
Practice Guidance (PPG) (MM1).   

22. Policy DP2 is concerned with good design, and Policies DP12 and DP13 deal 
with the conservation and enhancement of the historic environment and 
heritage assets.  Redrafting of Policy DP2 is required to achieve greater clarity, 
so that it will be effective and sound (MM3, MM6), with proper recognition of 
outstanding and innovative design, as per the Framework (MM4).  Although 
the policy and supporting text recognise that energy efficiency measures and 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 
 
 

8 
 

micro-renewables should be encouraged, it is important that particular care is 
taken with heritage assets, taking account of Policies DP12 and DP13 (MM2, 
MM5).    

23. Policies DP12 and DP13 require complete recasting and restructuring to ensure 
consistency with the Framework in terms of conserving and enhancing the 
historic environment.  This includes where development would lead to 
substantial harm, or less than substantial harm, and the requirement to weigh 
public benefits.  It is also important that local heritage policy reflects the 
various legal tests in the relevant legislation (MM16, MM18).  The supporting 
text should also be amended accordingly (MM17).  A fuller explanation of the 
Council’s approach to Areas of Special Character is required (MM15) for 
soundness.  For similar reasons, further explanation is needed in respect of 
sites of archaeological interest (MM14).    

24. As suggested by the Environment Agency (EA), the supporting text to Policy 
DP2 should refer to the Water Framework Directive as well as protecting and 
enhancing habitats identified under the UK Biodiversity Action Plan as required 
by the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act (MM2).  To support 
the Framework’s requirement to adopt pro-active strategies to mitigate and 
adapt to climate change and to minimise the risk of surface water flooding, 
Policy DP4 and its supporting text should refer to the use of permeable paving 
materials (MM7, MM9), with amendments to wording to improve clarity and 
effectiveness (MM8).  

25. Policy DP11 is concerned with sustainable technology and construction, and 
includes a stringent water efficiency requirement for homes of 110 litres per 
person per day.  The EA has confirmed that the Borough falls within an area of 
serious water stress, and that the Darent and River Cray catchment is heavily 
over-abstracted.  This being so, I am satisfied that this stringent requirement 
is justified and that the policy is sound. 

26. Policy DP8 requires development to contribute to the accommodation needs of 
particular groups and includes provisions to ensure that homes are designed 
to meet the needs of the whole community, including disabled people, the 
elderly and less mobile.  The policy introduces a presumption against granting 
permission for new development that does not include Category M4(2) units 
(Accessible and Adaptable dwellings) and Category M4(3) units (Wheelchair 
Use Dwellings) under the Building Regulations, unless there is a robust 
justification.  Although the DPP policy is not prescriptive about proportions of 
such dwellings in development as per the latest advice in the PPG, the Council 
has indicated that this matter will be fully addressed in the whole Plan Review, 
when up-to-date evidence will be produced to inform policy13.  In the 
meantime, I am satisfied that the DPP addresses inclusive design and 
accessible environments positively.    

27. With the MMs, the DPP policies relating to sustainable development, achieving 
good and accessible design, conserving and enhancing heritage assets, and 
accommodating the needs of particular groups are sound.     

                                       
 
13 ED/DBC/10 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 
 
 

9 
 

Issue 4 – Whether the DPP will deliver sufficient homes, boost 
significantly the supply of housing and meet the Core Strategy’s housing 
requirement     

28. The Core Strategy proposes a capacity based housing target of up to 17,300 
homes up to 2026.  The main bulk of housing supply is proposed to be 
concentrated in the three priority areas identified in Policy CS1, namely 
Dartford Town Centre, Ebbsfleet to Stone and the Thames Waterfront.  The 
overall strategy is centred on the regeneration of large brownfield sites and 
Policy DP6 seeks to ensure any windfalls do not prejudice that strategy, 
ensuring housing is delivered in the planned locations.   

29. Concerns were raised that the Policy as originally drafted would act as a policy 
of restraint, effectively seeking to place a moratorium on the development of 
non-allocated and ‘greenfield’ sites.  It was also argued that the policy would 
fail to boost significantly the supply of housing, as required by the Framework.  
Concerns were also raised, drawing on the findings of an allowed appeal in 
201514, that the Council does not have sufficient housing land to meet its 
objectively assessed housing need. 

30. The Council is, however, fully confident that the Core Strategy target can be 
achieved with limited reliance on windfall sites.  Indeed, the Dartford Five Year 
Deliverable Housing Land Supply (July 2016)15 shows that windfalls are 
expected to make only a minimal contribution to housing supply and that the 
Council has a 5.8 year deliverable housing land supply.  The Authority 
Monitoring Report 2015-16 (AMR) suggests that housing delivery levels have 
now fully recovered following the last recession and the Core Strategy target is 
deliverable16.  

31. There are ambitious plans to bring forward a number of large regeneration 
sites (many already with planning permission).  The EDC is also bringing 
forward major sites for housing and other uses.  The Council has recorded that 
housing completions for the year 2015-16 were one of the highest recorded, 
at 971 dwellings17.  The AMR concludes that the outlook for housing 
construction in the Borough is positive.       

32. It is not the role of the DPP to specifically allocate new housing sites, or to 
alter the overall housing strategy, which concentrates development at certain 
key locations, as envisaged within the Core Strategy.  Any change in housing 
strategy, should it be required, is a matter to be tackled as part of the whole 
Plan Review for the Borough.  Nonetheless, I consider Policy DP6 should be 
modified to allow a greater degree of flexibility so that housing delivery is not 
impaired (MM11).  The redrafted policy retains the Core Strategy’s emphasis 
on housing delivery through developing brownfield sites, but allows other 
development in specific circumstances on windfall sites, where sustainably 
located, and necessary to address any absence of a five year supply of 
housing.   

                                       
 
14 APP/T2215/A/13/2195591 
15 EB/DBC/04 
16 EB/DBC/05 
17 EB/DBC/04 
 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 
 
 

10 
 

33. In order to reduce transport demand and minimise car use, Policy DP6 
requires proposals to be within easy walking distance of a range of community 
facilities and services.  However, the Framework recognises that development 
can be focussed on locations that can be made sustainable in the future 
(Paragraph 17), and not just those which are currently already sustainable. 
This should be acknowledged in the policy’s supporting text (MM10).       

34. Policy DP9, in accordance with the Core Strategy, seeks to achieve a mix of 
housing types and sizes that meets the Borough’s needs.  The requirements 
for affordable housing are set out in Core Strategy Policy CS19 and Policy DP9 
is consistent with it.  The Council wishes to encourage the construction of 
‘custom built’ housing.  This typically involves the construction of new homes 
to a home owner’s specific requirements and includes ‘self build’ houses.  
Policy DP9 as originally drafted, required proposals in the three priority areas 
to demonstrate that they would be, in part or whole, custom built, except in 
specific circumstances.  However, a greater degree of flexibility is required to 
ensure the overall supply of housing is not frustrated (MM13).   

35. No specific proportion of ‘starter homes’ is identified in Policy DP9.  The 
Council has explained that there is no substantive evidence currently to justify 
a particular threshold, and that a ‘site by site’ assessment is appropriate.  I 
am satisfied that, for the time being, this does not undermine the overall 
soundness of the Plan, but it is a strategic matter that will need to be 
considered as part of the whole Plan Review.  To aid clarity and effectiveness, 
sub-headings within the policy are necessary to distinguish between different 
dwelling types (MM12, MM13). 

36. Policy DP10 states that the Council will work actively to identify a supply of 
gypsy and traveller pitches, and travelling showpeople plots to meet future 
identified needs in the Borough.  The policy also commits the Council to 
maintaining a five supply of deliverable land by ensuring the actions set out in 
the Dartford Gypsy, Traveller and Traveller Showpeople Implementation 
Strategy18 are carried forward.  Policy DP10 specifies criteria that will be used 
in assessing sites which generally accords with the approach set within Core 
Strategy Policy CS20.  I am satisfied this aspect of the Plan is sound. 

37. With the proposed MMs, I am satisfied the DPP’s policies relating to housing 
will deliver sufficient homes, boost significantly the supply of housing, and 
meet the Core Strategy’s housing requirement.  These policies are therefore 
sound.       

Issue 5 – Whether retail and town centre policy is justified, effective and 
consistent with national policy   

38. Serious concerns from neighbouring local planning authorities have been 
raised in respect of Policy DP14 which relates to Bluewater.  The nub of the 
issue relates to the status of Bluewater, and whether it should be considered 
as ‘out-of-centre’ or as an existing ‘town centre’.  This has implications as to 
whether the sequential test should be applied for planning applications for 
Bluewater.  

                                       
 
18 SD-12 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 
 
 

11 
 

39. The overall strategic approach is set by Core Strategy Policy CS12.  This 
identifies a ‘network of shopping centres’ that comprise Dartford Town Centre, 
Bluewater, Ebbsfleet/Eastern Quarry and Longfield.  That policy states that 
these complementary centres will act as the main foci for shopping and leisure 
activity.  Bluewater itself is identified as a ‘specialist regional comparison 
shopping centre’, and Policy CS12 seeks to maintain and support that role and 
provide an offer which is distinct from that of nearby centres.   

40. Guideline figures for floorspace provision at Bluewater are also provided within 
the Core Strategy up to 2016 and Policy CS12 requires that proposals 
exceeding the guidance levels will be subject to a retail assessment carried out 
in consultation with neighbouring authorities, taking into account the likely 
impact of the scheme on neighbouring town centres.  Policy CS12 also 
commits to an early review of retail policy.      

41. Doubts have been raised by participants as to whether reliance on Policy CS12 
of the Core Strategy is sound, given that it predates the publication of the 
Framework, and also because the associated guideline figures only cover the 
period up to 2016.  However, my task is not to review the strategic policies of 
the Core Strategy.  The approach to be taken to the future development of 
Bluewater is essentially a strategic matter with clear cross boundary effects.  
Therefore, it is an issue for the whole Local Plan review for the Borough.   

42. In these circumstances, I am satisfied it is appropriate for DP14 to confirm 
that Policy CS12 of the Core Strategy will remain the basis for determining 
planning applications at Bluewater for the time being, but with an early 
commitment to the review of policy as part of the whole Local Plan review.  I 
consider an early review is especially important given that the period to 2016 
to which the floorspace guideline figure for Bluewater relates has now passed.  
Modifications are required to the policy and supporting text to make this clear 
(MM19, MM21, MM22).  

43. Notwithstanding the concerns of neighbouring boroughs, it should be noted 
that the approach endorsed by the DPP still recognises that inappropriate retail 
and leisure development at Bluewater has the potential to adversely affect 
surrounding town centres.  The confirmation of Policy CS12 continues to 
provide appropriate safeguards through retail assessment, through the 
application of Paragraph 5 (d).  Furthermore, Policy DP14, as amended with 
simplified text, reinforces that town centre uses should be located sequentially 
and in accordance with Core Strategy Policy CS12 (MM20). 

44. I am satisfied that the outer boundary at Bluewater is justified, although I see 
little justification for defining a Primary Shopping Area separately.  This is 
because Bluewater does not have a conventional ‘high street’ frontage that is 
found in traditional town centres.  The deletion of the Primary Shopping Area 
has been identified as an AM.  Although not before me for detailed 
consideration, it provides appropriate clarification and is supported.   

45. Policy DP14 sets a local threshold for requiring a retail impact assessment for 
retail developments of over 500sqm outside existing designated centres and a 
sub-heading is necessary for clarity (MM23).  Concerns have been raised as 
to whether this is an appropriate level, or whether a lower threshold of around 
300sqm would be more appropriate.  However, the Local Shopping Report 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 
 
 

12 
 

2015/1619 explains why a 500sqm threshold is considered the appropriate 
level to ensure full testing of potentially harmful retail planning applications.  
The Report explains this is comparable with other thresholds in areas with 
similar characteristics.  I am satisfied that this aspect of the Plan is sound.    

46. Policy DP14 also requires modification to make clear that the objective to 
ensure full use of the upper floors of units in the Borough’s network of centres 
is not intended to apply to purpose-built indoor or enclosed large shopping 
centres.  Their multi-level ‘mall’ style configuration makes applicability of such 
a policy impossible.  Greater flexibility on the provision of window displays 
within the frontages of premises is also required (MM24).   

47. The reframing of Policy DP16 provides the necessary clarity and effectiveness 
in terms of the aims and objectives relating to Secondary Frontages and Non-
Designated areas in Dartford Town Centre (MM26).  Consequential 
modifications are also required to the supporting text (MM25). 

48. Concerns were expressed about the 12 month marketing exercise required in 
circumstances where a change of use from a shop is proposed in the primary 
frontages of Dartford Town Centre (Policy DP15), as well as in District Centres 
(DP17) and Neighbourhood Centres (DP18).  I agree that it is important to 
avoid unduly onerous requirements that could lead to long term vacancy 
rather then re-occupation.  I also acknowledge that recent changes to 
planning legislation allow greater flexibility of uses, and relax the need for 
permission for certain changes of use.   

49. The Framework promotes the vitality and viability of town centres.  Once a 
shop has been lost to another use, there is much less likelihood that it will 
return to a retail use.  It is therefore important that the Council is satisfied 
that all reasonable efforts have been made to secure the property for retail 
use with demonstrable evidence that there is no demand for such premises.  
However, the modification (MM29) to the definition of ‘Effective Marketing’ 
within the Plan’s Glossary would provide a greater degree of flexibility 
requiring continuous proactive marketing for an appropriate period, but not 
exceeding 12 months.  In the case of District and Neighbourhood Centres 
where vacancy levels exceed 10%, a period of 6 months would suffice.  This is 
a balanced approach which is justified and sound.    

50. Policy DP19 relates to food and drink establishments and contains provisions 
restricting such uses to existing designated centres, and preventing clustering 
of such premises.  It was suggested that such uses can add to the vitality and 
viability of centres, and that the policy was at odds with this.  The Council has 
drawn attention to the disproportionate growth of takeaways and highlights 
that their excessive growth could undermine the vitality and viability of 
centres.  The Policy does not advocate an outright ban but rather seeks to 
control the inappropriate location or over-concentration of food and drink 
establishments.  As such, I consider it embodies a balanced approach and 
allows the population to continue to enjoy the convenience of meals of this 
kind, without frustrating the economic growth of this sector.  As such, the 
policy is justified and sound.  

                                       
 
19 SD-05 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 
 
 

13 
 

51. Overall, subject to the MMs recommended above, I am satisfied that the retail 
and town centre policies are justified, effective and consistent with national 
policy. 

Issue 6 – Whether the approach to employment areas is justified, effective 
and consistent with national policy  

52. The DPP identifies20 a network of employment areas.  Policy DP20 seeks to 
manage uses at these locations to ensure that their employment function 
remains intact and that any diversification of uses does not undermine the 
employment function of the areas.  I am satisfied that the policy gives 
sufficient emphasis to viability and operational requirements.  However, the 
rationale of some sites included as well as omitted has been questioned by 
respondents. 

53. The rationale underpinning the selection of various employment areas is 
explained in the Council’s Identified Employment Areas Report (June 2016)21.  
Specifically, Appendix II sets out the site screening and selection process, and 
gives detailed explanations as to why certain sites were included and others 
not.  The sites were assessed using various criteria including size, the mix and 
concentration of employment uses and levels of activity, the character of the 
surrounding area, and potential physical and environmental constraints.  The 
Council’s approach to the identification of employment areas is robust and 
justified.        

54. On this basis, I am satisfied that the Council’s approach to employment areas 
is justified, sound and consistent with national policy. 

Issue 7 – Whether the approach to Green and Open Space, and Nature 
Conservation is justified, effective and consistent with national policy     

55. Policy DP22 relates to Green Belt in the Borough.  The policy as originally 
drafted did not accord with advice in Part 9 of the Framework and was not 
sound.  The Council has completely revised the wording of the Policy which 
better reflects the provisions of the Framework (MM28).  The Policy also 
includes provisions relating to agriculture, equine development and outdoor 
sport and recreation, and it is important that the Plan is modified to ensure 
any lighting provision avoids adverse environmental impacts (MM27).   

56. Policy DP23 deals with Protected Local Green Space (PLGS) and DP24 deals 
with Borough Open Space (BOS).  PLGS are smaller focused areas with 
particular characteristics of importance to local communities.  BOS includes a 
variety of open land, including outdoor sports facilities, recreation areas, and 
linear features such as railway embankments, bunds and allotments.  Such 
areas may also contribute to ecological objectives.  The Council has 
undertaken a full assessment of these areas and the rationale for designation 
is explained in the Dartford Open Space Report 2015-2016.22 The overall 
approach is consistent with the Framework and the Core Strategy, and I am 
satisfied this aspect of the Plan is sound. 

                                       
 
20 Figure 6 
21 SD-06 
22 SD-07 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 
 
 

14 
 

57. I am satisfied that Policy DP25 provides appropriate protection for sites of 
nature conservation, and includes mechanisms to ensure that new 
development does not have an adverse impact on the hierarchy of designated 
sites.  The policy adopts a precautionary approach to European Sites, all 
located outside the Borough in North Kent, in accordance with national and 
European policy.  Following comments by Natural England and Kent County 
Council, minor amendments are proposed to the wording of Policy DP25 and 
as well as to the supporting text.  These have been identified as AMs.  
Although not before me for detailed consideration, they provide appropriate 
clarification and are supported.   

58. With the proposed MMs, the approach to Green and Open Space, and Nature 
Conservation is justified, effective and consistent with national policy.    

Issue 8 – Whether the DPP has clear and effective mechanisms for 
implementation, delivery and monitoring 

59. The monitoring aspects were originally proposed as an Appendix to the Plan.  
However, these will now be incorporated as an integral chapter within the 
body of the Plan.  This change in status reflects the importance of monitoring.  
The Council has confirmed that it actively undertakes a range of data 
gathering and monitoring in the Borough, including an AMR.  Monitoring 
indicators have been arranged around three broad areas: Community and 
Infrastructure, Jobs, Shops and Leisure, and the Environment, within which 
are more detailed monitoring themes.  All these refer back to the relevant 
Core Strategy objectives.  Overall, I am satisfied that the DPP has satisfactory 
mechanisms for implementation, delivery and monitoring.          

Assessment of Legal Compliance 
60. My examination of the compliance of the Plan with the legal requirements is 

summarised in the table below.  I conclude that the Plan meets them all. 

LEGAL REQUIREMENTS 

Local Development 
Scheme (LDS) 

The DPP has been prepared in general accordance 
with the Council’s approved LDS 2016-18, dated 
December 201523.  

Statement of Community 
Involvement (SCI) and 
relevant regulations 

The SCI24 was adopted in March 2006. Consultation 
on the Local Plan and the MMs has complied with its 
requirements. 

Sustainability Appraisal 
(SA) 

SA25 has been carried out for the DPP including the 
proposed MMs and is adequate. 

Habitats Regulations 
Assessment (HRA)  

The Habitats Regulations AA Screening Report26, 
dated January 2016 concludes that the DPP is not 
likely to have adverse effects on a European Site, 
and that an Appropriate Assessment is not 

                                       
 
23 BD-01 
24 BD-05 
25 DPP-05 
26 DPP-06 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 
 
 

15 
 

necessary.  Natural England agrees.  

National Policy The DPP complies with national policy except where 
indicated and MMs are recommended. 

2004 Act (as amended) 
and 2012 Regulations. 

The DPP complies with the Act and the Regulations. 

 
Overall Conclusion and Recommendation 
61. The Plan has a number of deficiencies in respect of soundness for the reasons 

set out above, which mean that I recommend non-adoption of it as submitted, 
in accordance with Section 20(7A) of the 2004 Act.  These deficiencies have 
been explored in the main issues set out above. 

62. The Council has requested that I recommend MMs to make the Plan sound and 
capable of adoption.  I conclude that with the recommended main 
modifications set out in the Appendix the Dartford Development Policies Plan 
satisfies the requirements of Section 20(5) of the 2004 Act and meets the 
criteria for soundness in the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 
Matthew C J Nunn 

INSPECTOR 

 

 

This report is accompanied by an Appendix containing the Main 
Modifications. 

 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 

 

1 

 

APPENDIX – Proposed Main Modifications  
The modifications are expressed in the conventional form of underlining for 
additions of text, or strikethrough for deletions.  The page and paragraph 
numbers refer to the submission version of the Development Policies Plan. 

Modification Page 
Number 

Policy / 
Paragraph 

Modified Text  
 

MM1 12 DP1:3 Delete Clause 3: 
 
3. If it is demonstrated there are no 
Development Plan policies that relate to the 
application, or relevant policies are 
demonstrated to be out dated and of limited 
weight in the context of specific provisions 
within the NPPF (including paragraphs 211 and 
215);  then the Local Planning Authority will 
grant permission unless:  
a) adverse impacts would significantly and 

demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when 
assessed against NPPF paragraphs 18 to 
219 as a whole, or 

b) particular policies in the NPPF indicate that 
development should be restricted. 

Where adverse impacts do not outweigh 
benefits, impacts must be addressed through 
effective and deliverable mitigation measures. 
 

MM2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

14-15 DP2 
Supporting 
Text 
Paragraphs 
6.5, 6.6, 
6.15. 

Amend supporting text paragraphs to Policy 
DP2 as follows: 

6.5 Areas of Special Character on the Policies 
Map continue to be ‘special’ areas in Dartford in 
terms of their potential residential, 
townscape, quality of built development and 
historic or architectural interest in the locality. 
They do not have design guidance associated 
with them individually/ on an area specific 
basis, but proposals should be designed to 
give close consideration to DP2:3 and their 
specific character, and the site’s built 
environment context.  

6.6 The Council will keep under review the need 
for the preparation of Conservation Area 
Appraisals. If other area specific guidance for 
areas of conservation/ heritage interest is 
required, the Council will prepare 
Supplementary Planning Documents. 
Developments affecting heritage assets 
must be carefully designed with regard to 
DP12/DP13. Proposed micro renewables 
will require specific consideration in the 
design and built environment assessment 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 

 

2 

 

of any development; and despite their 
potential environmental benefits, they 
must also fulfil requirements in policy 
DP11:2, and in particular DP12/13 (where 
applicable). 

 
6.15 Add at end:  
 
Regard should also be had to the EU Water 
Framework Directive and opportunities to 
protect and enhance UK BAP priority 
habitats under the Natural Environment 
and Rural Communities (NERC) Act in 
development design. 
 

MM3 16 DP2:1b-d Amend Clause 1 as follows: 

b)  Ensuring appropriate regard is had to 
heritage assets are retained, re-used and 
referenced (see policies DP12 and DP13); 
and that the character of historic 
settlements, including the market town of 
Dartford, is respected.  

c)  Facilitating a sense of place, with social 
interaction, walking/ cycling, health and 
wellbeing, and inclusive neighbourhoods, 
through a mix of uses and careful design 
and layout. Good design should be 
reinforced and enhanced through 
integrating new development with the 
public realm, open space and natural 
features including rivers and lakes/ ponds. 
Within large developments, public art 
reflecting local character and heritage 
should be included where possible.   

d)  Providing permeability through clear 
pedestrian and cycle linkages and 
permeability, and where appropriate, active 
frontages, and a fine grain mix of buildings 
and spaces. Commercial and public facilities 
should be well integrated into their 
surroundings incorporated within the 
wider area through their location, layout 
and access routes, both within the site 
and the wider locality. 

 
MM4 16-17 DP2:2 Amend Clause 2 as follows: 

 
2.   In determining planning applications, the 
Local Planning Authority will consider how the 
height, mass, form, scale, orientation, siting, 
setbacks, access, overshadowing, articulation, 
detailing, roof form, and landscaping of the 
proposals relate to neighbouring buildings, as 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 

 

3 

 

well as the wider locality. Appropriate weight 
will also be given to outstanding or 
innovative design that will help raise 
design standards in the wider area. 
Materials should support a sense of place, and 
be locally sourced or recycled from within the 
site where possible. Only Development shown 
to be suitable appropriate in these respects, 
and the principles in clause 1 above, will be 
permitted. 
 

MM5 17 DP2:3 Amend Clause 3 as follows: 
 
Design and Heritage  
3.   In areas of additional design or heritage 
sensitivity or character, and  where heritage 
assets (e.g. Conservation Areas) or their 
setting is affected, such as within the setting 
of heritage assets, or  Conservation Areas, or 
within existing and within Areas of Special 
Character,in order for permission to be granted 
it will be necessary for developments will need 
to demonstrate particular design consideration 
has been given to ensuring proposals enhance 
the locality, the setting of heritage assets is 
maintained, and that any negative impacts are 
mitigated, accordance with Policies DP12 & 
DP13 as applicable. Particular 
consideration should be given to design 
objectives, including in paragraph 6.2. In 
these areas, proposals incorporating 
energy efficiency measures and micro-
renewables will normally be viewed 
positively (in line with Policy DP11:2), 
provided that good design mitigates the 
impact on the townscape and they are in 
accordance with Policies DP12 & DP13. 
 

MM6 17 DP2:4-6 Insert sub-headings ahead of each Clause as 
follows: 
 
Safe and accessible design  
4 … 
Designing for natural resources, flood and 
waste management  
5. …. 
Advertisement and signage design  
6. … 
 

MM7 21-22 DP4 
Supporting 
Text, 
Paragraphs 
7.9, 7.11 

Amend supporting text to Policy DP4 as follows: 
 
7.9….. To avoid potential increases in the risk of 
surface water flooding, the use of permeable 
paving materials for parking spaces in front 
gardens will be encouraged should make use 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 

 

4 

 

of permeable paving materials. Parking 
surface treatments should always be 
consistent with the maintenance of 
groundwater quality in the Borough. 
… 
7.11 In creating new accesses, it is important 
that existing pedestrian facilities are not 
degraded.  Dropped kerbs at pedestrian 
crossings, entry treatments and tactile paving 
can all be used to provide convenient and safe 
crossing points for more vulnerable road users.  
Where accesses are formed by dropped kerb 
and footway crossing, it will be important to 
ensure that accesses are not so frequent and 
dropped kerbs not so long that the integrity of 
the footway is compromised. 
 

MM8 22 DP4:2a) Amend Policy DP4 Clause 2a) as follows: 
 
a) Provision is made for safe and convenient 

access to footpaths and cycle routes, with 
public rights of way protected including, 
where opportunities exist, delivering 
new or enhancing existing routes between 
key facilities/ that link to the wider 
highways and green grid network, and 
linkages to existing neighbourhoods. where 
opportunity exists. 

MM9 22-23 DP4:2h) Additional wording at the end of Policy DP4 
Clause 2h) as follows: 
 
h)  …New car parking should, where 
appropriate, make use of permeable 
paving materials, in line with the SPD. 
 

MM10 31-32 Policy DP6 
Supporting 
Text 
Paragraph 
9.13 

Amend paragraph 9.13 as follows: 

9.13 …. In the case of community facilities 
which are an end destination (as opposed to 
bus stops/ stations, which are not), an 
acceptable walking distance is taken to be 10 
minutes: (approximately 800m). A maximum 
walking distance of up to 800m to a range of 
public services and shops is therefore the 
normal threshold level that will be applied in the 
Borough. This will take account of both 
existing provision in the area, and relevant 
facilities that have been secured and are 
forthcoming. 

MM11 34 DP6:2 Amend Policy DP6 Clause 2 as follows: 
 
2. Unplanned windfall residential development 

may be permitted following assessment in 
accordance with Core Strategy policy 
CS10:4&5, other development plan policies 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 

 

5 

 

and material considerations (including the 
Dartford Housing Windfall SPD). 
Consistent with CS10, Aall windfall 
developments for five or more dwellings 
will be permitted only where they 
additionally demonstrate that the following 
criteria are fully satisfied: 

a) To ensure unplanned development does 
not prejudice achievement of the Core 
Strategy target of 80%, Windfall 
residential development should must be 
located on ‘brownfield’ land to ensure 
unplanned development does not 
prejudice achievement of the Core 
Strategy target of 80%. Greenfield 
windfall sites will only be permitted if 
highly sustainably located in all 
respects of clause (b) below, and if 
the site is needed to rectify an 
absence of five year housing land 
supply on an exceptional basis. 

 
MM12 47 DP9:3 Insert sub-heading ahead of Clause 3 as 

follows: 
 
Starter Homes 
3. 
 

MM13 47-48 DP9:4 Insert sub-heading ahead of Clause 4 as 
follows: 
 
Custom Build Dwellings 
4. All developments that include housing 

are encouraged to allocate and deliver a 
proportion of the site as plots for custom 
build dwellings, where there is based on 
evidence of significant local need for 
custom build sites. New build housing 
(Class C3) planning applications in the 
three priority locations identified in Core 
Strategy policy CS1 should demonstrate 
that the proposal is (in part or whole) 
custom build; or justify why the inclusion 
of custom build homes is specifically not 
feasible, or unnecessary given local 
need. 
 

MM14 60 DP12: para 
11.15  

 Add at end of paragraph11.15 ‘Archaeological’ 
section: 

 Archaeological…. Assessments of 
archaeological interest in support of 
planning applications will require a desk-
based assessment in the first instance, 
with a full site evaluation required if the 
need is indicated by the initial assessment. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 

 

6 

 

MM15 60-61 DP12: New 
paragraph in 
supporting 
text 

 Add new paragraph before DP12: 
  

11.15A Dartford’s Areas of Special 
Character, as designated on the Policies 
Map, may also have historic, 
archaeological, architectural and/or 
townscape interest. Planning applications 
affecting any heritage aspects of these 
areas should establish their significance 
using evidence, including the adopted 
Supplementary Planning Guidance where 
applicable, to ensure they fulfil policy 
objectives for non-designated assets. 

MM16 61 Policy DP12 Delete entire Policy and replace as follows: 
 
1. Development should aim to contribute to 

the conservation and enjoyment of the 
Borough’s historic environment. The Local 
Planning Authority will work with 
developers on strategies to realise this in 
the context of site heritage opportunities 
and constraints. In determining planning 
applications regard will be had to whether 
reasonable steps have been taken to reveal 
the significance of any heritage asset or its 
setting to enhance the enjoyment and 
conservation of heritage assets and, where 
appropriate, the wider historic 
environment. 

2. Where a development proposal in Dartford 
Borough may affect a specific heritage 
asset the proposal must demonstrate that 
it will preserve and, where appropriate, 
enhance those aspects of the heritage asset 
and its setting that have been identified as 
being significant; otherwise permission will 
not be forthcoming. It should also, where 
applicable, bring it into and maintain it for 
productive use. 

3. Proposals incorporating heritage assets 
should aim to reflect and interpret the 
historic character of the site and conserve 
its most significant historical aspects in 
order to create a sense of place. This will 
apply to all relevant sites: Non-designated 
heritage assets; Designated heritage assets 
(see policy DP13), and includes:- 
 

a) Archaeological sites, including sites holding 
an interest as defined in the NPPF; 

b)  Sites with significant industrial heritage; 

c)  Land with historic landscape character; 

d)  Historic open space, parks and gardens; 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 

 

7 

 

e) Archaeological sites, including sites holding 
an interest as defined in the   NPPF;  

f)   Sites with significant industrial heritage; 

g)  Land with historic landscape character; 

h)  Historic open space, parks and gardens. 

Where appropriate, planning applications should 
include proposals to enhance appreciation of 
heritage through the provision of interpretation. 

4.  Planning applications concerning designated 
heritage assets will be determined in line with 
policy DP13 and national policy.  Proposals 
affecting a non-designated heritage asset will 
be considered applying the element of interest 
and the significance of the asset, in order to 
assess the impact of the proposed development 
on the asset and whether any harm has been 
minimised.  

New policy text: 

1. Development should contribute to the 
conservation and enjoyment of the 
Borough’s historic environment. The 
Local Planning Authority will work with 
developers on strategies to realise this 
in the context of site heritage 
opportunities and constraints. 

2. Where heritage may be at risk, 
landowners will be expected to work 
proactively with the Local Planning 
Authority in bringing forward 
proposals to preserve or enhance 
these assets, to facilitate their 
successful rehabilitation and seek 
their viable reuse consistent with their 
heritage value and special interest.  

3. Development proposals which may 
affect the significance of heritage 
assets (both designated and non-
designated) or their setting should 
demonstrate how these assets will be 
protected, conserved or enhanced as 
appropriate. Proposals should aim to 
reflect and interpret the historic 
character of a site and conserve its 
most significant historical and/or 
architectural aspects. 

4. A heritage statement should 
accompany all planning applications 
affecting heritage assets. On 
archaeological sites, a desk-based 
assessment will be required as a 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 

 

8 

 

minimum. Applications affecting 
designated heritage assets will be 
assessed under Policy DP13. 
Applications affecting non-designated 
assets will be assessed against the 
criteria below. 

Non-Designated Heritage Assets 

5. The Borough’s non-designated 
heritage assets include: 

a) Archaeological sites, including sites 
holding an interest as defined in the 
NPPF; 

b) Applicable sites within Areas of 
Special Character, as defined on the 
Policies Map; 

c) Sites with significant industrial 
heritage; 

d) Land with historic landscape 
character; 

e) Historic open space, parks and 
gardens. 

 

6. Development proposals affecting non-
designated heritage assets should 
establish the asset’s significance. 
Development should conserve or 
enhance those aspects that have been 
identified as significant and, where 
possible, should seek to better reveal 
an asset’s significance. 

7.    In determining planning applications 
affecting non-designated assets, the 
effect of the proposal on the asset’s 
significance will be taken into account. 
A balanced judgement will be taken 
having regard to the significance of the 
heritage asset and the scale of any 
harm or loss of significance. 
Development resulting in a total loss of 
significance will not normally be 
permitted. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 

 

9 

 

MM17 63 DP13: para 
11.16 

Replace Paragraph 11.16 as follows: 
 
11.16 Loss of or substantial harm to heritage 
assets will only be justified with clear and 
robust evidence, and for designated heritage 
assets will be in exceptional circumstance only, 
as set out in national policy. The Local Planning 
Authority will adopt the following approach to 
development at designated assets, or in their 
setting, in line with national requirements.  
 
Designated heritage assets are an 
irreplaceable resource and should not be 
unnecessarily lost through redevelopment. 
The Local Planning Authority will seek to 
retain the Borough’s designated heritage 
assets and enhance their significance 
wherever possible, ensuring that they are 
put to viable uses consistent with their 
conservation. Proposals leading to 
substantial harm or total loss of a 
designated heritage asset will be resisted, 
and will only be permitted on an 
exceptional basis in accordance with Policy 
DP13 below. Where an asset has been 
deliberately neglected or damaged its 
deteriorated state will not be taken into 
account in decision-making. 
 

MM18 63 DP13:1 Delete Policy DP13 and replace as follows: 

1. Applicable development proposals will only 
be permitted where they conserve and 
enhance designated heritage assets 
(including listed buildings, scheduled 
monuments and conservation areas and 
their settings) and non-designated heritage 
assets of equivalent significance – 
particularly those of archaeological interest 
– and ensure development maintains or 
enhances the positive contribution made to 
the character, heritage and local 
distinctiveness in Dartford Borough.  

2. Where there are reasonable grounds to 
consider that development proposals may 
potentially have an impact on designated 
heritage assets (and/ or their setting), evidence 
should be included in the Design and Access 
Statement which demonstrates that all aspects 
of the historic character and distinctiveness of 
the locality have been fully assessed and used 
to inform proposals successfully, otherwise 
permission will be not be granted. This should 
assess: 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 

 

10 

 

a)  The significance of the heritage asset 

b)  The impact of the proposal on the 
significance of the heritage asset 

c)  The impact of the proposal on the setting of 
the heritage asset 

d)  How the significance and/ or setting of a 
heritage asset can be better revealed 

e)  Whether the benefits outweigh any harm 
caused to the heritage asset 

3. The installation of energy efficiency 
measures and micro‐renewables in historic 
buildings (including listed buildings) and in 
Conservation Areas will normally be permitted, 
provided that the impact on the heritage 
significance of the building or setting is not 
disproportionate to the benefit of the proposals. 

New policy text 

1. Designated heritage assets are an 
irreplaceable resource and should be 
conserved in a manner appropriate to 
their significance. A heritage 
statement should establish the 
significance of the heritage asset in 
order to enable an assessment of the 
impact of a development proposal. Any 
harm or loss will require clear and 
convincing justification. 

2. In determining planning applications, 
the Local Planning Authority will pay 
close regard to: 

a) the significance of the heritage 
asset; 

b) the desirability of maintaining and, 
where possible, enhancing significance; 
and 

c) the desirability of ensuring viable 
uses are found for heritage assets, 
consistent with their conservation. 

3. Where a proposal will lead to 
substantial harm or total loss of 
significance, permission will be refused 
unless it can be clearly demonstrated that 
the development is necessary for 
substantial public benefits to be achieved 
that will outweigh the harm or loss. 

4. Where a proposal will lead to less 
than substantial harm, this will be weighed 
against the public benefits of the proposal. 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 

 

11 

 

Listed Buildings 

5. Development proposals affecting 
statutorily listed buildings should have 
special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting. Loss 
of or harm to a statutorily listed building 
or its setting will only be permitted in 
exceptional circumstances in line with 
clauses 3 and 4 above. 

Conservation Areas 

6. Development proposals affecting a 
conservation area should pay special 
attention to the desirability of preserving 
or enhancing the character or appearance 
of that area. Proposals that would result in 
harm or loss of significance will be 
determined in line with clauses 3 and 4 
above. 

7. The demolition of any building in a 
conservation area will only be permitted 
where it is clear that it will not adversely 
affect the character and appearance of the 
area. 

Scheduled Monuments 

8. Development proposals affecting 
Scheduled Monuments will only be 
permitted where they clearly conserve the 
asset or enhance its significance. 
Proposals resulting in loss or harm will 
only be permitted on a wholly exceptional 
basis and in line with clauses 3 and 4 
above. 
 

MM19 64-68 DP14 
Supporting 
Text 
Paragraphs 
12.2, 12.7, 
12.15, 
12.16 

Amend supporting text paragraphs to Policy 
DP14 as follows: 
 
12.2     The Borough’s network of centres is 
identified through the development plan and 
shown on the Policies Map. Centres 
identified… 
 
12.7 National guidance seeks to promote 
economic development opportunities and notes 
the need to keep retail allocations under review. 
The Core Strategy recognises that an early 
review of retail policies would need to be 
undertaken as a result of major new 
communities planned to emerge in the Borough 
that may change established shopping patterns. 
The delayed delivery of housing and limited 
retail development as a result of the 
recession following adoption of the Core 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 

 

12 

 

Strategy meant that this was not 
previously appropriate. that it is currently 
too early to understand emerging trends. 
Consequently the Development Policies 
Plan sets out the whole Local Plan review 
is the appropriate juncture for reviewing 
retail policies. Preparation of the new Plan 
will commence in 2017 on adoption of the 
Development Policies Plan. this is being kept 
under active consideration; requiring a. A 
sufficient quantum of new residents and 
development locations to would enable a good 
appreciation of any shifts in shopping patterns, 
and the medium to longer term implications of 
trends, in context…. 
 
Add the  following paragraph after 12.7: 
 
In advance of a retail review through the 
Local Plan, Policy CS12 will continue to act 
as the basis for determining planning 
applications for retail and leisure 
development in the Borough. 
 
Amend end of Paragraph 12.15 as follows: 
 
… Development includes changes of use 
and variations to permissions/ 
agreements. 

Amend Paragraph 12.16 as follows: 

12.16 The Primary Sshopping Aareas is are 
shown on the Policies Map for Dartford Town 
Centre through the designated (made up of 
primary and secondary frontage) and at 
Bluewater, to help apply policy. 
 

MM20 68 DP14:1 Amend DP14 Clause 1 as follows: 
 
1. Ensuring investment is directed as planned 

towards centres, notably Dartford Town 
Centre, main town centre uses should be 
located sequentially and in accordance with 
policy CS12, considering sites within the 
Borough’s network of centres (key 
shopping areas) first…. 

 
MM21 68 DP14:2  Delete Policy DP14 Clause 2 and replace as 

follows: 
 
2. At Bluewater, retail development in the 
centre shown on the Policies Map will  normally 
be permitted where it is in accordance with 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 

 

13 

 

national and local policy (CS12:5&6), including 
through retail impact assessment, as required 
by CS12:5d. 
 
Confirmation of CS12 

2. Core Strategy policy CS12 identifies 
a network of shopping centres, 
including Dartford Town Centre and 
Bluewater, where shopping and 
leisure activity will be supported. 
Policy CS12:5d will be applied in the 
determination of proposals at 
Bluewater. 

 
MM22 69 DP14:new Insert new Clause into Policy DP14 as follows: 

 
Review  
3. An early review of retail policy will 

occur, as part of Dartford’s whole Local 
Plan review that will be produced in 
line with the Local Development 
Scheme. 

 
MM23 69 DP14:3 Insert sub-heading and re-number DP14 Clause 

3 as follows: 
 
Impact Assessment Outside of Centres 

4. 3 Outside of centres… 
 

MM24 69 DP14:4  Insert sub-heading and re-number DP14 Clause 
4 as follows: 
 
Optimal Design and Activities 

5. 4. At the ground floor in the Borough’s 
network of centres, a shop unit of 
suitable operational size for a range of 
occupiers should normally be 
maintained at the front of the premises, 
with a window frontage display retained 
where possible. Optimal Full use 
should be made of upper floors in 
developments. This clause is not 
intended to apply for purpose built 
indoor/ enclosed large shopping 
centres.  
 

MM25 76-77 DP16 
Paras 12.40, 
12.44 & 
12.45 

Amend supporting text to Policy DP16 as 
follows: 
 
12.40   Outside of the designated primary 
shopping frontage there are several 
development opportunities, plus designated 
secondary frontage also shown on the Policies 
Map. Development proposals that bring forward 
identified sites in Core Strategy Diagram 3 and 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 

 

14 

 

CS2 effectively and promptly, and efficiently 
reuse land, will be encouraged subject to 
meeting town centre objectives, suitable 
provision of main town centre uses 
(defined in the NPPF), and careful 
consideration of potential impacts on the 
Conservation Area. Ground floor residential 
development should seek to avoid loss of retail 
uses and must meet policy DP16:2. 
 
12.44    Additionally, business offices (B1), 
community uses such as clinic, health centres, 
galleries, education and training centres (D1), 
sports, recreation and leisure facilities such as 
cinemas, bingo hall and gym (D2), hotels (C1) 
and some sui generis uses for visiting members 
of the public and maintaining a window display 
reasonably found in shopping areas (for 
example betting shop, amusement arcade, 
tanning studio or taxi office), may be 
acceptable after careful consideration 
under will be permittedin the Secondary 
Frontages policy under, DP16:1b and 
requirements in DP14:5 for best design 
and use to maintain interest in the street 
scene. … 
 
12.45 …Residential dDevelopment should 
accord with DP15/16 and be of good quality 
design, as set out in other policies in this Plan 
with and also ensure appropriate parking 
provision in line with the Dartford Parking 
Standards SPD, separate and adequate access 
to the upper floor, and acceptable 
arrangements for refuse storage and collection. 

 
MM26 77-78 Policy DP16  Delete entire Policy DP16 and replace as 

follows: 
 
1. Within Secondary Frontages changes of use 

will be permitted:  
a) to Class A1-4 uses. 
b) to B1, D1, D2, C1 Class uses and other 

appropriate main town centre/ sui 
generis uses where in line with policies 
DP5, DP14:4 and DP19. 2.  

 
2. Residential-led (C-Class) development will 

be permitted only where it is shown to 
enhance the vitality of Dartford Town 
Centre and its regeneration; typically 
through providing active ground floor uses, 
with residential uses above and/ or behind, 
or in line with policy DP15:1. 

 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 

 

15 

 

 
Secondary Frontage 
1. In Dartford Town Centre’s secondary 

frontage, in order to support the 
vitality and viability of the centre, a 
predominance of A1-A4 uses will be 
supported.   
Other main town centre uses in the 
NPPF, as well as other non-residential 
institutions (D1), will be considered 
with respect to their contribution to 
the vitality and viability of the town 
centre and taking full account of the 
following criteria: 

a) The objective to retain a 
predominance of A1/2/3/4 uses 

b) The potential impact of the proposal 
on the strength of the retail and 
leisure function with regard to the 
width of frontage and prominence of 
the location 

c) The ability of the proposal to attract 
a high footfall during normal 
shopping hours, as compared to 
alternative active uses, and the 
potential of the use to encourage 
linked trips 

d) The synergy of the proposed use 
with other town centre uses 
(including, where appropriate 
compliance with DP19 and DP5) 

e) The ability of the proposal to 
maintain a shop-front 

Residential uses will be permissible 
through appropriate redevelopment, 
primarily above and behind frontages, 
where satisfying criteria a) – e). 

 
Non-designated Town Centre Frontage 

2. Outside of the designated frontages, 
a more diverse offer of main town 
centre uses as well as non-
residential institutions will be 
supported, subject to: 

a) demonstrating a contribution to 
improving the vitality and viability of 
the town centre, including through 
marketing evidence. 

b) demonstrating that the proposal 
would not result in a concentration 
of any one non-retail or leisure use 

c) compliance with other Local Plan 
policies. 

Residential uses will be encouraged as 
part of a wider mix of active uses, 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 

 

16 

 

subject to promoting active street 
frontages and a variety of uses at 
street level. 

 
MM27 95 DP22 Para 

15.8 
Amend Paragraph 15.8 as follows: 
 
15.8 To manage proposed equine uses and 
structures in the Green Belt, provisions are set 
out at DP22:9 13 below. This requires suitable 
land and an acceptable location. Sufficient land 
should be available for grazing plus a separately 
fenced exercise area, proportionate to the 
quantity of horses. The Lighting 
arrangements should be designed to avoid 
adverse environmental impacts, and the 
stable building, food/ bedding stores and 
manure bay should not be in the proximity of 
neighbours where it would have a significant 
adverse impact on their residential amenity. 
 

MM28 95-97 Policy DP22 
 

Delete entire Policy DP22 and replace as 
follows: 

1. Dartford’s Green Belt is shown on the 
Policies Map, and its essential 
characteristics are its openness and 
permanence. Inappropriate development in 
the Green Belt, will be resisted in 
accordance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF). 

2. Developments defined by the NPPF as 
potentially not inappropriate, and proposed 
changes of use, will be assessed to 
establish potential harm to the Green Belt 
using the following criteria: 

a) extent of the impact on the openness of 
the Green Belt 

b) extent of intensification of the use of the 
site 

c) impact of an increase in activity and 
disturbance resulting from the 
development, both on and off the site, 
including traffic movement and parking, 
light pollution and noise  

d) impact on biodiversity and wildlife 

e) impact on visual amenity or character 
taking into account the extent of 
screening required 

f) impacts that arise from infrastructure 
required by the development 

3. Developments defined by the NPPF as not 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 

 

17 

 

inappropriate will be supported where they 
contribute to the Core Strategy policy 
(CS13) objective of conserving the Green 
Belt as a recreational, ecological and 
agricultural resource and providing they 
meet the criteria below together with 
complying with other policies. 

4. Any re-use, extension or alteration of a  
building will only be permitted where it 
relates to an existing permitted permanent 
building of substantial construction, 
preserves openness and does not conflict 
with the purposes of keeping land in the 
Green Belt. 

5. Applications for re-use should take into 
account the character and scale of the 
existing building(s). In circumstances 
where character and scale are important to 
the local setting, excessive external 
alterations and additions will not be 
permitted. 

6. Extensions to buildings or infilling of 
previously developed sites in the Green Belt 
will be assessed with regard to their 
individual impacts and merits, and: 

a) will only be acceptable where they are 
proportionate and subservient in 
appearance, bulk, massing and scale of 
the original building(s). 

b) extensions to a dwelling should generally 
constitute no more than 30% volume 
of the original dwelling (where planning 
permission is required) 

c) developments which lead to over-
intensification of the use of the site will 
not be permitted. 

7. The replacement of a building will only be 
permitted where the new building will 
continue in the same use and any proposed 
increase in size does not create a materially 
greater impact in appearance, bulk, 
massing or scale than the previous 
building. For replacement dwellings this will 
generally be limited to expansion of no 
more than 30% volume of the original 
dwelling. 

8. Concerning agriculture and farming in the 
Green Belt, development should not result 
in the loss of the best and most versatile 
agricultural land, and:  



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 

 

18 

 

a) Development should not impede the 
continuation of lawfully existing 
agricultural development and land use. 

b) Change of use of an agricultural building 
should, where planning permission   is 
required, demonstrate it is no longer 
needed for its current or intended 
agricultural use and should not result in 
a need to create any further building to 
replace it. 

c) New agricultural buildings will only be 
permitted where it can be 
demonstrated that there is a need for 
the proposed development and they 
are sited and designed to minimise 
their impact. 

9. Proposals for farm diversification, including 
shops, processing, workshops or sports and 
recreation, should be ancillary to the main 
use. It should be demonstrated that the 
activity is related to the main farm use and 
that the proposal will not create a need for 
new buildings or supporting infrastructure 
and facilities that may harm the character 
of the Green Belt. 

10. Proposals for the use of land for horses or 
for the erection of stables and associated 
facilities will be carefully considered. 
Assessment will include the location, 
layout/ quality of provision and landscaping 
proposed. 

11. Proposals for outdoor sport and recreation 
should not materially impact on the 
character, openness or amenity of the 
Green Belt or result in a deterioration of 
the land, landscape or biodiversity. The 
scale, siting, design, use and level of 
activity of built recreation development will 
be taken into account when assessing the 
impact of a proposal. 

12. Development and activities associated with 
outdoor sport and recreation should not be 
dependent on supporting infrastructure and 
facilities that unacceptably harm the 
character of the Green Belt. Supporting 
infrastructure and facilities in the Green 
Belt which may not be inappropriate should 
be directly associated with the related use 
and be of a scale, quality and design to 
minimise their impact.   

 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 

 

19 

 

New policy text 

1. Dartford’s Green Belt is shown on the 
Policies Map, and its essential 
characteristics are its openness and 
permanence. Inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt will be 
resisted in accordance with national 
planning policy. 

2. Inappropriate development is by 
definition harmful to the Green Belt 
and will only be approved in very 
special circumstances. Very special 
circumstances will not exist unless 
potential harm to the Green Belt by 
reason of inappropriateness, and any 
other harm, is clearly outweighed by 
other considerations. 

3. In assessing other harm, the Local 
Planning Authority will use the 
following criteria: 

a) the extent of intensification of the 
use of the site; 

b) the impact of an increase in activity 
and disturbance resulting from the 
development, both on and off the site, 
including traffic movement and 
parking, light pollution and noise;  

c) the impact on biodiversity and 
wildlife; 

d) the impact on visual amenity or 
character taking into account the 
extent of screening required; 

e) impacts arising from infrastructure 
required by the development. 

4. Where developments are considered 
not inappropriate in line with national 
planning policy, they will be supported 
where they contribute to the Core 
Strategy (CS13) policy objective of 
conserving the Green Belt as a 
recreational, ecological and 
agricultural resource. Such 
developments will also be assessed 
against the following clauses where 
applicable. 

Re-use of buildings 

5. Applications for re-use should relate to 
lawful permanent buildings of 
substantial construction. They should 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 

 

20 

 

take into account the character and 
scale of the existing building(s). In 
circumstances where character and 
scale are important to the local setting, 
excessive external alterations and 
additions will not be permitted. 

Replacement Buildings 

6. The replacement of a building will be 
permitted where: 

a) The replacement building remains in 
the same use; and 

b) The replacement building will not be 
materially larger than the existing 
building it replaces, taking into 
account bulk, height, massing and 
scale.  As a replacement, the 
building should be limited to an 
expansion of no more than 30% 
volume of the original building. 

Extensions to Buildings 

7. Extensions to buildings will be 
permitted where: 
a) They are proportionate and 

subservient in appearance, bulk, 
massing and scale of the original 
building; and 

b) The proposal would not result in a 
disproportionate addition to the 
original building. The extension 
must constitute no more than a 30% 
volumetric increase over and above 
the original building, and 
maximising the footprint of the 
building will not be appropriate in 
every circumstance. 

 

Infilling or redevelopment of previously 
developed sites 

8. Proposals should not have a greater 
impact on the openness of the Green 
Belt and the purpose of including land 
within it than the existing 
development. Developments that lead 
to over-intensification of the site will 
not be permitted. 

 

Agricultural development 

9. Development should not result in the 
loss of the best and most versatile 
agricultural land and should not 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 

 

21 

 

impede the continuation of a lawfully 
existing agricultural development and/ 
or land use. 
 

10. The change of use of an agricultural 
building should, where planning 
permission is required, demonstrate it 
is no longer needed for its current or 
intended agricultural use and should 
not result in a need to create any 
further building(s) to replace it. 
 

11. New agricultural buildings will be 
permitted where it can be 
demonstrated that there is a need for 
the proposed development and where 
they are sited and designed to 
minimise their impacts as outlined in 
Clause 3. 
 

12. Proposals for farm diversification, 
including shops, processing, 
workshops or sports and recreation, 
should be ancillary to the existing main 
use. It should be demonstrated that 
the activity is related to the main farm 
use and that the proposal will not 
create the need for new buildings or 
supporting infrastructure and facilities 
that may harm rural character. 

 
Equine development 

13. Proposals for the use of land for horses 
or for the erection of stables and 
associated facilities and/or operational 
development will be carefully 
considered. Assessment will include 
the location/ layout of all structures; 
and quality of the provision and 
landscaping proposed. 

 
Development for outdoor sport and 
recreation 

14. Proposals for outdoor sport and 
recreation should not materially 
impact on the character and amenity of 
the locality or result in the 
deterioration of the land, landscape or 
biodiversity. The scale, siting, design, 
use and level of activity of built 
recreation development will be taken 
into account when assessing the 
impact of a proposal. 
 



Dartford Development Policies Plan, Inspector’s Report, June 2017 

 

22 

 

15. Supporting infrastructure and facilities 
should not unacceptably harm local 
character. They should be directly 
associated with the main use and be of 
a scale, quality and design to minimise 
their impact. 

 
MM29 122 Appendix D: 

Glossary 
Amend Glossary as follows: 

Sufficient Effective Marketing: To be sufficient 
for the purposes of this plan “effective 
marketing” means continuous proactive 
marketing for a period of an appropriate 
period, but not exceeding 12 months, or 
more both  using a professional agent and an 
appropriate range of on line, on site and other 
advertising media. The asking price should, 
throughout the 12 month period, be shown to 
be reasonable for the property and location, 
and to reflect the market value of the uses 
currently required under policy. In District and 
Neighbourhood Centres, if the latest 
Authority Monitoring Report indicates the 
relevant centre has a vacancy level 
exceeding 10%, then a sufficient effective 
marketing period of 6 months or more 
would be acceptable. 

 

 





CABINET
29 JUNE 2017

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
17 JULY 2017

CAPITAL PROGRAMME INCLUDING PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS - 
OUTTURN 2016/2017

1. Summary

1.1 To inform Cabinet of the final pre-audit figures for the 2016/17 Capital Programme, 
the capital resources that were used to fund it and those that remain available to 
fund future investment. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1. That Cabinet note the draft outturn for the Capital Programme for 2016/17.

2.2. That Cabinet note the draft outturn position for 2016/17 on Capital resources, and 
the balance available to be carried forward into 2017/18.

2.3. That the General Assembly of the Council be asked to agree the capital budgets 
carried forward into 2017/18, as set out in Appendix C.

2.4. That Cabinet note the outturn position on the Capital Prudential Indicators as 
shown in Appendix D.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The original budget for the 2016/17 Capital Programme was approved by 
the Council on 22 February 2016 at £11,857,000, and was later increased 
by the General Assembly of the Council to include funding for continuing 
projects carried forward from 2015/16. The final approved budget for the 
year was £12,506,000.

3.2. The probable outturn of £11,113,000 was reported to the GAC on 27 
February 2017.

3.3. The final outturn on the Capital Programme was £10,188,643. 

3.4. Appendix A details the outturn for 2016/17, and the resources available to 
fund future years’ projects which specifically relate to Housing; Appendix B 
gives the same information for all other projects. Both show the:

 Current Approved Budget – the original budget plus any approved 
virements during the year.

 Probable Outturn – the indicative outturn position as reported to 
the General Assembly of the Council on 27 February 2017.



CABINET
29 JUNE 2017

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
17 JULY 2017

 Outturn – the actual outturn for the year.

 Variance – the difference between probable and actual outturn

 Resources: showing the resources brought forward from earlier 
periods, those added in the year, how much was used to finance 
capital expenditure in 2016/17, and the amount available to be 
carried forward to fund future expenditure.

Appendix C shows the residual budget requirement necessary to complete 
2016/17 projects, which will be carried forward into 2017/18. There is a brief 
commentary on each of these schemes below, apart from the Private Sector 
Renewal scheme; here, it is proposed that £19,000 of external grant funding 
be carried forward to be spent on energy efficiency measures for vulnerable 
households.

Appendix D shows the outturn position on the Capital Prudential Indicators.

3.5 Reasons for the main variances (over £50,000 in value) between the 
probable outturn and the actual outturn are detailed below:

Council Housing Projects - underspend of £753,000
Overall, there was an underspend of £753,000 against the estimate.  As the 
HRA capital programme is largely funded from its own revenue resources, 
the sum underspent is retained as balances within the HRA for use in future 
years. 

The major individual variances within this sum were as follows:

Roof/Chimney Renewal - underspend of £543,000: a national shortage of 
roof tiles made it difficult to source materials for the contract, and led to a 
reduction in the number of roofs completed. 

Fascia/Soffit Replacement - overspend of £205,000: a number of fascias 
and soffits relating to communal roofs were charged here rather than to the 
communal areas budget.

Communal Areas – underspend of £607,000: it became necessary to re-
tender this contract during the year following the withdrawal of the winning 
tenderer. The new contractor is currently on site and work is now 
progressing. The underspend will be carried forward into 2017/18.

Major Repairs – underspend of £60,000:  no significant structural issues – 
apart from those separately dealt with as schemes within their own right - 
were discovered in the stock during the year. 

New Homes - overspend of £219,000:  the Probable Outturn was set using 
the best information available at that time – from both the contractors and 



CABINET
29 JUNE 2017

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
17 JULY 2017

consultants. However, it is an ongoing scheme, and it is difficult to estimate 
the exact quantum of works that will be completed by a future date; progress 
on the new scheme at Coleridge Road progressed more quickly than had 
been anticipated. The final spend was £219,000 higher than budget, and 
£215,000 more than was required under the retained receipts agreement; 
this will reduce the amount required to be spent (under the Capital Receipts 
agreement with DCLG) in the first quarter of 2017/18.

Backlog
There is still a backlog of HRA repairs. As at 31 March 2017 this stood at 
£3.6m (£4.2m in 2015/16). These repairs are continuously reviewed and 
updated by the Housing Maintenance Manager and are included in 
programmes of work, as appropriate. A sum of £7m is set aside each year 
for works to the existing HRA stock and it is considered that the backlog 
sum is manageable in the context of the overall capital and revenue works 
programmes.

General Fund Projects: overall, the programme underspent against the 
projection by £0.99m; the notable variances are discussed below:

Acacia: overspend of £61,000:  this scheme has evolved during the 
course of the year, and a number of additional, specialist consultancies 
were procured 

Stone Lodge: underspend of £60,000: it has taken time to develop 
concrete ideas for the development of this complex site, therefore less 
money was spent on consultants that had been envisaged; also, the nature 
of some of the consultancy work meant that some costs were charged to 
revenue. The underspend of £60,000 will be carried forward into 2017/18.  

Disabled Facilities Grants – underspend of £144,000: the Council was 
notified that the grant it would receive from Kent County Council (KCC) was 
£469,000; of this sum, KCC retained £75,000 for the better care fund, and 
passed the rest onto the Council. The Council was not advised of the 
arrangements for the better care fund until after the budget had been 
published; leaving this element out of the equation, the underspend on the 
amount of budget that was controllable by the Council was £68,000.These 
cases are often complex and involve the input of a variety of external 
agencies/ contractors such as KCC Occupational Therapists (OTs), Home 
Improvement Agency, contractors (often specialists in a particular field), as 
well as the Planning Department, Building Control and sometimes 
Highways. For these reasons, which are largely outside of the Council’s 
direct control, some cases can take time to progress to completion. A 
particular issue has been that over the last few years there has been a 
severe shortage of KCC OTs who send through the recommendations for a 
Client’s DFG application. As a result, and with the broadening out of the use 
of Better Care Fund DFG monies allocated to LAs,  the Council took the 
decision to second a OT on a part time basis, with effect from 12 September 



CABINET
29 JUNE 2017

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
17 JULY 2017

2016 to the end of the financial year.31 March 2017. This arrangement has 
been very effective and resulted in almost twice as many cases being 
processed during the secondment period than in the period 1 April to 11 
September 2016 when KCC OT’s were being used. The maximum wait time 
for an assessment was reduced to 1 week and there is no waiting list of 
cases. The secondment of a part time OT to work solely on Dartford 
borough DFG cases has been agreed for the financial year 2017/18 which 
should result in an increase in spend. 

It is recommended that the underspend be carried forward into 2017/18.

3.6 Capital Resources

3.6.1 Capital receipts of £3,651,000 mainly arising from sales of land at The 
Bridge, plus a number of redemptions relating to the discounted sale 
scheme, also at The Bridge, were received during the year. 

3.6.2 Right to Buy sales: a total of 29 properties were sold during the year, 
compared with 22 in 2015/16. These sales produced a capital receipt of 
£3,123,240, of which £408,850 was paid to DCLG under legislation 
concerning the pooling of housing capital receipts. In addition, a repayment 
of discount and mortgage receipts contributed £47,716. Of the remaining 
£2,762,106, a sum of £1,986,090 is earmarked as “one for one” receipts and 
must be used on the provision of new social housing within three years of 
receipt, and match-funded in a ratio of 30:70 from other eligible funding 
sources. The Council has a new-build programme, funded from these 
receipts, in its capital programme.

3.6.3 The balance of usable receipts for general use to be carried forward into 
2017/18 is £4.492m, while that of receipts restricted to 
Housing/Regeneration schemes stands at £4.724m (inclusive of the one-for-
one receipts), making a total of £9.216m available to invest in the Council’s 
assets. 

3.6.4 Unapplied capital grants totalling £0.348m are being carried forward into 
2017/18 and are available to finance future expenditure. 

3.6.5 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) capital receipts of £2.386m are also 
held, to be used on future projects to be agreed by Cabinet.

4 Relationship to the Corporate Plan

The capital programme covers many individual projects and will contribute to 
meeting many of the objectives in the Corporate Plan.



CABINET
29 JUNE 2017

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
17 JULY 2017

5 Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications The draft outturn on capital funded projects for 
2016/17 was £10.188m, and the capital resources to 
be carried forward into 2017/18 total £9.216m 
(inclusive of £4.7m ‘141 receipts’). 
Because the projects listed in Appendix C were not 
completed in 2016/17, Cabinet is asked to 
recommend to GAC the approval of an overall 
increase in the 2017/18 capital budget of £0.851m. 
The 2017/18 Capital Monitoring report, also on the 
Cabinet agenda, shows the latest capital funding 
position including capital receipts received to date.

Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications None
Administrative 
Implications

None

Risk Assessment The accounts are in draft and subject to audit

6 Appendices

Appendix A - Capital Programme, Budget and Resources– Housing Projects 
2016/17

Appendix B - Capital Programme, Budget and Resources – Other Projects 
2016/17

Appendix C - Capital Budgets - Proposed Carry Forward into 2017/18

Appendix D - Capital Prudential Indicators 2016/17

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File
 Ref

Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Helen Griffith
01322 343375

Financial Services
Internal Services

N/A





APPENDIX A

CAPITAL PROGRAMME - BUDGET, OUTTURN & RESOURCES

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 2016/2017
CURRENT PROBABLE 

BUDGET  OUTTURN  OUTTURN
2016/2017 2016/2017 2016/2017 VARIANCE

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s

COUNCIL HOUSING PROJECTS

Disabled Adaptations 250 250 261 11

Decent Homes Works:

  Central Heating 737 737 723 (14)

  Rewiring 828 828 880 52

  Asbestos Removal 75 150 181 31

  Rising Main replacement 25 50 3 (47)

  Replacement Doors 50 54 61 7

  Kitchens and Bathrooms 937 937 970 33

  Door Entry Systems 0 5 0 (5)

  Fascia/Soffit Replacement 246 246 451 205

  Roof/Chimney Renewal 2,028 2,028 1,485 (543)

  Cold Water Storage/Mains Supply 50 20 0 (20)

  Communal Areas 1,080 1,080 473 (607)

  Retrofix Programme 55 105 90 (15)

  Major Repairs 275 190 130 (60)

Other Projects:

 New Homes 2,180 2,180 2,399 219

 Handyman Van 19 10 10 0

 Purchase HRA dwelling 0 180 180 0

SUB TOTAL : COUNCIL HOUSING  PROJECTS 8,835 9,050 8,297 (753)

Resources
Brought
Forward

Additions
in Year

Used to Fund
Capital

Expenditure
Carried
forward

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s

Usable Receipts (restricted) 225 40 (241) 24
1-4-1 Receipts (set aside for investment in
new-build housing) 3,434 1,986 (720) 4,700

Major Repairs Reserve 0 3,061 (3,061) 0

Contribution from Revenue 0 4,275 (4,275) 0

3,659 9,362 (8,297) 4,724



APPENDIX B

CAPITAL PROGRAMME - BUDGET, OUTTURN & RESOURCES
GENERAL FUND 2016/2017

CURRENT PROBABLE
BUDGET  OUTTURN  OUTTURN

2016/2017 2016/2017 2016/2017 VARIANCE
£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s

Capital Projects

Acacia Hall - property improvements 1,497 200 261 61
IT Equipment 107 107 110 3
The Orchard Theatre 50 0 18 18
Other Corporate Properties 30 0 31 31
Town Centre Heritage Scheme 200 0 0 0
Community Facilities
Fairfield Pool 30 20 0 (20)
Cricket Pavilion 25 0 0 0
Princes Park Community Pitch 200 196 196 0
Central Park 13 7 7 0
Green Deal 831 831 810 (21)
Stone Lodge 100 70 10 (60)
Pedestrian Bridge - Northern Gateway 100 0 0 0
Housing Projects:

Disabled Facilities Grant - KCC funded 469 469 325 (144)

Private Sector Renewal 19 19 0 (19)
Total General Fund Projects 3,671 1,919 1,768 (151)

Reserve/Externally-funded projects:
Wayfinding 0 120 56 (64)
Swanscombe Pavilion Boiler 0 24 26 2
Park Ranger Vehicle 0 0 22 22
Playground Equipment 0 0 19 19

0 144 123 (21)

Resources
Brought
Forward

Additions
in Year

Used to Fund
Capital

Expenditure
Carried
forward

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s

Capital Receipts (net of pooling) 246 4,426 (180) 4,492
Grants & Contributions 1,513 498 (1,663) 348
Grants & Contributions - CIL 1,115 1,271 0 2,386
Revenue Contribution 0 48 (48) 0

2,874 6,243 (1,891) 7,226



APPENDIX C

CAPITAL BUDGETS - PROPOSED CARRY-FORWARD INTO 2017/18

Probable
Outturn

2016/17
Outturn

2016/17

Proposed
carry-forward

to 2017/18 

Budget
Approved

2017/18

Proposed
Revised
Budget

2017/18

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Projects with variances from Probable Outturn
requiring budget carry-forward:

Housing Revenue Account
Communal Areas 1,080 473 607 965 1,572
General Fund:
Green Deal 831 810 21 0 21
Stone Lodge 70 10 60 0 60
Disabled Facilities Grants 469 325 144 400 544
Private Sector Renewal 19 0 19 0 19

2,469 1,618 851 1,365 2,216





Appendix D 

1

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2016/17

Prudential Indicators 2016/17

The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Authority to have regard to the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
Authorities (the Prudential Code) when determining how much money it can afford to borrow. 
The objectives of the Prudential Code are to ensure, within a clear framework, that the 
capital investment plans of local authorities are affordable, prudent and sustainable, and that 
treasury management decisions are taken in accordance with good professional practice. To 
demonstrate that the Authority has fulfilled these objectives, the Prudential Code sets out the 
following indicators that must be set and monitored each year.

Estimates of Capital Expenditure: The Authority’s capital expenditure and financing may 
be summarised as follows.  

Capital Expenditure and 
Financing

2016/17 
Actual

£m

2017/18 
Estimate

£m

2018/19 
Estimate

£m

General Fund 1.892 10.006 5.221

HRA 8.297 12.210 10.216

Total Expenditure 10.189 22.216 15.437

Capital Receipts* 1.141 10.638 5.808

Government Grants 1.664 1.051  0.498

Reserves 3.109 2.400 2.400

Revenue 4.275 8.127 6.731

Total Financing 10.189 22.216 15.437
*if sufficient capital receipts do not arise, expenditure may be curtailed or be funded from reserves and/or borrowing.

Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement: The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) measures 
the Authority’s underlying need to borrow for a capital purpose. 

Capital Financing 
Requirement

31.03.17
Actual

£m

31.03.18 
Estimate

£m

31.03.19
Estimate

£m

General Fund 3.831 3.831 3.831

HRA 62.057 57,644 53,201

Total CFR 65.888 61.475 57.032

The CFR is forecast to fall by £8.856m over the next two years as capital expenditure financed by 
debt is outweighed by resources put aside for debt repayment.



Appendix D 

2

Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement: In order to ensure that, over the medium 
term, debt will only be for a capital purpose, the Authority should ensure that debt does not, except in 
the short term, exceed the total of capital financing requirement in the preceding year plus the 
estimates of any additional capital financing requirement for the current and next two financial years. 
This is a key indicator of prudence.

Debt
31.03.17
Actual

£m

31.03.18
Estimate

£m

31.03.19
Estimate

£m

Borrowing 64.736 60.292 55.849

Total Debt 64.736 60.292 55.849

Total debt is expected to remain below the CFR during the forecast period.  

Operational Boundary for External Debt: The operational boundary is based on the Authority’s 
estimate of most likely (i.e. prudent but not worst case) scenario for external debt. It links directly to 
the Authority’s estimates of capital expenditure, the capital financing requirement and cash flow 
requirements, and is a key management tool for in-year monitoring.  Other long-term liabilities 
comprise finance leases and other liabilities that are not borrowing but form part of the Authority’s 
debt. The level set includes an allowance for the possibility of significant payments due to successful 
business rate appeals.

Operational Boundary 2016/17 
£m

2017/18 
£m

2018/19 
£m

Borrowing 100 100 100

Other long-term liabilities 0 0 0

Total Debt 100 100 100

Authorised Limit for External Debt: The authorised limit is the affordable borrowing limit determined 
in compliance with the Local Government Act 2003.  It is the maximum amount of debt that the 
Authority can legally owe.  The authorised limit provides headroom over and above the operational 
boundary for unusual cash movements.

Authorised Limit 2016/17 
£m

2017/18 
£m

2018/19 
£m

2019/20 
£m

Borrowing 120 120 120 120

Other long-term liabilities 0 0 0 0

Total Debt 121 125 125 125



Appendix D 

3

Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream: This is an indicator of affordability and highlights 
the revenue implications of existing and proposed capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of 
the revenue budget required to meet financing costs, net of investment income.

Ratio of Financing Costs 
to Net Revenue Stream

2016/17 
Revised

%

2017/18 
Estimate

%

2018/19 
Estimate

%

General Fund -9.60 -4.72 -9.07

HRA 8.00 7.78 7.40

The General Fund ratio is negative because revenues exceed financing costs. 

Incremental Impact of Capital Investment Decisions: This is an indicator of affordability that shows 
the impact of capital investment decisions on Council Tax and housing rent levels. The incremental 
impact is the difference between the total revenue budget requirement of the current approved capital 
programme and the revenue budget requirement arising from it. 

Incremental Impact of Capital 
Investment Decisions

2017/18 
Estimate

£

2018/19 
Estimate

£

2019/20 
Estimate

£
General Fund - increase in annual 
band D Council Tax (0.08) 0.04 0.04

HRA - increase in average weekly 
rents (if applicable)* 0 0 0

*Not applicable in the HRA as the rents are set according to the government guidelines, which are 
not impacted upon by capital expenditure levels.

Adoption of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code: The Authority adopted the Chartered Institute 
of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 
2011 Edition at its annual budget-setting meeting on 27 February 2012.





GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
17 July 2017

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2016 - 2017

1. Summary

1.1 To consider the work carried out by the Scrutiny Committee during the last 
municipal year.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2016-2017 be noted.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. In accordance with the Terms of Reference of the Committee, the 
Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2016-2017 and its Appendices is 
attached as Appendix A for consideration.

3.2. The Committee considered the report at its meeting held on 23 May 
2017 and recommended that the report be noted. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

7. Appendices

A – Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2016-2017 and its Appendices.



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
17 July 2017

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Scrutiny Committee Agenda 
and Minutes (2016-2017)

Alan Twyman
(01322) 343430

Member 
Services

N/A



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
23 May 2017

                                              
Appendix A

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2016-17

1. Summary

To consider the work carried out by the Scrutiny Committee during the 2016-17   
municipal cycle.

2. RECOMMENDATION

That subject to any amendments proposed by Members, the Committee’s Annual 
Report for 2016–17 [attached as Appendix A to this report] be agreed and 
submitted to the next meeting of the General Assembly of the Council. 

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Scrutiny Committee’s Protocol and Terms of Reference (ToRs) as 
confirmed at Annual Council each year requires the Committee to report 
annually to the General Assembly of the Council on its work. 

3.2. A copy of the Scrutiny Committee’s draft Annual Report for the 2016-17 
municipal cycle is attached at Appendix A for consideration.  The Scrutiny 
Committee’s current Protocol and Terms of Reference (ToRs) are attached 
as Appendices B and C respectively. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan
Not applicable.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category
Not applicable

7. Appendices
Appendix A – draft Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2016-17;
Appendix B – Scrutiny Protocol [February 2016];
Appendix C – Terms of Reference (ToRs) [10 May 2017]



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
23 May 2017

                                              

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Scrutiny Committee Annual 
Report 2015-16, Agendas and 
Minutes (Sept. 2016 – Feb. 
2017), current Scrutiny Protocol 
and ToRs.

May 2017 David Hook
Committee Coordinator

Member Services 
(01322 343276)

Member 
Services/

Monitoring 
Officer

N/A



Appendix A

SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

  Annual Report 2016-17



Introduction and Background

The Council appointed the Scrutiny Committee in response to the Local 
Government Act 2000 in order to introduce more democracy into the decision 
making process and to ensure that those who make decisions are held 
accountable. 

The Committee performs the scrutiny function on behalf of the Council in 
accordance with the guidelines contained in its Protocol and Terms of 
Reference (ToR) documents as confirmed at Annual Council each year 
(attached to this report as Appendix B and C respectively). 

The Committee’s remit is to contribute to improving Council services by 
holding decision makers to account to the ultimate benefit of the residents of 
the Borough. To achieve this aim the Committee may:

 Review and question Cabinet Members and Officers about decisions 
and performance;

 Scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation to its policy, 
objectives, performance targets and /or particular service areas;

 Make recommendations to the Cabinet, the Council etc. arising from 
the outcome of the scrutiny process. 

Work carried out by the Scrutiny Committee compliments the work of the 
Crime and Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) and Policy Overview Committees, 
whose remits are set out in their respective Protocol and ToR documents. In 
compiling its work programme for the ensuing municipal year the Scrutiny 
Committee aims to avoid duplicating any work being undertaken by its sister 
Committees. 

The Committee’s Protocol requires it to report to the Council annually on the 
work it has undertaken in the preceding municipal year. This Annual Report 
provides a summary of the Committee’s work undertaken during the 
preceding 2016-17 municipal year. A comprehensive record of all the 
Committee’s deliberations in the period under review is contained in the 
Minutes of their meetings, as published in full on the Council’s website.

Annual Report for 2015-16 

On 13 September 2016 at the first meeting in the 2016-17 municipal cycle the 
Committee noted the contents of the draft Scrutiny Annual Report for the 
preceding 2015-16 municipal year and agreed that it be referred to the 
General Assembly of the Council for approval.



WORK PROGRAMME REVIEW 2016-17

The Committee is responsible for setting its own Work Programme for the 
ensuing municipal year and compiling an initial Work Plan for review at each 
subsequent meeting in the existing cycle. 

On 13 September 2016 at the first meeting in the 2016-17 municipal cycle the 
Committee agreed an initial Work Plan (WP) document. Details of the entire 
programme of work undertaken by the Committee in the period under review 
are set out below. 

The Committee met 3 times during the 2016-17 municipal year to receive 
reports on individual WP items and other topics drawn-down on an ad-hoc 
basis with the prior agreement of the Managing Director. Members also noted 
the published Regulation 9 Notice (formerly the Forward Plan) at each 
meeting, in addition to updating the Committee’s Work Plan on a rolling basis.  

WORK PLAN Items considered during the 2016-17 MUNICIPAL YEAR

13 September 2016

Item 1: Dartford Cricket Club in Hesketh Park [WP Update]

Members were reminded by the Chairman that the Committee had first drawn-
down the topic for scrutiny in July 2014, following the decision by Cabinet to 
invest some £1M in the construction of a new cricket pavilion in Hesketh Park, 
Dartford. Following that initial scrutiny the Committee had expressed a wish to 
see discernible and measurable outcomes for the Council’s significant capital 
investment, in terms of youth development and health benefits to the wider 
Dartford community, and had added the topic into its rolling Work Programme 
with a request that Officers provide the Committee with an annual update 
report, once the construction phase for the Pavilion had been completed and 
Dartford Cricket Club (DCC) [as tenant] had taken over the management of 
the new facility.

Also on 13 September 2016 the Committee received its first (verbal) update 
report from the Council’s Policy & Corporate Support Manager (P&CSM) 
together with Mr Jim Lowrie, Chairman of Dartford Cricket Club (DCC) as 
tenant of the new Pavilion. Principal points covered by the P&CSM included:

 The Grant Funding of £1M to build the new Cricket Pavilion in Hesketh 
Park had formed part of the Council’s wider Community Facilities 
Programme for 2014-15;



 The new Pavilion had been completed in April/May 2015 to schedule 
and had been in operation for some twelve (12) months under the 
auspices of Dartford Cricket Club (DCC) as tenant;

 The Pavilion was owned by the Council and DCC [as tenant] operated 
the new facility under a commercial leasing arrangement with the 
Council;

 The old Pavilion had long ceased to be ‘fit for purpose’ and had 
become a restriction to the development of DCC to the stage that, 
without new and improved facilities the Club had faced probable 
extinction within the next 5 year period;

 The new Pavilion had enabled DCC to immediately expand both its 
sporting potential and ability to play a fuller role in support of a number 
of Health & Wellbeing initiatives across the Borough, which were now 
beginning to achieve positive results;

 As tenant of the new Pavilion facility DCC did not provide a service to 
the Council, consequently setting ‘targets’ for the Club to achieve in 
terms of increased community participation in sporting programmes 
and activities was not  appropriate.

The Chairman acknowledged the points made by the P&CSM but maintained 
his view that the Council’s allocation of £1M of Council Tax monies to build 
the new Cricket Pavilion in Hesketh Park should remain subject to transparent 
scrutiny by the Committee and that clear outcomes should be set to justify the 
Council’s capital investment and demonstrate how the significant financial 
outlay helped to meet relevant Objectives in the Council’s Corporate Plan.

In response to the Chairman’s continued expression of concern, the P&CSM 
emphasised the following further points for the Committee:

 the new Pavilion represented a Council asset that would only increase 
in value in future years;

 the Pavilion also generated income for the Council through continued 
leasing arrangements with Dartford Cricket Club (DCC);

 Cabinet had decided that DCC (with its sporting expertise) would take 
the lead in the development and range of new activities provided at the 
new Pavilion facility going forward;

 DCC’s expertise in the sporting field was a tangible benefit to the 
Council which the Club [as tenant] was providing free of charge;

 ‘Target setting’ by the Council for the Club as tenant was not 
appropriate, e.g. Council house tenants were not set targets for their 
occupancy;

 The Council’s Leisure & Communities Officer held regular meetings 
with the Club as they took their various initiatives for greater community 
involvement in the new Hesketh Park Pavilion facility forward, and 
provided a ‘monitoring’ role for the Council in this respect; 

 The Council’s arrangements with Dartford Football Club (DFC) in 
Princes Park were not comparable to the arrangements with DCC [as 
tenant] of the new Pavilion in Hesketh Park. DFC provided a service to 
the Council for Princes Park as a whole, and that service was governed 
by the terms of a formal Service Level Agreement (SLA) which 
included targets to be met by DFC and performance against those 
targets was reviewed annually by the Scrutiny Committee.



Members were also briefed, separately, by the Chairman of Dartford Cricket 
Club Mr Jim Lowrie, on specific measures that the Club had taken to increase 
community participation in the enhanced facilities available at the new 
Pavilion:

 Growth of  the Schools Programme to help meet demand in the second 
full year of the new Pavilion’s operation;

 Continued promotion of the Afro-Caribbean and Asian cricket team at 
Hesketh Park and the development of a Jamaican exchange 
programme, with Dartford players visiting the Caribbean and Jamaican 
players paying return visits to Dartford;

 Continued use by Dartford Road Runners and Dartford Cycle Club of 
the new Pavilion facilities during the Winter months;

 Increased community bookings for the new Pavilion facilities in the first 
12 months of operation, in comparison to the previous 12 months in 
the old pavilion facility.

The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Events, Leisure and Heritage also addressed 
the Committee. She advised that the general aim of Cabinet (in terms of a 
return on the Council’s capital investment) was to increase the number of 
boys and girls using the new Pavilion facilities on a year on year basis. No 
specific targets had been set for DCC [as tenant] but anecdotal evidence 
indicated that the Council’s investment in the provision of a new cricket 
pavilion in Hesketh Park was already providing a strong return.

The Chairman accepted that the Council’s arrangements with DCC as tenant 
of the new cricket pavilion in Hesketh Park differed from the commercial 
arrangements the Council had in place DFC for the management of Princes 
Park and with HQ Theatres Ltd. for the management of The Orchard Theatre, 
Dartford. However he noted that Cabinet; in taking its decision to fund the 
provision of a new cricket pavilion in Hesketh Park had linked that significant 
capital investment to the achievement of outcomes in terms of Corporate Plan 
Objectives; as recorded in the Cabinet report and Minutes of June 2014. He 
therefore maintained that it was the role of the Scrutiny Committee to ensure 
that the delivery of those outcomes remained under transparent scrutiny by 
the Committee and that Cabinet was held to account.
 
The Committee resolved to note the need for clear and measurable outcomes 
for the Council’s investment of capital funding of £1M for the provision of a 
new cricket pavilion in Hesketh Park, Dartford and asked that their concerns 
be referred to Cabinet for consideration and appropriate response.

The Committee also agreed to retain the topic in its Rolling Work Programme 
and to request annual update reports on the operation of the new Pavilion by 
Dartford Cricket Club [as tenant] going forward.

Item 2: Disposal of Dartford Household Waste [WP Update]

The Committee received a presentation from Mr. David Beaver, Head of 
Waste Management and Business Services, KCC, which outlined the overall 



structure in Kent for the collection and disposal of household waste. Principal 
points that were brought to Members’ attention included:

 KCC held the statutory role of Waste Disposal Authority (WDA) for 
Kent and held overall responsibility for waste policy and 
implementation for the County;

 The Kent Resource Partnership (KRP) was the administrative body set 
up to achieve common goals for waste disposal and recycling and to 
effect economies of scale in those operations whenever possible;

 The success of KRP was dependent on good co-operation and close 
working with Kent District and Borough Councils, in their individual 
roles as Waste Collection Authorities (WCAs);

 KRP had formed three Project Groups for East, Mid and West Kent to 
help individual Councils achieve collective goals for waste collection;

 KRP East and Mid Kent Project Groups shared a single contract for the 
collection and disposal of waste for all their District and Borough 
Councils which had generated significant economies of operation;

 A single contract for the KRP’s West Kent Project Group of authorities 
was a future target;

 Re-cycling targets varied across Kent authorities, but all Kent Councils 
shared a common strategy to increase re-cycling and further reduce 
the levels of waste going to land–fill sites.

Details of specific areas of operation for the disposal of household waste for 
Dartford included:

Pepperhill joint HWRC / WTS facility

 Household Waste and Re-cycling Centres (HWRCs) were used by both 
residents and local authorities; 

 Waste Transfer Stations (WTSs) were used by local authorities to 
dispose of waste collected from households;

 Pepperhill on the A2 operated as both an HWRC and a WTS, jointly by 
Dartford and Gravesham Councils and residents;

 Pepperhill’s HWRC operation had reached its full capacity and had led 
to delays in vehicle ‘turnaround’ times for both Councils and impacted 
on resident use. Significant contributory factors to the HWRC capacity 
issue included: additional use by the Ebbsfleet Garden City 
Development, Dartford vehicles ‘double-tipping’ to accommodate a 
separate kerbside glass collection and Gravesham’s use of caged 
vehicle requiring manual unloading.

 Discussions between Dartford and Gravesham Waste Managers and 
the new Pepperhill Operations Manager had been scheduled to 
resolve issues and improve the operation going forward.

Re-cycling

 The Allington Incinerator plant was Kent’s major re-cycling centre, 
contracted by the County until 2030;

 Allington incinerated domestic waste and disposed of white goods 
under a Government funded scheme which manufacturers contributed 



to thus saving KCC and individual authorities significant transportation 
costs;

 Composting of green waste in Kent was good overall and undertaken 
for Dartford households at the plant in Crayford;

 The percentage of Kent waste processed to land-fill sites was the 
lowest in the U.K. at fewer than 5%.

Challenges to Waste Disposal in Kent

 Income from re-cycling at the Allington facility had dropped since 2015 
which reflected the corresponding falling in prices in the commodities 
market in 2014 which translated into a drop in re-cycling ‘credits’ 
distributed by KCC to Kent District and Borough authorities;

 Machination of collected waste into Refuse Derived Fuel pallets (RDFs) 
for export to mainland Europe had also undergone negative market 
pressures with Kent’s RDF clients sourcing cheaper supplies from 
within mainland Europe;

 There was a need to re-negotiate the current RDF contracts within the 
overall Kent Waste budget, but the UK’s Brexit decision had 
complicated both future waste legislation and the UK’s long and short-
term relationship with Europe.  

Kent Waste Disposal Strategy (KWDS)

Members were briefed by Hannah Allard, Waste Business Development 
Manager KCC, who underlined the importance of a joint KWDS across Kent 
and the key role to be played by individual Borough and District Councils in 
helping to formulate a common disposal strategy, with synergies and 
dovetailing between individual authorities contributing to the collective effort. 

KCC’s Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee had approved a draft 
Strategy document In May 2016 with a timeline and milestones, driven by the 
need to do more with less funding and resources, to meet projected rises in 
population and housing in the period 2015-2031. Key milestones were: 

 July – September 2016 - live Consultation; October – November 2016 - 
Consultation analysis and final strategy; February 2017 - Implementation / 
action plan produced to meet outcomes with further consultation where 
required.

The main focus of KCC’s new Strategy was the West Kent Project Group, of 
which Dartford was predicted to have the largest projected rise in population 
in the period under review of some 39% - double the estimated rise for Kent 
Districts. 

The new Strategy would also address the ongoing capacity issue at the 
Pepperhill facility. KCC Officers and the Council’s Waste & Parks Manager 
confirmed the following principle points for Members:

 Capacity rather than operating procedures remained the principal issue 
at Pepperhill, but new operating solutions were also required given that 
FCC’s contract for the management of Pepperhill ran until 2035;



 Replacing Pepperhill with a larger facility was a capital investment that 
KCC could not make in the current fiscal climate, nor was central 
government funding  available to replace Pepperhill and no Section 
106 provision existed to fund a new facility;

 KCC together with the Dartford and Gravesham local authorities would 
continue to look at Pepperhill’s capacity issues with the single 
collection methodology for household waste collection favoured, this 
suited residents and impacted less on community infra-structures;

 The vote for Brexit had caused uncertainty over the future 
management of the waste disposal industry in the UK;  it was not yet 
clear whether European or new UK standards would be applied to the 
future management of waste;

 KCC’s contract with the Allington re-processing plant was due to end in 
2030 but a new plant at Sittingbourne due to open in 2019, would 
provide increased capacity in the sector;

 KCC held no statutory responsibility to collect trade waste but was 
aware of increased incidents of fly-tipping (a criminal offence) and 
participated in the ‘Fly-Tipping Working Group’ to prosecute offenders.

Members expressed their appreciation and thanks to KCC Officers for 
updating the Committee and looked forward to viewing their final Municipal 
Waste Strategy document when published. 

15 November 2016

Item 1: References from Cabinet 27 October 2016 – New Cricket Pavilion 
in Hesketh Park

Members considered the response from Cabinet as set out in Cabinet Minute 
No. 59 to the Committee’s referral report dated 27 October 2016. The 
Committee’s report had relayed the concerns of Scrutiny Members over the 
lack of defined outcomes for the Council’s capital project to invest £1M in the 
construction of a new cricket pavilion in Hesketh Park. 

The Committee agreed that Cabinet’s decision not to monitor DCC’s 
performance in providing a programme of community activity including health 
& well-being initiatives was a missed opportunity, in terms of advising the Club 
over possible future capacity building measures and possible revenue 
streams. However, Members also noted that the Club (as tenant) of the new 
Pavilion could not be held to account by the Council in terms of targets and 
objectives for the provision of specific community schemes.

Item 2: Orchard Theatre Annual Report 2015-16 

The Committee considered the annual management and performance report 
for The Orchard Theatre, Dartford for the period 1 April 2015 to 31 March 
2016. The Theatre’s Director, Mr Chris Glover, advised Members of the key 
highlights for the year under review:

 9% increase in  attendance with average performance capacity 
retained at 61% [ above national average figure];



 The Orchard remained on the No.1 touring circuit for shows prior to  
West End release with the musical Chicago breaking all previous 
Orchard records with 97% audience capacity, Jools Holland, Lulu and 
UB40 had all featured in the Music programme and the Drama 
programme had included An Inspector Calls which ran for 2 weeks with 
40% of tickets allocated to local schools; 

 The Dick Whittington Christmas Panto had been complemented with a 
full seasonal programme in 2015/16 including; Winter Wonderland, Die 
Fledermaus, That’ll Be The Day Christmas Show and the Magic of 
Christmas charity concert, which had helped to achieve recording 
breaking advance sales for Snow White for the 2016/17 festive season 
programme;

 Sell-out comedy shows had included; Al Murray as the Pub Landlord 
and An Evening with Ken Dodd and the Dance programme had 
included a record breaking run of  Last Tango plus  Ballet 
performances from Ballet Boyz, Zoo Nation and Inala prior to the 
companies appearing at Sadler’s Wells;

 Membership of the Orchard Youth Theatre (OYT) with the OYT 
participating in the National Theatre Young Connections competition 
for the first time;

 Dartford Community Choir had continued their performances in the 
Theatre’s foyer prior to programmes commencing, further 
strengthening The Orchard’s existing ties with the community;

 The Orchard investment programme had provided an air cooling 
system in the auditorium and upper foyer prior to the warmer summer 
weather;

 The Orchard had been awarded the nationally acclaimed ‘Investors in 
People’ accreditation, a major coup for the Theatre management team.

The Chairman accepted that the primary objective of the Council was to have 
The Orchard well run and in profit, thereby reducing the commercial risk to the 
authority and that this was clearly the case. However, he maintained that the 
role of the Committee was to scrutinize both the management of The Orchard 
by HQ Theatres Ltd. and to examine how the Council could use the current 
commercial and lease arrangements with HQ Theatres Ltd. to best meet 
relevant Corporate Objectives, in particular to meet targets for increased 
community inclusion and diversity.  

Members were advised by the Leisure & Communities Officer that the 
Monitoring Schedule [Appendix A to covering report] required that; 
Community Access, Audience profile and Programme Balance for The 
Orchard be monitored by Council Officers on a monthly, quarterly and six-
monthly basis and by the Committee annually. The Council’s contract 
arrangements for the management of The Orchard also met [in part] the 
Health & Wellbeing Objective (HW2). 

The Committee were also addressed by the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for 
Events, Leisure & Heritage who advised Members that the Council was 
entirely satisfied with the performance of HQ Theatres’ Ltd. and Mr Glover as 
Orchard Theatre Director. The Orchard audiences had increased year on year 
under the management of HQ Theatres’ and The Orchard’s Programme had 
continued to expand and diversify and profits had increased with 10% [nett] 



accruing to the Council. The Christmas Panto continued to break box-office 
records every year, with continued success also achieved in both drama and 
dance with many productions being secured prior to West End release. The 
relationship between Officers and the Orchard’s Director and his team was 
excellent and the Theatre’s role and profile in the Dartford community 
continued to deepen and expand. 

Several Members spoke in support of HQ Theatres’ excellent, continued, 
management of The Orchard Theatre on behalf of the Council. The Chairman 
also stressed for the record, that his comments regarding the attainment of 
relevant Corporate Plan Objectives, was not designed in any way to diminish 
the Council’s excellent working relationship with the Theatre’s management 
team and HQ Theatres Ltd success in managing The Orchard, on behalf of 
the Council. His primary objective was to examine how the Scrutiny 
Committee could provide added value to the existing checks and balances 
provided by the Theatre Director’s Annual Report for the operation of The 
Orchard, and the separate Financial Statements for the Theatre provided by 
HQ Theatres Ltd. 

Members thanked the Theatre Director for his presentation and congratulated 
his team on another successful year managing The Orchard Theatre on 
behalf of the Council and resolved to note the 2015/16 Annual Report for the 
management of The Orchard Theatre Dartford by HQ Theatres Ltd.

7 February 2017

Item 1: Orchard Theatre Accounts 2015-16 Financial Year

Members received for noting, the Director’s Report and Financial Statements 
for The Orchard Theatre Dartford for the financial year ended 31 March 2016, 
as compiled by HQ Theatres Ltd.

The Theatre Director, Mr Chris Glover, reprised the principle points in the 
Financial Statements for Members:

 Profits up a further £80K year on year with 10% accruing to the Council 
on a pro-rata basis;

 Operating audience capacity of 62% (national average)
 Further growth in profits predicted for 2017-18 subject to ‘strength of –

product’ available – ‘Chicago’ and ‘Dirty Dancing’ had been particularly 
strong productions in 2016 and attracted sell-out audiences;

The Chairman thanked the Theatre Director and noted the very positive 
picture of increasing revenue and profit margins (including pro-rata for the 
Council) from the continued good management of The Orchard by HQ 
Theatres’ Ltd.

Members resolved to note the Directors’ Report and Financial Statements for 
the Year ended 31 March 2016 for the Orchard Theatre Dartford Limited, as 
presented in the Agenda papers.



Item 2: Fastrack Service – Update from Arriva and KCC 

The Committee had first considered the Fastrack Service to Dartford as a 
Draw-Down topic in November 2015 and received a verbal update from Arriva 
and KCC Transport representatives The verbal update was supplemented by 
tabled data from Arriva which recorded Fastrack passenger numbers, 
punctuality and ‘Lost Mileage’ figures for both A and B services, for the years 
2015 and 2016. Principal points covered in the update included:

 Improved performance and passenger numbers since November 2015 
on Arriva’s 480 and 490 routes with a corresponding drop in passenger 
numbers for Fastrack B;

 Arriva had no data that correlated the impact that closures to the 
Dartford tunnel had on Fastrack services, but Highways England data 
on Tunnel closures would be requested; 

 ‘Lost Mileage (LM)’ figures for Fastrack B had increased since 
November 2015 and only dropped slightly for Fastrack A reflecting 
common problems of traffic congestion and increased road usage 
being experienced by all bus operators across SE England; 

 ‘Start Point’ data indicated that 9 out of 10 Fastrack services started on 
time, but punctuality fell by the ‘Mid-Point’ for both routes with B the 
least punctual, no reliable ‘End Point’ data was available for either 
route;

 Arriva and KCC now held ‘Punctuality & Improvement Partnership’ 
meetings to address roadwork issues, as and when ongoing roadworks 
impacted on Arriva’s routes;

 Arriva now had an expanded role in the planning, execution and 
problem solving of roadworks, including directly with contractors, when 
roadworks impacted on Arriva services and routes;

 KCC had appointed a new Fastrack Development Manager in 2016, to 
take forward the future growth of Fastrack in line with housing 
developments in the Kent Thameside area;

 Work had progressed regarding Fastrack signalling and traffic light 
issues in Dartford with £44K recently commissioned for further 
improvements by 31 March 2017, including the introduction of new 
magnetic signalling measures to augment the existing ITS system 
embedded in the ticket machines on Fastrack buses;

 General traffic congestion and continued closures to the Dartford 
Tunnel in particular, were the major factors that continued to impact on 
the efficiency of the Fastrack service making it difficult for Arriva and 
KCC to gauge the effectiveness of their new measures and working 
practices; 

 Arriva contributed data to Highways England to help solve ongoing 
reliability issues. Arriva also contributed to KCC and Highways 
England, measures for improved traffic light provision and junction 
layouts in Dartford and fed into EDC’s Master Transport Plan for the 
extension of the current Fastrack provision to service the Garden City 
project. 

The Chairman advised Committee Members that he retained his concerns; 
despite the operational measures undertaken by Arriva and KCC since 
November 2015; that the continued poor performance of Fastrack, in 



particular the B service, represented a real risk to and failure of a key Council 
policy; namely to connect the Borough and get residents out of and less 
reliant on cars. He expressed further specific concern over developers using 
the existing Fastrack provision as an excuse for under-provision of residential 
parking in their development schemes. He cited The Bridge and Ingress Park 
as prime examples of developments with insufficient parking for modern multi-
car families, where children increasingly remained at home well into 
adulthood, given the continuing housing crisis.

The Head of Service, KCC Transport sought to re-assure the Chairman and 
Members over Fastrack. He advised that:

 KCC retained its policy aspirations for Fastrack;
 Fastrack remained only 50% developed for a variety of reasons but 

was a project that would be completed;
 The Garden City project represented a major challenge for the 

increased development of Fastrack,  with the Boroughs of Dartford and 
Gravesham effectively ‘growing-together’ around the planned Garden 
City;

 KCC was ‘ramping-up’ its Fastrack operation with a new development 
officer for the service now embedded in EDC, to assist with the 
development of Fastrack for the Garden City project;

 An agreed concept for Fastrack for the next 5 years for Dartford,  
Gravesham and the Garden City project would be crucial;

 Discussions with all stakeholders over delivery mechanisms were 
advanced and it was hoped that the key principals for an enhanced 
Fastrack service would be agreed amongst the parties in the next 6 
month period.

Members also expressed specific concerns over several operational issues 
affecting the existing Fastrack service, in addition to policy concerns. Specific 
operational issues included: timetabling, poor passenger communication, 
ticket cost, punctuality and the services to Ingress Park and Bluewater, 
including the ‘disappearing bus’s syndrome. Members were advised by Arriva 
and KCC representatives that:

 Fastrack timetables had been reviewed in September 2016 with a 
further review planned for September 2017;

 Highways England had been supplied with Fastrack journey data to 
help establish any correlation between specific closures to the Dartford 
tunnel and the impact on Fastrack punctuality;

 Feedback to passengers had been increased via social media, the 
Fastrack App, local radio stations and Bluewater Management 
announcements to supply Fastrack service updates;

 Fed into the discussions between KCC / EDC and Gravesham Council 
over the difficulties that the Fastrack service continued to experience;

 Discussions had been held between Arriva, KCC and Crest/Nicolson 
(contractor) over the need to ‘adopt’ the road in the Ingress Park 
development that will carry the Fastrack service directly out onto the 
London Road; rather than the current ‘turn-around’ arrangement for 
Fastrack with-in Ingress Park.



Members were advised with specific regard to Fastrack’s Bluewater service 
that Arriva monitored their vehicles via a GPS tracking system, embedded in 
the bus’s ticket machine. This allowed  vehicles to be tracked via satellite 
every 20 seconds in real time, with predicted data relayed (via Arriva Control) 
to display screens at individual bus stops. KCC Transport had updated all the 
Fastrack bus stop screens in the preceding 12 month period, but predictive 
data did not allow for; traffic jams / congestion, GPS ‘blind spots’ or a vehicle 
breaking down and ‘disappearing’ from the display screen. KCC offered to 
have their GPS expert inform Members in greater detail of the complexities of 
the GPS system and the difficulties that could be encountered in practice. 

The Chairman retained his concerns regarding Fastrack and the way forward 
for the Service and noted, in particular, that only 50% of its policy objectives 
had been achieved to date, despite the relative longevity of the Service. He 
believed that Fastrack could not push on to reach its full potential, without 
serious and increased input from the major stakeholders KCC, Arriva and 
both Dartford and Gravesham Councils. It was also his perception that 
developers (including EDC in their planning of the Garden City project) had 
played on the continued tension between increased Fastrack provision and 
the provision of adequate resident parking provision in their new housing 
developments. He was not aware of any evidence that showed Dartford 
residents were abandoning their cars in favour of Fastrack in particular and 
bus travel in general. Evidence of an improved Fastrack provision was 
therefore urgently required: both to properly inform the planning of the Garden 
City project and to improve the present Fastrack provision to both Boroughs. 
In particular, funding needed to be identified to expand Fastrack in the next 3-
4 years to make it fit for an expanded purpose and to ensure the success of 
the Garden City project, as presently envisaged by EDC.

Members were advised by KCC’s Head of Service for Transport that Fastrack 
was a KCC supported Service on a NIL revenue basis. The County authority 
would continue to support the Service (and Arriva as the operator until mid- 
2019). The Ebbsfleet development project was fluid in nature and KCC would 
continue to take forward discussions with EDC over the specifics of the 
Garden City project on that basis, including an expanded Fastrack provision; 
seen as an essential component to the success of the Garden City project. 
Work with all stakeholders – KCC, DBC and GBC would be ‘ramped-up’ and 
adequate funding provided to help achieve the desired positive outcome for 
the expansion of Fastrack and its role in the Garden City project. KCC would 
first agree their proposals for the Garden City project internally prior to 
presentation to EDC. Input from DBC and GBC would then be added to the bi-
lateral process with EDC. 

The Chairman thanked his KCC and Arriva guests for updating the Committee 
on the Fastrack provision to Dartford and the mooted expansion of the 
present Service to include the needs of the Garden City project. He also 
confirmed his intention to invite EDC’s interim CEO, Paul Spooner, to attend 
the Committee’s proceedings in the future, to update Members further 
following publication of EDC’s Master Transport Plan for the Garden City.
 



ONE-OFF INVESTIGATIONS / DRAW DOWNS

13 September 2016

Item 1: Cabinet report of 2 June 2016 - Local Scheme for Support of 
Council Tax

Members received an update from the Strategic Director (Internal Services) 
and Section 151 Officer, on the outcome of the public consultation exercise 
which had concluded earlier in September 2016, on the Council’s proposals to 
review its Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) in liaison with other Kent 
authorities; as set out in the report to Cabinet of 2 June 2016.   

Members were advised that Cabinet had given the SD (IS) delegated 
authority to publish a consultation document detailing potential modifications 
to Dartford’s current approved Scheme together with a Customer Access 
Review (CAR) document, which had been placed on the Council’s website for 
public response .

Members were reminded of the background to the Government’s introduction 
of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) together with detailed reasons 
for the proposed changes to the Council’s current approved local Scheme. 
Dartford (together with other Kent Districts) had worked with a consultant to 
produce amendments, prior to publication of the CTRS Consultation 
document and Customer Access Review (CAR) document, on the Council’s 
website. In addition, all working age claimants and all the Council’s registered 
social landlords had been written to on an individual basis and advised of the 
consultation exercise and proposed potential changes.  

Background & Detail:

 The Government’s Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) replaced 
Council Tax Benefits in 2013;

 Pensioners were protected under the new Government arrangements 
which only affect working age claimants;

 Council’s set their own local Schemes for CTR within an overall central 
government funding envelope;

 Dartford had consulted other Kent Districts in formulating its local 
Scheme to ensure that it could be delivered within available 
Government  funding;

 The Council proposed that working age claimants paid at least 18.5% 
of their council tax bill, equating to an 18.5% reduction in maximum 
entitlement for working age applicants;



 Dartford as a District authority only retained 11% of council tax 
collected, with the 89% ‘balance’ accruing to its major preceptors - 
Kent County Council, Kent Fire & Rescue Service and Kent Police;

 The major preceptors (collectively) paid each Kent District authority  an 
administrative fee of £125K p.a. towards the cost of their local CTR 
Scheme under the terms of a 3 year agreement until March 2018;

 Dartford’s local CTR Scheme (in common with other Kent authorities) 
focussed on protection of the vulnerable and encouraged working age 
claimants [back] into employment;

 Despite a consistent fall in both working age and pensioner age 
claimants in Dartford since March 2013; corresponding reductions in 
the central government’s Revenue Support Grant (RSG) since March 
2013; had left insufficient Government funding to support Dartford’s 
current local CTR Scheme, which funded the cost of working age 
discounts by some £310K per annum. Reductions in Government grant 
funding were set to continue and the current local Scheme had to be 
reviewed to ensure that the Council continued to protect the most 
vulnerable claimants;

 Options to retain the current local Scheme were limited to either raising 
council tax or finding further savings from within other Council budgets: 
doing nothing was not an option - the current local Scheme had to be 
reviewed;

 Kent’s major preceptors were keen for District Council’s to reduce the 
cost of their existing local Schemes, but could not insist on particular 
provisions. They could however remove their administrative grant 
leaving District authorities to find further savings of £125K p.a. to 
replace the administrative grant. In the case of Dartford, such further 
savings would almost certainly require staffing reductions in the joint 
Revenue and Benefits team, with a resultant negative impact on 
council tax collection rates, placing the Council under even greater 
fiscal pressure.

Members were advised that the public response to the 12 week consultation 
exercise had been poor with only 82 of a possible 3,594 working age 
claimants replying. This made judgement of a majority view of working age 
claimants to the proposed changes difficult to establish. The consultation 
questionnaire had been simplified, but the poor response indicated that the 
document either remained too lengthy / complicated or, that the vast majority 
of Dartford claimants were simply not interested in responding. The poor 
public response mirrored an equally poor response to the previous 
consultation exercise for the current local Scheme, when working age 
claimants were asked to contribute for the first time. 

The Council assumed that it would be taking forward a mixture of the options 
proposed in the Questionnaire document, based on analysis of the responses 
received from working aged claimants, the majority of whom recognised that a 
new local Scheme was required primarily to provide support to the most 
vulnerable. Options available to the Council for change in a new local Scheme 
were:-



 Option 1: working age claimants to pay 20% of their council tax 
equating to a drop in their current discount from 81.5% to 80%: 49% of 
respondents opposed this option; 

 Option 2: remove the extra allowance to claimants that had at least 1 
dependent child living with them, to align the current Scheme with 
changes to Housing Benefits - a loss of £3.49 per week for affected 
households: 46% of respondents opposed this option;

 Option 3: reduce backdated claims for benefit from 6 down to 1 month:    
52% of respondents favoured this option;

 Option 4: set a minimum level of income for workers purporting to be 
self- employed (based on 12 months such activity) aimed at claimants 
who avoided demonstrating to Job Centres that they were actively 
seeking work [being self-employed]  then claimed benefit, due to low or 
little earned income from their self-employment activities: the minimum 
level of earnings to be set in line with the National Living Wage based 
on a 35 hour week: 39% of respondents opposed this option; 

 Option 5: reduction in the period a person could be absent from the 
U.K. and still claim a discount from 13 down to 4 weeks: 76% of 
respondents accepted this option;

 Option 6: reduce the capital limit for claiming a discount from £16K to 
£6K [a cross Kent measure]: 46% of Dartford respondents had 
opposed this measure; 

 Option 7: simplify the non-dependent deduction to a standard £10: 
44% of respondents opposed this option;

 Option 8: take account of Child Maintenance paid to a claimant or 
partner when assessing their income level and any subsequent 
discounted rate for council tax : KCC and 43% of Dartford respondents 
had expressed concerns over this proposal,  given that child 
maintenance was paid in support of a child and should not form part of 
a council tax reduction calculation;

 Option 9: include Child Benefit payments to claimants or partners in 
the calculation of a council tax reduction: KCC and 54% of Dartford 
respondents opposed this proposal, which was contra to KCC’s 
strategic objective of helping children and young people get the best 
start in life; 

 Option 10: restrict the maximum level of council tax reduction to the 
equivalent of a Band D property given that a claimant who lived in a 
larger property would receive fewer discounts: 42% of respondents 
favoured this option, KCC proposed a Band C level [based on average 
property value].

The Chairman expressed the view that whilst the public response had been 
poor, the Council’s current Customer Access Review (CAR) Questionnaire 
document required some revision to make it clearer for respondents. The 
revised document should take account of existing Department for Work and 
Pensions (DWP) evidence that a disproportionate number of females claimed 
Council Tax discounts because they were in lower income brackets than 
males claiming similar discounts. He also expressed concern that the 
Council’s proposed changes would impact disproportionately on disabled 
claimants in particular. A mixture of proposed Options was required: it was not 
a case of a straight choice between e.g. Option 1 and Option 2 and this 
should be made clear to respondents.



The Committee expressed concern that any Council proposals for a new local 
Scheme should not impact adversely on children in claimant households or 
single male parents; should make greater allowance for the disadvantaged 
circumstances of women and allow for a school fees element in the 
calculation of upper limits of Child Maintenance. The new Scheme should 
continue to target and meet resident need and recognise the requirement for 
a ‘start-up’ period for self-employed claimants. Allowance should also be 
made for cases of exceptional hardship (within an agreed timescale). The new 
agreed local Scheme should also contain an element of risk management, in 
case the major Kent preceptors withdrew their existing administrative support 
grant to Districts of £125K p.a.

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) confirmed for Members that the 
existing Customer Access Review (CAR) document would be subject to re-
modelling prior to re-submission to Cabinet. The contribution made by Kent’s 
major preceptors remained subject to regular review, given that they were 
under no obligation to pay the current annual administrative fee [£125K] to 
Districts. The Council, together with other Kent District authorities and the 
appointed consultant, would continue to liaise and to seek Kent-wide solutions 
for local Schemes of Support for Council Tax Reduction and apply those 
agreed solutions to the new Dartford model.

The Chairman and Members expressed their thanks to the SD (IS) for a very 
comprehensive update on the Council’s proposals for a new local Scheme for 
Council Tax Reduction.
  

15 November 2016

 Item 1: Ebbsfleet Garden City 

The Committee received a presentation from Mr Paul Spooner, interim CEO 
of the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation (EDC). Members were advised that 
the EDC had been established by Government to take forward the Ebbsfleet 
Garden City project to produce new homes, jobs and leisure opportunities for 
a new Garden City community and the existing Ebbsfleet population. 

Members were advised that as interim CEO, Mr Spooner was responsible for 
the oversight and delivery of the Garden City project by EDC, including the 
management of the £30M Government capital investment programme (CIP). 
He headed a project team of 28 staff with broad skills sets, including 9 staff 
dedicated to planning matters who worked closely with the Council’s own 
Planning Development team to ensure compliance with DBC’s planning and 
development policies. The CIP also included monies to re-invigorate the 
stalled site at Eastern Quarry, the provision of utility services for new 
developments (prior to construction of the Garden City), new cycle and 
pedestrian walkways linking the new Garden City to the established Ebbsfleet 
community and the development of a new Garden City Centre at Ebbsfleet 
International station. Proposed new housing developments would include 
elements of affordable and rented properties to meet the needs of the new 
Garden City residents and existing Ebbsfleet communities. 



Members were informed that EDC would also be developing common 
infrastructure themes with London Resort Company Holdings (LRCH) in their 
promotion of a new theme park to include business and local employment 
opportunities, for the Ebbsfleet area and the Swanscombe Peninsular as a 
whole.

Members received printed copies of EDC’s presentation entitled “Where 
London meets the Garden of England” which highlighted the key areas and 
aspects of the proposed Garden City development project:

 Scale – 15,000 homes, 7 neighbourhoods, 600,000m2 of employment 
space [equivalent to half the size of Canary Wharf];

 Sustainability – Green city with seven (7) new country parks and 
sustainable infrastructure;

 Opportunity – located in North Kent Enterprise Zone a Government 
priority, with commercial and industrial enterprises grown locally to 
improve jobs and leisure facilities allied to infrastructure improvement;

 Delivery –5 (five) house builders on site producing 600 starts in 2016 
[to November] a 6th housebuilder with ‘consent’ and 2 (two) further 
major residential schemes awaiting determination in the following 3 
months with the target of 5,100 completed homes by 2021 with up to 
30% affordable housing under existing DBC criteria;

 Partnership Working – Ebbsfleet was being delivered through 
partnership working with Kent, Gravesham and Dartford Councils, 
Government Agencies and local land owners and developers;

 Collaboration on Projects at Ebbsfleet 2016/17 – Co-investment 
with utility companies for early supply prior to the building phase and 
the long-term provision of a new electricity sub-station; MoU with 
landowners to develop the City Centre at Ebbsfleet International 
Station; ‘collaboration with Universities on a potential medical centre of 
excellence for training and research and separately with Darenth Valley 
Hospital for increased facilities under NHS auspices; Co-investment 
with developers of Eastern Quarry, Northfleet and Swanscombe; 

Fastrack

 Upgrade of entire programme;
 New dedicated routes and corridors;
 Key connections – Darent Valley Hospital, Dartford Town Centre, 

Bluewater, Gravesend Town Centre, Ebbsfleet International station, 
Riverfront;

 Ebbsfleet International Interchange with link to Bluewater;

Proposed Theme Park  

This was considered as a Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project with a 
planning application process to be considered by the Secretary of State, with 
EDC working closely with LRCH as promoters of the theme park;

Conclusions

 Garden City project had momentum;



 Housing, Place-making and Economic Growth;
 EDC facilitators, investors and planners;
 Collaboration with local authorities including Swanscombe & 

Greenhithe Town Council;
 Connected to the local communities through Open Days for residents;
 Working with KCC, Aviva and existing communities to develop and 

expand the existing Fastrack service.

Members participated in a Q&A session with the CEO and the Council’s 
Development Manager which confirmed the following principal points: 

 Finances to improve and expand the present Fastrack provision to 
Dartford and a dedicated line to Eastern Quarry would be raised 
through a joint Public / Private investment initiative;

 KCC was committed to an improvement of the current Fastrack rolling 
stock with the capital investment being recovered via an operator 
payback scheme based on increased passenger numbers from the 
Garden City project and the theme park development;

 A comprehensive Fastrack business case would be put to the 
Government in 2017 with Highways England taking forward 
improvements to the A2 Junction; 

 A business case to Government was proposed to extend Crossrail to 
Dartford, Ebbsfleet Garden City, Bexley and Gravesham at an 
estimated cost of £2.4 Billion.

The Committee re-visited specific topics of concern in further discussion with 
the CEO  including: EDC’s Master Transport Plan, its impact on Fastrack 
development and the allied issue of adequate provision residential parking in 
new housing developments; EDC’s plans for local employment as a priority 
through job creation and business development within the Garden City project 
and with LRCH as the developer of the proposed theme park in the 
Swanscombe Peninsular; increased provision of local services for the 
additional 15,000 new homes proposed and estimated 45,000 new Dartford 
residents to be accommodated.

The CEO confirmed for Members that EDC had no plan making powers 
themselves and that all aspects of the Garden City project were being taken 
forward within the Council’s planning policies.  Within that context, it was the 
role of EDC to exercise development control and ensure developers paid their 
full contribution to the proposed new works through their existing Section 106 
Agreements and as amended by the provisions of the new Housing Act when 
passed. The proposed housing construction would feature a good mix of 
properties, including affordable housing elements including rented properties. 

The Chairman thanked the CEO for providing Members with an excellent 
overview of the Garden City development project and for the candour and 
openness of his answers and accepted Mr Spooner’s offer to update the 
Committee further in 2017. 



7 February 2017

No topics were Draw-Down by the Committee for consideration.

25 April 2017

This scheduled meeting of the Committee (confirmed at Annual Council on 11 
May 2016) was in the event cancelled, following confirmation of the date for 
Kent County Council elections of 4 May 2017 and the resultant imposition of 
political ‘purdah’ in the 7  week period prior to polling day.

 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

1 

 
 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE PROTOCOL  
 
A ‘local government matter’ is defined as a matter which relates to the discharge of any function of the 
authority, affects all or part of the electoral area for which the Member is elected or any person who 
lives or works in that area and is not an ‘excluded matter’ 
 
  
Introduction This Protocol recognises the division of executive and non-executive roles 

and responsibilities, the scrutiny role performed by non-executive 
Councillors and the part played by all Councillors in representing local 
communities. 

 
  
Terms of Reference To contribute to improving Council services by holding decision makers to 

account which ultimately benefits residents of the Borough of Dartford. 
 

  
Guidelines (a) Terms of Reference agreed by the General Assembly of the  Council 

(the GAC); 
 (b) Standing Orders and Financial Regulations; 
 (c) Codes of Conduct; 
 (d) Secretary of State guidance issued from time to time. 

 
  
Committee 
accountability 

To the Council as the ultimate decision making body from which all of the 
other elements in the decision-making process derive their authority. 
 

  
Elected Member 
accountability 

Individual elected Members have a collective responsibility for the 
Council's functions.  This collective responsibility extends to a duty to 
ensure that the Council complies with the law and does not knowingly act 
unlawfully. 

 
  
Compliance 
principles 

The Committee will: 
 Scrutinise and monitor the performance of the Cabinet, Officers and 

partner authorities in implementing decisions in line with the 
Council’s Strategic and Policy Framework; 

  Recognise the legitimate right of the Cabinet to provide political and 
operational leadership to the Council and will not attempt to usurp 
the power vested in the Cabinet by the GAC; 

  Recognise that Officers continue to owe a duty to all Members of the 
Council; 

  Guarantee the right of Officers to express their advice on matters 
within their areas of responsibility, particularly (but not exclusively) 
on technical professional issues.  Officers must not be pressurised to 
change their advice to suit political aspirations.  Questions to Officers 
must be within Officers' remit and will as far as possible be confined 
to questions of fact and explanation relating to policies and decisions 
within Officers' remit; 

  Will not criticise or adversely comment on any individual Officer by 
name; 

Appendix B



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

2 

  Not attempt to thwart the Cabinet by engaging in vexatious or 
unnecessarily repetitive overview and scrutiny activities. 

 
  
Membership Committee membership cannot include any Cabinet member. 
  

The Scrutiny Process  

In accordance with its Terms of Reference, the Committee can only discharge scrutiny functions relating o
any local government matter, but excluding crime and disorder/community safety functions. 

 
  
1.What may be 
scrutinised 

 

1.1 decisions made and/or actions taken in connection with the discharge of 
any of the Council’s and/or Cabinet’s functions; 
 

1.2 performance of the Cabinet, Officers, Committees, Boards and Panels 
whether generally or in relation to service plans and targets, or in relation 
to particular decisions, initiatives or projects; 
 
NB: scrutiny will not focus on day to day management and operational 
decisions, which are the proper concerns of Council managers and 
Officers. 
 

1.3 performance of the Council in relation to policy and budgetary objectives, 
performance targets and/or particular service areas; 
 

1.4 any matter which affects the Borough of Dartford and its inhabitants;  
 

 any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation of health 
services in the Borough of Dartford by a local health service body (i.e. 
NHS Foundation trust etc.); 
 

1.5 the planning, provision, operation and performance of other public 
bodies/organisations whose services affect the Borough; 
 

1.6 Councillor Calls for Action (CCfAs); 
 

1.7 local improvement targets.  
 

  



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

3 

A.Draw downs Draw downs for the purposes of scrutinising decisions/actions of the 
Council, Cabinet etc. and/or the scrutiny/of the effects/outcomes of a 
decision post implementation 

 
A.1 For each meeting of the Committee: 

 
� through the Shadow Chairman of the Committee, up to three items in 

total for the Political Group on the Council forming the administration on 
the Council; 

 
 � through the Chairman of the Committee, up to three items in total for the 

Political Group on the Council forming the largest party in opposition on 
the Council; 

 
 � one item only for any other Political Groups on the Council, dealt with on 

a ‘first come first served basis’. 
 

A.2 Subject to section A.6 of this Protocol, each Committee meeting may draw 
down for scrutiny purposes, no more than seven items in total.  These 
seven items may comprise a combination of items relating respectively, to a 
Call-in, CCfA, the scrutiny of decision(s)/actions of the Cabinet/Officers, 
local improvement targets, local health service body etc.  Whatever 
combination is applied, the Committee is restricted to the scrutiny of seven 
items in total, per Committee meeting. 

 
A.3 (a) A draw down(s) must be on written notice to Member Services by no 

later than noon on the 16th day before a Committee meeting i.e. 16 
clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from 
midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the day 
on which the meeting is held). 

 
 (b) The need (if any) for participant representatives to appear before the 

Committee will be notified to Member Services by no later than noon 
on the 16th day before a Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' 
(sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to 
midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the day on which the 
meeting is held). 

 
A.4 Where the Committee wish to scrutinise an item for the purposes of 

examining the effect and outcomes of a decision/action etc. post 
implementation, drawing down the item may need to be delayed to a future 
date.  

 
 NB: The focus of the scrutiny in such circumstances will be concerned with 

the effects and outcomes of the decision whether or not reference was 
made to effects or outcomes (potential or perceived) in any 
background document before the Committee. 

 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

4 

  
A.5 When more than one Political Group on the Council notifies a draw down of 

the same item, the Political Group which first gave notice in accordance 
with section A.1 of this Protocol, will lead at the meeting, on the discussion 
of the item and the Chairman will exercise his/her discretion about the right 
of the Political Groups to sum up. 

 
A.6 Although Scrutiny Committee and the Policy Overview Committee have 

different roles and responsibilities, the remit of the Committees may on 
occasions overlap.  Whilst draw downs and work programmes will need to 
have flexibility and their own broader topics and focus, the Scrutiny 
Committee will avoid any duplication in work programme activities and draw 
downs. 

  

B. Requests for 
information 

 

B.1 Any Committee member may make requests for information, on written 
notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day before 
the Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods 
of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public 
holidays and the day on which the meeting is held) and the following will 
apply.  The request for information will: 
 

  detail the item(s) to be drawn down, supported by reasons for the draw 
down(s); 

 
  the nature of the information requested e.g. a full report, background 

information, research, data, statistics, etc.; 
 

  if applicable, identify the need for participants (Members, Officers and/or 
other external participants) to appear before the Committee (refer to the 
general principles on participation detailed in section D of this Protocol); 

 
  provide an indication if at all possible, of the questions and the likely 

topics to be raised on the item(s); 
 

  provide an indication if at all possible, of whether the request for 
information is for the purposes of informing the debate or for the 
purposes of putting questions to participants. 

 
B.2 On receipt of a request for information, Member Services will notify the 

Managing Director and link officer of the partner organisation.  Where the 
request for information relates to a Cabinet decision/action, the Managing 
Director and the Cabinet Chairman will be notified accordingly.  
 

  



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

5 

  
B.3 Where information requested is readily available and routinely collected, it 

will be provided within 14 days of receipt of the request, save that if some 
or all the information cannot reasonable be provided within the 14 day 
period, the information will be provided as soon as reasonably possible and 
in any event, no later than 7 clear days’ (seven weekdays i.e. 7 periods of 
24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public 
holidays and the day on which the meeting is held).   
 

B.4 Information will be depersonalised, unless the identification of an individual 
is necessary or appropriate in order to enable the Committee to properly 
exercise its powers or disclosure is permitted by or under the Data 
Protection Act 1998.   

B.5 Information will not include matters reasonably likely to prejudice legal 
proceedings or current or future operations of the Council, Cabinet etc. 
 

B.6 Information will not include matters reasonably likely to constitute a breach 
of confidence actionable by any person. 
 

B.7 Schedule 12A, Parts 1-3 of the Local Government Act 1972 as regards the 
categories of exempt information, reg.5 of the Local Authorities (Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees) (England) Regulations 2012, reg.26 of the Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health 
Scrutiny) Regulations 2013) and Standing Order 46(2) as regards 
confidential information, will apply to the proceedings of the Committee. 

B.8 The scrutiny of an item may need to be deferred pending the receipt of 
information, particularly where requests for additional information are made 
or where the information requested is voluminous and/or where there are 
costs implications associated with providing the information.  In these 
circumstances, Member Services will advise the Committee Chairman 
accordingly. 
 

B.9 To facilitate the scrutiny process, a partner authority (as defined in Chapter 
1 of Part 5 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007 (as amended) is under a duty to pro-actively provide information to 
the Committee on request (reg.4 of the Local Authorities (Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees) (England) (Regulations 2012). 

C. Call-in of Cabinet 
decisions 

 

C.1 This Call-in procedure will be operated in such a way as not to have a 
concomitant negative effect on the efficiency of Cabinet decision-making. 
 
This Call-in procedure will only apply to Cabinet decisions/actions, subject 
to the restrictions/limitations detailed in sections C.8, C.9, C.11, C.13, C15 
and C.16 of this Protocol. 
 

C.2 (a) Call-in will be by five Members of the Committee (involving 
representation of at least two political groups), in writing, to Member 
Services by no later than noon on the day before the Cabinet meeting.  
Member Services will notify the Cabinet Chairman of the Call-in. 
 

 
 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

6 

 (b) Once a member of the Committee has signed a Call-in, he/she may 
not do so again until a period of six months has expired. 

 
C.3 A special meeting of the Committee may be called in accordance with the 

rules detailed in Standing Order 27 (Special Meetings of the Cabinet, 
Committees and Boards) and will be held before the next meeting of the 
Cabinet (Cabinet meetings are scheduled on a four weekly basis), with a 
view to reporting to the next Cabinet meeting. Where it is not possible for 
the Committee to report to the next Cabinet meeting, the Committee 
Chairman will consult with the Cabinet Chairman and agree a date for 
referring the Call-in back to the Cabinet for consideration/reconsideration. 
 
Referring the Call-in back to the Cabinet will not be delayed by more than 4 
weeks from the date of the notice of Call-in. 

 
C.4 Once a Call-in has been effected, the Cabinet may at its discretion, either: 

 
 (a) defer consideration of the proposed decision and/or action (the 

Deferred Decision) to its next scheduled meeting or where it is not 
possible for the Committee to report to the next scheduled meeting of 
the Cabinet, defer consideration until receipt of the Committee's report; 
or 

 (b) take the decision and/or action which decision/action will stand as 
suspended (the Suspended Decision) until the next scheduled meeting 
of the Cabinet or where the Call-in is referred to the GAC by the 
Committee, until referred back to the Cabinet by the GAC for 
reconsideration. 

 
C.5 Following consideration of the Call-in, the Committee will, on a report 

(setting out the Committee's concerns, recommendations, conclusions, 
suggestions and/or comments), either refer the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision back to the Cabinet for 
consideration/reconsideration, or request a debate on the Call-in at the next 
ordinary meeting of the GAC, or if necessary, at an extraordinary meeting 
of the GAC, but subject to the rules detailed in Standing Order 1.(3) on the 
convening of extraordinary meetings. 

 
C.6 On receipt of the Committee's report; 

 
 (a) the Cabinet will consider/reconsider the Deferred Decision/ 

Suspended Decision and the contents of the Committee's report 
before coming to a final decision. Providing the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision is not contrary to the budget or policy 
framework, the Cabinet may or may not amend the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision before reaching a final decision and 
implementing it; or 

 (b) the GAC will consider the Call-in and may object to the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision in which case the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision will be referred back to the Cabinet 
(with the GAC's views) for consideration/reconsideration.  Unless the 
Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision is contrary to the budget or 
policy framework, the Cabinet may choose whether to amend the 
Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision or not before reaching a final 
decision and implementing it. 

 
 NB:  The GAC has no locus to make a decision in respect of a Cabinet 

decision unless the Cabinet decision is contrary to or not wholly 
consistent with the budget or policy framework agreed/adopted by the 
Council. 

 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

7 

  
C.7 Following the Cabinet's consideration of a Deferred Decision or 

reconsideration of a Suspended Decision, the decisions(s) will take effect 
i.e. be implemented immediately. In addition, a Suspended Decision will 
become effective: 

 
 (a) on the date of the GAC meeting where the Call-in has been referred to 

the GAC and the GAC does not object to the Suspended Decision 
and/or does not refer the Suspended Decision back to the Cabinet. 

 
 (b) on the date of the Committee meeting, where the Committee does not 

refer the Suspended Decision back to the Cabinet or to the GAC.  
 

C.8 A Call-in (i.e. the decision itself) cannot be the subject of further scrutiny 
after implementation, pursuant to the draw down mechanism detailed in 
section A of this Protocol. 

 
 NB: This restriction does not preclude a subsequent draw-down of the 

subject matter of the decision for purposes related for example, to 
topic scrutiny or reporting on matters of local concern. 

 
C.9 This Call-in procedure will not apply to urgent Cabinet decisions and/or 

action to be taken by the Cabinet which need to be implemented urgently.  
The definition of 'urgency' means any matter of immediate urgency (i.e. 
where any delay likely to be caused by the Call-in would prejudice the 
Council's or the public's interest), making the prompt exercise of the 
powers of the Cabinet, in consultation with the Managing Director and the 
Monitoring Officer/Chief Finance Officer desirable and/or necessary and 
which cannot await the next meeting of the Cabinet, or the next ordinary 
meeting of the GAC. 

 
 NB: The definition of 'urgency' as detailed above, excludes urgent key 

decisions under Standing Order 54(8) (Special Urgency) and urgent 
departure decisions under Standing Order 55(3) (Decisions outside 
the Budget or Policy Framework). 

 
C.10 Cabinet decisions and/or actions to be taken which are not subject to Call-

in will take effect, i.e. be implemented immediately. 
 

C.11 Subject to the draw down rules in section A.2 of this Protocol, the 
Committee may only Call-in two decisions per three-month period.   

 
C.12 Key decisions of Officers, area committees/joint arrangements (referred to 

in the Cabinet's Forward Plan) may be subject to individual Call-in in 
accordance with the procedure detailed in this Protocol. 

 
C.13 Call-in will not apply to urgent departure decisions (refer to Standing Order 

55(3)) and urgent key decisions (refer to Standing Order 54(8)). 
 

C.14 The rules detailed in sections B and D of this Protocol will apply to an 
individual Call-in. 

 
C.15 A CCfA does not provide an additional opportunity for a Cabinet decision to 

be challenged.  A previous Call-in will only be relevant, if the circumstances 
of the Call-in and the CCfA are clearly different.  
 

C.16 The operation of this Call-in procedure will be monitored annually by the 
Monitoring Officer and if necessary, a report submitted to the GAC with 
proposals for review. 

 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

8 

  

D.Participants  
D.1 The nature of a Call-in, the item to be drawn down or the nature of the topic 

under scrutiny will generally determine who participates in the proceedings 
of the Committee. 
 

D.2 Persons required to attend if summoned  
 
Subject to the rules on participation at section D.7 of this Protocol, the 
giving of 14 clear days’ notice, (fourteen weekdays i.e. 14 periods of 24 
hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public 
holidays and the day on which the meeting is held) and information being 
provided as to the nature and scope of the scrutiny: 
 

 Cabinet members and Council Officers 
 
Cabinet members and Council Officers may be required to attend 
Committee meetings, to give evidence, make representations and/or 
answer questions ((Section 21(13) Local Government Act 2000). 
 

  
 Health Service scrutiny 

 
The Committee may require the attendance of any member or employee of 
a Responsible Person at the meeting of the Committee to answer 
questions (reg.27 Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing 
Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013). 
 

D.3 
 

 

 

 

 

D.3A 
 

Members of the community and other organisations/stakeholders etc.  
 

Members of the community and other organisations/stakeholders etc. may 
be invited (but cannot be compelled) to attend the Committee, to make 
representations, answer questions or give evidence.  
 
Where the Committee seeks to engage with the third sector (voluntary and 
community groups), it will respect the principles of the Council’s Compact. 
 
Lead Members  
 
Subject to the rules detailed in section D.7(a) to (c) of this Protocol, Lead 
Members who are members of the Committee may be requested (but 
cannot be compelled) to make representations, answer questions or give 
evidence on their respective portfolios.  
 
 

D.4 Expert advisors and assessors  
 
The Committee may consider the available options for future direction in 
the development of policies and may appoint experts, advisors and 
assessors to assist the Committee in the process. 
 

D.5 Councillors who are not members of the Committee 
 

The rules detailed in Standing Order 36, will apply to the attendance at 
Committee meetings, of Councillors who are not members of the 
Committee. 

 
D.6 The scrutiny of an item may need to be deferred pending the availability of 

a participant to attend, when summoned or invited.  In these 
circumstances, Member Services will advise the Committee Chairman 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

9 

accordingly. 
 

D.7 Participation Rules 
 

(a) The nomination of specific Cabinet members and Lead Members as 
participants and any necessary substitutions, will be within the 
discretion of the Cabinet Chairman and, in relation to Officer 
participants, within the discretion of the Managing Director. 

 
(b) Subject to paras. (a) and (c) of this section D.7 and section V.6 of this 

Protocol, any Lead Member(s) may attend meetings of the Committee 
and with the consent of the Chairman, make representations, answer 
questions or give evidence on the subject matter of their relevant 
portfolio.  

 
(c) Lead Members who are members of the Committee cannot be 

involved in the scrutiny process of their relevant portfolio unless they 
are substituted on the Committee and in doing so, the Lead Member’s 
role is limited to making representations, answering questions or giving 
evidence on the subject matter. Once substituted, the Lead Member, 
as an ordinary member of the Committee, cannot vote at the meeting 
even if he/she is able to attend at a later stage of the meeting and can 
only speak with the permission of the Chairman. 

 
(d) The Managing Director may restrict the attendance of Council Officers 

to above a certain grade or in accordance with other criteria to ensure 
that junior Officers are not put under undue pressure.  This restriction 
is consistent with the European Convention on Human Rights. 

(e) The Chairman and Shadow Chairman (collectively), reserve the right 
(supported by detailed reasoning to the Cabinet Chairman or 
Managing Director (as appropriate)), to strongly request the 
attendance of a named Cabinet member(s), Lead Members, Council 
Officer(s), and representative of the Responsible Person or relevant 
body, as participants in the proceedings of the Committee, subject to 
written notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th 
day before the Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen 
weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to 
midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the day on which the 
meeting is held). 

(f) Council Officers who are subject to disciplinary proceedings and/or 
investigation will not be called as participants. 

(g) When questioning participants, due regard will be had to the 
Compliance Principles referred to in this Protocol and to paras.(f) and 
(g) below.  Participants may leave the meeting on the conclusion of 
their particular issues. 

(h) Participants may decline to answer questions in open session of the 
Committee on the grounds that the answer might disclose information 
that would be exempt or confidential under the access to information 
provisions.  In that event, the Committee may resolve to exclude the 
public and the press in accordance with Standing Orders in order that 
the question may be answered in private session. 

(i) Participants are not obliged to answer any question which they would 
be entitled to refuse to answer in a court of law for example any 
question relating to a participant’s past conduct/actions which could 
not be answered without acknowledging or referring to possible 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

10

inappropriate conduct/actions/inactions. 

(j) To better inform the Committee, participants may be required to 
provide their evidence in writing and may be questioned by the 
Committee on that evidence. 

 
  
 (k) The substance (rather than the detail) of oral evidence and participants' 

responses will be documented by the Committee Co - ordinator and 
circulated to them for comment, before the next meeting of the 
Committee. 

 
 (l) Participants may be asked to explain: 

 
 (i) what the policies are; 

 
 (ii) the justification and objectives of those policies; 

 
 (iii) the extent to which those objectives may have been met; 

 
  (iv) how administrative factors may have affected both the choice of the 

policy measures and the manner of their implementation. 
 

(m) Participants may be asked explain and justify; 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• advice they have given prior to decisions being taken; 
• decisions they themselves have taken under delegations from the 

Cabinet etc. 
 
NB: far as possible, Council Officers should avoid being drawn into 

discussions on the merits of alternative policies where this is 
politically contentious.  Any comment by Council Officers on the 
Cabinet's policies and actions should always be consistent with the 
requirement for Officers to be politically neutral. 

  



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

11

  

E. Councillor Calls for 
Action (CCfA) 

 

E.1 Subject to the ‘excluded matters’ rule detailed in section E.2 and the 
restrictions detailed in sections E4, E5, E7 and E10 of this Protocol, any 
ward Member may refer to the Committee for scrutiny, any local 
government matter. 
 
The flowchart at Annex 1 describes the CCfA procedure. 

 
E.2 Excluded matters 

A CCfA cannot be championed in relation to matters associated with crime 
and disorder, licensing, planning, or a matter where there is already a 
statutory right of review or appeal (other than the right to complain to the 
Local Government Ombudsman), or a matter which is vexatious, 
discriminatory or not reasonable to be included on the agenda for, or to be 
discussed at, a meeting of the Committee (reg. 3. of the Overview and 
Scrutiny (Reference by Councillors) (Excluded Matters) (England) Order 
2012).  
 

E.3 A matter does not fall within a description of an ‘excluded matter’ if it 
consists of an allegation that a function for which the Council is responsible 
has not been discharged at all or that its discharge has failed or is failing on 
a systematic basis, notwithstanding the fact that the allegation specifies or 
refers to an excluded matter. 

 
E.4 Referral of a genuine, significant and persistent local community concern 

by the local ward Member as a CCfA for scrutiny is a measure of last 
resort, once other approaches for informal resolution have been exhausted.  
Local ward Members are advised to seek advice from the relevant Director 
before agreeing to champion a CCfA. 
 

E.5 The CCfA may be referred for scrutiny on behalf of a constituent, or on the 
local ward Member’s own initiative, providing the local ward Member has 
the support of the local community and the Member does not have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest in the matter.   
 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

12

E.6 The Committee may receive a CCfA via the Cabinet in circumstances 
where the local ward Member has declined to champion the CCfA and the 
constituent has then referred the issue to the Cabinet.  
 

E.7 Subject to the draw down rules at section A.2 of this Protocol, the referral of 
a CCfA to the Committee will be limited to one CCfA per meeting.   

 
E.8 The referral of a CCfA to the Committee by a local ward Member will be on 

written notification to Member Services, by no later than noon on the 16th 
day before a Committee meeting, i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 
16 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank 
and public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held). 

 
E.9 The rules relating to provision of information and request for participant 

attendance, at sections B and D of this Protocol will apply.  
 

E.10 The acceptance of a CCfA will be at the discretion of the Committee.  In 
considering whether or not to accept a CCfA, the Committee may have 
regard to any representations made by the local ward Member as to why it 
would be appropriate for the Committee to accept the CCfA. 

 
E.11 If the Committee decides not to accept the CCfA, Member Services will 

within 5 days’ of the meeting, formally notify the ward Member of the 
Committee’s decision and the reasons for it.  The Committee’s decision is 
final.  There is no right of appeal. 

 
E.12 The local ward Member may address the Committee (but not vote) on the 

matter raised.   
 

E.13 Following consideration of a CCfA, the Committee may report or 
recommend accordingly to the GAC and/or the Cabinet, the Responsible 
Person, Kent County Council etc.  The rules detailed in sections H and M of 
this Protocol, will apply.   
 

E.14 The Committee may submit a copy of its report or recommendations to the 
local ward Member or await the GAC’s/Cabinet’s and/or other relevant 
body’s response before doing so.   
 

  

F. Committee member 
business 

Subject to the rules on draw down detailed in section A.2 of this Protocol, 
any Committee or (sub-committee) member has the legal right [Section 
21A(1) Local Government Act 2000] to place any matter relevant to the 
Committee’s functions on the agenda.  This right will be exercised by giving 
written notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day 
before a Committee meeting i.e.16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 
periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and 
public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held).   
 
The rules relating to provision of information and request for participant 
attendance, at sections B and D of this Protocol, will apply.  
 

  



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

13

G. The duty to have 
regard to reports/ 
recommendations 

 
 

G.1 
When reviewing a decision made but not implemented, the Committee 
may recommend that the decision be reconsidered by the body that made 
it.  

 

G.2 
The Committee may by notice require the Responsible Person to respond 
to its Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations within 28 days (or as soon 
as reasonably possible) of the date of the Scrutiny Report, indicating what 
(if any) action the body proposes to take (reg. 22(7) of the Local Authority 
(Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013.  The same principles shall be applied to Cabinet and the 
GAC. 
 

  

G.3 
Where the Committee’s recommendations have not been accepted by the 
body concerned, clear reasons will be given.  Where recommendations 
have been agreed, but expectations have not been met, the issue may be 
re-addressed fully by the Committee. 
 

  

H. Health Service 
Scrutiny 

 ‘Local Healthwatch organisation and ‘Local Healthwatch contractor 
have the meaning in sections 222 and 223 of the Local Government 
and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (as amended); 

 ‘Referrer’ means a Local Healthwatch organisation or ‘Local 
Healthwatch contractor; 

 ‘Responsible Person’ means a NHS body or a relevant health service 
provider as defined in the National Health Service Act 2006. 

 
H.1 The Committee may scrutinise any matter relating to the planning, 

provision and operation of the health service in the Borough of Dartford 
(reg.21(1) Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and 
Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013). 
 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

14

H.2 When scrutinising the planning, provision and operation of the health 
service, the Committee must: 
 
 invite interested parties to comment (reg.21(2)(a) Local Authority (Public 

Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013); and 

 take account of relevant information available to it and in particular, 
relevant information provided by a Referrer (reg.21(2)(b) Local Authority 
(Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013). 

 
H.3 Where a matter is referred to the Committee by a Referrer, the Committee 

must acknowledge receipt of the referral within 20 working days beginning 
with the date on which the referral was made and keep the Referrer 
informed of any action taken in relation to the matter (reg.21(3) Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health 
Scrutiny) Regulations 2013). 
 

H.4 The Responsible Person must provide the Committee with such information 
as the Committee may reasonably require (reg.26 Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013). 
 

H.5 Subject to reasonable notice in accordance with section D.2 of this Protocol 
of this Protocol, the Committee may require the attendance of any member 
or employee of a Responsible Person at the meeting of the Committee to 
answer questions (reg.27 Local Authority (Public Health, Health and 
Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013). 

H.6 The Committee may make reports and recommendations to a Responsible 
Person on any matter it has reviewed (reg.22(1) Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013). 
 
Reports and recommendations must under reg.22(6) of the Local Authority 
(Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013 include: 
(a) an explanation of the matter reviewed; 
(b) a list of participants involved in the review; and 
(c) an explanation of any recommendations on the matter reviewed. 

H.7 Where the Committee requests a response from the Responsible Person, 
the Responsible Person must respond in writing within 28 days of the 
request (reg.22(7) Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing 
Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013). 

H.8 Other than in circumstances where there is a risk to the safety or welfare of 
patients or staff, a Responsible Person is required to consult with the 
Committee on any proposal for a substantial development or variation to 
the health service in the Borough of Dartford (reg.23 Local Authority 
(Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013). 

 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

15

 
H.9 The Committee may comment on the Responsible Person’s proposal by 

the date specified by the Responsible Person (reg.23(4) Local Authority 
(Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013). 
 

H.10 In addition to commenting, the Committee may recommend accordingly to 
the Responsible Person in accordance with section J.6 of this Protocol.  
Where the Responsible Person disagrees with the Committee’s 
recommendation, the Responsible Person must notify the Committee and 
the Committee and the Responsible Person must take such reasonable 
steps to try to reach agreement on the recommendation (reg.23(5) Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health 
Scrutiny) Regulations 2013). 
 

H11 Where the Committee is not satisfied that the Responsible Person has 
adequately consulted or the reasons given by it are not adequate, subject 
to complying with regs. 23(7), (8), (10) & (11) of the Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013, the Committee may report to the Secretary of State, who may direct 
accordingly (regs.23(9) and 25 Local Authority (Public Health, Health and 
Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013.   
 

J. Work programme 
 

J.1 
The Committee will be responsible for setting its own work programme and 
in doing so, will take into account wishes of Committee members who are 
not members of the largest political group on the Council. 
 

J.2 
Duplication of activities or major additions to the Committee’s work 
programme will be avoided. 
 

J.3 The Committee will receive an annual report on its workings and may make 
recommendations for future work programmes. 
 

  

K. Appointment of 
independent experts, 
advisers/assessors 

 

K.1 
Subject to available resources and GAC authority, the Committee may 
invite independent experts, advisers and assessors to contribute to the 
overview and scrutiny process undertaken by it, its sub-committees or task 
groups.  Independent experts, advisers and assessors will have no voting 
rights and will not count for the purposes of establishing a quorum. 
 

K.2 The criteria for selection will be; 
 
(a) candidates must be able to demonstrate to the Chairman an expert 

knowledge of the subject in question; 
(b) candidates will have no contact with the Borough Council, which could 

be seen as prejudicial to their independence; 
(c) candidates will not be employees of the Council, a person/organisation 

contracted to provide services on behalf of the Council or an 
employee, officer or member of the Kent County Council or the 
Responsible Person. 

 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

16

  
K.3 Independent experts, advisers and assessors will be expected to comply 

with the principles in the [Member] Code of Conduct, including the 
requirement to declare interests and respecting confidentiality. 
 

K.4 Independent experts, advisers and assessors will receive payment in 
accordance with a standard scale of fees, to be agreed by the Cabinet, plus 
travel and other reasonable/legitimate expenses. 
 

K.5 Independent experts, advisers and assessors may at the Committee’s 
discretion, remain in the meeting room when confidential and/or exempt 
information is being discussed. 
 

K.6 In considering independent experts’, advisers’ and assessors’ 
recommendations, the Committee will have regard to the advice of the 
Council's Statutory Officers (Chief Finance Officer/Section 151 Officer and 
Monitoring Officer) who are legally bound respectively, to report to the GAC 
on inter alia: 

  the corporate approach of the Council; 
 contravention of law and/or Standing Orders, Financial Regulations; 
 unlawfulness, maladministration or injustice; 
 vires and propriety of expenditure; 
 overall integrity of the budget, capital and revenue and the fiduciary duty 

and responsibility of all Members (Section 112 and 114 Reports). 
 
NB: The GAC retains the ultimate responsibility of censure. 
 

  
L. Scrutiny reports  
and//or 
recommendations 

 

L.1 All comments, conclusions and recommendations to the Responsible 
Person, GAC and/or Cabinet (referred to in this part of the Protocol as the 
‘relevant body’ will be accompanied by a Scrutiny Report prepared by the 
Committee Co-ordinator, in consultation with the appropriate Officer and 
the Committee Chairman under the existing rules for the preparation of 
committee reports. 
 

L.2 The Scrutiny Report will include: 
(a) an explanation of the matter scrutinised; 
(b) a summary of the evidence considered; 
(c) a list of the participants involved in the scrutiny exercise; 
(d) any recommendations on the matter scrutinised, including where 

applicable, an indication of the costs associated with implementing the 
recommendations; 

(e) a summary of the views of Members dissenting from the majority 
recommendation(s); 

(f)  the mechanism for monitoring progress in implementing the 
recommendation(s). 

 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

17

  
L.3 All motions (whether passed, rejected, opposed etc.) by the Committee will 

be detailed in the Scrutiny Report. 
 

L.4 The Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations will be published and sent to 
the link officer of the relevant body. 
 

L.5 Where requested by the Committee, a ‘relevant body’ is under an  
obligation in accordance with section H of this Protocol to consider the 
Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations and respond to the Committee 
within 28 days (or as soon as reasonably possible) of the date of the 
Scrutiny Report, indicating what (if any) action the body proposes to take.  
 

L.6 The Committee Chairman, may at the request of the ‘relevant body’, attend 
its meeting and present the Scrutiny Report and answer questions. 
 

L.7 If in disagreement with the decision of the Committee, any Councillor(s) 
who expresses a minority view, may through the Committee Chairman, 
refer a 'minority view' report to the ‘relevant body’ for consideration and 
provided they do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial 
interest in the matter under discussion, the Councillor may be requested to 
attend the body’s meeting and present their views and answer questions.   
 

L.8 If at all possible, Scrutiny Reports and/or recommendations should be 
included on the agenda of the next available meeting of the ‘relevant body’ 
unless the matter which is the subject of the Scrutiny Report and/or 
recommendations is scheduled to be considered by the ‘relevant body’ 
within a period of four weeks from the date the Committee issues the 
Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations.  In such circumstances, the 
Committee's Scrutiny Report/recommendations will be considered by the 
‘relevant body’ in the context of their deliberations on the substantive item 
on the body’s agenda. 
 

L.9 Only one Scrutiny Report per meeting of the ‘relevant body’ may be 
submitted by the Committee for consideration. 
 

L.10 Following receipt of the ‘relevant body’s’ response, the Committee may, by 
motion, move 'that the matter be referred back to the [named] ‘relevant 
body' either 'for further information' or 'for further consideration' or as the 
case may be, with an instruction that some specified action be taken or that 
the Committee considers that no further action is necessary. 
 

  
L.11 Scrutiny Reports and/or recommendations to the GAC will be copied to the 

Cabinet Chairman.  The GAC will not consider a Scrutiny Report and/or 
recommendations until the Cabinet has had the opportunity to comment. 
 

L.12 Local ward Members and other non - executive Councillors will have the 
opportunity at GAC meetings, to raise issues either through questions, 
motions or through policy and other debates.  
 

  



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

18

M. Cabinet Key  
Decisions 

Where the Cabinet has decided not to include a particular decision in a 
Regulation 9 Notice, but the Committee believes that it should have been 
included, the Committee may require the Cabinet to make a report on the 
decision to the GAC in accordance with Standing Order 54(9).  The 
Committee's consideration of any such matter will be in public, but subject 
to the rules on confidential and exempt information. 
 

  

N. Monitoring Officer 
reports  

The Committee may consider whether it would be appropriate, following 
receipt of a Monitoring Officer report to the Cabinet (and copied to all 
Members of the Council), to hold a short enquiry into the matter which is 
the subject of the report prior to the Cabinet's consideration of it and to 
recommend accordingly to the Cabinet. 
 

  

P. Consideration of  
items at meetings 

 

P.1 Without prejudice to the rules detailed in Standing Orders on the 
consideration of urgent items, items will not be considered at a meeting of 
the Committee unless included on the agenda for the meeting.  The order 
of business will be as set out in Standing Order 58(10)(a)(i) to and 
including (iii) and the business as otherwise set out in the agenda in 
accordance with Standing Order 58(10)(a)(iv) will be in the order of: 
 

  Call – in; 
 

  decisions and/or actions of the Council, Cabinet and Officers; local 
health service body, Kent County Council; 

 
  local improvement targets; 

 
  MAA economic strategy action plans; 

 
  Draw downs; 

 
  CCfA; 

 
  Key Decisions; 

 
  any other local government matter related to the Council’s/Cabinet’s 

functions; 
 

  Officer decisions pursuant to Standing Order 38 (Delegation of Urgent 
and Routine Matters); 

 
  Minority member business; 

 
  Scrutiny Committee member business; 

 
  Monitoring progress of agreed actions; 

 
  Members’ Information Bulletin.  

 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

19

Q.2 The order of business may be altered by the Committee in accordance with 
the rules detailed in Standing Order 58(10)(b). 
 

Q.3 Cabinet decisions and Officer decisions under Standing Order 38 
(Delegation of Urgent and Routine Matters) and under the Scheme of 
Delegations to Officers, cannot be reversed or amended. 
 

Q.4 Voting Committee members have a right of access to exempt or 
confidential information considered by the Cabinet, but only if it is relevant 
to an issue(s) before the Committee (Standing Order 51(4)). 
 

Q.5 In exercising its powers, the Committee must respect, support and not 
compromise the duties and responsibilities of other Committees, Boards 
and Panels of the Council. If a scrutiny investigation reveals potential 
disciplinary and probity issues, the Committee will refer the matter to the 
Managing Director. 
 

Q.6 Litigation proceedings by or against the Council must not be prejudiced by 
any scrutiny investigation.  In the circumstances, it may be necessary to 
defer further consideration of the matter until the proceedings have been 
dispensed with. 
 

Q.7 Consultation undertaken by the Committee in accordance with its Terms of 
Reference will not compromise/prejudice consultations undertaken by any 
other Committee/Board of the Council.  
 

  

R. Conduct of  
meetings 

  
 

R.1 Meetings will be open to the public and the press unless confidential and/or 
exempt information is being considered.  The Access to Information 
Procedure Rules detailed in Standing Orders will apply. 
 

R.2 The access to information provisions relating to access to and inspection of 
agenda and connected reports and minutes as detailed in Standing Orders 
will apply. 
 

R.3 Minutes will be drawn up and recorded in accordance with the rules 
detailed in Standing Order 15. 
 

S. Task groups/ 
informal Member  
working group 

 

S.1 Task groups (or informal Member working groups) may be appointed at 
any time by the Committee to examine specific issues in detail.  Task 
groups will be time limited and will tend to work more flexibly and 
informally. 
 

S.2 The Committee may appoint any of its Members to work informally with 
other bodies or authorities etc., particularly in relation to external or cross-
authority scrutiny matters, where this will contribute to the Committee’s 
functions. 
 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

20

S.3 Whilst a task group cannot substitute for the Committee or exercise the 
formal powers associated respectively with overview and scrutiny (which is 
the preserve of the Committee and its sub-committees), the task group 
may contribute to or inform the overview or scrutiny process. 
 

S.4 Task groups will be made up of no less than 3 Committee members. The 
political balance rules need not apply. 
 

S.5 Because of the relative informality of task group meetings, and the 
evidence gathering nature of much of the discussion, chairing the meetings 
will involve different skills from those required by traditional committee 
meetings.  The task group Chairman will need to be sure that all task group 
members are clear about the purpose of the meeting and are given the 
opportunity to pursue a line of questioning – via a number of 
supplementary questions if necessary. 
 

S.6 The task group may obtain information through different media, including 
face-to-face interviews; questionnaires; focus groups; site visits; reports; 
and written submissions from participants. 

 
S.7 Participants will be offered the opportunity to comment on the accuracy of 

the record of their attendance.  
 

S.8 Once the evidence is taken, the Committee Co-ordinator will draft a report 
and recommendations to reflect the preliminary views of the task group.  
The draft report and recommendations will be agreed by the task group 
Chairman before it is circulated to the Cabinet Chairman and the Strategic 
Director for comment. 
 

S.9 The Committee will consider the task group’s report and/or 
recommendations and any comments from the Cabinet Chairman and/or 
Managing Director. 
 

S.10 The Committee will refer the task group’s report and/or recommendations 
to the relevant body i.e. Kent County Council, Responsible Person, GAC 
and/or Cabinet with a note of the debate and any changes arising from the 
debate. 
 

S.11 The Committee may refer the issue back to the task group for further 
consideration. 
 

T. Sub-committees  
T.1 The Committee may appoint sub-committees in accordance with the rules 

detailed in Standing Order 58(1)(4) and may delegate any of its functions 
to its sub-committees. 

 
T.2 Sub-committees may exercise the formal powers associated respectively 

with the scrutiny function. 
 

  
 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

21

U. Monitoring agreed 
actions 

 

U.1 Agreed actions will form the basis against which performance of the 
Council, Cabinet etc. will be measured.  Progress against action plans will 
be monitored through Covalent [the Council’s performance management 
system] and reported to the Committee annually. 
 

U.2 Where the Committee’s recommendations have not been accepted by the 
body concerned, clear reasons will be given.  Where recommendations 
have been agreed, but expectations have not been met, the issue may be 
re-addressed fully by the Committee. 
 

  
V. Declarations of  
interest 

 

V.1 Elected Councillors and voting co-optees are subject to the [Member] Code 
of Conduct. 
 

V.2 Representatives from the responsible authorities, co-operating body and 
other partner organisations are subject to their respective professional 
codes of conduct.  
 

V.3 Participants who are not bound by codes of conduct will be subject to the 
Nolan principles of transparency and accountability. 
 

V.4 All participants (including Council Officers) summoned or invited to attend 
Committee meetings, will declare any interests and the nature of the 
interests at the beginning of the meeting or as soon as the interests 
become apparent to them.  
 

V.5 No Committee members may be involved in scrutinising a decision in 
which they have been directly involved. 

V.6 With the exception of Cabinet members who are required to attend the 
Committee to give evidence in accordance with section D of this Protocol, 
any Member at the meeting (not restricted to members of the Committee) 
with a disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest in a matter, may 
not take part in the discussion or remain in the meeting room or public 
gallery to observe the vote on the matter. 
 

  



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

22

W. Regulatory bodies  
W.1 The Council discharges a number of regulatory functions such as 

development control, licensing and other quasi-judicial functions, which 
cannot be the responsibility of the Cabinet. 
 

W.2 The Committee will not scrutinise individual decisions made by the 
Committees, Boards and Panels entrusted to discharge the Council’s 
regulatory functions (the Regulatory Bodies).  Scrutiny of decisions of 
Regulatory Bodies is clearly not an alternative to normal appeals 
procedures.  However, the Committee may make reports and/or 
recommendations to the GAC relating to the discharge of any Regulatory 
Body’s functions. 
 

W.3 Scrutiny of the discharge of a Regulatory Body’s functions will be restricted 
to one per Committee meeting on notice by the Committee Chairman and 
the Shadow Chairman.  The rules detailed in section A. of this Protocol will 
apply.  
 

  

X. Review of this 
Protocol 

This Protocol will be reviewed on an annual basis or more frequently, if 
experience, circumstances and legislation highlight that amendments are 
required. 
 

  

 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

23

           ANNEX 1 
 

COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION (CCfA) FLOWCHART 
 
CCfA request – local residents have concerns about significant and persistent problems in their area – they approach the local ward 
Member - local ward Member may also on their initiative, initiate a CCfA and gather support from their local community 

 
 
First level response 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
Second level response 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Third level response 
 
 
 
  
 
 
Fourth level response 
 
  
  
 
 
 
  
 
 
Fifth level response 
 
 
  
 
 

In consultation with relevant Director, local ward Member considers 
whether to agree to champion or reject the CCfA - Log request 

Concern not resolved – as last resort, concern referred to 
Scrutiny Committee   

Scrutiny Committee rejects CCFA (see 
Committee’s Protocol for procedure) Scrutiny Committee accepts CCfA and considers 

issue in accordance with Committee’s Protocol 

Scrutiny Committee compiles report and 
recommendations to Cabinet/GAC, local health 
service body, KCC etc. (refer to Committee’s 
Protocol) 

Local ward Member notified 
with written reasons 

Cabinet/GAC, NHS body and KCC etc. consider 
recommendations and respond within 2 months, 
setting out reasons for any inaction 

Scrutiny Committee considers and publishes 
responses to scrutiny recommendations Feedback to local ward Member  

Before agreeing, Director to 
undertake screening/filter 
checks (section 6 of Guide) 

Refuse to champion  and 
provide constituent/local ward 
Member with written reasons for 
refusal 

 

Agree to champion 

First attempt to resolve the concerns informally in consultation 
with relevant parties e.g. Lead Member, CDRP etc. (section 
11 of Guide) – Log attempt to resolve Concern resolved  





Appendix C

D A R T F O R D   B O R O U G H   C O U N C I L
ANNUAL MEETING

10 May 2017

STANDING COMMITTEES, BOARDS AND PANELS
OF THE COUNCIL

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
[REPORTING TO COUNCIL unless otherwise stated in these Terms of 
Reference]

Chairman: Councillor J S Hawkes
Vice-Chairman: Councillor M J Davis
Membership: Councillors A Bardoe, J Burrell, R M Currans, P Cutler, 

J A Hayes, S R Jarnell, M B Kelly, C S McLean, 
M A Maddison, T A Maddison, J A Ozog, J M Ozog, D J 
Reynolds, A S Sandhu MBE and Mrs R F Storey.

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
[REPORTING TO COUNCIL unless otherwise stated in these Terms of Reference]

TERMS OF REFERENCE:
DELEGATED FUNCTIONS:

1. To perform the scrutiny functions on behalf of the Council within the guidelines detailed 
in the Committee's Protocol;

2. To submit reports to the Council on the following;

(a) any Cabinet decision which is likely to give rise to expenditure or savings above such 
thresholds as agreed by the Council;

(b) matters of local concern which are not the responsibility of the Council but which 
nevertheless affect the Borough and/or its inhabitants;

(c) a Cabinet decision which is likely to have a significant impact on two or more Wards;

(d) a non-urgent departure decision(s) which is;

(i) a Cabinet decision(s) (not yet implemented) which is contrary to the policy 
framework/budget;

(ii) a Cabinet decision(s) (which has been implemented) and which is considered to 
be contrary to the policy framework/budget).

NB: The Council has no locus to make a decision in respect of a Cabinet decision 
unless the Cabinet decision is contrary to or not wholly consistent with the 
budget or policy framework approved/adopted by the Council. 

3. To appoint in accordance with Standing Order 58(4) such sub-committee(s) as the 
Committee considers appropriate to fulfil the scrutiny functions of the Committee.



Appendix C

4. To hold the Cabinet to account for the discharge of its executive functions by scrutinising 
decisions proposed and/or action to be taken in accordance with the Call-in mechanism 
detailed in the Committee's Protocol.

5. To hold the Cabinet to account for the discharge of its executive functions by scrutinising 
decisions after implementation i.e. post decision scrutiny, in accordance with the 
Committee's Protocol for the following purposes only:

(a) to seek more understanding of the decision and its implications;

(b) to question the soundness of the decision;

(c) to identify the need for Council policies to guide delegated decisions;

(d) to examine the effect and outcomes of the decision e.g. enquire into grants 
awarded by the Cabinet to voluntary organisations in the Borough to see how 
effectively expenditure has been targeted;

(e) to make recommendations, including proposals for changes to policies or practices, 
to the Cabinet.

NB: A decision(s) may only be scrutinised once.

6. To scrutinise the discharge of any other functions of the Council in accordance with the 
mechanism(s) detailed in the Committee's Protocol.

7. To report to the Cabinet and/or the Council in accordance with the Committee’s Protocol 
on matters of local concern.

8. To seek comments from other Committees/Boards in order to obtain a balanced view of 
the effects of Council policy and Cabinet decisions.

9. Where appropriate, and as part of the community consultation process, to seek input 
from Councillors (including Members of the Cabinet), Officers, other interested 
stakeholders and organisations and by drawing on the knowledge of constituents’ views.

10. To receive finalised documents relating to a key decision(s) in the Cabinet's forward 
plan.

11. To scrutinise Cabinet forward plans with a view to deciding which, if any, of the 
forthcoming Cabinet decisions the Committee wishes to enquire into.

12. To report annually to the Council on the work of the Committee.

13. To consider Monitoring Officer reports about lawfulness or maladministration, which 
relate to Cabinet functions and consider whether to hold a short enquiry into the matter 
the subject of the report prior to the Cabinet's consideration of it.

14. To approve an annual scrutiny work programme in accordance with Standing Order 
58(8) including the programme of any sub-committee appointed by the Committee to 
ensure that there is efficient use of the Committee's (sub-committee's) time and that the 
potential for duplication of effort is minimised.

15. Health Scrutiny Functions



Appendix C

To scrutinise any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation of the health 
service in the Borough of Dartford, in accordance with the Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013.

16. Discussion/Consultation Papers

To respond to discussion/consultation papers relating to matters connected/associated 
with the functions of the Committee (i.e. scrutiny) in accordance with the procedure set 
out in the Appendix to these Terms of Reference.

17. Councillor Calls for Action

To consider any local government matter relevant to the Council’s functions (other than 
crime and disorder) referred to the Committee by a local ward Member, under the 
Councillor Call for Action provisions in the Committee’s Protocol. 

NB: the matter must be a genuine, significant and persistent community concern referred 
to the Committee as a last resort, because the usual channels for raising the concern 
e.g. Council Officers, Cabinet, partner organisations etc. have been unsuccessful.  





GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
17 JULY 2017

APPOINTMENT OF DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCILLOR 
REPRESENTATIVE TO THE KENT AND MEDWAY POLICE & 
CRIME PANEL  

1. Summary

1.1 To inform the General Assembly of the Council of the Leader’s nomination of 
Councillor R J Wells to be Dartford’s representative on the Kent & Medway 
Police & Crime Panel for the remainder of the 2017-18 municipal cycle, 
following the resignation of Councillor C J Shippam from that role. 

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1   That the General Assembly of the Council approve the appointment of Councillor 
R J Wells as Dartford’s representative on the Kent and Medway Police & Crime 
Panel for the current 2017-18 municipal cycle.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 At the Annual Meeting held on 10 May 2017 Councillor C J Shippam was 
confirmed in his appointment as the Council’s representative on the Kent 
and Medway Police and Crime Panel (PCP). Councillor Shippam has 
subsequently had to step down from the PCP due to other commitments 
which have precluded his attendance at PCP meetings.

3.2 Councillor R J Wells has deputised for Cllr. Shippam on the PCP in the 
past, drawing on his experience as Chairman of the Council’s Crime and 
Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) Committee. Cllr. Wells has accepted the 
Leader’s nomination to represent the Council on the PCP for the 
remainder of the 2017-18 municipal cycle, subject to the approval of the 
General Assembly of the Council on 17 July 2017. 

4. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

5. Appendices

None.



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
17 JULY 2017

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Annual Council 
Agenda 10 May 2017 

June 2017 David Hook, 
Member Services 
(01322) 343430

Member 
Services/
Internal Services

N/A



1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET

MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 9 March 2017 at 7.00 pm 

PRESENT: Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman)
Councillor C J Shippam (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE
Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor K M Kelly
Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow

ALSO PRESENT: Councillor S R Jarnell

116. HONORARY ALDERMAN TERRY SMITH 

The Chairman noted with sadness the recent death of Honorary Alderman, 
ex-Councillor and former Mayor Terry Smith. He described how he had been 
a great Dartfordian and friend to all and said that he would be greatly missed 
by many people. He also referred to his time as Chairman of the Development 
Control Board and noted the various major projects that had been delivered 
under his Chairmanship. Other Members echoed the sentiments expressed 
by the Chairman and asked that Cabinet’s best wishes and condolences be 
passed to his family.

117. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

There were no apologies for absence.

118. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

119. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 26 
JANUARY 2017 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 26 January 2017 be 
confirmed.

120. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.

121. TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE CABINET ADVISORY PANEL HELD 
ON 6 MARCH 2017 

The Cabinet received the minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 6 
March 2017 and took note of the Panel’s views throughout the meeting.



CABINET
THURSDAY 9 MARCH 2017

2

122. REFERENCES FROM COMMITTEES 

There were no references from other committees.

123. RESPONSE TO KENT FREIGHT ACTION PLAN CONSULTATION 

This report summarised the content of Kent County Council’s (KCC’s) draft 
Freight Action Plan for Kent and recommended that the Council respond to 
the consultation on a number of matters, particularly with regard to freight 
impacts at the Dartford Crossing.

The Head of Regeneration noted this to be a high level document which 
considered ways of reducing the impact of freight traffic on communities in 
Kent. She then talked Members through the five high level actions identified in 
the document and said that, although the Council agreed with the actions that 
had been identified, the response asked that they be strengthened and more 
detail provided. She then noted how the proposed response had highlighted 
the fact that no actions had been identified to address the impacts of freight 
using the Dartford Crossing, and that no reference had been made to KCC’s 
support for a Lower Thames Crossing at Option C. The response also felt that 
the Action Plan had failed to consider the wider impact that a road/rail 
interchange at Howbury would have on local freight traffic levels. She then 
referred to the issues raised by the Advisory Panel who had asked that the 
reference to the air quality impacts of freight transport be enhanced, that the 
impact of lorry parking in areas other than those already identified be 
highlighted, and that the suggested siting of rail/freight interchanges at other 
locations (including North of the River Thames) be proposed.

The Chairman welcomed the response that had been proposed and 
expressed concern at the impact that heavy goods vehicle traffic was having 
on local roads whenever there is congestion on the strategic road network. He 
also strongly agreed with the need to include a reference to the benefits that 
would be delivered by the construction of the Lower Thames Crossing at 
Option C as he felt that the regularly occurring problems at the Dartford 
Crossing could not be allowed to continue.

Members referred to the comments that had been made in relation to the 
siting of a Strategic Rail Freight Interchange at Howbury and noted how 
access to this site would lead to an increase in freight traffic flow through 
Dartford rather than helping to ease congestion on local roads.

Members also noted how the size and weight of heavy goods vehicles had 
steadily increased over time and referred to the problems that can now occur 
when they have to travel through villages, for example Sutton-at-Hone, in 
order to reach local business sites. In order to highlight this concern Members 
agreed that the response be expanded to ask that the pressure on local roads 
caused by businesses which generate significant transport movements be 
addressed.



CABINET
THURSDAY 9 MARCH 2017

3

Members noted how the placing of boulders along Watling Street had stopped 
the lorry parking which used to take place along that road and thought this to 
have been a worthwhile strategy.

Members then referred to the Howbury Strategic Rail Freight Interchange 
planning application approval process and were advised by the Head of 
Regeneration that it had already been approved by Bexley Borough Council 
but had yet to be considered by Dartford Borough Council. She also 
confirmed that it had to be approved by both Local Authorities for the project 
to proceed and that the applicant would be able to appeal the decision if it 
was refused by Dartford.

Following discussion Members agreed that the Head of Regeneration be 
asked to also add more weight to the response relating to the Freight 
Interchange and the issues that had been highlighted relating to the Dartford 
Crossing.

RESOLVED:

That the response to the consultation on the draft Freight Action Plan for Kent, 
as set out in Appendix A to the report and amended by the above minute, be 
submitted to Kent County Council.

124. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY GOVERNANCE 
ARRANGEMENTS 

This report proposed governance arrangements for the funding and delivery 
of infrastructure, which is required to support planned development in 
Dartford, following the implementation of the Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) by the Council.

The Head of Regeneration noted how the funds being received from CIL were 
growing and said that a mechanism to prioritise and allocate spending was 
now required. She explained how the process would be managed through a 
Steering Group which would prioritise bids and propose a 5 year rolling 
programme of projects. She said that the Steering Group would be an 
advisory body and that Cabinet would be required to make the final decision 
on the chosen projects and spending plans. She also noted how the General 
Assembly of the Council would be required to set the overall CIL spending 
envelope annually at its budget meeting. She then talked Members through 
the proposed membership of the Steering Group and said that it should 
include 4 Members from Dartford Council and representatives from Kent 
County Council, the Clinical Commissioning Group, Highways England, the 
Environment Agency and the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation, and other 
bodies if considered appropriate. The Chairman also noted how it had been 
proposed that Dartford Member representation on the Steering Group should 
be politically balanced so that the advisory recommendations generated have 
cross party input.



CABINET
THURSDAY 9 MARCH 2017

4

The Chairman then referred to the proportion of CIL that is allocated to 
Parish/Town Councils and unparished areas and said that those responsible 
for allocating funds to projects in each local area should be made aware of the 
need to work in partnership with the Borough Council, and combine their 
proportion of CIL funding with that held by the Borough Council, in order that 
larger projects (e.g. the delivery of new local health related or educational 
facilities) may be considered. The Head of Regeneration noted that 
discussions relating to investment in shared infrastructure and the need for 
Parish/Town Council support were proposed to take place.

In response to a question relating to whether the Parish/Town Council 
proportion of CIL could be used to maintain street lighting the Head of 
Regeneration advised that CIL funding should be used to address the 
demands that development places on an area and that careful arguments 
would have to be put forward in order for it to be used to replace or maintain 
existing infrastructure.

RESOLVED:

1. That the governance arrangements for decision-making and monitoring 
of CIL monies, as set out in paragraphs 5.1 to 5.8 and Appendices A, B 
and D of this report, be agreed.

2. That a CIL Steering Group be set up in accordance with the proposals 
in paragraphs 5.5 to 5.6 of the report.

3. That proposals for liaison with Town and Parish Councils on joint 
infrastructure priorities, as set out in paragraphs 5.11 to 5.12 of the 
report, be agreed.

4. That detailed proposals for engaging with local communities on the 
spending of local CIL funding in unparished areas be developed and 
reported to Cabinet.

5. That, for the reasons outlined in paragraph 5.17 of the report, a CIL 
exemption policy not be introduced at the current time and that the 
situation be kept under review.

6. That the updated online CIL guidance, as set out in Appendix E to the 
report, be noted.

125. CONSULTATION ON DARTFORD TOWN CENTRE FRAMEWORK 

This report described the purpose and content of the Draft Dartford Town 
Centre Framework, which sets out a clear vision for the town centre with the 
aim of delivering a step change in the environment and overall experience for 
those using the town centre.  The Framework identified actions and 
interventions for the improvement of public space and the town’s built 
environment.  It also provided guidance for development proposals so that 



CABINET
THURSDAY 9 MARCH 2017

5

maximum benefit for all users of the town centre is achieved through this 
private investment.

The report also recommended that the Framework be brought into immediate 
use to assist in guiding the design of public realm schemes as well as 
informing planning decisions on development in the town centre.  However, to 
have the full weight of a formal planning document, the Framework must go 
through the required planning procedures and be adopted as a 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) by the Council.  It was therefore 
recommended that public consultation is undertaken on the document, with a 
view to adopting it as an SPD.

The Chairman welcomed this important document and referred to the way that 
it had been positively presented in the local press. He also noted the many 
favourable comments that were being received from members of the public. 
He then referred to the amount of consultation that had already taken place 
during the documents creation and confirmed that the amounts of money that 
were being made available would be enough to deliver town centre 
improvements that would make a difference. He also described how different 
people were expressing differing views on proposed designs and the 
Framework’s vision, but said that it was important to keep an open mind and 
support the aim of delivering quality changes whilst respecting Dartford’s 
heritage, and creating a town centre that was ready for the future.

The Head of Regeneration described how the Framework document did not 
present a fixed plan but provided an overall strategy that could be followed, 
and referred to, when making planning related decisions. She explained how 
it promoted improved quality and enhanced opportunity and that, in order to 
encourage full public involvement, would also be published in a simplified 
brochure form. She then noted the benefits of adopting the Framework as an 
SPD and its value to those developers and businesses who are looking to 
invest in the area.

Members welcomed the document and its readability and supported the way 
that Dartford was now being described as a desirable place to live. Reference 
was then made to the documents content and it was suggested that the 9 
hole, par three, golf course situated on the Princes Park site also be included 
as one of the leisure related facilities currently on offer in the Borough.

Members also discussed the statement relating to the under-provision of 
eating establishments in the town centre and were advised that this related to 
the lack of representation from larger restaurant chains and known brands. 
Reference was then made to the large amount of interest being shown in the 
homes being built on the Northern Gateway site, and the fact that many of 
those likely to buy one of these properties would lead a lifestyle which 
involved regular dining out rather than eating at home. The existence of 
unique quality restaurants in the town centre was also noted, as was the 
policy set out in the emerging development plan which would ensure that a 
balance is maintained between the eating establishments and shops in the 
town centre.



CABINET
THURSDAY 9 MARCH 2017

6

The Chairman referred to the interest in the town centre that was being shown 
by members of the public and noted the number of people that had recently 
attended a tour of the Acacia site to learn about, and comment on, the 
changes that were planned for the area. He also highlighted the level of 
support that had been expressed for the Council’s Acacia related proposals. 
He then went on to note the types of community event that are held in the 
town centre, many of which are free to attend, and the Council’s support for 
the provision of new entertainment and arts related facilities.

The Chairman then referred to points that had been raised at the Cabinet 
Advisory Panel meeting and confirmed that a website relating to Dartford’s 
history and plans for the future was being discussed. He also confirmed that, 
constitutionally, Cabinet would be required to approve the final version of the 
Framework document but said that this did not prevent all Members from 
making their views felt as part of the consultation exercise. He also 
anticipated that all Members would be welcome to attend the Cabinet 
Advisory Panel which would be held prior to the Cabinet meeting in order that 
their views and comments on the version of the Framework document being 
presented for Cabinet’s approval may be passed to Cabinet for consideration.

RESOLVED:

1. That the draft Dartford Town Centre Framework, attached at Appendix 
A to the report, be approved as a document for guiding investment and 
as a material consideration in planning decisions in the town centre, 
with immediate effect.

2. That the draft Dartford Town Centre Framework, attached at Appendix 
A to the report, and the Consultation Document (Early Stage Input) 
Statement attached at Appendix B to the report, be approved for public 
consultation as a prospective Supplementary Planning Document.

3. That the Head of Regeneration be granted delegated authority to make 
minor editorial changes and to finalise diagrams and graphic material to 
the draft Framework prior to public consultation as a prospective 
Supplementary Planning Document.

126. ACACIA HALL REDEVELOPMENT PROPOSAL PUBLIC CONSULTATION 
RESULTS AND NEXT STEPS 

This report set out the results of the public consultation on the Acacia Hall site 
redevelopment proposals, and requested consent to go to tender at the 
appropriate time.

The Chairman again referred to a tour of the Acacia site that had recently 
been arranged for members of the public and the positive feedback that had 
been received at the event. He also noted the many favourable responses 
that had been made during the public consultation exercise. He then drew 
Members’ attention to the responses that had suggested that an arts/cultural 



CABINET
THURSDAY 9 MARCH 2017

7

facility be included on the site and said that, although this could be 
considered, a facility such as this would have to be commercially viable and 
sustainable.

Members noted the various comments that had been made in relation to the 
provision of additional car parking and referred to the careful planning that 
had been carried out when designing the site. They also noted how car 
parking on the Acacia site would allow visitors close access to Central Park 
and the Town Centre.

RESOLVED:

1. That the results of the public consultation, attached at Appendix A to 
the report, be noted.

2. That the Officer assessment of the responses to the public 
consultation, as set out in Appendix A to the report, be noted.

3. That the Strategic Director (Internal Services) be granted delegated 
authority to tender the works at the appropriate time.

127. GROUNDS MAINTENANCE CONTRACT 

This report sought approval for the retendering of the Grounds Maintenance 
Contract.

Members referred to the favourable remarks that had been received from 
residents on the way that the Borough’s parks and grounds are maintained 
and approved the retendering of the contract.

RESOLVED:

That, subject to compliance with EU procurement rules, the Strategic Director 
(External Services) be authorised to retender the Grounds Maintenance 
Contract and enter into a contract with the successful bidder on terms to be 
agreed with the Head of Legal Services.

128. CORPORATE PLAN - PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

This report provided the latest set of Corporate Plan performance indicators 
for quarter 3 of 2016-17.

Members noted those indicators which were showing as an alert and the way 
that this enabled effort to be focussed on those areas where improvement 
may be required.

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the Performance Indicators Monitoring Report, attached 
at Appendix A to the report, be noted.



CABINET
THURSDAY 9 MARCH 2017

8

129. REPORT OF DELEGATED ACTION TAKEN UNDER STANDING ORDER 
38: SHORT TERM LEASING FOR TEMPORARY ACCOMMODATION 

This report advised Cabinet, in accordance with the requirements of Standing 
Order 38(2)(b), of the delegated action taken under Standing Order 38(2)(a) 
by the Managing Director, in consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, to enter 
into a 10 year lease for 13 flats for use as temporary accommodation.

RESOLVED:

That the action taken by the Managing Director, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Chairman, under Standing Order 38(2)(a), to enter into a 10 year 
lease for 13 flats for use as temporary accommodation, be noted.

130. MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON 
13 DECEMBER 2016 

This report presented to Cabinet the minutes of the meeting of the Policy 
Overview Committee held on 13 December 2016.

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the Policy Overview Committee meeting held on 13 
December 2016 be noted.

131. REPORT OF DELEGATED ACTION TAKEN UNDER STANDING ORDER 
38: SHORT TERM LEASING FOR TEMPORARY ACCOMMODATION - 
EXEMPT APPENDIX
(EXEMPT CATEGORY SO 46 (1) (B) ANNEX 1 PARAGRAPH 2) 

RESOLVED:

That, following discussion of the main report (minute 129), the appendix be 
noted.

The meeting closed at 8.06 pm

Councillor J A Kite, MBE
CHAIRMAN



1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET

MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 13 April 2017 at 7.30 pm 

PRESENT: Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman)
Councillor C J Shippam (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE
Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor A R Lloyd

132. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors K M Kelly and Mrs P A 
Thurlow.

133. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

134. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 9 
MARCH 2017 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 9 March 2017 be confirmed.

135. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.

136. TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE CABINET ADVISORY PANEL HELD 
ON 10 APRIL 2017 

The Cabinet received the minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 10 
April 2017 and took note of the Panel’s views throughout the meeting.

137. REFERENCES FROM COMMITTEES 

There were no references from other committees.

138. CONSULTATION ON THE HOUSING WHITE PAPER "FIXING OUR 
BROKEN HOUSING MARKET" 

This report presented, for approval, the Council’s proposed response to the 
Government’s Housing White Paper entitled “Fixing our Broken Housing 
Market”.

Members welcomed the well written response and referred to the detailed 
discussion that had taken place at the Cabinet Advisory Panel. Having 
considered points raised by the Cabinet Advisory Panel Members endorsed 
the Panel’s support for the proposed response.



CABINET
THURSDAY 13 APRIL 2017

2

RESOLVED:

That the Council’s response to the Government’s White Paper ‘Fixing our 
Broken Housing Market’ (February 2017)’ consultation, as set out in Appendix 
B to the report, be agreed.

139. BUSINESS RATE POOL: USE OF POOL FUNDS 

This report sought Members’ agreement for the joint regeneration pot within 
the business rate pooling fund to be used as the Council’s contribution 
towards the Thames Gateway Kent Partnership, and to support the Dartford 
Town Centre Regeneration project.

The Managing Director noted that the contribution towards the Thames 
Gateway Kent Partnership was being made following a request from Kent 
County Council.

Members welcomed and endorsed the proposed uses for the joint 
regeneration part of the business rate pooling funds.

RESOLVED:

1. That a sum of £58,000 be drawn down from the joint regeneration pot 
of the business rate pooling funds as the contribution towards the work 
of the Thames Gateway Kent Partnership as set out in the report.

2. That the balance of the joint regeneration pot be used to support the 
Dartford Town Centre Regeneration project.

140. STREET NAMING AND NUMBERING - LAND NORTH OF HEDGE PLACE 
ROAD 

This report asked Members to approve two new road names for the 
development of the land to the north of Hedge Place Road.

Members endorsed the road names that had been proposed in the report.

RESOLVED:

That Fairlawn and Swansfield be approved as the new road names for the 
development of the land to the north of Hedge Place Road.

141. ORCHARD THEATRE: AUDITORIUM SEATING 

The Orchard Theatre operator, HQ Theatres, wishes to replace the auditorium 
seating to meet health and safety requirements. Members were therefore 
asked to note the capital contribution that the Council is required to pay 
towards these works in accordance with the lease. Provision for this 
contribution has been made available within the 2017/18 Capital Programme.



CABINET
THURSDAY 13 APRIL 2017

3

Members noted that the overall cost of the improvements would be 
£52,225.05 and fully supported the investment that was being made in the 
theatre.

RESOLVED:

That it be noted that a contribution of £40,546.75 will be required from the 
Council towards the cost of replacement auditorium seating in accordance 
with the Orchard Theatre lease.

142. REPORT OF DELEGATED ACTION TAKEN UNDER STANDING ORDER 
38: RESPONSE TO A2 BEAN AND EBBSFLEET JUNCTION 
IMPROVEMENTS PUBLIC CONSULTATION 

This report advised Cabinet, in accordance with the requirements of Standing 
Order 38(2)(b), of the delegated action taken under Standing Order 38(2)(a) 
by the Managing Director, in consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, relating 
to the Council’s response to the Highways England public consultation on 
proposed improvements to the A2 Bean and Ebbsfleet junctions.

Having noted that the proposals would improve traffic flow and air quality in 
the area the Chairman advised that the initial response had been enhanced 
prior to its submission to ensure that it reflected the Council’s deep concern 
for those Bean residents who would be displaced or inconvenienced by the 
proposed scheme. He also noted how the response had highlighted the 
impact the proposals might have on the Spirits Rest Horse Sanctuary and the 
need to ensure that a sustainable future can be found for the organisation.

The Head of Regeneration advised that detailed development proposals were 
being progressed and noted the Council’s involvement in this process. She 
also advised that the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation (EDC) was 
exploring alternative housing options for those residents displaced by the 
scheme but was unsure how any impact on the Horse Sanctuary would be 
managed. 

Members referred to the Spirits Rest Horse Sanctuary and noted how the 
Council had on occasion made use of the services that they provide when 
stray horses are found in the Borough. 

The Head of Regeneration said that the actual impact that the proposals will 
have on the Horse Sanctuary would not be fully known until the detailed 
proposals have been prepared. Members again confirmed that they would 
provide help and assistance wherever possible to those impacted by the 
proposals.

RESOLVED:

That the action taken by the Managing Director, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Chairman, under Standing Order 38(2)(a), in relation to the Council’s 



CABINET
THURSDAY 13 APRIL 2017

4

response to the Highways England public consultation on proposed 
improvements to the A2 Bean and Ebbsfleet junctions, be noted.

143. DARTFORD HOME ENERGY CONSERVATION - HOME ENERGY AND 
FUEL POVERTY ACTION PLAN 2015 – 2018 PROGRESS REPORT & 
HOME ENERGY AND FUEL POVERTY ACTION PLAN 2017 - 2020 

The Council is required to publish a report at two yearly intervals on progress 
made in implementing measures relating to the Home Energy Conservation 
Act 1995. This report presented the progress made against the actions in the 
2015 – 2018 Home Energy and Fuel Poverty Action Plan, and also covered a 
range of areas, including an analysis of Dartford’s current position regarding 
energy efficiency, and the action to be taken in the period 2017 to 2020. The 
report also included information relating to changes that had been made to 
the Energy Company Obligation Government Scheme following wide 
consultation.

The Strategic Director (External Services) drew Members’ attention to the 
points of clarification that had been provided at the Cabinet Advisory Panel 
meeting. She also referred to the discussion that had taken place relating to 
the mechanisms being used to gather evidence of fuel poverty and highlighted 
the suggestion that energy companies be asked to identify families who may 
be struggling to pay their bills, or are using less fuel than expected, and may 
therefore be experiencing fuel poverty. She noted how such information may 
be considered to be confidential and covered by data protection restrictions 
and confirmed that the Council already worked closely with energy providers.

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the 2015 – 2018 Home Energy and Fuel Poverty Action 
Plan progress report, attached at Appendix A to the report, and the Home 
Energy and Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2017 – 2020, attached at Appendix B to 
the report, be noted.

The meeting closed at 7.40 pm

Councillor J A Kite, MBE
CHAIRMAN



1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET

MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 25 May 2017 at 7.00 pm 

PRESENT: Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman)
Councillor C J Shippam (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE
Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor K M Kelly
Councillor A R Lloyd

ALSO PRESENT: Councillor D E Hunnisett
Councillor B E Read (Lead Member)

1. FORMER COUNCILLOR DAVE BAKER 

The Chairman noted with sadness the recent death of ex-Councillor and 
former Mayor Dave Baker. He described how he had been a stalwart member 
of the Council and a good man. He also referred to his passion for sport and 
running and asked that Cabinet’s best wishes and condolences be passed to 
his family.

The Chairman also asked Members and Officers to take a moment of 
reflection for those families who had experienced distress and loss following 
the recent atrocity that had taken place in Manchester.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

The Chairman noted that, as he is an Ebbsfleet Development Corporation 
Board member, he would withdraw from the meeting during discussion of 
Agenda Item 8, Consultation on Application to Vary Condition 3 on the Outline 
Planning Permission at Eastern Quarry to allow a Change to the Parameter 
Plans and the Land Use Disposition, in order to avoid any perception of bias.

4. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 13 
APRIL 2017 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 13 April 2017 be confirmed.

5. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.



CABINET
THURSDAY 25 MAY 2017

2

6. TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE CABINET ADVISORY PANEL HELD 
ON 22 MAY 2017 

The Cabinet received the minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 22 
May 2017 and took note of the Panel’s views throughout the meeting.

7. REFERENCES FROM COMMITTEES 

There were no references from other committees.

8. RESPONSE TO CONSULTATION ON PROPOSALS REGARDING THE 
PENALTIES FOR ENVIRONMENTAL OFFENCES 

This report brought to Members’ attention the Department for Environment,   
Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) proposals to:

 Increase the levels for section 88 fixed penalties in the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 for littering and other environmental offences;

 Change the provision for how councils can use the income from fixed 
penalties for environmental offences; and 

 Remove the requirement for parish council enforcement officers to 
attend a specified training course.

The report summarised the proposals in the consultation paper and set out 
the Council’s suggested response to the consultation.

The Strategic Director (External Services) outlined the main reasons for the 
proposed changes and said that it would address the fact that existing fines 
had become devalued over time, allow consistency to be introduced between 
existing fines and fines that had been created by new legislation, and allow for 
country wide fine level consistency.

The Strategic Director (External Services) then noted how Advisory Panel 
members had generally supported the proposed increase of the maximum 
fine penalty to £100 noting that this would still allow Dartford to keep its 
littering fine at £75. She then referred to the proposal which would allow 
income earned from Fixed Penalty Notices to be spent on any function and 
noted how this had been previously been possible for any Council rated as 
good or excellent under the old Comprehensive Performance Assessment 
(CPA) scheme. She said that the Council supported cross function use but 
noted how the Advisory Panel had been split and that some of its members 
had suggested that it would undermine confidence in the regime if it were 
thought that the funds were being used as an income stream. She said that 
Dartford did focus its spending on environmental service improvements and 
intended to continue to do so but said that some Members wanted there to be 
legislation to ensure that this continued.

The Strategic Director (External Services) also noted that the Advisory Panel 
had made reference to the lack of an appeals function, but said that they had 
been advised that this was because littering was a criminal offence and that 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/43/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/43/contents


CABINET
THURSDAY 25 MAY 2017

3

therefore there was no statutory appeal process. A number of Advisory Panel 
members had also questioned the lack of evidence to support the claimed 
success of the enforcement operation.

Members considered the issue of income usage and, having confirmed their 
support for it to be used primarily to address environmental issues, felt that 
the Council should also have the flexibility to use it in other complementary 
areas (e.g. to generate planning design proposals that would discourage fly-
tipping, or to investigate air flow around buildings to predict where litter build 
up might occur) and endorsed the officer’s proposed response. The Chairman 
suggested that a report on the spending of this income be brought to a future 
Cabinet and noted how it could also be used to provide more robust litter bins.

The Chairman then referred to a planned review of the littering enforcement 
operation, which he noted had been proposed before the recent undercover 
reporting of littering related enforcement by other Councils, and said that he 
hoped that it would assuage public concerns. He said that the review group 
would have cross party and independent member involvement and would be 
examining the service being provided and would ask the enforcement 
operators, Kingdom, to adapt their approach if considered necessary.

In response to a question on the public’s attitude towards enforcement officers 
since the undercover programme had been broadcast the Strategic Director 
(External Services) replied that more people were saying that they would not 
pay, but were being advised that court action would therefore be taken. She 
then noted how the Council had brought forward more than 200 cases before 
the court and had yet to lose a case. The Chairman also noted how the court 
acted as an independent reviewer of the enforcement operation and would 
reject a case if it felt that the legislation had not been applied correctly.

RESOLVED:

That the proposed response to the consultation, as set out in Appendix A to 
the report, be approved.

9. CONSULTATION ON APPLICATION TO VARY CONDITION 3 ON THE 
OUTLINE PLANNING PERMISSION AT EASTERN QUARRY TO ALLOW A 
CHANGE TO THE PARAMETER PLANS AND THE LAND USE 
DISPOSITION 

Having declared himself conflicted Councillor J A Kite, MBE withdrew from the 
meeting and took no part in the debate or decision relating to this item. In his 
absence Councillor C J Shippam assumed the chair for this item.

This report responded to the consultation being carried out by the Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation (EDC) on a planning application to vary condition 3 
on the Eastern Quarry Outline Planning Permission in order to amend the 
disposition of land uses and parameters for the site development to create a 
different layout to the development. The report addressed the key issues from 



CABINET
THURSDAY 25 MAY 2017

4

the proposals that impact on the delivery of the objectives and policies of the 
adopted Local Plan.

The Head of Regeneration explained how developers were proposing to use a 
Section 73 application to change the Eastern Quarry outline plan which had 
been given consent in 2007. She noted how Section 73s are usually used to 
make minor amendments to an application’s conditions but said, in this case, 
the requested changes were considered to be significant. She noted how the 
application was to be determined by the EDC Planning Committee and that 
Dartford Borough Council would be replying as a consultee. She explained 
how the application had been assessed and did not adhere to the Council’s 
Core Strategy and supplementary guidance, and also did not adhere to EDC’s 
own Ebbsfleet Implementation Framework.

The Head of Regeneration then drew Members’ attention to the main changes 
and explained how employment, retail and leisure related development was 
being concentrated on the western end of the site. She said that this would 
replace the proposed distribution of facilities across the site, including the 
‘market centre’ in the middle of the site, leaving the siting of educational 
facilities in the centre on their own. She said that this would undermine the 
principle of having these facilities local to all Eastern Quarry and Ebbsfleet 
Green residents and mean that some would have to use their cars in order to 
reach these facilities or would go elsewhere. She also noted how the new 
location would make the commercial centre visible from the spine road, which 
could encourage visitors from outside, leading to further increases in traffic 
levels.

The Head of Regeneration then referred to the proposed retention of the chalk 
cliff running north/south through the site and said that this would impact the 
ability to maintain connectivity between the ‘village’ areas. She also noted the 
proposed public open space reductions and useable open space and 
described the impact this would have on the ability to provide pitches for 
sporting activities and areas for recreation. She also explained how the 
redistribution of residential build had meant that densities had increased in the 
north western and central southern parts of the site near to the road access 
points which she felt further implied an increased emphasis on car use.

The Head of Regeneration also said that, as the site was now split between 
two land owners, two separate s106s were being proposed. She then 
explained how, in these circumstances, it would be difficult to achieve an 
integrated development because it would not be possible to set out 
requirements in one of the s106s that related to other parts of the 
development.

The Head of Regeneration concluded by saying that changes of this 
magnitude should be addressed through the submission of a new application 
and noted the strong support that had been expressed by the Advisory Panel 
for the report’s recommendations.



CABINET
THURSDAY 25 MAY 2017

5

In response to a question the Head of Regeneration explained how the 
original land owner was withdrawing from residential development and wished 
to focus on the delivery of the identified commercial areas at the western end 
of the site. It had therefore sold a proportion of the site to another developer to 
enable the residential areas to be delivered sooner.

Members confirmed their support for the original 2007 application and 
expressed disappointment at the developer’s failure to involve the Council as 
the new proposals were being developed. They then referred to the medical 
facilities that were to be provided as part of the development and asked 
whether they were still being progressed. In response the Head of 
Regeneration confirmed that, as far as she was aware, the community related 
elements of the market centre would still be delivered and said that health 
service providers continued to be involved with the development on an on-
going basis.

Members agreed that the proposed changes could not be considered as 
minor and noted that, if approved, the Council would have no right of appeal 
over the final decision that would be made, but could legally challenge the 
manner in which the variation had been handled. They also expressed 
concern over the fact that the ‘community’ aspect of the original 
development’s design was being compromised and said that the loss of open 
park space at the north of the site would be detrimental to the residents of 
Swanscombe, and the retention of the cliff face would mean that the 
cohesiveness between each of the villages would be lost.

In response to a question relating to how a new planning application might be 
structured, in the event that this became necessary, the Head of 
Regeneration said that now the site had two owners neither the Council nor 
the EDC could insist on a single application. She also advised that, if two 
separate applications were submitted, the best way forward would be to 
require the delivery of an overall masterplan providing a broad framework for 
the whole site. She said that the Core Strategy provided the basic framework 
for this. She also noted how a new application would be subject to the 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL), unless the Council took the decision to 
remove Eastern Quarry from the CIL regime and apply s106 provisions 
instead. She advised that, for the Eastern Quarry area, s106s were likely to 
be more advantageous than CIL payments.

The Head of Regeneration said that EDC were already aware of the concerns 
that were being raised and advised that Gravesham Borough Council were 
also raising objections to the new proposals. She said that Dartford Council’s 
concerns continued to be discussed with EDC and noted that EDC did not 
support the submission of a new application.

Members recognised how the proposed new location for the commercial 
centre would allow it to be linked more closely with Bluewater and would 
therefore attract those shoppers who were visiting Bluewater resulting in an 
increase in the amount of traffic flowing into the Eastern Quarry development. 
Reference was also made to another major development where transportation 



CABINET
THURSDAY 25 MAY 2017

6

related commitments had not been delivered and asked that the Council 
ensured that the developer honoured any s106 commitments made.

Members noted that the application was not yet due to be considered by 
EDC’s Planning Committee and wished to thank those responsible for 
assessing the proposed changes for a thorough report. They then confirmed 
their disappointment for the revised proposals and expressed full support for 
the report’s recommendations. They also asked that a covering letter be 
added to the Council’s response to emphasise the depth of concern felt by 
Members.

RESOLVED:

1. That, for the following reasons, the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation 
be advised that the Council:

 considers that the Section 73 application would result in a 
development substantially different from the one approved under 
outline planning permission 03/01134/OUT as amended by 
12/01451/EQVAR and that a fresh planning application should be 
submitted to allow consideration of the impacts of the proposal in a 
comprehensive manner;

 objects to the proposed changes and considers that they are contrary 
to the adopted Local Plan for the reasons set out in the report and 
requests that the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation refuses to 
grant the section 73 permission;

 has significant concerns about the proposal to vary the current s106 
and to require a new s106 to cover two different landownerships and 
two different mixed use developments.

2. That in order to ensure the requirements of the Local Plan are met, 
Officers engage with the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation with 
regard to changes to the strategies, the amendments to the Section 
106 agreement, the conditions and the detail of the submission of the 
Habitats Regulation Assessment.

10. RAIL CONSULTATIONS AND FUTURE INFRASTRUCTURE 

Having returned to the room Councillor J A Kite, MBE assumed the chair for 
the rest of the meeting.

This report presented the proposed responses to two related public 
consultations (Kent Area Route Study by Network Rail and South Eastern Rail 
Franchise by the Department for Transport) on the train network and rail 
services in the Borough.

The Chairman referred to the detailed debate that had taken place at the 
Cabinet Advisory Panel and drew Members’ attention to the tabled 



CABINET
THURSDAY 25 MAY 2017

7

addendum. He noted that the addendum proposed that additional responses 
relating to journey times, and the need for future franchisees to focus on 
delivering services to their customers rather than providing benefits to their 
business, be added to the Council’s response. Members fully supported the 
responses as presented in the report’s appendices and agreed that the tabled 
additions also be included.

During further discussion the Chairman referred to the economic benefits of 
having a fast reliable train service and noted how Lewisham junction had 
been identified as a point where it might be possible to make changes to 
improve journey times. Although he said that improvements in this area would 
be welcomed he emphasised that any alterations made should not result in a 
reduction in the total number of daily train journeys that are currently being 
provided. The Chairman also referred to the potential Crossrail extension east 
of Abbey Wood to Dartford, and noted how it would transform the level of 
service being provided to those passengers who use Dartford station.

RESOLVED:

1. That the Council’s response to the Kent Area Route Study by Network 
Rail, as set out in the Appendix A to the report, be endorsed.

2. That the Council’s response to the South Eastern Rail Franchise by the 
Department for Transport, as set out in the Appendix B to the report 
and the tabled addendum, be endorsed.

3. That progress with partners in exploring a potential Crossrail extension 
east of Abbey Wood, as set out in paragraphs 3.7-3.9 of the report, be 
noted.

11. CORPORATE PLAN - PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

This report provided the latest set of Corporate Plan performance indicators 
for quarter 4 of 2016-17.

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the Performance Indicators Monitoring Report, attached 
at Appendix A to the report, be noted.

12. MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW MEETING HELD ON 21 MARCH 
2017 

This report presented to Cabinet the minutes of the meeting of the Policy 
Overview Committee held on 21 March 2017.

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the Policy Overview Committee meeting held on 21 March 
2017 be noted.



CABINET
THURSDAY 25 MAY 2017

8

The meeting closed at 8.00 pm

Councillor J A Kite, MBE
CHAIRMAN


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	11 General Assembly of the Council Work Plan 2017-18
	13 Adoption of the Development Policies Local Plan
	Local Development Plan - Appendix A
	001 The Development Policies Plan front cover new + photos
	Front Cover
	Policies Doc Front Cover


	DP Plan Draft Final Version for Adoption

	Local Development Plan - Appendix B - Town Centre
	Local Development Plan - Appendix B - West
	Local Development Plan - Appendix B - East
	Local Development Plan - Appendix C - Inspectors Report
	Dartford BC_Inspector's Report_final version
	Dartford BC_Inspector's Report_APPENDIX


	14 Capital Programme including Prudential Indicators - Outturn 2016/17
	Capital outturn 16-17 APPENDIX A TO C FINAL cleared
	Capital outturn 16-17 APPENDIX D FINAL cleared

	16 Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2016-17
	Scrutiny Committee Annual Report
	Scrutiny Committee Annual Report AppA
	Scrutiny Committee Annual Report App B
	Scrutiny Committee Annual Report App C

	17 Appointment of the Council's Representative on the  Police and Crime Panel for Kent and Medway
	18 Reserved Minutes
	Minutes , 13/04/2017 Cabinet
	Minutes , 25/05/2017 Cabinet



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000500044004600206587686353ef901a8fc7684c976262535370673a548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200208fdb884c9ad88d2891cf62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef653ef5728684c9762537088686a5f548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200204e0a73725f979ad854c18cea7684521753706548679c300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020b370c2a4d06cd0d10020d504b9b0d1300020bc0f0020ad50c815ae30c5d0c11c0020ace0d488c9c8b85c0020c778c1c4d560002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken voor kwaliteitsafdrukken op desktopprinters en proofers. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents for quality printing on desktop printers and proofers.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /NoConversion
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /NA
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure true
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice




